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wrote thix book 1o make known the rruth about my journev, T have

no doubt thar there are those who would preter thar their sccount

of the events be the record and who will do all in their power o
make 1t 0.

Because of the complexuy ot the subject marrer, 1 deaded thar a
book was the most approprate medium through which 1w convey the
tacts, | also decided 10 present the material in more or less chronologl-
vl order,

Althongh it's not usual for members of the mrelligence services
oy keep wrtten notes or records, 1 had kept some in order 1o carry
out operational assignments I'd been given. Although they weren™
originally miended as such, these notes did provide a usetul addi-
nonal resource i wrnang the book. Aside from these notes, 've
relied largely on my memory 1o reconstruct the events described
here and have made every effort to ensure that inaccuracies are niin
imal, Given thar mv capaaity for recall was one of the main reasons
I was onginally seught by the Mossad, 1 feel confident in saving
thar the book is accurate in all bur the most minor of details, Al
names i the book are real, with the exceprion of Dina, Rachel,
Albert, David, Sarah, Rami, Edward, and Fadllal, which are aliases.
(ther names, such as those of active field operanves, are given by
first name only to prevent those individuals from being exposed,
Additionally, I've arranged for the Mossad to receive a copy of the
book just prior to publication to allow them 1o take whatever pre
vantions they deem necessary. The intention of this book 15 nor per-
sanal vendetra.

Most major events it this book have been covered extensively by
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the media, and articles on them are in the public record, 've provided
2 partial list of such arncles ar the end of the book 1o enable rhose
interested ro pursue further research on parncular subjects.

That being said, this book 15 a factual accoumt of events as they
happened 1o me.

Victor Ostrovsky

PROLOGE

y paternal grandparents immigrated to Canada from Russia at the

turn of the century, They settled with other immigrants in the

«mall Saskatchewan town of Wakaw, where my grandfather,
Aaron Ostrovsky, built up a successhul retail business, only to lose it
during the Grear Depression. Subsequently, he moved the tamily w
Edmonton, Alberta.

At about the same time that the Ostrovskys arrrved in Canada, the
Margolin family—Esther, Hayyim, and thew baby, Rafa—escaped the
Russian pogroms and made their way 10 Palestine, They settled in
Jerusalem and had rwo more children, Mira and Maza.

Sid Ostrovsky, the Afth of Aaron’s seven children, served a full
tour of duty as an airman n a Canadian bomber squadron over
Europe during World War I1. After the war, he joined the fledgling mil-
itary of the newly formed siate of Israel.

There he mer Mira Margolin, who'd recently completed her tour
of duty in the Brinsh army, fighting the Germans in North Africa.

The newlywed couple made therr home in Edmonton, where, on
November 28, 1949, | was born, My mother, who wasn't a typical
Kousewife in any regard, found a job as a reacher in the Jewish school
in Edmonton and left the chore of raising her child to my paternal
grandmother, Bessie Ostrovsky.

[ was fortunate  the grandparents fate had selected for me. My
mather was what might be called a free spirit, a bohemian type. A
graduate of the Israchi Haganah underground and the British rmbirary,
she'd dreamed of becoming an actress. Theatrical parts were few and
far berween, though, which left her an extremely frustrated person.
My father, on the other hand, knew that he would one day reach his
goal: the American dream of financial security and a quiet life. But the
road was long and hard. The unbridgeable difference in character
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between my parents finally led them to separate. | was five ar the ume.

My mother took me back to Israel, where her parents, Havyim
and Esther Margolin, took on the job of looking atter me, | remember
fondly the small house on Ha-yod-daleth Streer as a warm, loving
home, tull of books and long talks about the fulfillment of the Zionist
dream and how it could be translated into evervday life.

Since I'd shown an inchinavion for the arts, my grandparents intro-
duced me to a painter by the name of Gilady, who was living in our
neighborhood. He gave me a box of ml paints and some of his tume,
insgructing me an the basics of perspective and the use of colon
Gilady's lessons were ones I'd apply ever after—even as my childhood
hobby ripened into a midlife passion.

My early years were quiet. My mother would reappear from time
to nme like 2 swarling rornade, disappeaning back into the blue sky
just as fast. On one of her wouchdowns, she decided that 1 would be
better off in boarding school, All my grandmother’s pleading was 1o
no avail, and 1 wound up spending a year in a dreadful place called
Hadasim, a boarding school in the center of Israel funded and super-
vised by Hadassah Wizo, a Jewish women’s orgamizatnon in Canada. |
liked 1o think that, had rthe organization been fully aware of the
school’s strict, sparran quality and s penchant tor purting the kids to
wark, they would have closed 1.

They weren't aware, though—as far as | knew—and by vear's end,
I'd taken the minanve and rewrned to my grandparents’ home.
Shortly after, my self~confidence was lifred when | jommed the Gadna
youth brigades and anamed second place 1 a countrywide shooting
competition as a member ol rthe Abu Kabir target shooting club
headed by an old army major named Dan David.

During my high school years, | met Bella, and it was love at first
sight. We spent every moment we could together; we emoyed reading
the same books, hiking, and talking abour politics, and especually
being with each other. At abour the age of eighteen, we were recruited
to the Istaeli military. Bella was assigned to the mimstry of defense,
and | was sent 1o the military police.

Atfter basic traning, 1 completed a noncommissioned officers’
course, and then went on to an officers’ course, graduatng as the
youngest officer ar the time i the lsraeli Defense Force. | then gradu-
ated from the military police officers’ course and the special military
law course, and Tollowed that up with demolition and sniper training,

Once I'd completed my military education, Bella and 1 got mar-
ricd. We were nor ver twenty, We were wold we were 100 young, but |
never regarded our union as burdensome; it was something we were
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building together. A vear later, Sharon was born, and thmgs were
ooking up. .
s Mfﬂi’; completed my three-year rerm, | lefr the milirary, .hil‘»'ll‘.lﬂ
attained the rank of lieutenan, We went to visit my famuly m Fdmon-
ton and wound up staying there for five vears. Our second daughter,
Leeorah, was borm in Edmonton when Sharon was tour. .

We returned to lsracl m 1977, The day after our arrival, | enlisted
in the navy and was given the rank of captam. | served for the next
five years, rising to the rank of licutenant commander. I-_ﬂr most of
that period, | was in command of the deparrment cmrd:naqng and
LeSLINE NEW Weapons syswems before they were incorporated into the
navy's arsenal, During that time, 1 was also sent 10 and gr:z-:_iu.imi
irom staff and command college, where | was a guest lecturer for the

anen of my service, .
= Bella and | had a preat time in those days. We had a wide circle of
friends with whom we enjoyed weekend trips, family outings, and par-
ties. Then 1 got my first call from the guys in the secunty services, |
puessed 11 was Mossad or something similar, and | went through a
bang and strenuous series of Tests before more mfurmat_mn ibﬂ}ll the
joh was forthcoming. Ultimately, I learned that T was b?mg considered
for a “combatant” position, which would mean that I'd be separated
from Bella and the kids for long periods of time. | dn.:clmr:d. and after
nimerous atempts 1o persuade me, some of which bordered on
harassment, they finally accepted my refusal. .

In 1982, 1 left the navy and started a video magazine that was t'nle
first of irs kind in Tsrael. Like many firsts, it was a flop (the country’s
being embroiled right then in what was later known as the Lebanese
quagmire didn’t help), After that, | started a small stained-glass busi-
ness (it also folded fairly quickly, owing to a lack of dgmand}. 1 was
also taking classes (n computer programming. since | believed thar was
the wave of the future. N

At that point, the Mossad came calling agam. | his tme they made
it clear that long separatioms from my family were not what they had
in smind. 1 entered a second round of testing that was to last nearly a
vear. |
" YWhile | was still working in my stained-glass shop in Herzelia, |
was approached by two men ['d gotten 1o know i my dmling.ﬁ with
the video magazime. They were the manufacturers of the plastic cas
ings in which videocassettes were sald, and I'd done some praphic
wark for them. As it turned out, one of them, ltsik Zarug, was wrll_
connected in the Israeli underworld, He approached me on behalf of
some of his friends, asking me to take part i a scam 1o forge large
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numbers of credit cards—Visa, MasterCard, and the like. He handed
me several stolen cards, telling me they wanted similar ones made

!callru’ a friend of mine, an attorney in Tel Aviv who was a fr::nnrt
soldier of mine in the military police. | asked him ro make conract
with the police for me. | didn't want 1o put a stop 1o this affair wich-
out proper legal protection. My lawyer ser up a meeting lor me with a
police Inffia.:r:r named Eitan Golan, the head of the fraud department in
Tel Aviv. I gave him all the information. He asked me if I'd be willing
to work for the police undercover on a volunteer bass, and | agreed as
long as my name was kept out of it.

Several months later, the ennire ring was captured and sent to jail,
The papers reported that the police had obtained the help of a graphic
designer, bur my name was not mennoned, The Mossad securiry
department managed to squelch any police efforts 1o get me 10 testify
[ was now under the aegis of the Mossad, a member of the elite rmm.
a protector of the state. My life would never be the same again. ‘

(e

Tonsory, Juwy 17, 1986

he tiny cell was hor and musty. In a dim corner by the barred win-
Tdnw. an old dingy-looking fan rarcled, barely moving the foul
smelling aie. | was trapped.

Three days earlier, | had arnived in Cairo on an Aer Lingus flight
from New York. | was whisked away from the airport terminal by two
burly men in short-sleeve gray safari suits. One of my seemingly
triendly gonlla escorts spoke Enghsh. He explained that he and his
triend were taking me to a safe place. They held my arms firmly and
ushered me to a small white car parked at the curb outside the main
doors.

“Welcome to Egvpt,” said the English speaker, who shared the
back seat warh me as the car took off. That was all he said unul we
cleared the airporr complex. Then he handed me a blindfold and asked
e 1o put it on,

Those who spend any ume 1 the espionage world come 10 expect
these things. For the next thirty mmutes, | sar in the dark. | assumed
we were on our way to meet the Egyptian mtelbgence and security
brass, since the sole purpose of my visit was 1o sell out my former
employer, the Mossad, Israel’s famous intelligence agency.

It wasn’t every day that a Mossad case officer appeared on Egyp-
tian intelligence’s doorstep, ready to deal. I'd expected the proverbial
red carpet treatment, but this was not it Since my hearing was unim-
paired by the blindfold, 1 conld hear the hustle-bustle of a large Mid-
dle Eastern city Joud and clear. The noisy blend of honkmng cars and
merchants announcing theirr wares sounded tamiliar to me. Soon the
sourids commingled with the smell of charcoal stoves and camel dung,
and | was reminded of Jaffa or East Jerusalem,

After a while, the sounds faded, and there was only the sensation
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of the scorching air rushing by the apen window. At one point, 1
thought 1 heard the revving sounds of a diesel engine and the squeak-
ing of rank rracks. I'd spent enough tme m the military 1o know we'd
enrered a military base.

When my blindfold was tinally removed, | saw we were parked in
the inner yard of an old British-style compound. The largs square yard
was surrounced by a dilapidated five.story building.

| was taken up a dark starrease 10 the thied Hoor. Twe uvniformed
guards armed with submachine guns greeted us and led the way
through a long dim cormider to a green metal door. | expecied 10 be
taken to an office of some sort. Instead, | found myself m a ten-by-
twelve cell. The heavy metal door slammed behind me. Then came rhe
hollow sound of the key wrming in the lock and the footsteps of my
escorts as they walked away.

| assumned ar first that this was 2 temporary holding rmoom, But my
confidence shrank as [ looked around. There was a stench in the air of
old urine and human excrement. The window, which gave a view of
the inner vard, was secured with heavy metal bars, And the big iron
bed that filled most of the cell hinted at a lengthy stay. Panic started to
ser i, At that instant, 1 realized 1 was a captive, and no one on the
ourside knew where | was,

I walked through an ureven opening knocked through rhe thick
wall into whaz seemed like acevpt. | found a shower stall closed off by
a stained plastic currain, Faang the shower was a sloping floor with a
hole in the center. known m the army as a shit hole, a primitive toilet.
| backed awav once [ realized that the hole, which was the source of
the stench, was swarming with cockroaches.

A minute later, | heard the key tuming in the lock. Thats u, [
thoughr, they are here 1o ger me out and apologize. 1 decided 1o accept
their apology and brush it oft as just gne of those things.

An old man wearing a white galaba walked in. carrying a fray
with fruat, a large glass pitcher of cold lemanade, and a single glass. He
smiled and put the tray on the end table by the bed while o uniformed
guard stood ar the door watching, The old man entered the tiny, crype-
like shower and hung up the towel he had slung over hus hand, 1 tried
to speak 1o him, but he would vnly smile and nod his head.

Several hours later, the old man returned with more food and a
fresh pitcher of lemonade. By nighefall, I'd begun to accept that |
would be there a while, and the implications worried me. There was
no logical reason for the way | was being treated—unless the Egyp-
tians knew something they shouldn’t have and were now plaving some
sart of game, Whar were they up to? Nothing made any sense.
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From the window, 1 could see a uniformed guard seated on a
wooden chair by the large gare. Occasionally, he d open a small side
door in the gate and 1alk 1o someone. . N

The big pate opened nasily every moming at mne, permitting &
white car. similar to the one that had brought me there, to enter the
compound. Each morning, | would get dressed and wait for someone
10 come and talk ro me. But no one ever did. My watch sowly Ftckcd
off the haurs unnil, finally, ar six e, 1 would laok, out the Wlﬂdt':}w
and see the white car leaving. [ shouted and banged on the bars with
the metal tray, but no one seemed Lo care. o

The heat didn't let up, even after dark. | put the rarthng lirtle f-.r.n
on the end table and directed 1t toward me. | then lay on my back in
my underwear, wetting my face and chest with a damp rowel. My
head rested on a hard pillow as | tried to sleep. '

Afer the first day, the stench didn’t bother me. The swarming
cockroaches didn't bother me cither, as long as they stayed in the shit
hole and away from my food. At mght, a multitude of thoughts would
run through my head, keeping me awake. _

One question kept torruring me. How the hell did 1 end up in this
ten-by-twelve hell somewhere outside Cairo? 1 couldn’s \ha!:u_: the term-

fying thought that this was where I'd spend the rest of my life, th:n my
wife and children back in Canada would never know I hadn't run
away, that [ was trapped. , .

1 couldn’t tell where or when this was going 1o end, but | could
almost pinpoint the time, if not the precise moment, it had all
started . .

Six months before, on Monday, February 3, 1986, I'd been ar the
Sun Hull Hotel in Larnaka, Cyprus. | was there 10 meei 2 Belgian rer-
corist, and in my pocker 1 had a false Briush passport under the name
of Jason Burton. The Belgian was a member of a lefr-wing terrorist
organization called the Communist Combatant Cells (CCC). ;

According to my passport, I'd amived at the Larnaka airport the
day before, and | had the Olympic Air teket and boarding pass o
prove it. The Belgian was expecting to receive from me a key to a car
parked m Brussels, loaded with untraceable plasnic explosives and sev-
eral thousand top-of-the-line detonators. In exchange, I was to receive
proof that over two million dollars had been transferred 1o a Swiss

ank account, .
o [t was a sting operation, and | was a full-fledged Mossad case otfi-
cer at the time. 1t was on this assignment that things started 10 go hay-
wire. I'd actually arrived m Larnaka by hoat and not by plane. The




A0 VIl on GaTioviRy

first leg of the journey, from the Ashdod harbor in Isracl 10 2 poimt
fifty miles south of Cyprus, was made aboard a patrol boat, called a
Dabur, | then transferred from the Dabur 1o 4 vacht. The vachr had a
Greek registry and regularly anchored in the Larnaka ha rbor. It was
a ﬂo[::tjng safe house for Mossad aperatives.
was only a pawn i this game planned by t
Melucha.! Once the ultra lefrwing C{?C members ::p?gf‘i::d f;i::
in Erusx:]ls, thn:-ir_ entire Ting would be nabbed by the Belgian police
and security services. Another group would be arrested simultancously
lh: Ehtc ll_?iurr.ih p::l:ce. The two police forces were already on the terror-
sts”tradl, thanks o a sen i i :
i 14 1es of tips the Belgium desk in the Mossad
. Thf_-rel was more than one reason behind the stng. The CCC was
mmlv?d in selling and buying arms from the Palestine Liberation
Organization and other Palestinian proups. Putting them our of busi-
ness would be a major vicrory for the Mossad in combanng terrorism
r“l.n.othcr reason for the operation was more sinister, and | Icnmm.:l
about it much later. Irsik Efrar, head of the Israel desk, handled that
part. It involved a veteran case officer named Barda, who in 1984 had
tracked down and contacred a band of Belgian renegade lawmen who
were angmally formed by NATO (North Atlantic Treary Organiza-
tion) as an anti-Communist bedy to be acuvated in case of a Commu-
nist invasion. This plan, which was called Operation Gladiator was
MEver pur ato action, bur NATO neglected ro dismantle the spltm-.ﬂ
cells it had created, and so the Mossad stepped 1n 1o make [
of them, S
The dormant cell was acrvared with the consent of the Belgian
state secret service and the Mossad's antiterrorise advisory section
Barda made it ¢lear to the Belgians thar to create a public uLntr;rF
for 3 strengthening of the SECUTILY Services, exIfeéine measures were
needed—rthat Is, terrorist atrocites thar could he Mamed on rhé Com-
munists. “Hesitation should be left to environmentalists and bleeding-
heart democrars,” he told them. I
In add{'tir.nn te the NATO cell of nghe-wing lawmen. the Belgian
secret service could draw from a deep well of right-wing fanatics—
including 3 fascist party called Westland New Post (WNP), or so it
was reported by sources within the Mossad. Under the auspices of the

1. Melucha: Code name for the re riiement branch of the Maitad; the branel it

divided }
u'::u_ o geographical departmenty that have desks asagned to suppert sta-
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Belglan secrer service, this now combined right-wing clement, which
mcluded several active policemen, carried out a series of robbernies
with extreme violence, eventually earning the nickname “the Murder-
ers of Brabant.™ In September and November 1985, they hit several
supermarkets and carred out the political assassination of a Belgian
minister. They also engaged in several truck hijackings that were later
artribured 1o crooks who were “killed in the chase.” The attacks were
not financially mouvared. Their purpose was terror and the destabr-
lizanon of the Belgian government, which was leamng left. Three
members of the group had ro leave the country in 1985, They escaped
to lstael and were given new identitics by the Mossad, as part of the
imnial agreement made with the Belgian extreme nght wing.

The Belgians' request that the Mossad find a way to pass arms to
the right-wingers, while keeping the Belgian authorities out of the pic-
ture, led to my being in Cypros in February 1986 to help with the
sTNg.
Barda gave the right-wing terrorises the location of the CCC stashes
of arms the Mossad had sold them. He told them they could help them-
selves to the goods while the Communists were getting stung,

The day before | was to rransfer the key 1o the CCC man, after a
ten-minute struggle to transfer from one recking boat to another on a
choppy sea, | had mer Ze'ev Alon, He was mn charge of special rechni-
cal operations, and on his way off the wsland. His presence on the boar
was highly unusual, [ was in the recruitment department and not pan
of special operanons. He, on the other hand, provided services from
his Proudot subdivision, mainly 1o combatants® from the hughly secre.
tive Metsada? department. They would normally employ combarants
m Arab countries on special Kidon™ operations.

Ze'ev brieted me on a new secondary assignment. | was now going to

2. Combarant: An Israchi who is recrurted to carry out dangerous operations
behind enemy lines. A combatant 15 mained separately from the rest of the
Meossad and doesn’t possess any information about the organization, so that if
caprured he will have no informaton w disclose

3. Mersadar Code name For the Mosad section that employs combatants and
the hit ream called Kidon.

4, Kidem: Loosely translated, the word means “bavonet,™ It reters 1o a sub-unit
of the secrenve Mersada deparment assigned 1o carry out assassinavons and
special operations behind enemy lines. It comsists of several squadrons, All assas
singtions cartied out by the Mossad are the work of Kidon squadrons.
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be a so-called relay station or backup relay stanon for an operauon that,
due tu}‘frcumitqncfs. had been hastly put 1ogether at the fast minute.

"Cyprus is not a hespiable place for us,” he said. * The fewer peo-
ple we have there, the berter,”

- Libyan leader Moamer al Qadhafi had called tor a three-day sum-
mit of what he termed the Allied Leadership of the Revolutionary
Forces of the Arab Navion. In other words, it was a meeting of all the
terronst Kingpins, The Mossad was watching, drovling over this full
house of goodies it couldn’t wair to get its hands on,

A combatant had been disparched ro Libya for that occasion, pos-
ing as a reporter for the French-language paper Afrigue-Asie. ,Om'c
there, he learned that after the conference, several Palestinian terrorist
leaders would By ro Sviia aboard a private Gultstream I executive jer
The Mossad convinced Lsraeli prime minister Shimon Peres to appmv::
the skyjacking of the plane.

Because of the extremely sensitive nature of the aperation, the
Mossad chief wanred 10 have pOsItive evewitness w:rifi-;.umnithar
the people n question were on board. The combatant wounld watch
thc actual boarding of the plane, Then he would LFANSITIE 4 message
via a special mobile burse-commumication device. A merchant malnsc
ship rn.llktlng its way to Gibraltar would receive the commumiqué and
tTransmit it to Israel. The need for a backup was due ro previous
communication problems wirh the same type of device. It depended
on good weather, which in this case wasn'r expected. As planned, it
was really a very simple aperanion. The combarant. afrer verif’vi‘ng
that rhf terrorists had boarded the Gulfstream, would activare the
signaling device and call me at the hotel, If all was well, his Mmessage
would be “The chickens have flown the coop.” | would then Lﬁcga
beeper 10 send the signal, which would be picked up by a nln-y
parrol boat close 1o the Cypriot shore, affirming the acceptance of
the message.

After bricfing me. Ze'ev wished me Juck and rransterred 1o the
Dabur and back to Israel. | suspected that there was vet another
backup besides e, .

The meeting with the Belgian and the transéer of the key, my pri-
mary mission in Cyprus, went well, Nine days later, on February 12
l?Eb.tzhr Belgian police nabbed the man and his CCC lt#'-']]t'.‘l[l',t!ﬂ- Thv:
terrorists had in their possession over rwo hundred pounds of :';r lo-
sives .anFI Ifh-_-.u;nnds. of detonators. Smultaneously, Mossad's rtght-

wing criminal parmers entered several warchouses in the Antwerp

area. The fascists por two truckloads of light weapons and several tons
of ammunition.
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[t was while carrving gut the secondary operanon that [ got into
hot water, When | was ar the hotel in Lamaka, | had made an
approach to—or, as we called it in rhe field, “cstablished contact
with™—a Palestiman businesstman from Amman, Jordan, who was one
ol the few tounsts in the horel Such unauthonzed contace was pro-
seribed, but it was known that case officers did it all the nime. Take
the risk, we told ourselves. I i works, vou're a herog il por, vou don't
tell anyone,

it turned out thar the businessman had just comie from Libya and
had contacts in the PLO. | learned trom him that a tnck would be
played on us in Tripoli, Libya, He said something like, “The lsrachs
are going to eat shit tomorrow.” | knew the Mossad had considered
the possibility of a wrick, bur no one gave the Palestinians that much
credit.

Copvinced that my miormavon was rehable, | med ro contact
evervbody 1 knew in the system to stop the operarion. | scruggled with
the eodless buffers Mossad puts om a command and control cenrer
during an operation, It was somewhat iromc that the butfers put in
place to enhance security were now blocking a warming. The com
mand center was in Mahaneh David pulitary air base. | couldn't help
thinking that someone twanted things 10 go wrong.

I eventually got the call from the combatant and relaved his mes-
sage. Since | was only a relay station. 1 had ro transmit the message as
it came, withour adding 1o or subtracting from it, even though | was
almost sure the information it contained wis incorrect. | never learned
whether the commumqué was transmitted 1o the merchant marine
ship, It 1s possible that 1t was, but that its reception was kept under
wraps until atter the operanon was complete, so that if something
went wrong, 1t cowdd be blamed on the preselecred scapegoat, namely
myself. Anyway, sure enough, the plane was forced down, and the hig
prize was not aboard.

| left Cyprus on the yacht and evenally rendezvoused with the
Dabur. Someone didn’t want me back in Israel just ver, so the Dabur
was instructed to stay at sea for several davs. The Dabur capram was
informed by mavy command that he had developed “engine prob-
lems.™ Even as it was happening, | realized thar the delay was o allow
someone the ume to set me up as the fall guy for this botched opera-

ton,

[ couldn’t see how that sort of scapegoating was paossible, though,
tinless the combatant changed his story, Then [ would be the one
blamed for supposedly misunderstanding the message. Were that 1o
happen, | had no doubt that the record of all my communications
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attempting to warn the command center would be erased, and as it
turned out, that's exactly what oceurred, When we tinally docked in
Ashdod, Oren Riff, then chief of staff for the Massad head, w

fhe i as there
to greet me. I was his job to fill me in on what my duty ro the Mossad HAP][“

was. | was to take responsibility for the foul-u !

: : ilin -up, accepung that | was
doing it for the good of the Office.’ | had no choice in the matter, and
so | agreed. :

was a thing ot the past. |, however, was placed under constant
watch. Things became very difficule with that cloud of failure hang-
ing over me.

! was still a probational rookie, which is the case for the first four
vears in Mossad, except that now | was under special observation.
Mast other rookies didn’t want to be paired with me becavse of the
extta supervision | brought along. “You can't always be perfect,”
Arik, one of my colleagues, said to me. “You're bound to slip, and
then they'll be all over you. Why don't you juse give up and quir?™ |
knew he was right, but | wasn't about to give up. To me, serving in the
Mossad was the highest achievement. Inside the organization, the joke
went that, if there was a secand coming, the man would probably be
Mossad,

I tound 1t gqute burdensome, doublechecking every move 1o
ensure everything was as perfect as it could be, But | was determmed
not to give the higher-ups the satisfaction of carching me in a mistake.
| knew that many of them would be happy ro be rid of me because of
my polincal leanings. T was cenrer, but in Mossad terms | was lefr, if
not extreme left,

The constant pressure was taking fts toll, and my home life wasn’
much better. Whatever frustraton | felt, [ took out on my family. As a
rule, all case officers in the Mossad must be married betore they can
serve abroad, but few have a happy marriage. Most have 3 bad one.
and it’s usaally not their first, | began coming home later than usual,
spending what litle free time | had sitting with the puys at one of sur
regular hangouts. It was like workimg with a bunch of old gossips: the
first one 1o leave was the one everybody talked about and slandered.
The best protection you had was to stay till the end. | knew Bella and

Hy mid-February, the “Cypriot screwup,”™ as it came to be known,

3. Office: The term wsed by Mossad
which is never mentioned E\ nﬁ: peorle when g,
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the kids were getning the shorr end of the sniek. But | ratgnalized it by
telling mysell this was a temporary situanon, and once | became well
established m the system, I'd make it up to them,

Working in the Mossad, there was always an excuse for coming
home late. Instcad of turming 1o the one person who was my real
friend, my wife, Bella, 1 tumed away from her And she didn't like
anvone tram the Office; she could see through them,

Since | couldn’t change the realiry, Lroed to change the pereeprion.
1 rold myself that it was her view that was wrang, that she should see
things the way we did. After all, | was a member of the Mossad, the
clite, the select tew, At home, | wasn'y Mossad, and thar was all ]
wanted 1o be.

Some tune into my probanionary pemod, | found myselt in the
middle of a minor operation in the one place the Mossad was not
“allowed” to work: Israel. Though there are no specific laws guiding
the activity of the Mossad, rhe proscription against operations within
the country is vigilantly enforced by the Shaback (Israels internal
securnty body), Hence, the cule regarding these “impermissible™ opera-
sions is: In the event of a foul-up, make the operation look like a mere
eNETOISe.

This particular operation was to benefit an Isracli oprronics cam-
pany called Fl Op, which was developing a special device to broadeast
and recerve diginzed photographic images (DP1L It was alsa develop-
ing a similar system for the Mazlar. Mazlat (the word 1s a Hebrew
abbreviation tor unmanmned remote-comralled plane! was a coopera-
tive development project between Israch Acronawtical Industries (1AL,
a subsidiary of the Isracli Military Indusery (IMI), and an Amencan
company called AAl Corporation that was based in Balumore. The
developinent of the DPI bad proven 10 be extremely expensive and
was running into technical difficulties as well. Further, 1A] was on the
Mossad support list because of its enormous financial and defense
potential. Hence, the Mossad devised a plan 10 get the provermal
wagon out of the mud.

The IMI was advised to reach a development agreement with
Recon Optical Industries, an American company that possessed the
technology that EI Op required, IMI chose as 1ts pawn the Israeli air
force, which ar the time was involved i a project financed by Ameni
can military aid 1o lIsrael. The plan was for the Mossad 1o insinuare
Isracli engineers into Recon, posing as bracli air force observers and
quality controllers, and, vunder the auspices of this unrelated project,
steal new fechnology that could then be manwfactured in Israel. If this
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rechnology theft was done righe, the savings m rescarch and develop-
ment expenses could be ennrmous. _ _ . ,

Hetore this exercise thar | was imvolved in 4 military base in Ramat
Gan, a city adjacent to Tel Av. Several Mna;f\d reams had fllrrndy
entered the base and placed F1 Op personnel files into the air Iur;
reserve bank. That would smooth the way tor El Op engmeers 10

inserted into Recon. We were there to carry Gut similar aperation for
a company called Tadiran, )

Arik and Amir showed up at the base gate n g,ua‘rd unitorms a!r:!d
with the proper documentation, in time tor the changing of the guard.
The real guards had been detained by other members of our team PO:
ing as military pohice. and the sergeant major in charge of the guar

I ; ( o i ] -
detail had reccived & telephone call from manpower assigning two ncI:x
men—Arik and Amir. | made that call from a pav phene, .'.m.lht e
sergeant major 100K it ar face value, All he really cared about was hav-
ing two warm bodies ar the gate. _

- We were heading for the main office building when Yosy said to
il
me, ~1 want you 1o meet someonc. _ _ -
“Now?:" Yosy and | were in military uniiorms, both of us weanng

the msignia of corporal. N . _
l rfmmh*r him nodding and smiling, He didn't seem to think

‘as a problem. .
th”il‘,\;f:kl? r‘}:nsy,“ | whispered as we slowly walked up a sm:t:l.'l I:nl] rj
the admimistration building. " We're i the middle of an fxul;l.m. an
we have a job to do, How about we do this anot her time: Wi can
come back whenever we waat. All we have 0 do is flash our 1Ds. ]

“Yes.” He smiled, *1 know that, but we're here now. | planned x
<o thar we'll have the time.” He paused as a pair of officers cante TSM‘
We salured lazily as they passed us. They didn’t bother saluting 'n.;. .

When they were several steps down the road. Yosv mntmurh; It
things go accordmg to plan, we should have about ten mimutes betore
we have to leave.” B

“What ¢an we doin ten mnutcs?

*T want you 1o meet someone.”

“What if | don't want 10" _ -

“I'm not going to force you to do anything. | <an tell you, how-
ever, that 'y sick and tired of vour long dreary I'-'au‘l-‘.l and ':-'UI.::I' down-
in-the-dumps attitude. | just want to pump some life into you

=] appreciate it, but no thanks.” _ i

=J'm ralking about a woman who is aching for it. ] -

Good old Yasy, | thought, He of the one~track _rnmd. 1 dil[:t:t ave

to break into a military base in the middle of the night for that.
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“Thes one's different, trust me,”
-.-.-hgr:: -ﬂ.\.hr was so different, he wasn't keeping her tor himself.
[!n:iql-?h:r]?zﬂ‘:f:d" 'i'i*'cih.ad reached our target building, a theee-story
ot s N N :.:o On square, with thiee rows pf small windows.
cucalyptus trees thar filled the grounds rustled in the wind. T}
floodlights along the road and on top of the high fence threw Thr rrela:
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Yosy rurned serious. This was work
nto it
“Do you have it with yous™ he asked
{ shd miv hand | y . |
s ; no my shirt just 1o feel the large plastic envelope.
“Lets do i.”
e j';’ﬁ-’r ;c:til;ed straght to the small stairwell, We had to be careful as
gr; ¢ :;1 ;fih:heb S[i.’:llr!s; on every second tum we could be seen from the
und. uilding iself was not a
_ gh-security zone, hut if
“T‘?:ml had spotted us on the sturcase or inside, it could be :: rgbff:;
ree patrols were making their rounds, G :
) ‘k(_‘mcc mside, we moved fase, first making sure thar there was no
wc!:u niirgmngknn—-: common pastime for off-duty milirary couples
e cﬁs!uc on base, The room was filled wich jour-drawer filing
o :i:iﬂ; r the far end was a large gray safe. Yosy walked ro the desk
¥ ¢ door and pulied our the drawer. “Gset over there and apen th
sate, Pll read you the combination. e

| walked 10 the safe : : ;
did vou ger 13~ safe and bear down, serring the dial ar zero, *How
“That is the difference between u case officer and a burglar. 1

made contact with the girl wearki
e girl working here and spent some tme with

“Really2”

“I_)un‘t laugh. I sacrificed a lor." Yosy said

“Sacriticed? " |

“You should have J
chuckled. e

:‘:’m: didn't have 1o rake her to bed,

It wasn'l a bed. Besides, | can't hel

4 Waman & a woman,”

“50 why are you whining about it now?"

th.- shrugged and looked at the bottom of the dr.
INg. “Seventcen to the right, four to the left.”
lock clicked. [ spun the chrome wheel and pulled

»and 1o my relief, he plunged

Believe me, it was a sacrifice.”™ He
p myself. For me, a woman is

wwer he was hold-
He went on unnl the
the door open. There

Yosy said, making me wonder
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was 4 stack of manila files iside. We did rhe switch in less than five
minutes, and then we were ready o leave,

Suddenly, there was a naise from the outer door. We both froze.
We didn’t know if the patrols made a round inside the offices or only
checked to see f the outer door was locked.

“Iid you lock the outer door?™ | whispered to bim.

*Yey, | braced it!”

We moved quictly 1o the window and looked owmside. It was a
long drop. After several seconds of testing the door, the patral moved
away. They were women soldiers. We sighed in rehef as we saw them
walking out of the building. Everythung had gone well. All T wanted to
do now was 1o get the hell out of there. | lit a cigarctre, and we sarted
for the gate.

Yosy looked av hus warch: “We still have abour twenty minutes,
much maore than 1 planned for™

“What are you ralking abour? We fimshed, Whar are we waiting
for?”

“Dov said we should not leave before ten.”

“You want ro tell me they are planning a tail en us now?"™ The
thought frustrated me. To take full advantage of the jobs/exercises we
were assigned, Mossad trainiog personnel would throw extra obstacles
into otherwise umple operations. They liked to test us, to see it we
knew we were beang lollowed, Similar exercises were carmed out in
Furope while officers were mvolved i routine operations. Knowing
they mught be followed by Mossad resters put cise ofhicers on their
best behavior,

"Anyway,” Yosy sawl, *wc're nor to leave before ten, and then
only one at a tme. If we're clean, we'll meet somewhere. If not, then
vou do what vou have to do. | will be leaving last, like a good com-
mander, Now would vou tollow me? | have someone | want vou to
meet.”

“Forget i, Yosy. I'm not in the mood.”

“Then do it for me, Ham and 1 can't handle her alone; we need
help. We've been double-teamimg her tor the past month, Haim knew
her fram before, in Haifa,”

“Why don’t vou call Jerrn2" | said, smiling.

“We have a woman, what we need is an extra man. Come on.”

It secemed he was determined 1o get me out of the mental slump |
was in, and gemmng me laid was the best method he and Haim could
come up wirth, Did T know 1 shouldnt be following him? Yes, Did [
follow him anyway? Yes, I'm ashamed to say.

We headed for a gray-colored prefab office structure halfway
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between the main building and the gate, Ir staried to rain. [ stood at
the edge ot the covered platform behind Yosv, who was abowt ro
kneck on a door.

“Come vver here,” Yosy whispered (o me. 1 don’t hive time to
fill vou in on the cover story. Just remember we're from the Shaback.
It would be better of you don't say anvihing. Oh yeah, we're not mar-
ried, any of us, and don't use vour awn name, family name that 1s.”
He knocked on the doar,

A soft feminine voice answered. “Who's thay”

*Yosy."”

*Come on m.”

He opened the door slowly, turned and winked at me, and entered.

“Dina, how are vou?r™ He walked over o a slim, beaunful blond
seated behind a farge metal desk. She was wearing an oversized green
army sweater with sergeant’s stripes loosely pinned to her sleeves, A
pair of ughe raded jcans wrapped her long legs, whech stretched out
under the desk, almosr touching a small glowing elecinie heater.

Yosy benr over and kissed her on the cheek. He then s1god behind
her, purting his hands on her shoulders, and <aid, “This. my beautiful
candy, 1s my toiend Dan.”

I smiled ar her and she smiled back. | telt awkward, out of place,
ver excited by those deep blue eves, There was a reddish glow 1o the
roam, and | was starning ro feel hot.

“What are you doing here?” she asked Yosy.

“I’s an inspecnon. Wie're here to check if the place is secure.”

“ls ir#”

Yosv rthought for 4 moment, loaning closer o her “Not 1o worry,
vou're safe as long as we're here.”

She stared ar me, smiling. Yosy leaned over and kissed her on the
lips. The kiss went on and on. As | turmed to leave, | saw her slowly
ratse her hands and bold his head. My last glimpse was of his hand
headed for her breast. | waited owside for a few seconds before |
heard him say, “Listen, my Hower, One of us will come oves to your
place, around mwelve:™

“Okay. If I'm not there, you kinow where the key is, nighr:"

Yosy came out, smuling as he closed the door behind ham. =Well,
buddy, if all goes well, it will be Dina at midmght,”

[ HAPTEN

Dov answered m his somewhat husk

s, i e

Weowescay, Feanuani 12, 1986. 22:00

took steps to sec if | was bemg ft_}l—
ire to me. Afrer verily-
one rang twice. " Yes?

' e i1
frer leaving the compound,
lowed. By now, this activity was second nat
ing 1 was indeed clean, | called Dov. The ph
¥ LR T o
“It's Kid here.”

“What™ up:” . .

= just wanted 1o tell vou 1'm clean.
“Positive?”

“~o doubt.” B
“Where are you mows

“Ar the Elite ingersecnion., W
oat of this uniform.

il there be anything clse? [ want o

Lad

e )

wOn whar side of the infersection are vous
“By the diamond exchange. . )
“Okav. Just 4 mmute.” There was a two-minute 1;1 aw;a..-"u;h:{: Ln‘n
When he came back, he just sawd. “Have ﬂi gc:mi nig ;_iu-.":-,-w.r.; i
- oicy was shightly crnical that was ¥
the morming.” His vorew wass \ pe it
i ¢ tle further,
ik \Mousa, his boss, and carnedata .
picked 1t up from ; . o i ace when a police €ar
: civer back into place

| hadn't even put the recaver e e eat

sereeched 10 a wap by the phone hooth. T watched as [2: u::; b
liceman got vit and headed tor me, | slowly hung up the pb e and
f::rncd 1o face him. | knew the routine; 10 was d typical 'r’;zimﬁi., e
| o might ency
' he kind of harassment we _

cise 1o get us used 1o b ; _ i
abroad. | was snarking; 11 wasnt a sood idea 1o do 't!:.;:;:.dl':1r k ,]T |
:.:uuk.’m't help myself. | knew what was cuming. and yet L are.
knew } could hanedle i, , .
“Hey, you!" the policeman called as he swaggered lea.:. .

L Ll ; ) r
1 found the situation comical. I could sull remember when enc
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ters like this got me excited and scared. "What?” | started to chuckle.
“Are vou 1alking to me?”

“What's so funny, soldier boy?”

“Are you talking to me?”

“You think it's funny, do vou? I'll show vou how funny this is.”
He slammed the booth door open to one side and stuck in his bulldog
face, almost touching mine. In such situations, I'd been trained 10 be
overly cooperarive, frendly, even wimpish, Soothe the man and get the
problem to shrink as fast as possible. Bur—mavbe jr was everything
I'd gone through the past few weeks, mavbe it was how the night had
unfolded so far—for some reason, | wasn't in an obliging mood. *Are
vou talking to me?™ The words just came aut, and the smle on my
tace widened.

The cop grabbed my shirt collar and slammed me against the back
of the boocth. The metal shelf under the phone hit my lower back,
sending bolts of pain through my legs. Do you have papers?™ His
face was twisted with anger at my smile. He turned s head ro his
partner, who was slowly getemg out of the car, "We got ourselves a
smart aleck here, Should we take him downtown or feed him some
knuckles firstd™

The second cop was a gant. “Well, lintle soldier,™ he said. “I can
see vou want to plav games.”

“Are you talking to me?” | wasn't smiling anymore. The big cop’s
huge open hand came from behind and hit me on the rop of my fore-
head. My head snapped back, slamming against the glass pane. | could
hear the glass crack. The msides of my head vibrated; I was starung to
lose conscipusness,

Suddenly, both cops backed up, vanking me out of the booth. The
comtact with the cold air brought me arpund.

“You're conung with us, soldier boy,™ the bigger cop said as they
tossed e into the back seat of the small Ford Escort patrol car.

“Where are you from?” the gorilla asked as he forced my head
between my knees and cuffed my hands behind my back, closing the
cuffs tighr.

"Are you talking 1o me?”

A fast jab 10 my ribs brought & short ¢ry of pain, When 1 1ied to
raise my head, he pushed it back down, hitting my lip on my knee. |
could taste the blood. | stayed down. Wharever happened, | couldn’t
have them leave marks on my face. My face was the most important
tool I had in this strange trade of mine. I could not do my job with a
black and blue face. | knew they were instructed not to harm me or
Jeave me visibly bruised, but often the cops would get carried away.
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| felr like telling them, | know the routines }Ei‘! get 1l twcrdwni;.
But all | could say was, " Are you ralking 1o me?” My mind “;-indﬂtné
Meanwhile. the beefy cop was slapping the hack of m}ld :; amf
.)unching a1 my ribs, From time to Gme, a sharp pain wou 135- ;
::-ut of my lhn:ughh and force me to face what was tal-un‘g P aq.t.d
knew 1 could stop this by playmg along, but something mside
couldn't ler me. . _ .
“mlThr-ln | thought of Dina; how casy 1 would be to get into h:i \';'u::
her and forget everything, just let :h:ngadhappcn,hiiv;n ?1 s:;:\ ;: wc; X
2 antasy :
«t, the thought excited me. 1 tned to push the ¥ av
?;ﬁ:::muwlf the encounter would never happen. But | knew it would
3 - and that became something o focus on. _
wm::\ TE& almost a full hour of sheer agony bcfnrr: the police n:-i:r
rerurmed o where it had picked me vp, As the cruiser pulled {;w::r. ;‘ 1:
driver rurned, grabbed me by the hair, and wrenched my head up. My
vision was blurred, and | had a pounding headache.

he cop scowled. . g

E&%;:pwcre you doing here, you little bastard?™ He spoke nght

- face, tightening his grip on my hair. '
mm:i!r:a:;u tﬁking 1o me:™ § mumbled. 1 could see they were .mn’
fused. This was not the way things were supposed to go. They thrv{nt
sufe 1.f I was doing it wrong or they were. The gorilla was now staring
out the window, clearly worried that he m:ghi hm-r_m-crdnnij tt.l -

"Yes. vou little shit, I'm talking to you, he finally said. 1 &
realize how much I'd needed that “'T]:i 'L"I*.I,"tﬂ:"f,

“Why didn's you say so?” Lsmiled famntly.

He smiled back in relief and let go of my hair. His big !m?jd mul'l:
off my caffs and opened the door. He then got out of the car an EP;I )
helpc;l me out. Before he closed the door, he looked at me. " You

kav? No hard feehings?™
’ aI“Nu hard feelings.” | shrugged and s.mwrcd back into :Iht phnn;
booth. The cracked pane was stanng me straight m th."' face. tdsc:m:; ;
s0 long ago, | had almost forgotten how it started. 1 dialed, and on

second ring Dov answered.

“It's Kid,” 1 said.

“What's up?” )

“You son of a birch. | just got off a roller coaster.

jllll

*What took vou so long: . )

] don't know. 1 guess there wils 3 communicanon problem with
the operator of the amusement park.

“What do you mean?” _ .
=f mean I'm tired, you asshole. What do you think 1 mean?

P bl Clmmimeal Miokrind
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“Are you okay?”

“As well as could be expected. | will live, though.”

“Okay, just put ir all m the repore. I'll see you in the morning.™ He
hung up.

I dialed again, this nme to the phone in the academys! main hall,
Yosy or Haim was supposed to be there, It was a pact we had thar we
waited for one another until the last one was done. It was 23:40, and
Yosy answered atter the fifth ring. He was breathing hard, as if he had
.

*Nes?™

e

“Hey, Victor, where the hell are you? We were ready to give up on
v

*Who's wes™

*Haim and me, who else?”

“Why are you breathing like you just ran a marathon?™

“We've been plaving Ping-Pong. So what are you up to?”

“Notmuch. | need a place 1o rest and relax.”

He chuckled. =1 think a candy factory would be in order.™

*A candy facrory?™ | was still somewhar dazed by the beating and
the constant pressure.

“Dina, I'm ralking about Dina. Where are vou now?”

“I'm ar the Elite intersection in Ramat Gan,”

"We'll meet you i ten minures a1 the London mini-stores com-
plex.”

“See you there.” | hung up and waved down a cab. Several min-
utes later, 1 was standing at the corner, staring north up Even Gvirol
Avenue. The Jeep came 1o a screeching stop just behind me.

Haim was sitting in the back. He stuck hus balding head our, look-
mg at me. “Come on, come on, we don't have all night. We've got a
job to do.™

*A job2”

“There’s a lawyer's office, we have ta enter the building and pho-
tograph some of his files.”

*When did this come up?™

"Yesterday.”

*How come | never heard of *”

1. Academny: Mossad teaining facility, locared across from the country club out-
side Tel Aviv on the road oo Haifa
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*You're not on our team. It a nonelected serups we didn’t chiose
it, we were assigned.”

! could feel the long blade slowly making s way through my
back. Yosv, Haim, and 1 had been a team almost from day one. There
was no reason o break us up: we complemented one another, The
only thing thar 1 could think of was that someone was rrying to isolare
me: | was not paranord. Had this been a leginmate move, they would
have brought t ro my atention and given me an explananon. Because
it was done behind my hack, it was sinister, Bur there was nothing |
could do now; accepting it was the only rational move.

“1 thought we tokd her we'd be there at twelve?!™ Suddenly, 1 real-
1#ed bow anxious | was to see Dina. Funny thing was, it was the image
ot her smile, not her body, that fixed wselt in my mind.

“Whar | thought we'd do,” Yosy said, tuming around to face
Haim and me, “we'll drop Victor here over ar her place, then we'll go
and do the casing. Then we will come back and pick vou up.™

1 nodded, "Fine with me.”

“We'll come in with vou just to get 2 cup of cotfee, then we'll
scoot,” Yosy added.

| told them abour my encounter with the police.

“How hard did they hur you?™ Yosy asked.

“Hard enough. [ was asking for it,”

“1 thought vou could sweet-talk anyone.™ Haim stared at me from
the dark rear of the Jeep.

"1 don't know, | really don't know, All Tean tell vou is thar [ didn't
teel like ralking ro those two.”

The Jeep was on its way, crossing several lanes as we headed in the
direction of Dzengoff Smeet. At the comer of Dizengoff and Gordon,
Yosy made a sharp nght, almost turming the Jeep over. It came to a
stop on the sidewalk,

“Nice parking,” | remarked. “T'm sure you're parallel to some-
thing,” We all laughed: this was one of the perks of the job, ignonng
traffic rules. The Jeep's license plate was false, and although i would
show up on the police computer, it would do so only for a few davs,
then it would be changed. We also had a high-level special security
ID card thar would send a cop mstantly in whatever direction we
might choose. This was our God card, and we liked tinding a chance
Lo use 1.

“We'te here,” Yosy announced and hopped out. | followed, and
Haim was not far behind. It was a typical Tel Aviv apartment building.

“This is 1. Yosy was at the door 1o the night of the dark staur-
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well. He turned to face me, one hand on the bell ready 1o press the lir-
tle red butron. “Just remember, we are from the Shaback, we're all sin-
fﬂ:, and we live on base in. .. " He turned 1o Haim. *Where do we
ved™

“Natania,”

“Why Natania? Why Shaback?” [ asked.

“Natania is far enough ver not thar far, and Shaback because we
can't rell her Mossad, now can we? We don’t want to be police, so
that is the closest thing.™

“Okay, | can live with that. How often does all this come up?”

“We gave her the story once.” Haim said 1n a low voice.

i “Never spoke about it again,” Yosy remarked. “Come on, hit the
el

I was calm only because | was beat. It wouldn’t have raken much
for me to fall asleep a1 that point. The guilt associated in my mind
with this sort of activity was dulled. I'd managed subconsciously o get
my purtishment before | did the deed. '

The sound of the buzzer was harsh and unpleasant. It was fol-
lowed by a soft, barely audible voice. *Just a minute.

The peephole blacked out for a second, then the door swung open.
“Hey, guvs, 1 thought you werent coming, so | was about to 20 to
bed.” She backed away from the door, letting us in.

. “Dan’t let us stop you.” Yosy said with a sly smile. *We might just
join you.”

She closed the door behind us. Haim headed straight for the large
bed in the center of the small living room, dropping himself right into
the middle of i1. Yosy made his way to the bathroom, The place was
dimly lir, and the air stood heavy with the moisture of a recently raken
bath and a faint scent of perfume, The smell was sensual: | could all
but feel the softness of the woman's skin. The place was simple, warm,
J_md seductive. | could fecl my heart pumping harder with every pass-
ing moment. The excitement was pressing against my Adam’s apple—
it felt good. Dina was beautiful in her long robe. Her movements were
flowing, somewhat unconcerned, casual. Excepr for her hair, every-
thing about her was long. Her lazy blue eves stayed on me after | st
on the end of the bed. sull tense.

She moved slowly to the bathroom, then flicked on the light in a
second room | hadn't noticed before. It was a small kitchen. She
paused and asked, “Would anyone like something to drink?*

‘l:il have 3 coffee,” Haim answered, not even rurming his head.

“Forger it,” came a shour from behind the bathroom door, “We
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have things to do. We'll pick Dan up larer.” We always managed to
find a reason for a code name, whatever the acnviiy. I was second
partire; we just did ar all the time.

Yosy stepped our of the bathroom, pulled the girl toward him, and
kissed her. She showed no resistance. He let go of her and said
Haym, “Let's go. we have things 1o do, and so does Dan.” He mrned
to me. “Keep the bed warm unul we come back.”

Somehow his manner irritated me, It was as though | was taking
ofrense where she should have but didn't. It was her submission and
his abuse thar angered me. She locked the door atter they left and
seood tacing me, leaming on the door she bad just closed. | tele very
.I."l'i'k“'.if'ﬂ.

*Waould vou care for something 1o drink?” she asked, smiling for
the [irst rime.

“I'll have a ¢oftee, please.”

“Muake voursell comfortable. I'll be back in 4 moment.”

She glided acruss the room, spreading her scent as she passed. It
was a naked smell, reasing; 1 could feel the pressure m my loins.
Dishes clarrered m the kiechen. 1 lir a cigarette and picked up what
seemed like a notebook trom the small cofiee rable by the bed.

I opened it and saw it was filled with ughe small handwriting. My
first reaction was to put it back on the table. Then | looked again;
there were no markuigs on the cover It whoever wrote this had not
wanted ir read, he or she would nng have left it where it was, My first
guess was that it was Dina’s diary. | wasn't eager to read ir, but there
was hittle else to do, and | was not going to sit there like a3 dummy
untl we got into bed like two awkward strangers doing what we borh
kiiew we had intended to do in the first place. Obvioushy, she didn't
think my friends had dropped me off to have a friendly chat with her.
And Yosy rold me he had asked her if she wanted me ro come afier she
had caught a glimpse of me at the base, and her response was positive.
S0 there might be something in this little book 1o break the ice and
make rhings a bit smoother.

I realized 1 was starting to feel guilty again. Whar the hell was a
thirty-seven-vear-old married man with two children doing here,
seated on the bed of this twenty-three-vear-old woman? | was one son
of a birch.

| started to read. At first it made po s¢nse—short sentences rhat
rthymed but meant nothmng to me. She came back with two cups of
steamimy cotfee and sat next 1o me on the bed. Her knee shd gut trom
under the heavy robe and as rhough by accident touched mune. 1



A TOR OsTROV Y& Y

cleared my throat. She took her coffee and started 1o domk, hiding half
her face belund the cup.

| raised the book, “1s this your stuff?™

She nodded silently, as though she was waiting for me 1o sav more.

“Really?”

“Yes,” she answered, putong the cup down and snuling at me.
“Why:?"

“I just asked."”

She moved claser, her simle getnng wider. “How do you hike 2"

“1 think i's grear,”

She leaned back, laughing softly. “What do you mean?”

“Just what | said.” | rold myselt that a homy man should not dis-
cuss poetry. “I'm really hot,” | said.

*Why dont vou take a shower and chanpge? You seem like it
would do you some good.™

“You mean | stink?™ 1 laughed.

“No, no, notatall .. .”

*I would love t0.” 1 got up and started for the bath. *1 have noth-
ing to change into.”

“Use the robe on the door, and then you can pick our something
of my husband’s.”

I troze. “Your what?"

“(h, don't worry, He doesn’t live here anvmore.”

I let out a sigh of relief.

There was something crotic about the shower; there was some-
thing erotic about everything in the small apartment: the simplicity of
things, the improvisational solunions young people find for domestic
needs, furniture and apphances thar had seen better davs, ver were
functional and comfortable. When [ came our of the shower, the room
was dark except for a red glow from an electric heater.

*Get into bed.” Her voice came from the corner. “T'll be there ina
minute.”

My pulse was racing as [ lay on the bed, hands behind my head,
still in the damp robe | had found in the bathroom, It was anticipation
that kept me awake, and | was well rewarded. She came out into the
red glow weanng nothing. She walked straight for the bed and sat by
me. Leaning her thin, soft-skinned body agamnst my folded leg, she sat
gently stroking my chest.

I was ready 1o explode. Her elbow touched me, and she could feel
1 wanted her. She smiled. It was clear she was happy. | sat up in the
bed and cupped her small breast in one hand, slowly moving the other
all over her body, which seemed to quiver 1o my rouch. She pushed me
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hack onto the bed and gemly fondled every part ot me. Then she
Jowly sat herself on me, bringing us together. The memory of what
rook place after that is hazy, | remember that when Yosy and Haim
came 1o pick me up, 1 rold them 1 would stay the night and would see
them tomorrow. [ had made my escape from brutal reality and wanted
it to last, ar least for the night.



[ HAPTER

Thunsory, Feanuany 13, 1966, 07:45

reached the academy and ran into the building, my coat over my
head for protection from the rain, ‘

Daov, our training instructor, looked angrv—not an expression reg-
ularly seen on tus rounded face. He stopped me several feet from the
coffeepot.

“Where the hell have vou been?™

“Did we have a date?” T asked.

“1 don’t need a date 1o fuck you.™ He had a pont, and also my
attention. “1I'm talking about last night>”

I paused, looking ar the ceiling. *You missed me? I'm rouched, ”

*“You weren't home when [ called.”

“You called me at home?™ [ felt a mixture of fear and goile. “Whar
did vou tell Bella?™

"*Nothing, 1 just wanted to talk to vou.”

“Whar am I supposed to tell her now?™

“If you'd been there, vou wouldn't have ro tell her anything,”

Dov had broken the basic unwritten rule of camaraderie in the
Mossad: He'd ealled an officer's home when there was no UTgent rea-
son 10 do so, and it seemed be had not even covered for me once he
realized 1 was not there. | was tunous. "Fuck vou, who made v the
sheriffz Trust me, Dov, conl calh bigy youmu [every dog has his dayl.
I'th find a time to look for vou too,”

| poured myself a cup of coffee, “Okay, now you tound me. What
do you want anyway? | don’t have all dav.™ This was getting far more
complicared than I thought.

“What did vou think vou were playing at last night, with the
cops?” Dov was trying to keep his voice down.
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“Nopthung. They took me tor a nde and then brought me back,
why?”

“Is that how you deal with hosnile palice? After years of training,
that 15 all vou came up with? ‘Are vou talking to me?™”

“Are vou talking ro me?”

“Pon’t start with me. You're walking the edge and vou know ir,
so don't push me."

| put my hand on his shoulder and pulled him w0 the corner of the
roont. | leaned aver closer to him and spoke in a low vence. “Listen to
me, Dov. You're on loan to the Mossad from internal security because
of vour expertise in operational security, right?”

He nodded.

“I'm a Mossad otficer. In a fow weeks [ will be posted, and even it
I'm not, I'm still a colonel [the rank 1 had received in Maossad|, | out-
rank vou ten times.” He tried 1o pull away, bur 1 held on, “You can
tell me whatever yvou want, that’s your job. However, if vou don't
want me to break your neck, and trust me I will, you'[l rrear me with
respect. Am | making myself clear?”

“Get your hands off me.” He backed up.

“You'll ger my report shortly, and it vou don't ike what you read,
vou can do whatever vou bloody want. Now, if vou'll forgive me, |
have a coffee to dnink.” 1 walked back to the mam area.

There were some loose ends | had ro tie up, which was the reason
| had come to the academy m the hrst place, It bad to do with a con-
ference that had raken place the previous month at the Country Club
Horel, across from the academy on the highwayv 1o Haifa, The conter-
ence had hosted the representatives of the South Korean Unification
Church of Reverend Sun Myung Moon, known as Moomes, and theic
motley group of associates. Meetings had taken place with nighr-wing
Kuesser members and some military personnel, Also taking part on
our side were representatives of the intelligence communiry and digni-
taries such as Yehuda Blum, the former lscaeli ambassador wo the UN.
An ex-colonel from the Korean central intelligence agency (KCIA) and
several retired American generals were there too, One man | really
couldn’t stand was a Frenchman called Pierre Ceyvlac, who was a
member of an extreme right-wing French fascist party. The man con-
stantly wanted me to get hvm things. He thought that haison meant
having a servant or something. He had placed a request with the
Mossad for a computer program that would help him communicare
and store data. Ceylac needed to kecp the data secure from the French
secret service. | was supposed to get the program that had been modi-
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fied for him by the electronics company Sitex and send 1t via diplo-
matic pouch to the Panis station, They would have the program deliv-
ered 1o him.

I didn't understand why we dealt with these characters to begin
with. But David Biran, who had hosted the conference, said the bene-
fits were far greater than the smell. It was not my place 10 question

bur ro obev. and so | did,

Frioay. Feanuagy 14, Mossao Hesnousmrens. Hovs Saul BouLevaso, Tew Ry

"Hey, Victor.™ Yehuda Gill, & veteran katsa' and one of the living
legends of the Mossad, called me as 1 was about 10 pass through the
security post at the entrance to the bullding. | turned and he waved ar
me, pamnung 1o a corridor that led 10 the photographic department.
The man was involved in just about every operation that called for
elaborare planning, yet he was onc of the more modest people in the
Orgamzation.

I'smiled and walked in his direction. He pur a hand on my shoul-
der. “Come with me. I'm going to have my ugly face photographed for
a mew American passport. | want to ratk 1o vou.®

We entered the empty phowo studio. “The photographer will be
here in a few minutes,™ he said.

“Whar's with the American passport?™ That was a very rare thing
to ger. The Mossad tried to avoid as much as possible the use of
American passports.

“Fll be working in the States tor the AlY department. We've got g
big cleanup job there,”

“1 never heard of any screwups there. What's to clean up?”

“The Pollard thing.”

“| thought thar was LAKAM 2™

“They made the mess, but we have to clean it up. | have to conrace
the famous Mr. X and see 1o it that he doesn’t get caught.”

1. Karsa: Gathening officer, or case officer, in the Mossad, Only apour thirty-five
uctive katsas are in the field ar any given time.

2. Al A secret unit of experienced katsas working under deep covern the
United Seares.

3, !_AKAM: Lushka Le Kishry Madu. the section for scicatific relations, 2 special
unit directly under the prime minister's affice thar was gathering intelligence in
the United States. Not part of the Mossad.

. 8 -
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I knew somerhing about the case. The LAKAM had recruited 3
man named Jonathan Pollard, an Amencan Jew working i U5, navy
inrelligence, and had worked him as a spy. He was caprured i 1986
by the FBL, after being refused asylum in the Isracli embassy in Wash.
mpton. That refusal was the direst result of Mossad interventon,
although the affair was handled ourside the Mossad. There was
rumored to be a link between Pollard and the Mossad, someone
known as Mr X. We never got the full story, and what did come
through was buried in paper.

“So there 1 a M X3™ 1sand,

“In name onlv. Me X 1s not one person. Eitan® ook from us lists of
sayaning® when he left. He used them as sources. They would tell him
where things were, and he would have Pollard bring out the hard copy.”

“Thev agreed?” [ kmew it was a dumb question the moment |
asked it

“Agreed? A savan is there 10 serve, not to guestion. It we don't
mowe fasr, others will end up in jail cells next o Pollard. S0 1 have 1o
go out there and see that it doesn’t happen. How many Jews do you
know in Amenca who are willing 1o be branded a traitor and spend
time 10 prison for the glory of Isracl?™

I nodded in understanding. “So what can I do tor vou?”

“Nothing. | just want to talk to vou about vou.”

“Me? What's to talk abom*™

1 heard some l.'h'ings about Vi, and | think you ihﬂurd know
about them,”

“Whart things?”

“First, vou have Mike Harari.® whom vou played for a tool. He's
sl after vour hide. The man is spreading stories about vou. Then
there are all the people you rub the wrong way when you ralk poli-
nes.” Yehuda looked ar me like a teacher eveing a young rascal. *You

4. Eitan: Reterence 1o Rafael Extan, an ex- Mossad afficer who headed the
LAKAM,

S, Sayamm: Derives from the Hebrew word lesaveah, meaning “to help.” The
eterenee 15 to Jewish helpees who do things tor the Mossad. They're aot pad,
80 it an never be said they're doing what theyre doing tor the moeney. Several
festtetinns govern their use. For example, 2 sayan cannot be asked 1o do g job
side an Arab country

6. Mike Harari: Ex-Mossad afficer involved inshady activines workdwide,
Known to have been the Panamanian leader Manuel Morega's patier.
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have the right 10 your opinions, But since you're from the wrong side
of the spectrum, you should keep them to vourself.”

I believed in the night of the Palestinian people to have a country
of their own in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip. | believed we were
losing our humane image through this so-called benevolent occuparion
of the Territones. Not only did | believe all this, 1 said so ar every
opportuniry, | had theretore been pegged as a lefust. In Israel in pen-
¢ral and in the Mossad in particular, the difference between lefi-wing
and right-wing is clearly demarcated by the question of the Territories.
The right wants to keep the Territories and if possible annex them 10
the state of lsrael, after deporting most of their Palestinian inhabitants.
The lett regards the Palestinians as a natonal entity with irs own privi-
leges and rights, including thar of self-determination. Other issues,
such as the economy and soclal policies, are not necessanly aligned
along this axis. Thus, an extreme left-winger on the question of the
Terrirories could be a right-wing conservarive on all other issues.

1 knew it was a myth thar the Mossad, with all its power, could
exist withour becoming fascist. Yet | needed the myth 10 keep going.
“So whar are you telling me? That | shoold shur up? lsn't Isracl a
democracy?™

*1t 35, bur you're not in Israel, you're in the Mossad. Until we get a
chance to clean house, things will ger worse befare they get better. My
advice to you is duck, my boy, duck unul the rage passes.”

“What if | don't?™

“You'll be our om your ass faster than you can believe, Or much
Worse,

“Whar is that supposed 1o mean?*®

“What do you think it means? We deal in death and deception
every day. Think abowt it.” He smiled sadly. | wanted to ask him a
thousand questions, But just then the photographer walked in,

“Thanks for coming 10 say goodbye,” he said ro me and turned to
face the photographer. | knew our lintle ralk was over.

Suxcay, Fesnuasy 16, 08:00

I was posted 1o the Danish desk in Country” in Mossad headquar-
ters. | reported o work first thing in the morning. After the rityalistic
coffee and charter in the corridors, | was handed my assignment for
that day. For my first job on this desk, [ was given a pile of Dansh

7. Country: A department in the liaison branch,
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visa applicanons that were shipped 1o us via diplomane pouch. They
were photocopies of the origimals and were part of a so-called service
we were performing for the Danes.

All the applicants were of Arab descent, and the procedure was 1o
compare their names with our own database. We'd had & new system
mstalied only some months before, and the cross-referencing ot the
informanon was extremely fast. The compurer had over one and a half
million names in irs memory. [t rook only a few seconds 1o get a cross-
seference with the new program, which wus sind 1o have been treshly
stolen from an ally.

Atter several days, Benny 5., second in command of Country, told
me to contact Hombre—code name for our man in Scandinavia—and
have him request a new bugging on a leading Danish judiial figure by
the name of Gammeltoft Hansen. This man was a pro-Palestinian
advocate and a professor in some umversity. The Damsh police, or
secret police, had mstalled a listening device i hus office tor s several
years previously. “Study the file,” Benny said, “then you recommend
what should be done. We believe Hansen suspeets his office is bugged
irom the wayv he conducts s conversanions. i we bug his home, we're
sure to get berrer resules.”

Maxoay. Feanunay 17

From what T found in the Damsh secrer service file, [ could see
that we had a "good friend”™ in Denmark, much friendlier and more
coaperative than the Israeli Shaback was 1o us. The Danes had a small
service thar wanted to play in the g leagues ber didn't have the
know-how or fimancial backing 10 do so. On the other hand, they
could gather mformation inside Denmark and do things withour ger.
ting caught that we couldn’t dream of, In return for geming things
done tor us, we made them feel important.

Hombre's answer to my request for a second bug came back the
same day, They were working on it. They had placed the first one in
the professor's office at the end of 1984, It was done bv an agent we
had inside Danish intelligence. His name was Schmidt, and he was
code-named Oil Paint. He sent a police team o place the bug, making
up a story that the bug had been requested by the man whose office it
was, supposedly 10 stop some phone harassment. He gave the wrong
office location, so they had installed the bug m the professor’s phone.
No one but Oil Pant, and Hombre of course, knew about it, The
tapes were tramsferred directly, untouched, o Hombre every two
weeks like clockwork, and everybody was happy.
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The second request that I had made to Hombre was to try to get
more information regarding Korean dissident activity in Denmark.
This was a request from liaison to fill a promise made to the Moonies,
A similar request had been made in 1982, but the Danes wouldn't give
us anything then. This time, they replied that they would oblige. They
also wanted us 1o know how sensitive the information was. They were
collecting it exclusively for the CIA and didn't want to ger caughr in
the middle.

1 double-checked with Amnon Peleg, the haison 1o the CIA. He
said the CIA would shoot us all if they knew we were giving this stuff
to the Moonies.

Peleg asked me to delay the transfer of the information. By evening,
this was starting o take on a crisis formar. Head of liaison insisted on
giving it to the Moonies. He said the information was promised to him
by Shabrai, head of Melucha. Shabtai was out of the country and ot
of reach. He was in Rome, a guest of the Italian head of intelligence. It
was a working visit. Shabtai had raken with him Menahem Dorf, head
of Sayfanim.® They had information tying Sabry El Bana (berter known
as Abu Nidal) to the December 27, 1985, attack on the Rome airport.
The informanion was sohd, although many gaps were artfully filled,
rving the man to other terrorist acts that had taken place in Italy. From
Romoe, Shabrai was heading for France 1o meet with French intelligence
officials abour Abn Nidal's activities there.

Finally, the decision came on the side of the Moonies. Head of
Country decided ro go ahead and rell Hombre to acnvate Schmidre and
have him steal the matenial if necessary.

Weonesay, Feanuany 19

The information for the Moonies arnived before noon and was
passed on directly to Traksin (Mashov's® department for paraphrasing
informarion). Paraphrasing was done to eliminate the possibility of
tracing the source of the information. I then passed it on to liaison,
who sent it to Japan, where the Mossad liaison officer to the Far
East—from the Dardasim section—handed it in person 10 his contact
in Dr. Moon’s church.

8. Saytanim: A department in research totally devoted to PLO activaty, part of
the Manginot (code name for research) secrian.

9, Mashov: Code name for the communications department.
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That same dayv, Hombre sent a fax through a secure hne in the
[srzeli embassy in Denmark. He informed me that the special antiter-
ror unit of Purples-A' had entered and installed a Glass'! in the pro-
fessor's house. In the fax, he said the action was made under protest
hv an officer named Delsgard, but the man did nothing more than

that.

Frions, Feonuany 21

The Danish visa forms that were judged problemaric made their
way back to mv desk. Several of them had names thar were also in our
eo:ﬁpuwr. meaning that they were of some interest to us, The proce-
dure was to double-check, because Arab names are extremely confus-
ing. It was necessary to see if other derails such as date and place of
birth matched. That would eliminate almost 80 percent of the so-
called hot files. The women ar the ryping pool had no clearance to call
up the files they were working on. All they could do was enter infor-
mation, nOt retrieve it,

Once the name was regarded as hot and verified, it was added to a
roster with all the relevant information. The roster was then passed on
to operations center every second day. There they analyzed the new
names to see if they wanted to recruir immediately or put them on
hold. 1f the decision was to recruit immediately, the Danes would not
be given an answer regarding the person in question, They were t0
assume thar all was well, and they would approve the visa. Once the
applicant was on Danish soil and under our surveillance, the Danes
would be informed he was a dangerous person. They would automati-
cally cease refugee proceedings and bring him in for questioning. A
Mossad officer would then attempt to recruit him in the Danish hold-
ing tank. If the recruiting was successful, he would be released and act
as an agent for the Mossad inside the Palestinian community in
Europe, or elsewhere. If not recruited, the man would be threatened
and then released; usually he then escaped to another Scandinavian
country where the Mossad had similar arrangements. There the pro-
cess would stare all over,

10. Purples-A: Mossad code name for the Danish civilian secret service (Politiers
Efterretingsjtneste Politistatonen),

1. Glass: A listening device installed in a phone that can also listen to things
said in the room where the phone s located.
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“We have in this way recruited over eighty Palestinians this past
vear,” my boss had bragged. “I1%s 100 easy to be legal.”

[t wasn’t, but when 1 asked if this sort of thing could backfire on
us, | got the usual answer vou would get in the Mossad 1o just about
any question; “So what#”

Over the next few days, things started 1o become somewhar of a
haze, 1 was working almost around the clock preparing for my
planned trip 1o Sn Lanka. | was to escort a large shipment of mines to
the Tamil Tigers and receive payment for them. | was lezrning my
cover story and being questioned on it by my secuon head.

It scemed that the whole building was going berserk. Evervbody
and his dog were looking for informartion that could stop Jordan's
King Hussein's efforrs for a peace imintative. The ininative caughr the
Mossad off guard; we had understood from sources in the United
States that it was a farce. They had said it was dead in the water
almost a month ago. But somchow it sprang to life agam, and
although Yasser Arafat would not recognize lsrael, he had agreed to a
meeting with Hussein. The word was that it was a ploy by Hussein.
All he wanted, they said, was Amernican approval of his request for a
two-billion-dollar arms purchase. We had guaranteed the prime minis-
ter that this would not happen. The entire Jewish lobby in the United
States was mobilized. The man in charge of that was Tsvy Gabay, head
of the foreign office intelligence section, He was given lists of sayanim
and pro-Zionist organizations that he could mobilize.

This was not an easy task. The Jordamans could purchase the
arms anvwhere they wanted. They were not begging for a grant; they
wanted to spend meney in the United Stares. They were looking for a
cash deal. We knew thar it they succeeded, they would have access 1o
an American market that was more than eager to sell them anything,
And so this deal never stood a chanee.

The Amerncan Jewish community was divided into a three-stage
action team. First were the individual sayanon (if the situanon had
been reversed and the United States had convinced Americans working
in Israel to work secretly on behalf of the United States, they would be
reated as spies by the Israeli government). Then there was the large
pro-Isracli lobby. It would mobilize the Jewish community in 3 force-
ful effort in whatever direction the Mossad pointed them. And last
was B'nai Brith. Members of rhat organization could be relied on to
make friends among non-Jews and tarnish as anti-Semitic whomever
they couldn't swav to the [sraeli cause. With that sort of one-two-three
racric, there was no way we could strike out,

(HAPTEN

Trunsons, Maack 27, 1986

wo months had passed since the Cyprus hasco, and the system was

ini torment over how to deal with me. On the one hand, the_MDSf.ad

leadership had invested a great deal bringing me to this point.
And 1 had responded well—meaning 1 was a good product‘ of the sys-
tem’s training and modeling process. However, several high-ranking
officers had come to regard me as a divisive influence. One | barely
knew, a man named Ephraim, made it his personal crusade to expel
me from what he called the first famuly of the stare. |

He had somehow been made my assessor and was not happy with
things he had found in my file. He said that 1 was inflammatory and
that my political outbursts were a menace to -muralc. He agreed thar |
had the makings of a good case officer, but since 1 leaned to the left, |
would be a danger to the system. _

The Mossad is a small organization with thirty to forty case offi-
cers, cach an important member of the field family, Whatever happens
1o one affects the rest. My situation was well known and was a topic
of discussion at almost every gathering where | wasn't present. |
learned about it from friends, but I didn't have a so-alled horse (a
brass member who wanted to advance me as part of his clique} who
would speak for me.

By now I knew I was going to get the boot. 1 stood ou_tmd-: Ifhu:
large wooden doors of the academy, ar the edge of the staff parking
lor. I stared at the winter sun sinking slowly into the Mediterranean. A
slow drizzle had started, and the light was fading fast.

“Victor,” came a call from inside the main hall. | turned. It was
Dinur, someone 1 had regarded as a friend. I was sure he still was.

“Whar?"
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“They want to talk o vou.” He nodded in the direction of the
offices.

“Is the chief there?™ As a case officer on his way out, [ had the
right to speak one-on-one to the head of the Mossad. If that was
denied, 1 would activate my second privilege and ask for a hearing
with the prime minister,

“No, the boss isn't there. David Arbel 15.”

“I have the right 1o speak to Rom."” | used the code name for the
head of the Mossad.

“Why don't vou listen to what Arbel and Gideon Naftalv have to
say:”

“Nafialy? What the hell 1s Nafialv up t?" Naftaly was head of
the psychiatric department and someone | didn’r respect. In the cader
course, one cader who was a psvchologist had made manipulating him
intQ @ sport,

“Look, Victor, don't ask me all these questions. Get in there and
ask them.”

| nodded and started for the hall, stopping by the coffee rable 1o
take a cup and use some napkins to partially dry my hair, which was
still damp from the cain. Dinur was walking by me. [ felr like a man
on his way to the gallows.

Gideon popped his head out of the office. “Victor, we're waiting
for vou. Can vou please come in here now?"

“Go ahead,” said Dinur, pushing me roward the office. “Go,
man.”

I nodded and entered the room. “You called?”

*Yes,” said Arbel in his heavy, self-important voice. “We want to
talk 1o vou abour the rermimanion of your contract with the Mossad.”

“When will I have my 1alk with the boss?”

“You won't," he said in a casual tone, as though he were telling
his secretary to get him someone on the phone. “This will be your
tinal alk."”

| felt a sudden burst of anger. [ could see that they wanted to get
this over with as fast as possible. I had ceased to be one of them, and
they didn’t want me around anymore. Theyv had cheated me our ot my
country and my belief in a cause. | was clueching at straws. “What are
you ralking about? You're not the boss, and this clown shouldn't be
here anyway,”

*Watch your mouth, Victor," Arbel said.

“Nor could you ever be."

“That's enough.” Arbel’s eyes were shooung sparks. 1 could see
that he felt the control slipping between his fingers. “1 wanted to ralk
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1 you before vou lett, 1f vou don't want to answer, that will be okay
with me. [n fact, 1 would be grateful if you didn’t. Now histen to me,
and never forger what I say to you.”

| leaned back in my chair. | found his manner offensive, but the
power was his. “Once on the outside, vou'll forger everything you
have learned, done, heard, or otherwise understood is taking place
here.”

*[ thought I'd get a chance to tell the boss what 1 think 1s wrong,”
I rerurned. “1 know that what I say might not amount to much, but at
least he could make a face like he's listening, the way he does when
Brains here talks to him."”

Naftaly shook his head but didn’t say a word.

Arbel went on. “Well, as you can see. that isn’t going 1o happcrj.
Why don't you just spit out whatever it is you want to say? I'll pass it
on to him.”

“How about ralking 1o the prime minister, if the boss won't talk to
me?”

“You'll talk to me and that's ir.™ He was Josing his panence.

“In my employment contract, it says that upon involuntary '.'f:_rmi-
nation of the contract, I will have a meeting with the head of the
Mossad and/or the prime minister. It says the meeting will rake place
hefore final termination of employment.” 1 moved closer to him, sub-
consciously defying his unlimited power.

He smirked at me. *I don't give a shit abour your contract. Who
are you going to complain to?" His voice was low. “Can’t you see? :'-"?e
made that promise, and we can break ir. We can do with vou anything
we want. 1 could pur you in jail now and throw away the key. You
know it's happened to others, You're like a mosquito on my head.
You're starting to become a nuisance, and I'm abour ready to crush
vou. So listen, Victor, get moving while you still have nme.”

“So does that mean no?™ 1 knew | was pushing it.

“Are vou hard of hearing? 1 said vou're pot talking to anyone.
You're out of the loop, you're out of the game, and if you don't watch
it, vou'll be out of this world.”

" “What are you telling me2” I was almost whispering. “You'll kall
me if 1 don't play it your way? If that’s whar you said, it's a first. 1
might have flunked an exercise, and, if you want to believe the stories,
even screwed up an operation. But you know as well as | do thar I'm
one of the best field people you have, and I'm still a patriot, whether
you like it or not, and it's starting to look like you might not be one.
You might be responsible for the security of our country, but nobody
has yer made you king.” 1 got up and headed for the door.
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“Don't you walk our on me.” Arbel was now on his feet, shouting
after me.

“Fuck all of you,” | answered, not even turning around.

When I reached the door, Naftaly was at my side, breathing hard.
The short run was too much for the lirtle couch potare. 1 stopped and
turned to face him. “What is it?”

“There is something | have to tell you, shall we say out of profes-
sional courtesy.”

“I'm listening, but hurry up. I have a life to start.”

“When [ met you in the final tesung stages, [ wanted you out of
the game. | knew you would be trouble, but 1 was overruled; they saw
great operational potennal 1n you, as they put it.”

“Well, I'm our. That should make you very happy.”

He turned red. “1'd like to take the credit for this, but unformu-

nately 1 can't. You turned several of the leadership against you all on
your own,”

“So whart do you want from me?”

“1 have a good psychological profile of you by now. After all, 1
have been observing you for several years. 1 know you have learned a
lot in the courses and the short time you have spent in the field. Now
you're an expert on how to kill, steal, forge, recruit, and break into
places. Having learned all that, you’re sent into the world with no real
use for it.”

“Does that scare you? Are you worried thar I'll be coming for you
or something?”

“Don’t be ridiculous. | just want to tell you that you have a basic
problem, and you should look after it or it will kill you.” He paused,
then went on, “You have what I call in novice’s terms a fear defi-
ciency.”

*Whaz?”

Not one muscle moved in his pudgy face. “I'm nort kidding, It was
one of the main reasons they picked vou in the first place. Most people
in the system have the same problem, but they have the system to take
care of them. You don't have that anymore. Before you learned all the
things you did in the Mossad, it didn't marter.” He paused. “You have
gotten and will get into trouble because you're not afraid of the conse-
quences. If you would consider the fact that fear is a protective mecha-
nism we have, the lack of it is a deficiency. What you should remember
is to analyze everything you are about to do. You don't have natural
tear to rely on."

“So what you're telling me is, Find a job doing something that
doesn’t call for whart I've learned here?”
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“Yes, that will be preferable.” He lowered his head and looked at
the tips of his shoes. ‘ _

“Tell your boss it didn't work. You're probably right; nothing
ceems 1o scare me.”
ot will kill vou if you don’t watch our, Victor.™

»And a good day to you.” I headed for my car. | was angry.

Once 1 was inside the tiny blue box, my car, it hir me. This is it,
Once | start my car and drive the three hundred feet 1o the gate, it will
A1l be over. Evervbody 1 knew in the Mossad will now he a stranger to
me, From this point on, all my access to information and the power
that comes with it will be gone. .

I couldn’t comprehend it. Life after the Mossad—it sounded like
a1 oxymoron. | felt like a figure plucked from one of Dali’s surrealistic
p-.mui.ngs and set down in the real world, a world \\'hcrf: people are
only the size they were born to be and can do only what is allowed, a
place where rules are meant to be followed, not broken. '

] felt like throwing up, and ar the same time, | wanted to punch
someone. 1 started the car and headed for the gate. 1 rrt-nwmbfered
entering this place a happy cheerful man, curious and anxious, !IkE.kT
child allowed into Aladdin’s treasure cave, Now here | was heading in
the other direction, bitter, beaten, and betrayed.

I stopped at the gate, waiting for it to open. I was staring ahead
when 1 heard a knock on my window. It was a perimeter guard.
rolled down the glass, not even looking at the man. “What?™

“I was told to get your entry card, please.”

I wanted to sav something mean, but his expression was apolo-
getic. He wasn't sure what to do or say. 1 drew the white card out of
my pocket and handed it to him, “Now could vou guys open the
bloody gare and ler me our of this shit hole?™

The gate moved quickly. Not waiting for it to open all the way, |
slammed the gas pedal to the floor. The small wheels spun, and | sped
into the mght.

[ knew I should be heading home, but 1 just couldn’t go there yet. I
knew that once 1 told Bella 1 was out, it would become a full rcalitjf'.

The rain did not let up. 1 drove slowly through the streets of Tel
Aviv. Everything seemed gray and dull. Before, there'd been a chal-
lenge in everything; now there was nothing. No one was followmg me,
and | had nowhere to report. | was mortal again, kicked our of
heaven. It was time to go home and try to put my life back together.
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t was almost midnight when [ pulled into my parking stall under my
apartment building in Herzelia. As I locked the car, 1 heard someone
calling from inside the stocage room, “Victor.”

| stepped back.

“Don't be alarmed, I'm here o pick you up and take you to a
meeting, " .

I eried to see who was talking to me, but all I could discern was a
dark figure leaning on the wall inside the storage room. | reached over
and flicked the switch to rturn on the light. I wasn’t surprised when it
didn’t work. “Who are vou?"

“Only a messenger. [ can’t answer any of your questions, but you
h_avc* nothing to worry abour. ., ." He stopped talking for 2 minute,
Ijs_:enmg 1o something through a receiver he had in his ear. “Like |
:fa:d," he went on, “vou've gor nothing to worry about. You weren't
followed on your way here. Except for myselt, there was no surveil-
lance on this building either.” He opened the screen door and stepped
out closer to me. “Shall we go?"

"Is this some sort of joke:”

“Believe me, it's no joke. Look, if we wanted to harm you, we
could have done it even before your meeting with Arbel, ukay.’.“
~ Nobody outside the Mossad could have said whar this man Just
did. I could feel adrenaline rush into my system. Deep inside, 1 hoped
the Mossad was calling me back., ' '

“Theres a black Lancia parked across the street. Get in the back
seat. They'll take you to the meeting,”

“Why can't | take my car?”

“Don't warry, they’ll bring vou back.”

Okay, but first | need to rell my wife I'm going. She’ll be worried
if she sees my car and I'm not around.”
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" As long as 1t doesn’t take too long.™

“Look™—1 was ready to get mad ar anvthing ac that pome—*it
will rake as long as it takes. You on the other hand can go back into
that little room over there and lay an egg as far as I'm concerned.”

“Sorry, go ahead. We'll wait tor you, but please make 1t fast,
okav?”

His tone sounded much berter; for a moment there | thoughe I'd
found the face | was supposed to slug thar day.

[ rang the intercom. “Yes?" Bella's voice sounded tired.

"It's me.”

“Aren't you coming up

*1 will in a while, Some people from the Office were waiting for
me here. We're going for a short ride. I'm okay.”

“You don’t sound okay. Are you sure vou should go?”

*1t’s nothing to worry about.™

“Why don't they come up? I'll make some cottee.”

*1 don't think that would work. They're waiting, 1 have to go. I'll
be back soon. Don't worry, everything’s fine.” She didn’t answer. |
knew she'd given up, No other woman would have put up with me as
long as Bella had. | loved her bur at the same nme found it very diffi-
cult to show her that. Telling her was easy enough; showing her was
something else again. I stpod there, staning at the silent black inter-
com. | wanted to run vpstairs, hold her in my arms, and show her
how much I loved her. Instead, | turned and headed for the car.

As | settled into the front seat of the man's car, | felt nothing. It
was what we'd call operational numbness. You have a small pain in
the base of vour chest, more like a slight discomfort, That’s vour per-
sonal feelings. They're compressed into a small controllable zone, your
so-called tragedy spor, while your consciousness 1s in receiving mode,
pumped up and ready 1o take in information thar will decide how you
should react.

It was as if | had awakened from a dream and then. while still
awake, stepped back o it. Ar this stage, there could be only two
options: either they wanted me back, or they were going to have a
“talk™ with me. By “talk,” 1 mean straighten me our so that |
wouldn't start something that could damage the Mossad.

After a ten-minute drive, we came to a stop behind an abandoned
warchouse in the mdustrial area of Herzelia. A car was parked by the
building. 1 spotted two men seated in it when our car shone its lights
on them momentarily. “They're waiting for you over there,” said the
driver, not turning his head.

| got out and headed tor the parked can. One man was now srand-

3
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ing by it, his back to me, When 1 got 1o about five feet from him, he
turned to face me. He then opened the car door just enough 1o turn on
the interior light. Whar 1 saw was not registering. Tt was Ephraim, the
officer who had constantly tried to get me hired. Seated next to him
was a uniformed officer | recognized instantly. It was a brigadier gen-
eral from the rank brigades. T had respected the man for a long time
and had had several opportunities to work with him during combined
exercises involving the armored divisions and the navy,

| climbed into the backseat. The dnver closed the door behind me
and headed over 1o the other car.

Introducing himself as if we'd never met, Ephraim extended his
hand and said, *I'm very happy 1o meet you again.”

I was dumbfounded, a situation | don™t find myself in very often.

“Well, aren’t vou gomg to shake my hand?”

“No, | don't see why | should. You're a liar. You said things about
me that weren’t true, and they believed vou.”

The general was silent, relighting his pipe every few minures, fill-
ing the car with a sweet cherry smell. Ephraim was a heavyset man—
about five foot nine. His hairline was receding, and his thin light hair
was neatly combed to one side, He wore gold-rimmed glasses that he
kept tucking back up into place with his index finger as they shd down
his nose.

His voice was soft, and he made a pleasant first Hmpression on
most people. “Okay, I'll get straight to the point, then vou can ask all
the questions you want. Are you up to thinking?™

“Is this a trick question? Can [ stop thinking?”

*No, bur after what you went through today, you might not be
thinking too clearly. Never mind.” He offered me a cigarerte and 100k
one himselt. With a friendly smile, the general held out his lighter.

“You didn't get vourself thrown out,” Ephraim went on, “you
were ser up. Don't kid yoursel!, though. You would have gotten
kicked out sooner or later. It was betrer all around that it be sooner.”
He paused, looking at me over his gold-nmmed glasses, “Before we go
any further, I want you to know that there's nothing you or | can do
abour it. So whether vou help us or net, you can't go back.”

“Wair, vau're going too fast for me. Who set me up, and why?
What the hell do vou mean, [ can’t go back? If vou know I've been set
up, you could rurn it around. 1 will bloody insist you fucking do that.
Do you have any idea whar being a Mossad case officer means 1o me?
What are you, some sort of a god?”

“Cut the crap, Victor. What you want 1s the lite that comes with
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the job. You want to keep your dick employed and have the glory hike
the rest of us, and that's okay.” N

“$0 how come when it’s the rest of vou it’s okay, and when it'’s me
['m outz”

“You're not out because of that,” The rwo men exchanged
glances. Ephraim went on. “There are those w}‘m bcllieve the ]\elossad
exists for them to use. We have to stop them, before it's too late.

“Too late? Too late for what?” _
“They'll lead us into a war, just as they have done already in
Lebanon.” ‘ _ .

[t was no secret that the relationship the nght-wingers within the
Mossad had with Bashir Gemayel, the charismatic plfaybo:f* leader of
the Christian milinas who was clected president of Lebanon, bhad
developed into a full-fledged Jove affair. In the sea of hatred th;u. sur-
counded Israel, the Mossad had supposedly found an ally in the Chrs-
tian thugs of Lebanon. The irony was that the hatred mhcrs felt was
bolstered by the Mossad to maintain the status quo, forcing Israel to
maintain a strong military machine instead of succumbing to the
weakness of peace and its so-called dividends. _

“One minute, please.” I raised my hands as if [ were trying to stop
2 ball headed for my chest. “What does all this have to do with me?
I'm out of the game or, as Arbe} said, I'm out of the loop.” .

+Dan't belicve everything you hear, or see for that marter. There is
a lot you don’t know. You're going 1o have to trust me.t‘

“Teust you? | don’t know you from a fucking hole in the wall, and
what | do know of you, | don't really like. Yolu lied abmlf me ﬂ]id you
were probably the reason behind me getting kicked out of the—

Suddenly it dawned on me: He did get me kicked out. He wanted
me for himself, for something he wanted me to do outside the system.
1'd heard of things like this done in other agencies, When there’s a
problem in the system, you get 2 man kicked out, then you use hlm.ti.‘-‘
do things for you—he’s well trained, knows the business, and remains
dirched.

“Look, 1 know how vou feel, but you'll have to trust me, which 1s
why | brought the general. You know him, don’t you?”

I looked at the rugged face staring at me from the front seat. The
general's eves pierced through me. | nodded. ‘

“Good, now listen carefully. We don't have much time.”

“Why, what's the rush?” _

“Your friends are not so sure about you. Some think you might be
back, others think you might become very noisy, with what you know.”
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“What are you telling me?”

“They want vou out of the way. You know, dead. You wouldn’t be
the first one.”

“So, what, they’ll shoot me? Or run me over?”

“No, thev'll have vou called for reserves and posted as a liaison
officer ta the South Lebanese army. How long do vou think you'll live
in South Lebanon?™

“They know me there as Mossad,” 1 said with a bitter smile.
“Probably a few hours. Sure would be a neat way 1o do away with
me. There is only one flaw in that plan,”

“Really?™ Ephraim said.

“Yes, according 10 regulations, | can’t be called up for reserves
before | cool off for one vear. Then | can only be posted in whart 1s
regarded a safe environment.”

“You have friends in the navy, don't vou?”

"Yes."

“Why don't you call one of them and see if you're being called up
or not. Just so you know, the paperwork is already on the way. 1f
vou're not out of the country in a day or two, you're a dead man.”

It was startng to sink in. Up to this point, it was as though we
were ralking abour someone else, a hypothetical situation. But we
weren't. We were ralking about me and abour my demise. | didn’t feel
scared. I was tense, the muscles in my neck stiffening. | stared out the
back window into the black mght. In my mind, 1 could see myself in a
ditch on the side of the road leading ro Mar) Uvun.

“What can | do?™ | was calm. “If the papers are already in prepa-
ration, the military won't give me a release. Withourt that bloody paper
and computer confirmation, | can’t ger our of the country. [ would
appreciate if you could take me home now so | could spend what little
time I have left with my family.”

“Do you really think we'd drive out in such a night and sit in a car
and wait, just to tell you what 1s going to happen without some sort of
a solution?”

I smiled. *I'm hstening.™

“When you get home, vou'll tell your wife thar you were kicked
ourt of the Mossad. You will then tell her that you just mer with some
friends who told you that vou should get out of the country fast.”

“Whar do 1 do for money?”

“Sell that clunker of a car.™

*What can [ ger for thae?”

“Just 1o get out of the country, you'll need abour five grand.”

“The car 1sn't worth more than two,”
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~Pur a sign on it and sell it for six. Trust me, you'll sell . Then ger
4 nicket on Tower Air ro London. You will arrive at Gatwick Airport.
Srav at the Skvway Horel. I'll contact you there."

=Why are you doing this? What's in it for vou? Whar do you want
from me?”

“You have my offer. | recommend you take it. I'll rell you the rest
when we meet in London—that 15, if vou ger there.” He got out of the
car and walked around to the driver’s seat. _ .

“Do what he asks you to, Victor,” said the general in a rasping
voice. “Trust him, 1e'll be good all around.”

“What about the military release?”

Nor turning his head, Ephraim handed me a small manila enve-
lope. *The papers are in order and registered on the computer. They
will expire in seventy-two hours. And if vou're not on your way to
London before that, so will vou.”
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walked silently back 1o the parked Lancia and gor in. | ignored the

rtwo men in the front and lit a cigarette. | could feel my temples

thumping. I'd been given a lot of information, yer there was litle
rime to analyze it. One thing was clear: [f 1 decided to go along with
Ephraim and his people—and it was obvious 1o me that there were
more people involved than just Ephraim and the general—I would
have to see it through to the end, whatever “it” was. This was the ult-
mate decision: If you're nght you live, if not vou're dead.

If what Ephraim had said was true, and | had little doubt ir was,
then there was a good chance that evep bis help wasn't going to get
me out of this mess. He headed a powerful clique in the Mossad, but
his power was apparently hmited. Otherwise there wouldn’t have been
any need for me o run away. Of course, there was always a chance
that this London tnp was a setup to get me to run so the Mossad
could nail me. The possibilitics seemed endless.

The car came silently to a stop about a block from my building.
Staring ahead, the driver said. “Last statnon.” He didn’t want to be
seen near my house, should it now be under surveillance.

| stepped out into rthe cold night, put my hands in my pockets, and
walked slowly home. What was | supposed to tell Bella now? Honey,
they kicked me out and now they want 1o kill me, so I'll be leaving for
England.

I stopped by the intercom, my insides churning. What was | sup-
posed 1o say to someone | loved and at the same time had kept out of
everything until now? My excuse was always thar | wanted to protect
her; what bullshit—I knew that it had been casier not telling her, until
NOW,

I found myself standing there, looking for a new story, rather than
the truth. I was beginning to think that there was no truth lefr in me.
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saybe it would be better just to go up there and say nmhmrj:, ({Uil?nzhi
,'"5: and wait for the call from the army that \\-uu_ij:! solve c{\icr}tn;h,m
would answer my country’s call. put on my uniform, and go whe |
chey sent me. By the weekend, it would all be over. A :ml_:t-.:_r:.: .'rl.l:ltf;ld
with all the honors. 1t was even possible that the prime munister nml:! ;
how up for that after all, 1 was a colonel. He would have it exactly
the way he wanted it; he could alk, af%d no one woulid ANSWeTr. .

Why go through the hassle of trying 10 s1ay alive? Whar was ¢ e.
point? This might just be the best thing that had ¢ver happened 10 mes
[ would do something right, permanently. -

But 1 was not the tvpe 1o lie down and pl:tg.' dead. If there w:.;:, a
chance 1 could make it, | was gomg 10 go for it, no matuer hm-i- 5 m:]
that chance was. So there [ was, my cigarette almost at its end, an
sull with no idea what 1 would tll Bella. ‘ )

| prayed she wouldn't give up on me. | threw the cigarette _m:l
into a small puddie and headed upstars. 1 knocked on the dl_lHJT,dﬂﬂ
Bella. after peeping through the spy hole, opened. She lc_l: the (;11:11'
giar and walked into the living room. She was in a_snft white robe.k ::lr
dark hair shining. Her fresh clean smell made me feel even more like a
AL I.

" ﬂ$§;::’:5:‘: no smile on her beaurtiful face; it scemed as though
there hadn’t been a smile on it for quite some time. |

She sat on the sofa, pulling up her legs and folding her arms across
her chest. | was uneasy, yet at the same time | knewlthls was my place:
| belonged, Evervthing that was dear to me was in this cozy apart-
mm!t.rcmcmhcrcd the first time I had laid eves on her. 1 was sixteen,
and she was walking toward me on the sidewalk with a guud friend ot
mine. She wore a dark blue swearer with a white stripe across the
chest and a white ribbon in her black wavy hair. Before she said a sin-
gle word, 1 was in love. Remorse for the agony | had caused her was
gnawing at me, | knew she could see through me. )

“So what was that all about?” she asked, her voiwe carrying an
ironic tone, as if to say, Why don’t vou tell me another story:

I sat across from her; my mind was alréady made up. “Th,tr}-
kicked me our.” | felt the lump in my throat as | said the words. “I'm
na longer with the Office.” |

She stared at me, not knowing how to take it, her legs lowered as
she leaned forward. “1f they kicked you out, why did they come and
alktov wnstairs?” )
uik:g(;};:loii came 1o tell me that it would be a good idea if | got out
of the country,”
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She was up on her feet. one hand running through her hair as if to
find a solution to a problem that suddenly was hers to solve, “What
are you talking abour, leave? Leave where, why, when?™

I got up and went over t her, took her in my arms, There was
something radiating from her that soothed the dull pain in the base of
my chest. She was drawing me out of the melancholic coma I'd been in
for so long. *Calm down, it’s going to be all right.”

She pushed me away. “Where will you go? What about us? | rold
you this would happen. It's all those so-called friends of vours, Yosy
and Haim and sl the others. Whar will they do to you if you stay?*

"I don’t know. You know whart they can do.” ‘

Bella was well aware of my politics; in fact, her own opinions
were a beacon to me when, as a result of peer pressure, | occasionally
strayed toward the right. However, not wanting to show her how cor-
rect she was when it came to my “friends™ in the Mossad, | kepr from
her most of the details of the political turf wars at the Office.

She dropped back into the sofa. “Where will vou go?”

*1 thought about flving to England and from there to the States.
I'll stay with my dad for a while and then we’ll see.”

“Why England?”

“That would be the cheapest flight. And then | could get a charter
from England to the Stares.”

“So when will vou be leaving:™

I sat next to her on the sofa and pulled her toward me. “The day
after tomorrow.”

She threw her head against my chest. She was crving. | wanted to
pull her face up so that I could kiss her, bur she wouldn’t let me.

“I love vou, Bella,™ 1 said, the lump in my throar growing, choking
me. | hugged her as hard as | could. | wanted the moment 1o last. |
knew reality was going to tear us apart, and | had no idea for how
long. In the back of my mind, I wasn’t sure I'd get to see her again. |
didn’t even want to think abour what Ephraim had in store for me.
Had 1t been merely terrible, he would have rold me about it and given
me a chance to volunteer,

We sat there on the sofa for a long time, holding each other. We
were married when we were nineteen and had gone our since we were
sixteen; T always saw us as two parts of a single human being, I the
yang and she the vin. | knew she loved me in a way I never deserved,
and I loved her more than anything,

We had two beautiful daughters who were now—I hoped—asleep.
The apartment we were living in was rented, and except for the car
and a few pieces of furniture, we didn't have much. The Mossad
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calarv was good. but it didn't allow for a lot of luxury. Thar was
reserved for the case officers in the field, nor tor their families,

Frmay, Manck 28, 1386

I got up early and showered before mv rwo daughters were up. |
wanted to wake them with a kiss and starr their day off on the right
foor. I had the state of mind of a man whe is abour 1o die and has
accepted the fact.

It was the memory of a loving father that | somehow wanted to
burn into their minds. T wanted to do it fast, in an instant with one big
hug, because there was no way I could reach back into the past and
hand them all the time 1 had stolen from them. | swore thar should |
make it through this, whatever “this™ was, | would never leave their
side again. Guilt over not spending more time with them was always
with me. Nevertheless, we were very close. It was extremely important
to me that they know how much they meant to me.

Less than an hour after | had pur the For Sale sign on the car and
parked it on the curb across from my building, the phone rang.

“I'm calling about the car,” said what sounded like a young man.

“What would you like to know?”

“How much are you asking for it?”

“Six thousand American,” [ said, trying not to laugh.

“Can | come and 1ake it for a spin?”

“Sure, when did you have in mind? You sce, I have things 1o do
and ., ,.”

“In abourt twenty minutes.”

“Great, 1'll meet you by the car.”

*My name is Boaz, and you are , . . ?"

*Victor, my name is Victor.”

"See vou, then.” 1 had no doubrt it was one of Ephraim’s people
coming to take the car and give me the money so that [ could leave.
This whole charade had to be played our because the home phones of
Mossad officers were frequently monitored by Mossad security. 1
knew that if they were listening, they too would laugh at the price, but
they'd probably just think I'd landed a sucker.

By noon that day, I'd purchased my tickets and was back home,
stuffing a reduced version of my diary and a set of photographs of
almost all Mossad field officers into a stash I'd prepared in my suit-
case. It had to be perfect. | couldn’t afford to be caught with such a
stash on hand. I'd kept the pictures after using them to prepare a com-
ical graduation photo for our case officers’ course. This was going to
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be my insurance; if Ephraim turned out to be not whar he seemed or if
anyone at any stage tried to stop my family from joining me, 1 would
strip the Mossad of all its field personnel in one day, forcing it to cease
operations for a very long time.

Thetre was more explosive material packed into that suitcase than
had ever hit the Mossad in a single blow.

My flight was Sundav at noon. Bella and | decided to tell the chil-
dren the morning of my flight; she would keep them home unul she
knew my tlight had taken off. There was no point in spreading the
news; many of mv ex-comrades were living in the same area as | was,
and [ wasn't sure who might try to stop me if they could.

Sunnay, Manck 30

1 got out of the cab ar the airport. 1 licked my lips and tasted
Bella's perfume, which had rubbed off when 1 kissed her tiny earlobe.
The girls were sad to see me go again, but they didn’t notice a differ-
ence from the other times I'd packed and gone on duty. I took solace
in thar.

I had two suitcases and a carry-on bag with me. | headed for the
Tower Air counter, at the eastern end of the Ben-Gurion terminal. The
flight was to leave at 14:00 and it was now only 11:30. It was stan-
dard procedure in the Isracli airport to request thar passengers arrive
two to three hours before departure. Most passengers dropped off
their luggage the night before at the special counter adjacent to the
North Tel Aviv train station. There was no way, though. that I was
going to leave my luggage somewhere overnight with the papers 1 had
stashed in i, nor would I want 1o give anyone the opportunity to plant
something in it.

The Tower Air ground crew wasn't there vet, and there were no
more than five passengers standing in line waiting to check their lug-
gage and get their boarding cards, In fact, there were two lines, and |
was the first in one. [ sat on the stainless steel rable used by the security
people 1o go through the luggage. | usually felt good at this airport,

1 knew most of the security watch commanders, and most of them
knew me. | had brought into the country and taken out scores of peo-
ple. most of whom could say they were never in Israel. And except for
some photos stored in the Mossad filing system, no ope could prove
them wrong, The feeling I had that day was very strange. Here I was
mn a place where only a few days ago, had [ business there, | would

have walked around like a peacock in heat, an arrogant snob, with the
ability to have things done at a snap of my fingers.
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Today, however, was different. | was already on the run, Iand even
though no one was visibly after me, I knew 1t was a race against lnn;:e{i
Iy turned out [ was extremely lucky; at the beginning c:f the m{l}ni'l.f
had to ger a real passport for a job, and had picked it up on yé ew
weeks befare, Since I'm a dual citizen, I'd also requested a new an]?—
dian passport and had received thar about a week later. This rotah}r
fortuitous circumstance would allow me 1o leave the country at the

1 was about to attempt. .
Sptt?gcg;f::g some apprehension, 1 looked across at the other ;ln}f,
where a heavyset blond bearded r:ian was ]st.:andmg at the head of the

rvously tapping on his pigskin attache case. _
hnc.;tfe security E.gtci officer’s face was beaming as he walked in my
irection. *Hey there, how are you?” .
dlre'fngicss heydocsn't know yet, | thought—not tlhat telling the segﬂ-
rity at the airport was high on anyone’s list, “I'rrE fine. How are )’f:l.

" “Good, good.” He paused. “Are you on business or pleasure?

«A listle of both, 1 guess. Why do you ask?” .

“] want to ask you a favor,” This was starting to sc_u‘md bizarre.

“How can I help?™ 1 was trying hard to keep smiling. I was also
grateful for the short conversation that bridged the abys_s of self-doubt
and fear. 1 knew | didn’t have to pur on a show for him. He knew |
couldn’t really refuse him, even if I wasa’ thrille_d. ’ o

He leaned closer to me and said in a low voice, “We're bre?kmg in
a couple of new security people, 2 guy and a woman.” He wmfed at
me. “She’s really something, you'll see.” He leaned even u:ic;vsa'.:r.’1 Actu-
allv. [ understand she’s quite friendly, if you know what ['mean.”

" <gp you want me to seduce her or something?” 1 felt a deep dislike
for the man and wanted him to get the hell away from me as soon as
possible. On the other hand, | couldn’t alter thc_facr rhar 1 had with
me a wad of top-secret Mossad documents deallng with several for-
eign intelligence agencies, a stack of Mossad uffu_:t:r pho:ios.qand a
detailed list of more than two thousand sayanim in Britain, l;rance,
and the United States. What was in my suitcase could get me a life sen-
tence in a dingy prison, and he was leaning on it. . .

He laughed. Apparently, he found what 1 said amusing, not taking
the offense intended in my tone. “No, no, I can do that. In fact, 1
probably will very soon. What I'd like you to do 1s f.:xu:hangr: your
passport with that guy over there,” He nodded art the big guy heading
the other line. “And then we’ll see if the two of them realize what has
happened, or for that matter if they notice anything.”

“Did you talk ro him?”
“What, you think he’d say no?"
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I looked at the man. “No. 1 guess not. Sure, whar the hell. I'll do
it.” As he was about to turn to the other man, | held him by the shoul-
der. He faced me again, smiling. “Whar?”

“If I do it, I want you to run me through to the other side like [
was here on business.” What | meant was that he should take me
through all the stations, flashing his 1D card and clearing the way
for me.

“Sure. No problem.”

I smiled, feeling the blood drain out of my face. A cold sensation
took hold in my chest, as though a chill brecze were blowing
through ir.

This tecter-toter of emotion was something we were tramned to
deal with in the Mossad, since an officer alwavs has personal feelings
thar could get i the way of the job he has ro do. You learn how to
create new feelings that will compensate for the ones vou lack.

Less than one minute after the security officer had handed me the
passport belonging ro the big guy and given mine 1o him, the new
crew arrived. | glanced quickly at the passport I'd been handed. It
was an American passport, and the photo was a color ¢lose-up of the
man standing next to me. The beard he now wore was not on the
passport photo. That ¢ould stump the new crew. I read the name and
tried to remember it. This was extremely amateurish; my real name
was on my suitcase, and my ticket was in my real name. They would
have to be extremely daft not to nonce—unless there was something
¢lse behind 1.

“Sir, your passport, please,” said the woman. Her amitude was
cordial and guite professional for someone who was the first ume on
the job. I could see what the officer had meant. She was indeed very
pretty, which may have accounted for the nasty rumor someone had
circulated, most likely our of envy, | stepped forward, lcaving my lug-
gage behind, my arm outstrerched, passport in hand. | smiled at her.
Her expression didn't change as she took the passport.

From the corner of my eye, [ caught sight of Ephraim, leaning on
the counter some forty feet from where | was. He was warching me. |
couldn’t make out any expression on his face. Was all this a charade 1o
get me in the slammer; was the Lebanon story a ploy to get me to run
and then carch me in this stupid exercise at the airport? | could hear it
now as I tried ro explain in court thar a security officer had asked me
to help in an exercise, etc., etc., and there would be no such officer to

verify my story,

She took the passport, and 1 could see the big man handing in my
passport to the other security officer.

A
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“Your name?" she asked me.

“Robert Freidman.”

She closed the passport and put it on the metal rable in front of
her, “Could you please place your luggage on the counter?”

“Sure, no problem.” I turned to pick up my suitcases when I heard
the other security man raise his voice at the big fellow. “Don’t move,
raise your hands above your head.” He drew his gun, and within sec-
onds several police were on the scene.

“What’s the matter? What's going on?” asked the first to arrive,
gun in hand.

“This man is traveling on a false passport.” He turned to the big
fellow, who was now feverishly searching for the security officer. His
face was wet with sweat, his eyes staring down several gun barrels,

“This is a big mistake. Please don't shoot. This is only a game, ask
him.” He nodded to me, and at that moment the duty officer came
back on the scene. “Evervbody calm down. David, putr your gun
away.” He turned to the policemen, “Everything is under control, this
was only an exercise. You, sir.” He was now talking to the man whose
passport | was holding. “You can put your hands down. It’s all over.
Good work, David.” He then turned to the girl. “Well, Sarah, would
you mind giving that passport another look?”

Her eyes opened wide with the realization that she had done
something wrong. She slowly picked up the passport and looked at
the photo and then at me. [ knew ar that moment that no matter
what might happen in the world over the next one hundred years, |
wouldn't be able to get thar girl to look on me kindly. She was
silent.

The officer returned my passport to me and handed the big fellow
his. He then said 1o Sarah, “l wanr you to report 1o me after work at
my office in the prefabricated building. You know where that is?”

She nodded; there seemed to be a tear ready to roll out of the cor-
ner of her eye, but somehow she managed to hold it back. When the
officer and I urned to head for the ticket counter, I saw her wiping her
eyve with the sleeve of her dark blue sweater.

‘The officer stuck to his promise, and after my ticket was in order
and [ got my boarding card, he escorted me through all the stations,
getting my passport stamped and avoiding the body search that every-
one ¢lse was put through. We had a cup of coffee on the second floor
in the departure lounge, and after I'd bought myself a fresh pack of
cigarettes and a copy of Time magazine, he got up to leave.

“Have a good flight, man, and thanks for the help.”

“You're welcome, any time.” About then, some of the other pas-
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sengers made it to the departure area and were sitting down, getting
ready for the almost rwo-hour wait for takeott.

I began 1o feel a slight sense of relief. It wouldn’t be over until |
was actually aboard the plane and above the Mediterranean, but it
was quickly getting there. Ephramm was seated at the far end of the
departure lounge, reading a paper. It seemed o me at that stage that
he was like a mother hen warching over her young, wanting to be sure
that I got out safely. For now, his presence gave me a sense of security.

I called Bella from the pay phone on the outer wall of the duty-
free store. | could hear from the tone of her voice how she was holding
back the tears. The sound was more painful than if she had sobbed
openly. We had a lot to say, burt this was not the forum, given that we
were probably nor alone on the line, I knew they were not set up for a
trace; as long as we didn't say where [ was calling trom and ralked as
if [ were merely on my way to Elat, we were okay. Again | wanted to
reach through the lines and hold her tight in my arms.

“Pll call you when I get there, okay?”

“Do it right away. I'll be waiting for your call.”

“I' love you.”

“I love you too,” she said. “Look afrer yourself and pay attention
to what you wear so you don't Jook funny.”

[ chuckled. “Okay, I'll do that. Don't worry, I'll call you then.”

“Bye.”

I waited to hear her hang up; I couldn’t hang up on her. Why such
a precious woman loved me was far beyond my imagination, Looking
back on our life, 1 really hadn't done much for her; I had never bought
tickets to a show | knew she wanted to see or taken her on a surprise
trip or had a surprise birthday party for her In fact, I wasn't even
there for her when she needed me, when she had an operation. Some-
how, | had other things to do that seemed so much more important.
They involved the security of our country, Whar bullshit, and not only
did 1 dish it our, [ believed it myself.

Two police officers entered the cafeteria where 1 was simting. |
could feel my blood pressure rising. Had someone noticed me and
advised someone else? Were they here to stop me? I could smell the
disinfectant used in Israeli prisons, having spent tume in the cells as
part of the exercises. Then there was that time in the military when |
was caught without a hat and made 1o spend ten days in the military
brig. | could hear the echo of the locking doors as meral hit meral. The
policemen ordered coffee. Ephraim tensed too as he followed them
with his eves. [ knew he was nervous and wanred 1o see me out of the
country already.
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1 didn't catch the first announcement of the flight, but by the sec-
ond, 1 was already in line, moving in the direction of the gate.

Within twenty minutes, we were aboard and taxiing to the run-
way, 1 closed my eyes. 1 didn't want to look at the tarmac and worry
:ha't every car crossing the runway would be the one that was there to
stop the plane and rake me off.

The person seated next 1o me seemed to be consumed by the view
from the window. The person on my right was reading a newspaper
article about the Swiss rejecting their government’s proposal to join
the UN. Nobody was bothering me, and that's the way I wanted to
keep it. In general, I'm quite a ralkative person, but in airplanes,
trains, and buses, 1 prefer to keep to myself; the captive audience syn-
drome always jumps into my mind.

Secing the sky through the window was very much like staring
into paradise. I was free—for a few hours ar least, beyond the
Muossad's reach.
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wenty-four hours had passed, and still no word from Ephraim. His

restriction, that | should not call home before we talked, was mak-

ing my life difficule. | hadn’t spoken to Bella since calling her from
the Ben-Gurion airport. By now, she must be chmbing the walls with
worry about me, Ephraim was concerned that my home phone might
be bugged {there was little doubt it was) and that the Mossad would
know I had made a prolonged stopover in England on my way to the
States. Should something go wrong, Ephraim’s also coming to England
might not sit well,

| scanned the television for something to pass the nme, but found
it difficult to concentrate. At abour ten-thirty in the morning | decided
to head for London and get my mind off things for a while. | needed
1o loosen up, walk around, get something to cat. When Ephraim came,
he would just have to wait.

I took a rrain into the city, The thirty-minute ride brought me to
Victoria Station. From there | ook the underground to Piccadilly,
changing at Green Park. | wandered the streets aimlessly, eventually
returning to the rube station. I had a couple of hamburgers at Wimpy,
the British answer to McDonald’s. Afterward, | headed back to the
horel.

In the elevator, [ noticed the sweet aroma of cherry tobacco. It got
stronger the closer 1 got to my room ar the end of the pale green corri-
dou Standing at my doar, 1 could all but taste the pipe. The only smell
as. strong as the cherry was the smell of the freshly painted walls,
hanging heavy in the air,

I stood by the door and listened: Ephraim and the general, It was
more the smell of the tobacco than the sound of their voices that
brought recognition.
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I entered the room quickly. They sat staring at me, bewildered.

“Why are you so surpnsed to see me?” | said. “Who were you
expecting?” _

“J asked you to want for me at the hotel.” Ephraim’s voice was on
the harsh side.

“I don’t work for you, my friend. I'm here as a favor.”

*| saved your life, remember? May | remind you of Lebanon?”

It was true that he had gorten me our of Israel before | could be
sent to South Lebanon and a certain death. No doubr he would be
reminding me of this over and over again in the future.

I tossed my coat onto the bed and sat on the edge.

*You only got me out of something you put me into, and probably
in order to get me into something else.” [ smiled at him. “For the tme
being, I'm here to listen, then I'll make up my mind who I work for. So
what | suggest you do is come out with i1.”

“Look here, Victor—" Ephraim started, The genceral pur a hand
on Ephramm’s shoulder. “The man’s right, why play games? Wv_km:-w
what we want and why we wanrt it. You've gor a job for hum, fill him
in, bring him inside.”

I could hear the tradition of the Israeli military speaking out of the
brigadier general’s mouth: An informed soldier is a good soldier.

Ephraim stared at me silently for a few seconds. He then leaned
back and glanced ar the general, who was relighting his pipe. “Let’s
start from the beginning, then.” |

“Just a minute,” said the general, producing a large thermos from
a brown leather tote bag at his feet. “Get some glasses from the bath-
room. I need a coffee.”

*I could use one 1oo,” 1 said, moving quickly to fulfill his request.
Coffee was served.

“I'm listening.” | said, sitting back on the bed.

“This all started in "82. You were still in the navy then. You prob-
ably know we were all preparing for the war in Lebanon, At that time,
the operation was still called the Cedars of Lebanon, and we in the
Mossad had a close relationship with Bashir Gemayels Christian Pha-
lange. Our man dealing with Gemayel was Nevor, Nevor was in the
midst of gernng Israel involved in what he and other right-wingers
called the best war we'll ever have,

“They saw Isracl as the policeman of the Middle East. Prime Min-
ister Begin loved the idea of appearing to be saving Christians from
the savage Muslims, which fit in well with his right-wing colonialist
ideology. Ariel Sharon, then minister of defense, was all for ir.”

He paused to sip the hot coffee. Then he drew on his cigarette, let-
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ting the smoke out as he spoke. “Hofi, then head of the Mossad, was
against the ploy, saying that the Christian Phalange in Lebanon was
not a reliable ally. Military intelligence agreed with him, But Hofi,
who'd been in office for almost eight years then, was on his way out.

“Many people in the Mossad were hoping that this time they
would get an insider to run the show. As you well know, until that
point it had always been an owtsider who was parachuted into office,"

I nodded. 1 knew this was the only way the outside world could
ever have any control over the Mossad, A new chief from the out-
side—meaning the military—was a way to clean house.

“Many were hoping that an ex-Mossad officer would be brought
in—someone like David Kimche, who was then director general of the
foreign office and had been a department head in the Mossad before
he had a clash with Hofi. Then there was Rafael Eitan, whom Begin
admired but thoughr was 0o close to Ariel Sharon. Begin was worried
that Sharon would have too much power if his friend was head of
Mossad.

“Begin decided that he would keep with tradition and have an
outsider take office.” Ephraim paused. When he started to talk again,
there was something different in his voice; he sounded angry, restless.

*“At that point, when the war was about to start and Hofi already
had one foor out of the Mossad, the right-wing clement managed to
place many of their members in positions of power.

*[n fact, all of us in the Mossad were getung vred of having our
future plans shattered and changed every time a new boss came. And
the right-wingers especially were not going to give up what they'd
grabbed. It was a coup d'érar, the only difference being that there was
no état to coup ar the rime.

“General Yekutiel Adam, or Kun, as he was called by hus friends,
was appointed head of the Mossad and was supposed to take office
some time at the end of June 1982, The war in Lebanon started on
June 6, and by the second day of the war, Kuri had a run-in with
Sharon regarding the artack on the Syrian antiaircrafr missiles in the
Beka'a. Kuri believed and stated clearly that this might lead to all-our
war with the Syrians. He was undermining the effort the Mossad, in
combination with Gemayel, had worked so hard and so long to
mount. Certain elements realized what was coming if this man became
the new chief. Someone decided that it was not 1o be.”

“Kuti was my best friend,” the general spat our.

“He had friends in the Mossad,” continued Ephraim, “people who
were preparing working papers analyzing the situation so that he
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could take drastic action onge he took office and not spend ume wast-
ing the lives of young soldiers who were at the time being used as can-
qon fodder for the right-wingers' dream ot a Mossad-n:un state in
Lebanon. Using the philosophy known as the ‘balance of weakness,
they believed that they could be the power behind Gemayel's puppet
regime, forgetting what every Lebanese e:hxldl knew—that anyone
could swallow Lebanon but no one could digest it.

“1t was clear that the power of the right-wingers was threatened:
ance Kuti 100k control, he'd pass an honest assessment of the situation
to the government and to Sharon, who wouldn’t want to b[: the first
1sraeli minister of defense to lose a war.” Ephraim paused, sipping his
coffee. “The opportunity came on June 10. The army had entered the
outskirts of Beirur, and there was a cease-fire in effect. Kuu, appointed
1o head the Mossad but not yet in office, requested a farewell visir to
his troops in Lebanon. It was the Mossad’s job to organize it.”

“Why the Mossad? Why not the IDF?!” T asked.

“Because he was already the responsibility of the Mossad security
and our of the hands of the military.”

“If he had been our responsibility,” the general interjected, “he
would still be alive roday.” | |

“They planned the visit for the next day.” Ephraim’s voice was
low, “When Kuti arrived at the location, he was killed in an ambush.
The attacker, a fourteen-year-old kid, was killed on the spot by the
guards.”

“You're crazy.” 1 got up. “That's crazy.” [ could not believe what
he was implying. It was too weird.

He looked straight at me, his voice low and hoarse, “They found a
photo,” he said, “a photo of Kuti on the kid. Who else would have
known Kuti was there except the people who planned his sudden little
trip? The Mossad—or rather, elements within the Mossad—killed him,
there is no doubt in my mind.”

“So you wait four years and then tell me abourt i2"

“No, you're the latest step that we are taking. You have to realize
that working against the Mossad from the inside is not the easiest
thing in the world ro do.”

"So no one asked how come that photo was found in the killer's
pocker?”

“That particular piece of information was kept from the investiga-

1. ID¥: Israeh Defense Force.
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tive committee—the one piece of evidence that proves beyond a
shadow of a doubt that it was not a coincidence, but in fact a calcu-
lated murder.”

I sar back on the bed. | could feel the cold sweat on my forehead.
What he was telling me was unbelievable. Mossad members conspir-
ing to kill the newly appointed head? This was far roo much to accept.

“You're crazy.”

“He’s not crazy,” said the general. 1 know, because he’s not the
only one who told me. 1 found out more abourt it when | interrogated
a captured Hizballah fighter in the south of Lebanon in the beginning
of '85. He was talking about how, when he was in Nabih Berri's Amal
Shi’ite militia, he was supposed to go with a kid on a mission to kill an
Israeli general, and let me tell you, the man was not lying,”

“How do you know?”

“Because he knew he was going to die, and the question was
whether it was going to take all night or just a few minutes. And he
thought that [ knew about it anyway.”

While | didn't want to believe what | was hearing, it was hard to
argue with the facrs. Yes, it was possible for a terrorist group to obtain
a photograph of an Israeli general and give it to one of their assassins,
prefatory to staging a hit. But it was inconceivable thar a photograph
could be obtained and a plan concocted on such short notice—all
while the Mossad napped. | stared ar the general for a few seconds,
then turned ro Ephraim, “How come you didn’t go to the prime minis-
ter?”

“And say what? Sir, right-wing elements within the Mossad have
just killed the appointed head. What do you think he’d say? Thanks
for telling me. Fll call the bastards and fire them. Besides, there was a
war going on at the time, remember. Within the next day or two, at
the most, | would have had an accident of my own.”

“How do | know vou’re not just setting me up, and it’s you who
wants to stage a coup d'étar?”

“You have to trust me. We can’t do this without someone on the
outside.”

“I'm listening.”

“I think this would be a good time to have something to eat,”
Ephraim said.

I wasn’t hungry and wanted him to go on, but I decided to play it
his way for now.

“The hotel has a restaurant,” I said. “I just hope their dinner is
better than their breakfast.”

The two men laughed. “No,” said Ephraim. “I don’t think leaving
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the room would be a good idea. There's always the chance that some-
one will spot us, and that we cannot afford. Ramy will go our and
bring us something.” He turned to the general. “If that's okay with
vou?”

" “I'm on my way,” Ramy said slowly, the pipe in one side of his
mouth as he spake from the other. He put on his coat. | couldn’t help
noticing how unimpressive he was in civilian clothing,

Afrer the general left, I turned 1o Ephraim. “You screwed up my
life,” 1 said.

I did no such thing, All I did was pick you our of a specially
selected group of people, just before you were going to self-destruct
anyway, And you were right for the job.” _

“Bur vou never asked me. How do you know 1 wouldn’t preter to
be on the other side of the barricade, fighting people like you who
supposedly want to relinquish control of the Mossad into the hands of
parachuted amateurs rather than leave it in the hands of professionals
who rose through the ranks?” | stopped and stared into Ephraim’s
almost skull-like face, with its thick pale skin deeply lined, like that of
a veteran sailor parched by the salty sea air.

“] have your psychological profile, remember. 1 know you proba-
bly better than you know yourself, Victor. You would nor fir into that
category.”

“The Mossad's psychological profile of me isn't worth the paper
it's written on,”

“If you turned out to be a psychological mistake, I'd go to phase
two,”

“And whar is thar?”

“I can’t tell vou yet. Bur ler me tell you a short story, before our
friend the general comes back.”

“Why? You have secrets from him too?” [ was as sarcastic as |
could be.

“Yes. In fact, | probably have more secrets from him than 1 have
from you, He’s not from the inside, and there are a lor of things he
cannot understand. 1 don't want to destroy the Mossad, which is
something he would be happy to do. I want to fix it,”

“Why?"

“Because | believe our country needs a Mossad, a strong Mossad
with teeth that can tear our enemy apart. But above all, it needs a
leash so that it can be kept under control.”

“You were going to tell me a story.”

“In "82, before the war in Lebanon, we had a man working the
turf, trying to get some sort of a dialog started. He was one of my
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group then. 1 wasn’t the leader of the group, but we had the blessing
of Hofi and some people in the foreign office who were waiting for a
breakthrough. We had the Palestinians so scared of what we might do
in Lebanon that they were willing to start talking.”

“So you were artempting to make a link?"

“Yes, not with the Christians, with the Palestimans. We put one of
our better men forward, His name was Yakov Barsimantov. He was
stationed in Paris, working liaison.”

“He couldn’ make conract and be trusted by any Palestinian. If he
was liaison, they had ro know he was Mossad,” | interjected.

“He wasn't working directly with them. We had an American go-
berween who had volunteered 10 give this thing a nudge. Barsimantov
presented it to him as a sort of dare, during a cockrail parry ar rhe
French foreign office.”

“And he agreed?™

“He jumped at the opportunity. Mind you, he himself was not in
the best position to talk to the Palestinians. It was against State
Department regulations, but he went for it anyway.”

“Why didn’t you use some other contact, like the Romanians or
something? They were working both sides of the fence, and you had
dealings with them.”

"They were tied directly 1o the top clique. All they wanted was to
back up the Phalangists and Bashir Gemavel.”

“Who was the American?”

“His name was Charles Robert Ray. He was assistant military
arraché and a very dedicated man. He believed that peace in the Mid-
dle East was in the strategic interest of the US."

“There's a twist on military thinking.”

Ephraim chuckled, “Right. But that was the case. Someone in the
foreign office must have leaked it out, and both Barsimantov and the
American were shot before they could make the first contact with
the Palestinians. So we know for sure ir wasn't the Palestinians.” He
ran his fingers through his hair, then over his face. He suddenly
seemed older, more tired than before, “They killed Ray in January,
and when Yakov was about to make a new contact, they killed him
too. Yakov was a good man, yet on April 3, ourside his apartment,
he was gunned down like a dog by his own people. Our own hit
team took him out.”

“But the Kidon wouldn’t kill an Israeli.”

“They didn’t know who the rarget was, and later it was said to be
a mistake. After they killed Yakov, they stashed the Czech-made gun
in the apartment of a Lebanese revolurionary, pointing the finger at
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him. They went so far as 1o claim responsibility for the hit under the
name of the Lebanese Armed Revolutionary Faction, informing the
French intelligence rhat the LARF was a faction of the pro-Syrian
SSNP, the Syrian Social Navionalist Party.” He turned and gazed out
the window. “Do you know, they had the audacity to try and use the
killing as the provocation they were wainng for to start the war in
Lebanon. If there was ever something you could call chutzpah, that
would be t.”

What surprised me most was the fact that what I'd just heard
didn't surprise me one bit. 1 believed him, and yet | almost said, So
what? Whar | did say was not that different. “Okay, vou told me a
short story. How is that supposed ro explain why | should want to do
anything for you?"

Ephraim sighed. “Whart | wanted to tell you is that | can’t use
someone from inside because | don’t have a clue who | can trust. The
general has been a buddy of mine for years, and he was a close friend
of Kutis, So he's clean as far as I'm concerned. You | have raken
straight from the womb, you're not yer rainted, and unlike most of
your friends, you didn't come in on the back of a horse but through
the normal recruiting process. You came in because you were a patriot
and not because you wanted to make a career.™

“Well, I wanted that too. | wanted the job, the life, the fun.”

“If you wanr the life, stick around. You'll get more than you can
handle.”

“So what now? Are you going to offer me a job?”

“That 1s exactly whar I'm doing. Your cover will be you. Every-
thing you do will be on your own; you have no net and no tether, |
will hand you an assignment and help you as much as [ can, but you
will be out there on your own.”

“Doing whar2”™

“You'll be putting the present Mossad out of business.”
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here was a knock on the door. Ephraim stiffened. I walked to the

door and stared through the peephole. It was the general, | swung

the door open, and he entered as though the corridor were on fire.
He clearly didn"t enjov playing rhe spook.

For the next hour we are. Very little was said, and the atmosphere
was like the beer: lukewarm. 1 was trying 10 place myself in the
scheme of things, but T didn't see a purpose or an end result. Sure, |
knew he said he wanted to fix the Mossad, but whar did that mean?

From what I could guess, he was out to destroy it first, and that |
could relate ro. Whar | wasn’t sure of was whether the Mossad he
wanted to build out of the ashes would be any better than the one we
had. Was his notion of a cleaner and berter Mossad the same as mine?
And if not, why should I align myselt with him? | was out on my own;
why not stay that way?

I decided to listen to whatever Ephraim had 1o sav and then do
what | wanred. | was a Canadian citizen with a valid Canadian pass-
port, and at this point he could not intimidate me.

Ar the same time, there was a voice inside me thar said | had
tasted the lite and | liked 1t; it was hard to turn your back on 1. | was
like the soldiers whose war ends on them too soon, before they've had
a chance to ger it out of theic system, so they roam the world looking
to keep that war alive, to live on the edge, and the sharper the edge the
better. Was I one of them now, testing the limit?

“So what next:" the general asked, wiping his hands. Smears of
fish and chips and kerchup stuck stubbornly to his fingers. Ephraim
stood up. “We'll be leaving shortly, and Vicror here will leave romor-
row.”

“Twill™
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“Yes, vou are going to New York, and then you will go visit your
dad in Nebraska.”

“Why New York?™

“Because that way we’ll know if someone is on to you or not.”

“You're nat sure? What do you mean?™ The gencral sounded
slarmed. This was one thing he hadn't considered. Suddenly, fighting
che Mossad had taken on a whole new meaning.

“We're never sure, bur there is a way to find our.”

“How?" the general asked. | had a feeling I wasn’t going to like
the answer.

“Victor here will go visit the PLO office in New York. If all the
lights and bells go off in headquarters, we'll know that he has a rail.”

“] thought you people could check these things yourselves?™ The
general’s face was serious.

“We can,” Ephraim said, “but we can never be sure. There is a
limit to what we can do, If the team on our tail 1s big enough, we can-
not detect them. That is something we cannort nisk.”

“What if someone in the PLO office is working for Mossad, what
then?™ [ asked.

“We don't have anyone working there. And even if we did, it
would take time for the message to get through, and by then you'd be
out of there.”

“Okay.” | tried to strengthen my point. *What if someone runs
with the information and volunteers it 1o the embassy? I'll be history
before | can leave the city.”

“You will not tell them who vou are. What you will do is go in
and tell them vou are an Israeli sympathizer, something along those
lines.”

“But how will that help whar we want to do?” The general was
now sucking hard on his pipe as if he wanted to turn it inside out. He
kept looking at the door. I could sce this wasn't his game; he liked to
se¢ his enemv and measure him up. A brave man, no doubt, but some-
what afraid of the dark.

“Victor here will be asked to do things in the near future that are
extremely dangerous. He will have to do them in places much less hos-
pitable than New York. Before | send him to those places, 1 want to be
sure, If there's a problem with his cover or if someone suspects him of
wrongdoing, this is the ume to find out about it—when he is jn the
United Srates, where it is more difficult for the Mossad to operate, If
they're watching us now, they will want to see whar comes next. So
we'll hand it to them on a platter; if they're on our tail, as soon as he
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enters the PLO office, they'll almost nstantly arrest me and you.”
Small beads of perspiration appeared on the general’s forehead.
Ephraim continued, “If that happens, then of course we won’t contact
Victor. Thar will be his sign that it’s time to gert lost, and 1 mean lost.
But if nothing happens, we know that we're clean.”

“How will he get lost?” The general's voice quivered slightly.

“He shouldn’t have a problem with that. After all, he did ger what
probably amounts to the best training for that in the world, or at least
we'd like to think so.”

The general cleared his throat, then asked, “What will they do to
us#”

“We went through that before.” Ephraim was getting annoyed, “1
thought you understood.”

“I do. It’s jusr that [ didn’t . . . ” He hesitated,

“Didn’t what? Do you want to back out? Because if you do, say so
now, before we make one more move. After today, there won’t be a
way out. We are rapidly approaching the point of no return. Once Vic-
tor leaves for New York, we’re committed.”

“That’s very nice of you,” 1 said, raising my voice at Ephraim.
“You're letting him back our, and you didn’t even let me decide if 1
wank 1o get on board.”

“You don’t understand. [ was talking about him. If he wants out
he can get out, but we are committed. In fact, if he leaves now and we
are under surveillance, then he'll be put away just like I will, and like
they’ll try to do ro you. He can, however, walk away if it turns out
we're clean.”
| The generai got up, shaking his head. I had a feeling he was start-
ing to get my drift, and was worrted it would not be reversible in a
matter of seconds. “I don’t want out. It’s just that it’s starting to get
very real to me now. [ never played this game before, and | had no
1c'1ea what 1 was getting into. It’s not what we are about to do that
gives me the creeps, it’'s how. What I want to know is this: If they

catch us, what do vou think they will do to us?”

“You can relax if you're worried about standing trial, because you
won’t. They can't afford that. They'll settle marters with us behind
closed doors; an accident perhaps, or maybe we'd be admitted to an
asvlum for an undetermined length of time, Almost anything is possi-
ble, exceprt a trial.”

“Nort a very promising future,” said the general, smiling.

“Well, that is if we are caught before we finish what we have set
out to do. | believe we won't fail; the cost to our country, let alone
ourselves, would be too great.”
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For the next few minures, we were all silent. Then 1 got up and
turned to Ephraim. “There is something | want from you before |
plunge into this.”

“You're in it already,” he replied.

“I might be, but I promise you I won't do one more thing for you
antil vou do one thing for me.”

“And what might that be?”

“You have to put me in contact, right now”—I pointed to the
phone—"with someonc I know personally from your clique in the
Maossad.”

“What?"

“You heard me. Someone that | know. [ want to be sure you're not
setting me up.”

“What about the general? I thought you trusted him.”

“With all due respect, we both know that you could have tricked
this man ten ways from Sunday. I want someone from the Mossad,
someone who knows the ropes.”

“] can’t just expose someone to you like this.”

“In that case, I'm walking.”

Ephraim paused. “You know I can’t let you do thag, not with what
you kpow.”

“Kill me then, but if you want me to work with you, you better
call somebody on that phone now.”

Ephraim stared at me silently for several seconds. He then walked
over to the phone, got a line from the operator, and dialed a number.
He waited with the receiver to his ear. “Reuven?” he finally said, and
waited. “Hold it for one minute.” He turned to me. “Do you know
Reuven Hadary?"

“Yes.”

He spelled it out to the man on the phone that 1 wanted verifica-
tion that there were others in the Mossad working with Ephraim,
Reuven, a man | knew and liked, confirmed ir. I insisted on getting
Reuven’s number so that I could call in the event of a mishap and not
be rotally dependent on Ephraim. They agreed, and by the time we
hung up, 1 was satisfied. This was not a setup bur a legitimate effort to
bring down the Mossad, to make room for something we all hoped
would be better.

I opened the window—I badly needed some fresh air After the
cigarettes, the pipe, and the fish and chips, the smell was getting to be
overwhelming.

“Just one more thing.” 1 said. “How many ate involved in this?”

“About ten people. But only the three of us know what is really
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going on, or should I say four. No one outside this room, except for
Reuven, knows about you, if that’s what you're asking.”

I didn't answer. | sat by the open window and stared out at the
gray concrete housing project that was the best view this hotel had o
offer.

“You'll arrive jn New York on April 2. From that point on, you'll
be on your own. [ won’t recommend a hotel for you. In fact, | don't
want to know.”

I nodded and kept my eyes on the view outside.

“Are you listening to me?” Ephraim asked softly.

[ nodded.

“Here's the number 1 want you to call after the meeting in the
PLO offices.” He handed me a business card. “There is a number like
that in New York; it’s a bakery. Dial the same number in Tel Aviv, and
I'll be there.”

“And if you're not?”

“Call back three times, once every four hours, never from the
same place. After the first time, start your disappearing act; by the last
call, you should be gone.”

“What should I do if they get you?”

“Just try 10 stay alive and out of their hands. This 1 can tell you,
you'll be better off than we will.”

“That’s cold comfort for me. Whar about my family?”

“If we're caught, you don't have one. Or rather they don’t have
you; for them you'll be as good as dead.”

"Does it have to be so drastic?”™

“No, I'll be there ro answer the phone. 1 won't lose you.”

Several minutes later, they both left. They did so without fanfare; a
simple handshake sent me on a journey that at times | wish I'd never
raken.

(arTen0

Weonesoay, s, 2, 1386, New Yomu

arrived in New York feeling like a wreck. | was exhausted, plastered
from the endless stream of little rum boules and half-filled plastic
cups of Pepsi | had consumed on the flight.

The large terminal at the end of the long gray corridor leading
from the docking bay came suddenly. The smell of a hot dog in a fresh
bun replaced the smell of jer fuel and recycled air, cansing my mouth
to water. | automatically lit up a cigarerte 1o kill the craving that could
only be satisfied somewhere on the other side of the United States of
America’s bureaucratic defense line, also known as Customs and
Immigration.

1 could barely keep my eves open, kicking my small carry-on bag
forward every time the line moved up. 1 eventually found myself facing
the immigration officer, who at that moment looked as though he
would be more than happy to kick me back 1o wherever I came from.

“Passport, please.” His voice was mechanical,

| put my Canadian passport on the counter, having returned to
being a Canadian from the moment [ landed in Garwick, England. It
was a good feeling indeed; thar little blue document with the gold
Canadian crest on it gave me a sensc of relative security.

“Businessor ... "

“Just a vacation. I'm going to visit my dad.”

“Canada?”

“No, he lives in Nebraska. He's American.”

“How long will you stay?”

“I don’t know yet. Why, is there a problem?™

The man handed me my passport back after stamping it with a red
seal. “Have a nice time, sir.” He signaled me to continue.

Customs was not much of a problem either, It seemed thar even
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though [ was shightly drunk, | managed to make a fairly good impres-
sion on the officials. Besides, | didn't have anything to hide, that is if
you didn't count the documents hidden in the special compartment in
my sultcase,

Afrer a short raxi ride, [ ended up at a small motel not too far
from the airport. [ dropped on the bed fully dressed, apart from one
shoe I'd managed to get off, and fell asleep.

Thunsany, AeiL 3

The first light coming through the loose top of the curtain jolted
me into consciousness. [ realized instantly that it was almost a week
since I'd ralked to Bella. Considering the way 1'd left, and the state I'd
left her i, | felt like a heel. | slowly got off the bed, trying not to move
my head too fast since the pain above my eyes was killing me. The
alcohol was taking irs revenge.

| stared ar myself in the peeling mirror and realized | actually felt
much better than I locked. The alarm radio on the small wooden table
by the bed glowed seven A.M. [ tried to figure out the time back in
Israel but couldn’t concentrate enough.

Ephraim had told me that I could call home after six A.M. on the
third. | badly needed to make thar call.

| liv a cigarerte and sat art the end of the bed, clutching my head in
my hands. [ put the cigarette in the chipped glass ashtray and noticed
that several of the previous patrons of this establishment had missed
the ashrray altogether, leaving short burn lines on the wooden table-
top. Some had even managed, it seemed, to put out their cigaretres on
the thin, worn-our greenish carper. How the hell did [ find this place?
When I'd told the taxi driver “inexpensive,” | should have qualified ir.
On the other hand, 1t was a good choice smce no one would look for
me here—unless of course they were already on 1o me.

I made the call collect; should they be listening, this was some-
thing | wanted them to hear, it was something Ephraim wanted me to
verify. “They musr have confirmarion thar you are in New York if
we're to find our anything.” It had made sense when he'd said it, but
at the moment, I couldn't reconstruct the logic. All [ could manage
was the mechanical action of dialing the number.

Her voice was fresh, like a breeze of cool air dissiparing the clouds
of pain in my head. | wanted to keep listening to her voice; it was
soothing. It didn’t matter much to me what she said as long as 1 could
cling 1o the sound. Her image flashed in front of my tired eyes: her
dark wavy hair, her feminine body, the spark in her deep brown eyes. 1

|
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could hear she was tired, worried, pained that 1 hadn’t called before.
She complained only briefly and then, once she realized thar she
wasn’t going to gert a full explanation, she asked, “So what are you
going to do?” _

“I'm going to be in New York for a day or so, and then I'll go visit
my dad.”

“What are you planning to do there?”

“I don’t know vet. Maybe I'll get some sort of job or something,
Don't you worry, everything will be fine.”

“They came here yesterday with your call-up for military
TEServes.”

“Who did?”

“An officer from the navy. They hand-delivered it to me.”

“Really? | never heard of it being done that way before.”

“] told them you were abroad. They didn't believe me ar first.”

*Whart did they sayz”™ .

“They asked how you lefr without getting a release form from
them.”

“] got a release from them. The bloody bureaucrats don't know
their hands from their legs.”

“Did you call your dad ver?”

“No, I'll do it right after [ hang up with you.”

“I hope he’s home. He might be out of town or something. What
will you do then?”

[ could feel she wanted to talk almost as much as 1 did. “Don't
vou worry. Things will be fine,” I lied, From where I was at that point,
things were not looking up. Suddenly, I wanted ro end the conversa-
tion; [ was afraid [ might say something that would irritate her. |
couldn’t handle it now. As far back as | could remember, I'd always
managed to place the blame in her lap for whatever failure 1 was
responsible for. 1 promised to call back the next day.

After a quick trip to the diner next door, then a long, hot shower
back n the room, I felt sufficiently reviralized to embark on the day’s
errands. I called the front desk and told the man | wanted to keep the
room for a few more days. Then | asked him to call me a cab,

In less than half an hour, [ was in front of the UN building. From
there 1 walked to the PLO offices. | knew I could ger most of the way
back by subway and then use the cab for the last leg, but going there |
wanted to be relatively quick and make sure I did nor lose any rail I
might have, After all, if they were after me and I took the subway and
then a cab, there was a good chance they might lose me. And then
we'd think we were clean because they didn't report me entering the
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PLO offices. That false sense of security could bring worse calamity
further down the road.

The sun had come out, and it was slowly turning out ro be a nice
day, m New York terms, of course, There was still a slight chill in the
air, which kepr whatever amount of freshness the city would allow.

| knew what was expected of me, and | wasn’t about to fool
around. This was somethmg | had ro do, and 1 wanted to get it over
with. [ entered a small cotfee shop across the street from the PLO
office. 1 had to take my nme. As before, if the ream following me was
slightly behind, I wanted to give them time to carch up and take posi-
tion so that they could see exactly what was going on.

After another coffee and an excellenr croissant, | started slowly
across the street. | was nervous, [ had dealt with Palestinians before,
but always from a position of strength, with the entire military or
Mossad mechanism close behind me. Today was verv different. It was
possible thar the Mossad was sull behind me, but for tonally different
reasons. And the PLO people [ might meet were not in any way sub-
ject to my power or will. | was armed only with self-confidence and
the hope that things would go smoothly.

The reception area of the suite was lined with brochures and
posters, the lighr blue and gray colorings giving the place a sophisti-
cated aura. The front room was deserted for several minutes untl a
1all, well-dressed man entered. His gold-rimmed glasses dropped
slightly on the bridge of his nose as he looked at me over the top of his
bifocals. He was abour six foot rwo, on the heavy side. His black suit
was well tailored, and he smelled of an expensive aftershave. | felt
slightly out of place in my jeans and black leather jacker.

“Can [ help vou, sir?” His voice was deep, friendly, and without
any traceable accent.

“I'd like to talk 1o someone in charge, please.”

“I'm in charge. My name is Yasin. What can 1 do for you?™

“Well, can we ralk freelv here?”

“That depends on what you want 1o sav. I'm sure thar there are
more peaple listening in on this room than are present,” he said, smil-
ng.

I drew my Israeli passport out of my pocket and handed it 1o him.
“1 wonder if you might join me for a coffee,” I said. “There is a nice
little place just across from here.”

He scemed somewhat surprised as he leafed through the docu-
ment. He then handed it back to me, smiling. “Actually,” he said, *1
was just on my way out. There is an even better place down the street,
Would vou care to join me?"
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“I'd be delighted.” | smiled back, feeling great. I'd made contacr,
and if the Maossad were in tact watching me, they'd see me with a man
whom 1 had no doubt was known to them. We would know tor sure
in a very short time what was going on, if anvthing.

“Ler me just get my coat,” the big man said and disappeared
down the hall. T looked out the window at the scene below, Even
chough the streets were not overly crowded, there was no way 1 could
spot any surveillance. [ had no doubt that the Americans were warch-
ing this office—the feds, certainly, and probably also the city police,
wanting to observe any subversive activity stemming from this place
and at the same time attempting to stop any attacks on it.

The only thing that worried me was the possibility that someone
might get a photo of me with the PLO man and send it to the Mossad.
Then 1'd be in deep rrouble. Even though Ephraim had promised me
that this particular aspect of the operarion was covered, | knew rhat
the graveyards were full of irreplaceable people, lying next to those
who had good intentions,

This was the pomt of no return for me, and | was happy to have
passed 1t. From now on, it was the life again.

We didn’t speak on the way to the small restaurant, which was
about a block away from the office building, The place was badly lit
and looked like a scene from a Bogart B-mmovie. [ ordered coffee, and
he did the same. I got the impression that he wanted to get this meet-
ing over with as fast as possible.

“So what was it vou wanted to talk about?”

*As you know, I'm an Israell.”

He nodded. “What do you wantz”

“I just wanted to give you a warming.” His evebrows arched
slightly, hardening the look in his eves.

“Nothing personal or imminent, just a general warning, that’s
all.”

“About what*”

Ephraim had made it very clear that | was not o go mnto any
detail, only give the general information and then throw in an example
or two to make them realize | was not some loony off the street.

“It’s important that vou rtell your top brass that everyvthing they
say, on any phone they use, is listened 1 on. Just 1o give vou an exam-
ple, when your people were talking to Felitsia Langer! before the war

L. Felisia Langer: A well-known Iscach arrorney who stood up for Palestimian
human righus.
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in Lebanon, right up to the acrual invasion, it was all recorded. So
were the talks between Aratat and the king of Saudi Arabia during the
stege on Beirut, and so were the calls made by Arafat from Tripoli,
Lebanon, to Damascus during the Syrian siege of Tripoli. And today
all the calls from Tunis to wherever.”

“We know thar. What do you think we are, stupid? Who are you,
anyway?"

“All 1 can say to you is that not everybody who is against you is
your enemy. There are those who think that even though we are on
two sides of the barricades, we will have to live together, or at least
next to each other, in peace.”

“Look, we have many enemies, and the various authorities in this
country are looking for any excuse to kick us out of here and make a
mockery of our cause, | will have to end this conversation with you
for that reason.”

“I understand. Only one more thing that you must take back, and
that 1s that only in Tunis is Aratar safe.”

“You people are funny.” He smiled. *You know more about us
than we do; you know our history, our customs, our daily habits. You
know the location of every tree in the Palestinian forest, but you can’t
see the forest. You can't comprehend us as a people, nor do you
understand anything about us.” There were several seconds of silence.
The man stared directly into my eyes, as if he were irying to solve
some puzzle or find a way our of some darkened maze. “All I can tell
you is that there are many on our side of the barricade who feel the
same, We want 1o live in peace and be a free people. There are those
who think that this can only be achieved over the dead bodies of your
people. Most of us do not, but we will never break ranks to be slaugh-
tered by you, We ask for respect, and a place we can call our home.
Let me send a warning to you, and it is nothing personal. But, rrust
me, it is imminent. There will come a time, and it is not that far off,
when the streer will dictate to us what we are to do and the extremists
will rake our place, And then all you will have to ralk to will be your
ancient wall. Tell whoever sent you to seize the moment." He gor up
and held out his hand across the small table, his face stll frozen. |
stood up and shook his hand, noticing the small smile on his face as 1
did 0. He nodded. “Tell them,” he said, “if they want to see who we
really are, all they have 1o do is look i the mirror.” He rurned and
walked out.

HAPTER,

frer Yasin walked out of the restaurant, | remember feeling a
strange sensation, having met a PLO man face-to-face on an equal
footing and realizing he was a nice person,

I kepe looking at him as he made his way ourside, past the restau-
rant window. I leaned to one side and saw him turn the corner.

I had about two hours to kill before making my scheduled rele-
phone call. Ephraim had calculated that two hours were more than
enough time: if the alarms in Mossad headquarters didn't go off by
then, we were safe. This was a crucial and dangerous point in the
operation, If anything went wrong, the entire program would be elimi-
nated, Ephraim would probably rot away in some jail cell, and 1
would make it to the 1op of the Mossad hit list.

Time, it seemed, was at a standstill. Under normal circumstances,
when a2 Mossad case officer is working i the field, either he 15 on his
way to another appointment and has barely enough time to get there,
or he has a safe house to go back to, where he writes reports or gives
an account of the meeting ro his superiors. With the exception of the
shart time a case officer is on his way to or from a meeting, he is
rarely alone.

['m nort one for window shopping, which always made this part of
the job more of a burden to me. While waiting, | had very little
patience for anything. | walked slowly, searching for something to
take my mind off things, while time passed ar its snail’s pace. | consid-
ered making a call to my dad in Nebraska. The time was right, since
there's a one-hour time gap between Nebraska and New York, But
then I decided against it. Should something go wrong, there was no
point in implicating him in all this. I would call him once | knew [ was
clean. I trusted Ephraim to do the right thing, and I'd do whatever—

My thoughts snapped abruptly. Across the street, a man in a long
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black coar caught my attention. He was standing by a streer vendor
and busily dumping mustard onto a hot dog. | had seen him before,
entering the restaurant where [ sat with the PLO man and seating him-
self ar the back.

He was clearly trying to avord looking directly at me, a true mark
of an amatecur. | moved closer to the wall, out of the pedestrian traffic,
and warched him. Bv my estimation, he should have started on that
hot dog already, unless he was loading it with mustard simply to buy
ume at the stand. [ remembered that he hadn't been alone in the
restaurant: He was with another man. | began to scan the street
slowly, searching for his partner. The man with the long coat and the
hot dog had a Middle Eastern complexion. Thar could make him just
about anything from a New York cop of Italian descent to a Syrian
inrelligence officer—or a Mossad man, for that matter.

I kept turning slowly, scanning the swreet, moving casually. |
noticed a man standing by the entrance 1o a bookstore, holding a
small bag in his hand. He stared at me through the reflection in the
store window. The man was less than ten feer from me. His presence
jolted me: | hadn't expected 1o find him so close. It was the other man
from the restaurant. In a strange way, the unprofessionalism of his
positioming offended me—he wasn't playing by the rules, I assumed
that they were either amateurs or members of a lesser organization,

[ stepped into the bookstore, passing right by the man. [ had to
find out who these guys were working for.

I leated through a book for several minutes, running options
through my mind. [ had ro forget most of the things 1 was trained to
do in situations like this, such as call for backup or set up a surveil-
lance locator exercise.! I was on my own. It all boiled down to not
having protection from the local authorities, or from anyone who felt
like raking a shot ar me.

From the bookstore, | saw the man ross the hot dog 1nto a rrash
can as he rushed to cross the street. The one by the door moved
toward the intersection, waiting for his partner to arnve, They spoke
for several seconds, then the man in the long coat gestured at the
bookstore. The man with the bag pointed down the street and
shrugged his shoulders. The man in the long coat nodded and moved

1. Surveillance locator exercise: A preplanned activity that places members of a
security team along a predesignated route. Once an officer detects 2 il ke calls
it in, and the team rakes posiion. The officer then passes through the resting
area, and the tail is verified and identified.
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closer to the store door, while his partner headed in the direction he
had just indicated.

What do vou know? The dummies actually think. Not good
enough, though. | felt like walking out and talking to the one in the
long coat, straightening him our, giving him a short lesson, and send-
ing him back to try it again, There was a part of me that would ger a
kick out of doing something like that. This, however, was neither the
ume nor the place to do it; for all | knew, they were planning to snuff
me out, for whatever reason, It doesn'r take a gemus 1o kill someone. 1
had ro concentrate and make my move, and [ didn’t have all day. I was
just hoping the two were not some fancy decoy someone was sctting
up for me to grab.

| knew for certain that they had been tailing me at least since 1
entered the restaurant, and it was more than likely that they were on
to me from the time I left the PLO office building. Time was suddenly
moving very fast. I had only an hour before | had 10 make my call,
and by then | had to have some answers.

The plan came to me in a flash. I walked out of the bookstore and
headed south for about ten minutes, occasionally stopping to look in a
window, just to make sure I didn’t lose my new friends. | walked at a
slow pace to make sure of that. Around Forty-seventh Street, | made
a sharp turn and stepped into the first store | came to. It was a large
electronics discount store. [ was now out of sight. If there were more
than the two of them, my constant movement in a single direction
would more or less put them to sleep, operationally speaking, and
string them along behind me. There was a slight chance thar someone
would move ahead of me, but it was very slim. In fact, I didn’t really
believe there were more than the two I'd seen. Now 1 was ready for
the second stage.

| waited for the man with the bag to pass the store and stop, real-
izing he had lost me, He was looking in all directions until his coated
triend arrived. They stared into the electronics store but didn’t see me.
As 1 had anticipated, the man in the coat sent his friend to search for
me down the streer while he started in the other direction. I had split
them up. One down and one to go.

I stepped out of the store. The one with the coat had his back ro
me and the bag man had just entered a store in the other dircction. |
walked briskly, passing the coated man at the crosswalk, heading west
on Fortieth Street. If he didn’t want to lose me, he would have ro come
on alone, and he did.

I had only gone fishing once in my life, and that was with my dad
on a short visit | made to the States—and then it was my dad who
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caught the fish. But I could feel the pleasure now as the fish took the
bait and 1 slowly reeled him in. We walked in single file for another
five minutes. I wanted to pur as much distance as possible between
him and his parmer. We were almost at the Port Authority Bus Termi-
nal, not the best neighborhood in the world, with its endless array of
adulr bookstores and peepshow parlors. The terrain was extremely
good for my purposes, though, and | prepared to do my second disap-
pearing act.

At the corner of Seventh Avenue and Forty-first Street, | made an
abrupt stop ar the pedestrian crosswalk. | wanted to make sure the
coated man was still with me. Ir was lucky that I'd stepped to one side,
or my fish would have swum right into me. Speaking of operational
sleep, this man was absurd. He was an amateur if ever | saw one, But
he had determination,

Even the most backward agency in the Middle East had the privi-
lege of learning basic surveillance techniques from either the French,
the Soviets, or the Americans—not 1o speak of the ones we had
trained in our time. This guy was private,® and he must have gotten
his training from TV movies or cheap paperbacks,

I wasn't happy abour having to deal with amateurs; they're so
unpredictable. I would have preferred 1o encounter professionals any
day—ar least it’s not personal with them. You feel much better if you
know that whoever you're confronring is after something, and once he
gets what he came for, he’s off your case. Should your termination be
what he's after, ar least it will be done quickly and neatly.

The lirtle green man appeared in the traffic lighe and | crossed the
street, my tail close behind. 1 made a fast left into the first street afrer
the light, and then a right. [ stood at the entrance to a large adult book
and video store. | waited for my 1ail 1o show up on the corner, and
once | was sure he had noticed me, I entered the store.

I knew he would stand outside for some minutes before entering,
since at this point he had time to think, and he knew he was alone.
This was a one-on-one now.

In a glass showcase that doubled as a counter, I saw a large array
of kinky sex paraphernalia, from strange-looking male organs to
spiked condoms. In the corner of the showcase was a pair of silver
hundcuffs. I boughr a handful of movie tokens and the cuffs from the
clerk, who handed me my change and was happy to return to his dirty
magazine. Who said shoemakers go barefoor, 1 thought, smiling to

2. Private: Not part of a professional intelligence agency or trained by one.
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myvself. I walked 1o the back, where the red neon sign read “Movies,"
and turned down a long dim hall lined on both sides with a row of
small booths thar looked much like the stalls in a public washroom.
Each booth had a number on it and a small framed picrure by the
door depicting a scene from the explicit sex movie showing inside.

[ walked in such a way that my tail would think that I knew my
way around and therefore might use a back door to slip away, or
maybe meet someone inside. He had to come i after me. The fact that
[ didn't know the place and was not meeting anvone there didn't
change a thing.

1 entered the booth at the end of the hall and latwched the door
behind me. | put a token in the slot and pressed the start button. The
booth was not much bigger than a wiler stall and had a small three-
legged chair tucked against the corner. The walls were painted black,
and apposite the door, about four feet from the ground, was a televi-
sion screen almost flush with the wall. There were no controls on the
set, and as it rurned out, the sound was not adjustable, The show
started while my thumb was still on the start button. It began with a
threesome involved in an elaborate act of lovemaking. The male was
extremely well-endowed and seemed to impress the two women in the
movie very much—their moaning was quite toud. I looked around the
small cubicle, searching for a crack of some sort through which |
could look out and see what my friend was up to. The plywood wall
had a small cavity in it where a nail had fallen out at the joint.

| stood on the stool and peered out—just in tme too. | saw the
man in the long coat look around; after going all the way ro the back
and realizing there was no door, he tned the door of the cubicle just
across from me. Finding it occupied, he tried my door, and then scttled
for the one just ahead of me across the hall.

He entered, and I could see that he had left the door slightly open
and was watching the dim hall. 1 had to admit it wasn’t a bad move at
all, for an amareur.

| waited for several minutes, leting him get comfortable. Then !
opened my door and walked out, staving in his blind spot. 1 closed the
door behind me, clutching the small batch of tokens in my fist. | was
alone in the hall, but I had ro move fast—someone could pop into the
hall or our of a booth ar any moment. | took a deep breath and
stepped across the hall, grabbed the knob of his door, and pulled it
open hard. | could feel him lose his grip and his balance too. It seemed
that he had been ¢rouched by the door, staring at the hall ahead, com-
pletely taken by surprise.

There was no gentle way to do this; I had no gun or other weapon
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with which to impress on him the seriousness of the situation. |
walked right over him into the cubicle, closing the door behind me. |
hammered my coin-filled fist on the top of his head before he had a
chance to utter a single syllable. My quick action had the expected
stunning effect on him; he was on his knees in shock, facing the dark
screen.

I larched the door, grabbed his hand. and rwisted it high behind
his back, pinning his face hard against the screen and placing my knee
on his shoulder. | was now in total control.

| dropped a token into the small slot under the screen and pressed
the illuminated red button with my thumb. The movie started instantly.
but 1 could hardly see what was taking place on the screen, as rn};
friend’s face was smeared over most of it. He was motionless—nor that
he could have done much even if he’d wanted to, but it was very clear
to me that he didn’t want to. Things were happening far too fast for
him even to think. | leaned forward closer to his ear so that he could
hear me above the moaning of the big-breasted woman on the screen,
who was being rocked back and forth by someone | couldn't see,

“What's your name?”

The man was silent. | could see he was closing his eyes tight in
expectation of a blow, '

“You can close your eyes, asshole, but your ears are open. I'll ask
you one last time. What’s your name?”

“Marvin.” His voice trembled,

“Who do you work for, Marvin:*

“Nobedy, [ don't work for nobody,”

“Why are you following me, Marvin?" My voice was steady, low,
almosr friendly.

He tried 1o turn his head and look at me, so | pushed his hand up
as high as 1t would go without breaking, and he let ourt a sigh of pain.
“Were you with the guy from the PLO?™ he said.

“Who are you working for, Marvin?"

“1 told you, nobody. I'm a detective. I'm on a case.”

“What case?™

“I can’t tell you. That's privileged information. Let go of my
hands. [ have nghts, vou know.”

I realized thac the man thought he'd been caught by a policeman. 1
pulled out the cuffs I'd purchased and cutfed the hand | was holding
beh_ind his back. Now 1 held the empty cuff in the same hand with
which I grabbed his hair, so that when he pulled his hand down he

was pulling on his hair. With my free hand, I rook out a Bic pen from
my coat pocker.

W
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“Would vou like my autograph, Marvin?”

“What?”

“Do you want my autograph?”

“Whart would 1 do with your autograph?” His body was starting
to move as he attempted to get up, so | pressed my knee harder on his
shoulder. Now [ could see the big black man who was rocking the
woman on the small screen, her moans getting louder. Someone tried
to open the door | applied a little more pressure to the hand. | didn't
want him to start screaming.

“You're breaking my hand, man, vou're breaking my hand. Please
let go of my hand.”

“This is a pen, Marvin.” [ spoke again in my monotonous voice as
I placed the nib on his check. The big-breasted woman was starting 1o
move faster. *1 will now place this pen in your ear, and then | will
push 1t in slowly until such tme as [ autograph your brain. Think
about it, Marvin.”

“What are you talkimg about?™ Panic was getting into his voice as
he felt the tip of the pen in his ear. | knew that ar this point he was
sure he was dealing with a psycho who would derive pleasure from his
pain. “Whaddaya want? Whaddaya want from me?”

“You tollowed me, Marvin, and I really don't like that. 1 wanrt to
know why, and who sent you.™ I pushed slightly on the pen, holding
tight on to his hand. The little room was geting hot, and the heat was
making me nervous. I wanted an answer, although | already had an
idea of what 1 was dealing with.

“I told you.™ His voice was whiny. [ could see a tear, shining in the
blue light of the TV, rolling down his face. The woman was reaching
her orgasm, the black man just kept on going, and it was hard 10
make out what Marvin was saving.

"1 told you. I am a detecrive.™

“And [ want to know who vou are working for, Hercule Poror?™ 1
pushed the pen deeper: a few more millimeters and it would start 10
cause damage.

“Let go of me. You can't do this.”

I moved the pen, and he pushed hard against the screen as he tried
to get away from it. The little red light started 1o flicker, reading “Add
token,” so [ did. The show must go v, *T will be very clear with vou,

Marvin. If you don't start talking to me, 1 will take this pen out of
your other ear, and I'll sull get my answers from your friend. In fact,
my friends are probably getting those answers right now.”

I ¢could see he was thinking. His eves were wide open, and he was
terrified. Any thought that his friend might save him was gone. He
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realized | knew more than he did. He was trying to analyze the situa-
non—this was not what I wanted. 1 had to do something to move
things along faster. 1 left the pen sticking out of his ear, raised my
hand, and hammered him over the head again. This shocked him—it
was totally unexpected. Then, when he thought he would stare ralking,
[ hit him over the head yet again.

“I'm from the JDL, vou know? The jewish Defense League. We're
watching the offices of the Palestinian scum. We saw you come out
and we thought you worked for them or something so we wanted ro
know . .."

“Know what?™

“Who the fuck you were, we wanted to know who the fuck you
were. How were we to know you were a cop?”

“Who sent you?™

“The rabbi, he tells us what to do. Nobody cares whar happens to
us, we have to take care of ourselves. Jews have to take care of them-
selves or the goyim will eliminate them. Are you Jewish?”

"No," | answered.

“Well, you don't know that the Palestinians have a plan to exter-
minate all Jews. And the American government 1s a party to the
scheme.™

“Whar the hell are you talking about? I think 1 hit you over the
head too hard.”

"We will not let that happen! You just wait and see! We will kill
them all first, we will.” The man was starting to lose it. I eased some
of the pressure on his hand. By keeping my knee hard on his shoulder
and pinning him down, I could put some distance berween us.

I stood up, took my knee off him, and pulled him up by his
twisted arm, the pen still in his ear. There was nothing in the room to
tic him to, and | couldn’t render him unconscious without risking
killing him, He was not a threar to me, so killing him would not be
even a consideration.

I ler go of the pen again and undid his bels.

“Whart are you doing?"

“I'm undressing you, my boy.”

“Whar for?" There was fear in his voice. “What'll you do to me?”

“Nothing, if you behave yourself. Now undo your pants and drop
them.”

His pants fell to the floor. After abour five minutes of wrangling,
with my keeping his hand pressed behind his back, he was buck
naked. I put all his clothes inside his big coat and held the bundle
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under my arm. He was down on his knees, facing the screen, his hands
cuffed behind his back.

"I will leave you now,” | said, and put several 1okens in the slot.
"You have abour ten more minutes of entertainment, then vou're on
your own.”

“You can’t leave me like this. Please don't take all my clothes.
Please.” He was begging. The place was extremely hot, yet he was
trembling. | was worried thatr he might start to defecare on the floor
and on my shoes. He smelled bad enough as it was.

“Well, it's either that or kill you. You understand that | can't just
ler you walk out of here with me, sa which would you prefer?”

There was no answer; he was now sobbing silently. I got out of the
cubicle and slammed the door behind me. [ heard him drop 1o the
floor, moaning—or was it the woman with the big breasts? 1 wasn't
sure. | felt pity tor the guy; after all, this wasn’t the best neighborhood
in which to walk around naked. But | knew I couldn’t have done it 1o
anyone more deserving. I hated the JDL people or, as they were called
by many, the Judeo-Nazis (somehow the biggest paradox of our time).
I passed by the clerk at the counter and spoke to him withourt looking
i his direction. “There’s a man in number four who is bugging people
back there.™ The clerk stared at the closed curtain leading to the hall.
From the door, 1 said, “He’s naked and is asking to be punished or
something,”

He didn’t even stand up—he was not about 10 leave the cash regis-
ter for nothing. He picked up the phone and started to speak. No one
paid any attention to me as | blended into the lunchtime crowd now
moving through the streets like a human torrent. 1 dropped the bundle
of clothes into the hands of a streer person huddled in a narrow alley
between two red-brick buildings. His glazed eyes didn't realize what
had fallen into his lap unril he slowly started to unfold it. As soon as
he felt the waller, he moved faster, thrusting the whole thing into a
shopping cart and disappearing into the alley.

I hopped on a bus and was back at the Chrysler Center just in
time ro make my call. It was afternoan in Israel; | got through without
a hitch, and Ephraim was almost instantly on the line. The sound of
his voice came as a relief—someone familiar. And the fact that he was
there to answer said it all. Only then did I realize how nervous I was
about the consequences of what we were doing, should we be caught
at such an carly stage of the game.

“1 guess you did what you had t0?” He was inquisitive; there was
always the possibility in his mind thar the reason he hadn't been
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arrested was not that | wasn't being tailed, bur rather thar I hadn't
made the move | was supposed to.

“Yes, | did, | went into the office and met the man that was work-
ing there, Then we went out for a coffee and 1 gave him the message.”

“NWhat did he say?” Even though the phone line Ephraim was
talking on was secure and | was calling from a randomly picked pay
phone, we were still playing it safe.

“Well, he wasn't surprised by what [ had to say. He knew all that
and so does his boss, apparently.”

“Anytbing else he said?”

“Just thar we should know that in his firm there are people that
want what we want, but the time to do business might be limired.
What he was hinting at was that the market has a say in the matter,
and thar he might undergo a hostile takeover which would leave us to
deal with someone we might not like."

“I see, | had expected as much. At least he knows there are those
in our firm that want to do business 100." | could hear him smiling; he
was clearly as relieved as | was. “Did you run into any problems?”

“Well, I had a visitor, and it turned out to be a member of this
radical group here.”

“From our people?”

“You could call them thar. They were Meir’s people.” I was refer-
ring to their leader, the so-called rabbi Meir Kahane.

“You're kidding me.”

“No, I'm not. I got rid of them, it's okay. Did any of our people
see anything?”

“Apparently not. | found out we don't have the place watched at
all, and if someone else does, they're not reporting to us. It's regarded
as a political location, nothing we really care about.”

“I guess that’s why those loonies from the JDL are watching.”

“Okay, so much for the first step. Now get out of sighr, just get
lost,” Ephraim said slowly, over the phone. “Do you know what I'm
talking about?”

“Yes."

“Will you be going ro visit someone now?"

“Yes. I'll call him later today and fly there tomorrow. When will [
hear or sec you?™

“Have patience; it won't be long. I'll call you there. Just remember
what | told you; stay there uneil | say you can leave. Is that clear?”

“Yes, but give me an estimated nme,” | pressed. “When | come to
visit, | need to know a timeframe, something.™

“I can’t tell you."
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“What? Days, wecks, whar?®™

“Shouldn't be more than a couple of weeks.”

“That's a hell of a long time.”

“We have a hell of a big job. I'll call you there.”

“How about | call you to check how we're doing?”

Ephraim knew the importance of a live link for someonc out in the
cold; the fact that you had a place to call and didn’t have to sit and
wait made all the difference. “Call and leave a message if I'm oot here,
the message we agreed on,”

“1 will.” The line went dead. [ was alone again in New York. It
was night in Israel. | headed back to the motel. I could feel the numb-
ness the afternoon's acrivity had given me staraing to dissipate.
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called my father from the motel. He was happy to hear from me and

surprised to learn I was in New York. He offered to pay for my

ticket so that I could come out and visit with him (my dad always
offers to pay for everything, and quite often does). But [ said | could
handle it and that [ planned on arriving in Omabha the following day.

1 was not exactly enthusiastic about this visit. Not really knowing
where my life was parked at that moment and not being able to rell
my father how long | actually planned to stay put me in an odd situa-
tion. | told him that I was actually between assignments and was wait-
ing for a call from a friend who was also my boss. As an ex-officer in
the Royal Canadian Air Force and then i the Israeli air force, he
knew not to ask too many questions.

Once my friend called, I explained, | would know where I was
supposed to go. I rold him and his wife, Gigi, thar my friend would be
armiving in Washington shortly, and if there was any problem about
my staying with them, | could wait for my man in Washington. |
found myself apologizing almost constantly, even though there was no
need to.

I had never really spent much time with my dad before. My par-
ents had separated when | was abour five, and my morther had raken
me with her 1o Isracl. It wasn't so much that she wanted to raise me,
but rather she didn't want my father to do so. In fact, mv maternal
grandparents were saddled with that job, which was made all the
harder by my mother’s attitude. In that household, she behaved more
like my sister than my mother, constantly compering with me for the
affection of her parents. Even though I was only a small child at the
time, she made me feel as though she were the younger sibling,.

It was my grandparents who ingrained in me the love for Israel
and the Zionist movement. 1 also received a heavy dose of Judaism for
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which I'm grateful to this day, although they were not what would be
considered Orthodox Jews.

Ar the same time, fearing that if my father had any direct contact
with me he would want to take me to the United States, they made
sure that such a connection did not exist. All communicanon with him
was severed until | reached the age of seventeen and found a letter
from my father addressed to me, hidden in & drawer, along with a
monthly child support check. Up until that pomnt, 1 had been led 1o
believe that he didn’t want to have anything to do with me. It is hard
roday to guannfy the pain that belief caused me through the years,
Nor can | express the anger | felt when 1 discovered thar this was not
the case, and thar all those vears had been wasted.

Years later, | would learn that such a letrer had arrived monthly
for years and that my father, having seen that the check was cashed
without any reply, was sure | wanted nothing to do with him. He
never imagined I was not made aware of his letrers.

Shortly after finding that lerer, 1 phoned him, and later 1 visited
him just before joining the army. Since then, we had met several times
for short periods, but somehow we were never able to bridge the gap
that time had pur berween us.

On this visit, I didn’t feel much different. | could feel his frustra-
tion at not being able to ger through to me. Nor could | get through to
him. We seemed like two opposing magnets trying hard to lock. |
couldn't sit him down and run the truth by him, much as I wanted to
and probably should have.

The quiet, harmonious life my dad was living, in an affluent neigh-
borhood in Omaha, with all the rappings of a success story and the
serenity of living the American dream, ooly intensified my feelings of
frustration at being ripped away from Bella and the kids 1o dangle on
a thin string over a bottomless pit.

Tuesoav, Aen, 8, 1986, Ontaa

| made a call to Ephraim from the pay phone at the mall. I'd been
in town for almost a week and hadn’t heard from him vyer. I'd held
back as long as [ could, but it was starting to get to be too much.

“I'm glad you called,” he said. “I have something | want you to
do.”

“Why didn’t vou call me, then?”

“l was about to. [ want you to make a call to a man in New
York.”

“Do I know him?"
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“l don’t think so. His name 1s Avraham Bar-Am. He's a reserve
brigadier general.”

*“Another one of your friends?”

“Not at all. The SOB is trying to sell arms 1o the Iramans. He sub-
mitted the names of his contacts to us and is waiting to hear if they're
approved. He actually brought one of them here for a visit a while
back.”

“So what do you want from me?™

“T want you to call him in New York and tell him that it’s all been
approved, He mighe record the call, so be brief.”

“What do you mean, it's al! approved? If it is, why don't you peo-
ple call the shmuck:"

This didn't feel right. It seemed more as if I was doing the
Mossad’s work for them than going out to get the bastards. | had a
strong fecling that Ephraim was using me for other things, as if to say,
Since you're already there . . .

But he was my link to “rhe life.” He was also restoring a purpose
to the long years T'd given to the Mossad, What's more, he was
enabling me to fulfill my desire for revenge. I never learned 1o like
Ephraim or to regard him as a friend, but 1 always knew that I was
using him just as much as he was using me.

“] can't call him," Ephraim replied. “The man knows me; it’s a
setup. The Office started this situation. | was the one who made the
contact for him. What | learned today was that the contact was rurned
by the FBI and is now an informer. He used ro work for the CIA
before.”

“So why don’t you warn yvour man, this Avraham guy?”

“I would, but that wouldn’t serve our purpose.”

“Why not?™

“Iwant him to get caught. It's going 1o be a blow to the Office, If
they try to help him, they will look dirty in the eyes of the Americans,
and if they let him hang out to dry, | have no doubt he will sing and
implicate them. And since it's my call, I'm going to let him hang.”

“1 see. So thar is what I'm to expect from you o, when the time
is righe?”

“Don’t be ridiculous. This is a different matter; the man is in it for
the money, and he deserves what he gets,”

“Qkav,™ | said.

There was a short silence on the line. Then Ephraim's voice
sounded like a snake on sand. “Call him and tell him that you're a
friend and that the connection is cleared. He’s 1o go ahcad as
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lanned.™ He gave me the number to call and the rest of the informa-
tion that 1 might need. “And I'll call you soon,” he said.

| just hung up. | stood there thinking for several seconds about
what T was going to do. Then | picked up the receiver and made the
call.

The phone rang several times before it was answered. A woman's
voice came on the line, “Yes?"

“Can | speak to Avraham?”

“Who wants him?”

*A friend of his.”

“Do you have a name?”

*No, just a triend with an answer.”

She didn't say a thing. After several seconds, there was a click on
the line. “Hello?"

“Avraham?”

“Yes, who is this?”

* A friend with a message.”

“Who is this?”

| started to speak Hebrew. “I have a message for you trom your
friends. They say that the contacts you have submitted check out and
that it's a go.”

“Are you sure?”™

“I'm only a messenger. It’s not my father’s company. Take it or
leave 1t.”

“Thanks."

I hung up. | was sweating, | knew he was walking into a trap. |
had an urge 1o call back and shour ar him that it was all a hoax. |
didn'r.

I drove back to the house and went to my room. It wasn't really
my room; it belonged to my half brother, Mike, but he wasn't living
there at the time. The housekeeper had the day off, and both my
father and Gigi were our. | sat there staring at the silent pictures on
the television screen.

On April 23, 1986, twelve men were busted by the FBI in a sting
operation for artempting to sell arms to Iran. The story was all but
lost in the big hang rhat follmved the Americans' homhing af Libya
and the nuclear accident in Chernobyl that same month. 1 heard that
General Bar-Am pleaded not guilty and presented the documenration
that had supposedly authorized him, in the name of the Israeli military
industry, to deal on their behalf. The official Israeli response was that
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the man was a liar and that the documents he presented were issued
indiscriminarely to anyone who wanted to deal in arms. They added
that such a decument did not grant him the aurhority ro finalize a
transaction, only to act as a sales representative, In short, the man was
hung out to dry. But there was no shakeup in the Mossad, and the end
ot the tunnel was nowhere in sight.

| do suspect, however, that this was part of a bigger plan thar
Ephraim and his clique were part of. 1 knew that Ephraim’s channel to
power was Amiram Nir, adviser to the prime minister on terrorism.
While this dirty affair with Avraham was raking place, Nir was travel-
ing to Teheran with a Bible autographed by President Ronald Reagan,
without the knowledge of the Mossad or the CIA, in what later
became known as the Iran-Centra affair. Using the general as a parsy
to pacify American intelligence was ingenious; it 1ook the focus away
from Amiram Nir's secret dealings, and once he was out of CIA view,
there was no way for the Mossad to find out. Since the CIA was the
Mossad’s only contact in this escapade, having the CIA in the dark
meant the Mossad was out of the loop too.

The telephone talks [ had wich Bella were getting to be more and
more frustrating; she wanted 1o know when things were going ro start
moving. | could not fill her in on what was really going on, and so [
had to build up a cover story tor her. | kept telling her 1 was looking
for a job and had a plan that I was about to present to a friend of my
father's. The friend in question was the owner of a nanonal travel
reservation company based in Omaha.

[ did in fact talk to this man. My plan was to offer a secured flight
package 10 passengers, since air piracy was affecting the industry. 1
suggested we set up several teams that would rorate berween various
major destinations and would escort and secure specific travel routes.
For instance, there would be a chartered flight every day or every sec-
ond day leaving New York for London or Paris and one returning. We
would not establish an airline as such, but only the security package. |
would train the reams, and we would work out a schedule. | had no
doubt that during these times of fear and uncerrainty the flights would
be full even if we charged a slightly higher fee. We could then turn to
the major airlines and offer them a similar service on a per-flight basis.

It svunded great, bur 1 had a distiner feeling my father's friend was
going along more 1o appease my father than anything else, 1 sensed
that nothing would come of this, but it served my purpose as a cover
for Bella.

There was one thing | had not considered, although 1 should have.
I'd always expected that Bella would nor pass on any information

1
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ahout us, simply because she was a very private person who believed
that the less anyone else knows about you, the berter off you are. She
regarded our little family as the center of the universe, and it was
almost impossible to get anything out of her unless she wanted to say
it. and that was very seldom indeed. I should have remembered that
she too was running through a very dark and scary tunnel, probably
darker and more frightening than mine. | at least had the benefit of
knowing what this was all about. or so | thought. She was discon-
nected from me and yet could read me like an open book, She knew
something was not exactly as 1 was telling 1t and that there was more
to it than [ was letting on.

One day, she called me in Omaha. Gigi, my father's wife,
answered the call. Having always gotten along, they struck up a con-
versation in which Bella, thinking that everybody in Omaha knew |
was out of whatever I'd been doing before and thar [ really was look-
ing for a job there, made a statement to that effect, asking if Gigi
knew how things were going. 1 had never told Bella not 1o ask thar,
nor did I tell her that it was not common knowledge that | was look-
ing for work. It turned out that the two women surprised each other.

1 had been to the shopping center, where 1 had called Ephraim
from a pay phone to let him know I was fed up, and if he wasn't
about to get moving, | was.

1 didn't reach Ephraim, but there was a message for me to meet
him in two days in Washington. He would be waitng for me in a hotel
somewhat out of the way: the Holiday Inn in Silver Spring, Maryland.

Back ar the house, 1 received a call from Bella. She was both
wrathful and concerned; she told me about her conversation with Gigi
and warned me that my secret had been revealed. She demanded an
explanation and started ro cry on the phone; the faint hope I had buile
up in her regarding our future was dashed again. | tried to explain,
and at the same time, | was thinking about what to do, I knew thar
when [ faced Gigi, she would not be the pleasant, gracious hostess I'd
enceuntered before. My dad would probably be incensed at my having
lied to him. He had assumed, and | hadn’t corrected him, that 1 was
still working for whoever it was in Israel, and that | was waiting for a
call from a colleague who was coming to the States. This was not a sit-
uation | was looking forward 10. As things were shaping up, | could
do very little explaining. The only consolation | had was in thar mes-
sage Ephraim had left me: Things were in fact starting to move.

I pulled myself together. “1 can’t tell you anything now,” T said.
“You will just have to take my word for it. Trust me just this one more
time, please.”
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“But how can [? What do you want me ro do? If only I could sleep
until all this i1s over, whatever ‘this’ 1s.”

“Please trust me, everything will be fine. I'm leaving here tomor-
row and | will call you when I get where I'm going, okay?”

“I know this is the end,” she said, her voice as sad as a human
voice could be over a wire strerching thousands of miles, “I will never
see you again, will 27

“Don’t talk like that, Whar are you talking abour?” Deep down, |
had the feeling she might just be righe; there was a strong possibility
that whatever Ephraim was getring me into had no way out. 1 knew of
a few men who had crossed rhe Mossad and were now sealed away in
unidentified prison cells in high-security facilities—living corpses with
no names. And there were others, more fortunate, who had perished
in a hail of gunfire or been torn apart by a hidden bomb. Would Bella
ever know what it was that killed me, or would they leave her to won-
der, to think that I had chosen to vanish and was living somewhere?

Thar thought was too hard to handle. 1 could feel the tears run-
ning down my cheeks as | tried to control my voice. “That is nort true.
We will see each other sooner than you can imagine.” 1 wanted it so
badly, it must have come through in my voice, because when she
answered me, she sounded somewhat relieved.

“So what are you going to do about what they know now?”

“There’s not much I can do. I'll just have to face the music and
make as fast an exic from this place as I can.”

My dad came in as [ hung up. We had a brief exchange of words;
could see n his face thar he didn’t exactly know how to handle this.
On the one hand, there was the lie he couldn’t understand, and on the
other, there was the fact that | had made him look bad in front of his
wife.

It was clear ro both of us that the sooner I left, the better for all
concermned. He took me to the airport just as soon as I could get my
things together. He put a thousand dollars in my hand and, trying to
keep his voice from cracking, told me that no matrer what, he was my
father and he loved me. | told him | Joved him too and left him sitting
in his car as I entered the rerminal.

1 was hoping he'd come afrer me and try, in whatever way he
could, to drag out of me what the hell was going on, and say he could
help or get me out of it or something. But he didn’t; [ was a mystery to
him, a memory of a relationship that had gone sour many years ago.

(arren;

Sunony, Aest 20, 1986, Waskieron, D.C.

t was raining in Washington when [ landed. I was a lonely stranger in
an unfamiliar place, feeding on my own silence.

[ took a cab from the airport to the Haoliday Inn in Silver Spring.
Being registered in the hote! under my real name during an operation
made me feel naked. T was there to do strange things, and would have
felt much more comfortable had 1 gone under an alias from which |
could walk away if things got hairy.

My cover story in the hotel was that | was looking for a site on
which to build a restaurant. I represented a group of investors who
were into building specialty gourmer restaurants, getting them to run
and become profitable, and then selling them off ar a large profir. 1
said I would probably stay in the hotel for several days, if not weeks.
Not knowing what exactly was going to be my assignment, [ decided
to remain in my room except for meals, for which [ came down to the
dining room on the main floor.

I called Bella and gave her the number of the hotel; if someone
was listening, they would not suspect a thing. It was not unusual for
someone with my background and knowledge to be in Washington in
search of work in the field of security. After all, how many people
around could provide the level of protection I could for executives and
other high-profile personalities?

There was a relief in being alone, almost as strong as the feeling of
safety I'd had ar my dad’s house. [ didn't have to keep up appearances,

Li'()uid smoke as much as | wanted and drink myself to sleep, which I
id.
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Mowgay, Aese 21, 09:00

The phone rang. Ephraim was on the line. “So | see you arrived
early,” he said, not bothering with any niceties.

“Yes. When did you get here?”

*[ just came in from the airport. Did you have company?”©

“No, I'm fine. How abour you?"

“I'm fine to0. Why don’t we have breakfast? 'm starving.”

“Sure, give me ten minutes or so. I'll meer you in the dining
room.”

He hung up. I jumped out of bed. At last things were starting to
move. The sooner I did what had to be done, the sooner it would be
over and [ could get on with my life, whartever was lefr of it. | wasn™t
expecting to be out of the game just ver, bur | wanted a secure base
from which to operate, with my family by my side.

I made my wav directly to Ephraim’s table, which was across the
dining room in a corner, just by the door leading 1o the hotel bar.

He greeted me with a big smile. He was alone with a cup of coffee.
As I sat down, the waiter arrived with our breakfasr.

“] took the liberty of ordering for you. I didn’t want 1o wait; we've
got things ro do.”

1 stared at my plate with the bacon and eggs over easy and raised
my hand. “No problem. I see you ordered exactly what I wanted any-
way.” | found the place a bit dark for breakfast, but the aroma of
fresh coffee and country bacon brought on an appetite | didn't think 1
had.

“50, whar are we going to do?”

“Atter breakiast, we'll go to my room and ralk.”

| nodded and dug into my food.

We took a couple of large Styrofoam cups of coffee with us so that
we wouldn't have to call room service. His room was on the sixth
floor. In the corner, | saw a small carrying bag. “Where is your lug-
gage?"™ 1 asked, curious, since | knew Ephraim was a dresser, and there
was no way he could ger more than one day’s worth of clothing into
thar little bag.

“There.” He pointed at the bag. “I'm not going to stay long. I'm
here to instruct you, and then once you're on your way, I'm out of
here.”

“I'll have no backup?™

“You have me, and the training you got. What more do you
need?”

“How do I have you if you're back in Israel?"
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“I"ll ger to that. Once you understand what your first assignment
is vou'll—"

“Whoa, whoa,” | interrupted. “First assignment? Did you say first
assignment?

“Yes, what did vou think it was going to be: Bang. and it's over?”

“Don’t give me the lecture, okay? | need to know a timetable,” |
knew | could walk away anyume | wanted, bur Ephraim was betring
thar [ wouldn’t, that with the drive 1 had ro get this done [ couldn't,
and he was right. T was like a junkie promising himself this was the
Jast fix.

“Whar difference would that make? You have a job to do, it will
all be over when the job is done, and that will be whenever it will be.
You weren't promised a rose garden when you joined.”

“I know, and I'm not asking for one now. When [ joined the
Office, they put Bella through a grueling security check, and they gave
her a clearance just as high as mine. We were always told that the wife
was part of the team and that there were no secrets from her.” As |
spoke, Ephraim was nodding at me over his glasses. “Now vou say
that | can'r even tell her I'm still working for the Mossad.” I paused.
“Am [ still working for the Mossad?”

“No, you're not working for the Office, you're working for me.
And abour Bella: You're one hundred percent right, Bur the rules have
changed; this is a different ball game.” He leaned back and pushed his
glasses into place. “Does Bella know about Dina or Rachel or all the
others? Does my wife know everything 1 do? No, they don't. Do they
know the risks we take out in the field? Do you come home from a job
and rell Bella, *You know, I was almost killed last night in Austria,’ or
“There 15 a good chance they will get me on my next trip to Spain?’
No, you don’t. When you're called out on patrol in the military and
you're given an assignment from which vou might not come back, do
you call your wife and tell her abourt it? We make decisions every day
that affect their lives, and we do nor consult them. We say to our-
selves, 'If something happens to us, they will understand we had 1o do
it." That's the way it works. Now can we put this aside and get down
0 business?”

“I need a rimetable,™ 1 insisted.

“Three weeks and you're on vour way,” he finally snapped, clearly
not pleased ar having to tell me thar.

“On my way where?”

“What difference does that make? You will be with your wife and
children, I promise you that.”

1 felt a wave of optimism taking over, rejuvenating me. You never
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realize how bad things are in your mind unril a moment like this.

“Okay, I can live with that.” 1 now wanted to pur a lid on my
high. “So what is it we're getting into this ime?” 1 could feel myself
ETinning.

“You'll volunteer to work for a foreign country.”

“Wark?"”

“Intelligence, You will volunteer as an ex-Mossad officer. You'll
offer 1o work for them, tell them how we do things, structure person-
nel, and so on.”

“You mean sell our, become a traitor.” | found saying the word
hard.

“Yes, that's exactly what vou'll do.”

“Who for?" I raised my hand as if to say, Ler me guess. He didn™t
say a word. "Okay, who could it be? The NSC? No, they wouldn't
deal with me. Cl1A? [ don’t think so. Must be FBI; for sure it’s the FBL
1 could be valuable to them regarding the Al department.”

“No. You're going to have a chat with the KGB.” He gor up and
faced the large window. The glass was wer; it hadn’t stopped raining
for the last rwenty-four hours.

I was stunned. It hit me like a ton of bricks, “No, reallv?™ | said,
trying to keep my composure. | was barely able to talk.

Ephraim stayed by the window, ooly turning his head slightly. 1
could see his profile; he wasn't smiling. *1 told vou. The KGB, the
Soviets. What’s so hard to understand?”

“I don't get it, that’s what. Why would I want to do that? | mean,
what makes you think they would buy me?”

“If you do it right, they will, Think abour it. How could they turn
vou down: Fresh out of the Mossad, you're an asset. With all the Arab
partners they have, they will swallow you like gravy.”

“What if they want me to go to Moscow or something? They
might just work like we do.”

“So you go. Just remember you are doing it for the money, always
think about that or they'll suspect you. You will use your real name
and your real story to back yourself up.”

“What if they just pump me for information and then throw me
out? I mean, what will we have gained then? Think abour it, I have no
access to information anymore. Whart good will | be to them?"”

“Well, you tell them you are still working.”

“What are you saying? You want me to tell them abour you?”

“No, of course not. Tell them your story, bur instead of saying you
were canned, tell them you're on probation, just so they think vou still
have a way back. Then they'll try to recruit you.”
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“Ephraim, listen to me.” | wanted 1o do the job if it would cripple
the Mossad, an orgamzartion thart as it stood was a danger to the state
of Isracl as a democratic entity, But, on the other hand, 1 was not
going 1o walk blindly into anything anymore. 1t | was to be killed or
locked up forever, it would be because of something | agreed to do. *1
need to know what it is I'm doing.™ | knew he was listening, *You
must trust me, Ephraim. My life is in your hands, and you say yours is
in mine, so let me im on the secret.”

He thought about this. 1 got up and headed for the washroom. 1
had 1o get rid of the coffee that was filling my bladder. When I came
back, Ephraim was opening a new pack of cigarettes. We lir up.

“Okay,” he said finally, placing the smoldering match in the over-
tlowing ashtray, “Okay. We'll do it vour way.”

“Thank you.” [ was warching his expression as he spoke. It was
very possible he had anticipated that 1 would react this way and had a
story ready that would make me feel good. If that was the case, there
was little | could do about it, but at leasr he would have rto make up a
good story; that clevated me in my own eves from a robot to a human
being, although how vulnerable remained ro be seen.

“To be honest with you,™ he began—I was never happy when peo-
ple said that, but ! reserved judgment—*this job is not as hard as you
might think. The only obstacle is the FBI observation station overlook-
mg the Sovier embassy. They will photograph you and then send the
photo 1o reference. They will try to match vour picrure to their files,
and if there is no match they'll file 1t away electronically.” He
shrugged. “That’s no big deal. If it were an Arab embassy, they might
send the photos to us; [ mean the people we have there would do tha,
nothing official of course.”

“50 there won't be a need for a disguise or anything?”

“No, no, you can just go in. Don't forger, the Soviets are looking
too, so don't take your time casing the place; once you get there, just
goin.”

“Well, I'd probably do that anyway.”

“Good. Now to answer the question of why. | know from a friend
| have in the FBI that they've found information they gave us in the
hands of the Soviets. My friend was sure the Americans gave that
information only to us. We were the only possible source for the Sovi-
ers,”

“A mole in the Mossad?™ | couldn't believe what I was hearing; [
never believed that could be possible.

“Well, that’s what it looks like. And if we could flush him out, the
scandal would force the top brass of the Mossad to resign.”
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“Okay, but how will my volunteering to work for the KGB help
with this? All we'll be doing s giving them more information. You
don't expect them to rell me that they have a mole and who he 1s.”

“If you come to them with a good story, and play your part well,
they'll want to verify whether you're our of the Mossad or just on pro-
bation like you said.” Ephraim was starting to get excited; | hadn’
seen him like this before. He was turning red in the face. *You see, if
they think you're still in the Mossad, then you're a very valuable
asser.”

“But you said rhey have someone in the system.”

“So what’s wrong with having two? That way they can spread the
risk. We don’t know how many they have. We're only assuming they
have one. And, 1o be honest with you, | doubt very much that who
they have is a case officer; I would think he is some clerk or something
like that.” He paused and stubbed his cigarette into the ashtray. “A
live case officer; If they can verify that, it will be the catch of the vear
for them.”

“How will they verify?”

“They'll go ask their mole.” He was pleased with himself. 1 could
almost hear him purring like a big cat. It suddenly all came together.

*So I'm the bair?”

He nodded. “Does that bother vou? | thought you wanted ro
know.”

“What did you expect me to say? That I'm thrilled "

“So what will it be?”

“Pll do it. What else is there to do?™ | leaned over in his direction
and said in a low voice, “Just one thing. If vou're not telling me the
truth, Ephraim, and you're playing some game with me, you better
think about it some more and maybe even consider raking me our
Because if you're not one-hundred-percent above-board with me, |
swear to you | will kill you, if 1 have to dig my way back ro Israel with
my bare hands.”

There was a soft smile on his face, as if a window had momentar-
ily opened onto the man behind the facade. 1 had a feeling that this
was the side of him his family and friends knew. “l would never do
anything to hurt you, | know what I'm asking for is hard, and [ can
only imagine what you're going through. But this is not a gane, and
I'm not pulling anything. This is the real thing, and we're losing
ground by the minute. [ don’t want to start waving the banner, but
there is a far bigger thing at stake here than just you and me. If we
lose, everything is lost, and if we win, we might not get to eat the
fruirs of victory; you know that.”
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“I figured as much.” | wasn't sure how to feel. On the one hand,
he had gone a long way toward winning me over with that ourburst.
On the other, | was feartul of being a patsy. | knew | could put on just
as good an act as he could, at a moment’s notice. Sull, 1 chose to buy
in. | was smiling. I could feel the fog clearing out of my head. Now |
knew what the game was and therefore | could play it. A clear direc-
nve was always easier to execute than some vague instruction that you
had to work out yourself.



he game plan was simple. | would go to the Sovier embassy and

make contact with the resident KGB, We knew, in general, what

takes place when someone comes to volunteer in an embassy. After
all, it’s a daily occurrence in just about every Israeli embassy in the
world. We had to assume thar it wasn much different with the Sovi-
£ts.

“I'll wing it,” 1 said. “What the hell can happen? The worst-case
scenario is that they'll keep me there and try and ship me to Russia in
a box or something."”

We both laughed; this method had been used by the Mossad to
smuggle people back to Israel several times.

“When do you want me to go in?"

“l have to ger back to Israel before you make your move. | do
have someone in archives who will report to me before he answers any
request for files or anything, bur still 1'd feel better if 1 was there.”

“Why? If you're covered, wouldn’t it be better if you stayed here
in case something went wrong?”

“What if the inquiry comes in from an unexpected direction?
Whar if our mole 1s a case officer after all? Besides, the reason for my
visit here is almost over.,” He smiled at me. “I'm here to ensure we get
the bid for the Mazlat with the American navy. I'm here ro make sure
thar the right man gets the money and the other one is scared enough
to do whar he has r0,” This was a reference o an operation run by the
Mossad from Israel, using a crooked Israeli air force officer who was
connected to someone in the office of the American naval secretary.

Ephraim lit another cigarette; the room was hazy with smoke.

I nodded. 1 knew about the Mazlat deal, and I knew we were get-
ting some help from the inside. I would have preferred to have
Ephraim stay. But I could manage without him.
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“So when will you be leaving?™

“I'll leave right after | buy you a meal.”

“Where are we going?”

Ephraim picked up the receiver. Turning to me, he asked, “What
would you like?”

“Not bloody room service,” | whined.

“That’s all [ have rime for.”

“Fine,” 1 grumbled. “Ger me a hamburger. Or, no, I'll have a club
sandwich.”

We were halfway through the meal when he looked at his warch.
“1 have to run. | have a dinner appointment with a very greedy young
man.”

“T'll make my move the day after tomorrow,” 1 said. “That should
give vou ample time to get everything in order and stand ready.”

“Right. Now, you watch yourself. This is not some exercise in the
academy, you know.” | could sense a genuine concern in the man’s
voice.

“Don’t worry, just make sure things are tight on your end. One
more thing, what do I do for money? I'm running our very fase,”

“We’ll see about that,” He handed me an envelope. “Here’s some
money to tide you over, for the time being. We’ll figure something our
later. Let’s just get this one under our belt.”

I nodded and headed for the door, bringing my half-eaten club
sandwich with me. | stood there for a moment, wondering if there was
something I had forgotten. I couldn't think of anything. | opened the
door and walked out. I was alope again.

There was very little for me to do in Washingron. | didn't know
anyone. This was the worst kind of operation imaginable. My cover
was my real identity; | had no elaborate expense account. All Ephraim
had handed me in the envelope was five hundred dollars, barely
enough to keep me in the hotel. | was starting to feel down again; the
whole thing was more of a partach! than anything else.

[ was trying 1o act like a combatant in enemy territory, totally dis-
connected from his country and family. Bur | was worse off than any
combatant. A combatant’s job is clear and very well defined; he knows
for whom he is working and against whom he 1s fighting. Besides, he
has no financial problems, and his family matters are, as far as he
knows, in good hands. The fact that the people who are supposed to

1. Partach: Slang for screwup.
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take care of his family back in Isracl will be busy trving to ger his wife
into bed if she looks only slightly better than Godzilla 1s something
that can't bother him because he's not aware of it, and probably never
will be.

To kill time, 1 walked the streets of the city, somehow always end-
ing up n a large square where yuppies and homeless people sat
together on wooden benches, the yuppies trying to ger some fresh air
as they munched their sandwiches, the homeless staring at them, hop-
ing they would not finish so that a meal could be picked out of the
garbage.

I had an urge to pass by the Soviet embassy, just to see where it
was and how | should approach it. But T knew that it would be expos-
ing myself 1o whoever was watching the place. It was better thar |
come there on foot ar the last minute and just walk straighr in.

I took the subway to Silver Spring, heading back to the hotel, only
1o find that I was far too restless ro sit in the room and watch televi-
sion. Tomorrow | was 1o make my move; [ wanted 1t te be that time
already,

In the evening, the downrtown city took on a different look. The
men were still wrapped in suirs and ties, although most collars were
worn slightly open. But the women had changed, going through a
total metamorphosis, unless, as was very possible, it was a whole dif-
ferent breed of woman out there. They were long and sexy and moved
more like cats than like any other animal, and the so-called warering
holes {better known as meat markets] were full.

I made stops at some of them and sat for a while in conversation.
Bur | was too edgy to feel comfortable, and by eleven I realized it was
time ro head back.

Weonesaay, el 23, 1966

I got up early, and by the time | was dressed and into my third
cigarette, | was starting to get over my habimal hangover.

The sky was cloudy and there was a constant drizzle; the weather
couldn’t have been better if I'd ordered it myself. | was wearing casual
pants and a simple shirt with a yellow swearer, | was also wearing a
gray wind jacket with a fold-in hood. 1 woold wear the hood when
entering the embassy; that way, no surveillance could actually see who
| was or photograph my face.

By eleven, | was in front of the embassy. The weather had starred
to cleag, bur there was snll reason enough for the hood. The iron gate
was open, and the surveillance cameras didn’t move in my direction. 1
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walked quickly up the marble stairs and entered the mam door.

The place was virtually empty; there was no one but me and an
unimpressive blond woman behind the counter. She looked ar me,
smiling, 1 walked straight up to her.

“Can | help you, sir?” she said with a heavy Russian accent. |
knew that the Soviets preferred to employ Soviet citizens in their
embassies whenever possible.

| was fairly sure thar the waiting area was bugged by the Ameri-
cans since the access to it was so ecasy. “I would like to get some
brochures on the Soviet Union,” | said.

“What sort of brochures?”

“Whatever vou have.”

Her smile faded somewhat. “Just one moment, please.” She turned
and disappeared behind a small wall. I saw a notepad on the counter
and a pencil on a string. I toak the pencil and seribbled the words *1
want to talk to security” on the notepad. When she came back, she
handed me a thin bookler that looked as though it came straight trom
a printing house in the fifties. If this was a travel brochure, it wasn’t
very appetizing. | turned the small pad to face her. “Thank you, is this
all vou have?™ 1 said.

Her smile was not there when she raised her eyes and srared back
at me, “Why don’t you have a sear, sir. | will see if there is anything
else I might have.”

“Thank you very much.” I turned and headed for the wooden
bench under a poster of Lenin's romb at might. The woman disap-
peared behind the smail wall again, When she came back, several min-
utes later, she sat down in her chair, ignoning me. I couldn’t see whart
she was doing behind the counter, burt it took all her concentration.

| had to wair patiently; at least she hadn't asked me to leave. | was
hoping that rthey hadn't misinterpreted the note as a threat to their
security and called the police, Well, if they did 1 had a story ready for
them, albeit one I'd prefer not to use.

After about fifteen minutes, a well-dressed, solid-Jooking man
came in from a door behind the receptionist. He leaned and spoke to
the woman and then left. She stood up and, smiling again, signaled me
10 COME Over.

I moved fairly fast and leaned on the counter. * Yes?”

“We need your passport for identification if you want more infor-
mation.”

Without hesitation, | pulled our my Isracli passport and handed it
over. “Here."

“Thank you.” She got up. “Please have a seat.” She nodded in the
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direction of the bench | had just lefr. | was rappmng the side of the
bench this time, nor as calm as before. The woman reappeared shortly,
and several minutes later, the man came out and beckoned me over.
When | reached the counter, he raised the flap and allowed me to
enter. Then he signaled me to follow him. Not a word was said,

We walked mnto a narrow hall and then c¢limbed a flight of stairs.
The carpet was worn, and the banister was slighdy loose. Our steps
echoed loudly on the squeaky floorboards—nor ar all whar you would
expect in an embassy of a world power,

[ was ushered it a small bright room with a large mirror on one
wall. 1 realized | wasn't nervous; in fact, I was very calm and quite
cheerful. So far, [ was doing well,

At last, my host smiled at me and pointed 10 a wooden chair on
the other side of a plain wood table facing the mirror. “Would you
please sit down, Mr. Ostrovsky.”

“Thank you.”

“So what brings vou here todav? Is there some threat to our secu-
rity 2™

[t was turning out to be almost identical to the routine we would
follow in our embassy. “No sir, no threar.”

“So, what then?”

“l want to work for you people.”

The man slowly sat down and leaned back in his chair. His smile
was warm and friendly.

“And who exactly do you mean by ‘you people’?”

“KGB. I want to work for the KGB.”

“In whart capacity?” The man was doing extremely well in keeping
a straight face. He must have been the first buffer, as they probably
got their fair share of intelligence nuts per day.

“Well, you will have to help me there. [ can only tell you where
I'm from. Where I'm going, we'll have to plan rogether.”

“I see that you're an Israeli, Mr. Ostrovsky.”

“I'm a member of the Mossad.” | paused. “Have you heard of the
Mossad?”

His smile turmed into a grin. “l bave indeed. How do 1 know
you're not just making this up? The waorld is full of, shall we say,
funny people.” The man’s English was excellent, but his accent was
heavy. | had to concentrate to get every word, since he was ralking
fast.

This was the part that Ephraim and | had worked on, and [ was
ready. “Well, there is not much in the way of documentarion thar |
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could show you, as you can well imagine. But [ could probably prove
it to you by going mnto some details regarding methods of operation—
without of course revealing too much thar | might later want to be
paid for.” | smiled at him.

“l understand.”

*Are you at a level where you can make anv decisions, or should |
ralk directly at the mirror?” | said, a slight irony in my voice. The man
smiled. There was an unspoken understanding berween us, as if we
belonged to a strange cult that had bizarre rituals. And although we
might have been on different sides of the barricade, we were still
somehow relared,

“No, it’s not up to me. But | will get the informanon from you,
and then we will see.”

We talked for almost a full hour. He made little notes on a yellow
paper block. *1 will be back in a short while,” he said as he got up.
“Conld | get vou something to drink or ear, maybe?”

“Coffee, just some coffee, if that is not too much trouble.”

“Not ar all.” He nodded and walked toward the door.

“One more thing.”

“What?” He stopped and turned back.

“Please don’t mention my name on your communication to the
Motherland,”

“I don't understand.”

“The Mossad broke vour embassy code a long ume ago and is
updating iself every time vou make a change. So if vou don’t mind, I
would very much appreciate it if vou didn’t use my name in your
broadcasts.”

“What you're saying is impossible.” He raised his chin in defiance.

“Ben-Gurion, the first prime minister of Isracl, once said, “The
most difficule we'll do ar once, the impossible might take a lintle
longer."”

“I'll see what [ can do.” He scemed very unhappy when he left the
room.

Several minutes later, the receptionist walked in with a hot cup of
coffee on a silver tray with a creamer and a sugar bowl. [ wasn't sure
at first if 1 should drink the coffee, since it could be laced, but then |
realized that it they wanted to knock me our, there was very lirtle |
could do about it in this place. All | had to worry about was the possi-
bility that the man I was talking to (or the one behind the mirror) was
working for the Mossad, or CIA, or the FBI, or all of the above. And
that he wouldn't decide to defect minutes after [ left the building. But
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that was the risk one had ro take in this business. 1 gnimaced to myself
as | wondered whether | was stll in the business or on the ourside
being used.

| stirred some drops of cream into the coftee and raised the cup in
a gesture toward the mirror. 1 had no doubr thar I made someone
behind it either smile or feel uncomforrable.

When my friend came back, he had a series of questions.

“Is the coffec okay?" he asked, playing the gracious host.

“Surprisingly so.”

*Why surprising?”

“I would expect the tea to be good, but the coffee | find a very
nice surpnse,”

“Very wel) then,” He sat down. “This shouldn’t take too long.”

[ it a cigarette and offered him one,

“Thank you." He took the cigarerre. “Americans never offer a
cigarerte,”

“That's because they all have plenty if they want them.”

He nodded, smiling, *Well, what my friends would like 10 know
is, are vou stll in the employment of the Mossad or are you now on
your ownz"

“I'm on my own in the employment of the Mossad, Whar do you
mean, ‘friends’? Is this in front of some bloody committee or some-
thing?” | was playving a part | knew well from contact with Mossad
agents. No one wants his name or the fact that he is involved in a situ-
ation like this made public, and a group of several people is regarded
as public.

“No, no. It's as vou say, a figure of speech, Just my boss and me.”
He looked ar the mirror and said to me, “He says cheers to you too.”

“Okay, so I'm on probanon. The bloody assholes think they are
God. | made one small mistake and they shafted me. Let me tell you,
I'm going to show these bastards where the fish pisses from.”

“How long is your probation?™

*Six months. That way, | lose my rotation turn this yeas, so I'll have
to sit n headquarters for another three vears before I'm rotated abroad.”

“S0 what are you doing in America?”

“Visiting my father and trying ro ger recruited by a toreign agency.”

This seemed 1o amuse him. “What do you expect 10 make doing
this?™

“What are you people willing to pay?™

“That will depend on what you bring in. If, of course, we decide
to make a deal.”

“I'll be very frank with you. Your reputation is not very good as a
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source of income, but it is said that you do take care of your own. |
mean, I wouldn't want to work tor somebody who would have noth-
ing to trade if things went wrong."

“That is a very valid point.” He nodded at me and at the mirror. It
seemed thar | was giving all the right answers. The conversation went
on for almost a whole hour, during which time [ learned the real rea-
son that the Americans would nor offer the man cigarettes. He almost
finished mine without once offering me any of his, which were in his
shirt pocket and in plain view. He was one of the types we in the army
used ro call the Yours Filter smokers.

“Okay, my friend,” he said, “one last thing. We know that your
company puts everyone in its staff through a lie detector test every six
months or so.”

I nodded in approval. The man knew his stuff. Ephraim hadn't
been sure if this would come up. “Don’t worry about that. | though:
about it before 1 set foot in this building.”

“Okay then, what’s your solution?”

“What they ask is fairly routine. You have to be sure not to lie, so
when they ask me if [ have made contact with an enemy agent, 1 will
say yes.”

“And?™ He frowned.

“After the questioning, they will wanr me to explain. | will rell
them about the brochures. It’s a thing in the Mossad o bring
brochures. You bring as many and from as many places as you can.
They end up in the library and help officers to build up their cover sto-
ries. I had placed your country’s name on my list of promised
brochures several weeks ago.”

The man was clearly amused by the solurion. I, on the other hand,
was very happy he bought it because | had no idea if the trick would
have worked. I knew, though, rhat they wouldnt much care if it
didn't; as long as [ was satisfied and willing to take the risk, it was no
skin off their backs.

“We will think this over and contact you at your hotel room. How
long will you stay there?™

“Not long, | hope. Once I ger your answer, I'm our of there. If you
don’t call me in three days, I'll know there is no deal,”

“Here.” He scribbled a number on a small piece of paper and
hauded it to me. “Before you leave, call me, We don’t want to lose you
just because of a technical problem in communication,”

“Thanks.” | took the paper and followed him down the steep
staircase. Before letting me out of the building, he handed me a pile of
brochures. *Don’t forget what you came for,”
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“Thanks again.” | took the brochures and headed out into the
rain, my hood pulled tightly over my head and my face to the ground.
I was happy to be out. The fresh air was a blessing. After turning the
comer, | started a testing course. | wanted to see whether 1 was being
followed. You can never be too careful.

I was very hungry. After realizing rhat no one was tailing me, |
stopped at the Dupont Circle. | had my traditional hot dog and
headed back ro the hotel. The subway station in Silver Spring was
almost deserted. | stopped at the pay phones on the station wall, tak-
ing the last one in the row and facing the empty hall. I dialed the oper-
ator, gave her the number, and asked for a collect call. Ephraim was
on the line almost instantly.

“Well, what do you have 1o say?”

“I visited my uncle from the Old Country.” | knew there was no
need for speaking in code since my line was picked at random and
therefore clean, even if 1 was being followed, and his was a secure
line—he had to make sure of thar, Still, it was a hard habit 1o kick.

“How did it go?”

“If there is no way for them to check at your end, | have no doubt
I’'m their next Philby."?

“It went thar well?”

“Whar did you expect?”

“So now we have to sit and see what happens nexr. | have a good
feeling about this.”

“I'll ger back to the hotel. | dont want them to call and not find
me.”

“Well, you shouldn't sit there all the time. If vou played it the way
we decided, they’ll be expecting a playful person, not one who will
pass up a good nme in the city for his work. Go our and enjoy your-
self. After all, you have a reputation to keep up. We have a series of
jobs for you after this one.”

“With the few dollars [ have, it's not easy 1o play the playboy.”

“That's okay; you’ll be getting money soon. Just use what you
have ro build your image.”

“When will I see you?”

“Once this little episode is finished, I'll come over.”

“What will you do if you find what we’re looking for?™

“That's a problem in itself. | can't just waltz in and accuse some-
one. I'll have to manipulate someone | know in the Shaback and put

2. Philby: Kim Philby, a Soviet mole in British intelligence.
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them on the trail wathout letting out much. But don't you worry abour
that. If he's there, I'll nail him, and we'll chalk one up for you.”

“Yeah,” | replied. “A lot of good that will do me, that chalk
mark.”

“It will mean a hell of a lot when you come in from the cold.”

There was silence on the line. 1 could feel myself choking up. 1 had
figured that I would do whatever 1 had to do, and then | would fade
into oblivion, living with Bella and the kids somewhere in Canada,
doing something or other. Coming in from the cold had not been in
the cards for me, not until he said it over the phone as if it were a
given, something he'd always thought would happen. “You never said
anything abour coming back.”

“Whar did vou think?™

*I don't know. To be honest with vou, I didn’t think abour ie.”

“Do your job, my boy, and we'll talk about it later. This call is get-
ting too long for my system. I’ll call you if anything happens. You call
me if there’s anything new too0.”

The line went dead. I stood for several minutes, receiver in hand,
trying to comprehend whar [ had just heard. There was a way back
into the life; suddenly things were not as black as [ had believed they
were.

I was in a very good mood when | left the station, | decided 1o
have a good rime that mght. It was part of the job, as Ephraim had
said.
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y spirits were high when 1 got back to the hotel, It amazed me how

[ could be on an emortional high while walking so close to the

edge. It was probably the old sense of power, which [ hadn’t felt
for some time. But the doubrs I still had were giving me a pain in my
gut. 1 was a pessimist by nature, though I led my life taking risks, I
was curious to know what was happening in the Soviet embassy.

I had little doubr they'd sent a communication to Moscow, passing
on all the informarion collected in our meeting and asking for instruc-
tions.

After spending some time in the hotel bar, | decided to stay in
that evening and not head out to the city, It was the first time I'd
stayed at the hotel after the happy hour, and I was surprised at how
the place filled up. There was more to do in this little place than I
could have tound in the city. T was sitting at a table meant for five,
and 1t didn’t take long for some newcomers to join me. I made a new
group of friends: normal regular people, the kind you find in any
American city; honest, fair, and very vulnerable. One was a painting
contractor and another a slightly odd guy who had a part-tme job
with the city's gardening department; he was newly divorced and
extremely high-strung.

The contractor, a big burly guy, was friendly and very protective of
his odd friend. He spent most of his ume telling anyone who'd listen
how much money he had made that day—not working too hard. In
fact, when he described what he’d done, it seemed to me he'd earned
every penny he made. After he was finished telling abour that, he went
on to talk about what was planned for romorrow. Somehow the sim-
plicity and basic integrity of these people was like a breath of fresh air.
I envied their uncomplicated lives, the fact that they could plan for
tomorrow with some certainty. Being in their presence rubbed some of
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thar off on me. | couldn't help wondering whart they would have said
had they known who [ really was and what I was up to.

For the next four days, there was nothing. 1 was starting to get
restless and called Ephraim. He wasnt there. and the answering
machine didn’t take my call. By the fifth dav. the line was discon-
nected. This could mean nothing but trouble. Were they on to
Ephraim at headquarters’?

Reacting to such a situanion is the hardest thing to do, You are in
what you might regard as a relatively safe sitvarion in a fairly comfort-
able place. Suddenly, without knowing whether there is a real danger
or just some mistake or mechanical problem, you must ger up and
{eave it all behind. The odds are even that it is a mistake. The price for
rot reacting to a real problem, however, 1s high.

That morming, | had paid my hotel lll and realized that | had
about fifty dollars left. T was starting to get very worried. It was one
thing to be disconnected, bur it was far worse to be torally broke while
it happened.

At that point, | had to consider the possibility that the gamble
hadn't paid off. Even though there was nothing new when | had spo-
ken to Bella, and that was somewhar reassuring, I had no doubr that if
the Mossad learned about my trip to the Sovier embassy. they would
not want to tip me oft. 1 could see it in my mind’s eve: Ephraim, now
trving to get his ass out of the fire, getting on the bandwagon and sug-
gesting ways to bring me in, If there was anyone I should worry about,
it was he.

At this point, if the Mossad was aware of my contact with the
KGB, they'd want above all to have a ralk with me and measure the
amount of damage mv escapade had caused. Thar’s a normal proce-
dure called damage control. On the other hand, if it were left up to an
exposed Ephraim, he'd want to have me eliminated. That was nartural
and very understandable; | knew | would have done the same. [ had to
disappear and stay in contact at the same time. [ wanted to sce what
might happen in the hotel, but not be around if anvthing did.

There was a small plaza in front of the office building across the
street from the hotel. Remembering that the Mossad had access to the
reservation setup of just about every hotel chain in the world, 1 had no
doubt that my exact locarion could be found in a matter of hours with
nothing more than a few phone calls. | decided to spend my days in
the hotel and the nights on a bench on the edge of the small plaza
overlooking the hotel. If they were going to come for me, it would be
at night, and if that happened, I wanted to see it not from the confines
of my room but from a safe disrance.
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Because of the delay in commumications, 1 had to consider the
option that when Ephraim renewed the conracr, he might be attempe-
ing to trap me. | could feel thar I was becoming paranoid, bur for
good reason. | tried Ephraim’s phone again. The line was still discon-
nected. If things didn't clear up by tomorrow, 1 had two choices: |
could just fall our of sight for a while and see what happened, or |
could call my friend Rolly, the Mossad liaison to the CIA stationed at
the Isracli embassy here in Washington. | would meet with tum and
bring everything out into the open. | had it all planned out in my head,
I'd bring along a newspaper reporter so that | wouldn’t just vanish,
and my problem would be solved somewhere outside Tel Aviv.

But there was time for that later. Now | had ro make sure | was out
of the hotel once it got dark. During the day, I'd gone to a Salvation
Army store and hought myself a long ragged overcoat. 1 brought it
back o the hotel wrapped in a regular shopping bag. | also placed a
supermarket cart at the end of the outdoor parking lor by the horel's
back door. 1 didn’t shave thar day and had a mickey of Curtty Sark rum
in the shopping bag along with the overcoat. Once 1t got dark, | took
the elevaror to the underground parking lot, and there [ took the coat
out of the bag. By the ume | came out of the back door of the hotel and
threw a pile of laundry into the shopping cart, | was indistinguishable
from any of the other homeless people who invisibly filled the streets.

[ positioned myself on the hard bench and got ready for the night,
warming myself with an occasional sip of rum. It was cold and lonely.
More than anything, the night out on the street is long. 1 wanted 10
make sure that [ didn’r fall asleep so that | could see if there was any
activity around the hotel, the kind of activity someone with a Mossad
hit team after him might expect.

Nothing happened—nothing that was of any interest to me, that
is. Drugs were bought and sold on the streer, a car was stolen not
twenty feet from where I was located, and another homeless person
wanted to get into a fight with me over what he claimed was his
bench.

By four-thirty in the morning, | realized rthey were nor coming, or
if they had come, | hadn't seen them. There was always the chance
that they were waiting for me in my room, so I wasn’t going to go
back until I could ger someane to come up to the room with me There
were at least another four hours to go before 1 could do that. The
bench was gerring much too cold. I walked the few blocks over to the
subway station, where [ spent the rest of the night on the floor, leaning
against the large ricket dispenser. ['d left the shopping cart outside the
hotel and was sure I wouldn’t have it in the morning when I came out.
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At sevensthirty, | woke up, realizing that 1 had been asleep for some
time with commuters rushing all about, ignoring me as if 1 weren't
there. It was as though | had clocked myself our of existence. This was
something | would nor soon forget; that sort of device could come m
extremely handy in the line of work | was involved in.

Thunsoav, May 1, 1986

I slowly staggered back to the hotel. The carr was untouched. 1 left
it by the back door and went into the underground parking, where 1
got back into being myself. | entered the lobby. Using the house
phone, 1 called for someone to please come and fix the tap in my room
because there was no water, | warched as the service man walked our
of his tool room. I joined him in the elevator, 1 waited at the end of the
hall while he went to my room and knocked on the door. When he got
no response, he opened the door with a pass key and entered. | ran o
the door and went in after him,

“Did vou call with a problem, sir?™ he asked, looking somewhar
bewildered.

“No water,” [ said, pomnting to the ¢losed washroom. 1 scanned
the room; it was empty. The service man checked the taps and
informed me that all was well. [ apologized, and he left. [ needed to
use the washroom and badly wanted a shower. Afterward, 1 called
room service. At that point, I could have just about eaten a horse.

There were no messages for me and no sign that anyone had been
in the room. I'll call the embuassy ar eleven, | decided; I'll trv Ephraim
one more time, then it's over. The big breakfast I'd ordered could very
well be my last. The waiter was at my door. 1 opened it and wrned
back into the room. Before he could close the door, I heard him talk-
ing to someone behind me. “Excuse me, sir, you can't just—"

I turned on the spot, moving slightly out of the way, ready to duck
around the comner, | was expecring to see a gun pointing in my direc-
non; instead, I caughe the big grin on Ephraim’s face. “It's okay, it's
okay,” he was saying to the surprised waiter. “The man is expecting
me, right?" He turned 1o face me.

“Sure, 1t’s okay, Would you care 10 join me for breakfast>”

“No thanks, I'll just have a coffee.”

The waiter purt the tray on the table and handed me the check, !
signied the paper and ushered him out. | turned on Ephraim. “Do vou
have any idea how close you came to blowing the whole thing? Can
you even imagine what would have happened if I'd decided that yes-
terday was enough?” ‘
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“Things were out of my hands. | couldn’t get in touch with you.”
“What abour the bloody phone? Who disconnecred the phone?”
“What are you talking about? The phone is fine.”

I handed him the receiver. “Show me.”

“Not from this phone. We'll go out later, and I'll call from a pay
phone.”

“You call now.” I wasn’t backing off. My tone was harsh. | wasn't
ready ro take any more bullshir.

He grabbed the receiver and dialed direct, using his calling card
number. After listening for several scconds, he seemed flustered.
“You're right! What the hell is going on?” He dialed another number
and waited. “Whar the hell is the matter with number twelve?” he
snapped at someone on rhe other end. He listened for several seconds,
then said, “Do you know that could have cost us a life? If something
happens to my man because of you, then you'd better not be there
when | come back.”

1 could hear the incoming voice but couldn’t really make our what
the man was saying; all I could get was rhe panic in his voice. “No,”
Ephraim went on, “I don’t want the line restored, you get me a new one
and T want it now, and it better be working if 1 call it in the next hour.”

He listened, then grabbed the pen from the night table and serib-
bled a number on the hotel pad. While he was still talking, he handed
me the pad. When he hung up, 1 was already seated, burtering the
toast and taking the cover off the order of eggs and triple bacon.

The only comfort I could draw from what had happened was the
fact that, had this been a Mossad operation and not one run by a
rogue element within the Mossad, it never would have happened: It’s
nor like the Mossad to screw up on the hardware and technical side. |
could rrust him now, but it was funny thart it was trust by default.

He poured coffee into the glass | had brought from the bathroom.

“Did the Russian call you back?" he asked.

“No,” | snapped at him. “And don’t change the subject.” I was
still angry about the phone screwup.

“I'm sorry,” he said, trying to catch my eye. | was staring into my
plate, dipping the toast into the soft egg yolk. “Someone screwed up.
These things happen.™

I looked at him. “You should have made sure they didn't. If you
were only a few hours later getting here, the whole rhing would have
been over.”

“What were you going to do?”

“That’s none of your business, | was going to take care of myself.
What did you expect?”
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“We're on the same side.” He had a slightly embarrassed look.
“What did you plan to do?"

“What brings you here?” | asked, ignoring his question.

*I just gor saddled with the rail end of an operation,”™ he said.

| wasn't going to say anything until he was finished.

*It's the old Trojan dick trick.™ He lit a cigaretre.

“What's that?" I couldn't help smiling; I'd never heard it called
that before.

“1 knew that would get your attention,” he said, grinning. “Shi-
mon activated Operation Trojan in February of this year.”

I nodded. I'd sull been in the Mossad when that order was given,
and because of my naval background and acquaintance with most of
the commanders in the navy, | participated in the planning for the
operation as liaison with the navy.

A Trojan was a specal communication device that could be
planted by naval commandos deep inside enemy territory. The device
would act as a relay station for misleading transmissions made by the
disinformation unit in the Mossad, called LAP and intended to be
received by American and British listening stations. Originating from
an IDF navy ship out at sea, the prerecorded digital rransmissions
could be picked up only by the Trojan. The device would then
rebroadcast the transmission on another frequency, one used for offi-
cial business in the enemy country, at which point the transmission
would finally be picked up by American ears in Britain.

The listeners would have no doubt they had intercepted a genuine
communication, hence the name Trojan. reminiscent of the mythical
Trojan horse. Further, the content of the messages, once deciphered,
would confirm informarion from other intelligence sources, namely
the Mossad. The only carch was that the Trojan itself would have to
be located as close as possible to the normal origin of such transmis-
sions, because of the sophisticated methods of triangulation the Amer-
icany and others would use to verify the source.

In the particular operation Ephraim was referring to, two elite
units in the military had been made responsible for the delivery of the
Trojan device to the proper location, One was the Matkal? reconnais-
sance unit and the other was Flotilla 13, the naval commandos. The

1. LAP: LohAma Psicologit. Psychological warfare, or. as it's known in the West,
disinformation,

2. Matkal: Top military reconmaissance umit of the Israell army,
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commandos were charged with the rask of planting the Trojan device
in Tripoli, Libya.

On the night of February 17-18, two lIsraeli missile boats, the
SAAR 4—class Moledet, armed with Harpoon and Gabriel surface-to-
surface missiles, among other weaponry, and the Geula, a Hohit-class
missile boat with a helicopter pad and regular SAAR 4—class arma-
ment, conducted whar seemed like a routine patrol of the Mediter-
ranean, heading for the Sicilian channel and passing just ourside the
territorial waters of Libya. Just north of Tripoli, the warships, which
were visible to radar both in Tnpoli and on the lralian island of
Lampedusa, slowed down to about four knots—just long enough to
allow a team of twelve naval commandos i four wet submarines nick-
named “pigs” and two low-profiled speedboars called “birds™ to dis-
embark. The pigs could carry rwo commandos each and all their fight-
ing gear. The birds, equipped with an MG 7.62-caliber machine gun
mounted over the bow and an array of antitank shoulder-carried mis-
siles, could facilitate six commandos each, while towing the empty
pigs. The birds brought the pigs as close to the shore as possible, thus
cunting down the distance the pigs would have to travel on their own.
(The pigs were submersible and silent but relatively slow.)

Two miles off the Libyan coast, the lights of Tripoli could be seen
glistening in the southeast, Eight commandos slipped quietly into the
pigs and headed for shore. The birds stayed behind at the rendezvous
point, ready to rake action should the situation arise, Once they
reached the beach, the commandos left their cigarlike transporters
submerged in the shallow warer and headed inland, carrving a dark
green Trojan cylinder six feet long and seven inches in diameter. It
took rwo men to carry it.

A gray van was parked on the side of the road abour one hundred
feet from the water, on the coastal highway leading from Sabratah to
Tripoli and on to Benghazi. There was hardly any traffic at thar time
of night. The driver of the van seemed to be repairing a flar tire. He
stopped working as the team approached and opened the back doors
of the van. He was a Mossad combatant. Withour a word said, four of
the men entered the van and headed for the city. The other four
returned to the water, where they took a defensive position by the sub-
merged pigs. Their job was to hold this position 10 ensure an escape
route for the team now headed for the city,

At the same time, a squadron of Israeli fighters was refueling
south of Crete, ready to assist. They were capable of keeping any
ground forces away from the commandos, allowing them a not-so-
clean getaway. At this point, the small commando unit was divided
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into three details—its most vulnerable state. Were any of the details to
run into enemy forces, they were instructed to act with extreme preju-
dice before the enemy turned hostile.

The van parked at the back of an apartment building on Al
Jamhuriyh Street in Tripoli, less than three blocks away from the Bab
al Azizia barracks that were known to house Qadhafi’s headquarters
and residence, By then, the men in the van had changed into civilian
clothing. Two stayed with the van as lookouts and the other wo
helped the Mossad combatant take the cylinder to the top floor of the
five-story building. The cylinder was wrapped in a carpet.

In the apartment, the top section of the cylinder was opened and a
small dishlike antenna was unfolded and placed in front of the win-
dow facing north, The unit was activated, and the Trojan horse was in
place.

The Mossad combatant had rented the apartment for six months
and had paid the rent in advance. There was no reason for anyone
except the combatant to enter the apartment. However, if someone
should decide 1o do so, the Trojan would self-destruct, taking with it
most of the upper part of the building. The three men headed back to
the van and to their rendezvous with their friends on the beach.

After dropping the commandos at the beach, the combatant
headed back for the city, where he would monitor the Trojan umit for
the next few weeks. The commandos wasted no time and headed out
to sea. They didn't want to be caught in Libyan waters at daybreak.
They reached the birds and headed at full speed to a prearranged
pickup coordinate, where they mer with the missile boats that had
broughr them in,

By the end of March, the Americans were already intercepting
messages broadcast by the Trojan, which was only activated during
heavy communication traffic hours. Using the Trojan, the Mossad
tried to make it appear that a long series of terronist orders were being
transmitted to various Libyan embassies around the world (or, as they
were called by the Libyans, Peoples’ Bureans). As the Mossad had
hoped, the transmissions were deciphered by the Americans and con-
strued as ample proof that the Libyans were active sponsors of terror-
ism. What's more, the Americans pointed out, Mossad reports con-
firmed ir,

The French and the Spanish, though, were not buying into the new
stream of information. To them, it seemed suspicious that suddenly,
out vf the blue, the Libyans, who'd been extremely careful in the past,
would start advertising their future actions. They also found ir suspi-
cious that in several instances Mossad reports were worded similarly
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to coded Libyan communications. They argued further that, had there
truly been after-the-fact Libyan communications regarding the artack,
then the terrorist attack on the La Belle discotheque? in West Berlin on
April 5 could have been prevented, since surely there would have been
communications before, enabling intelligence agencies listening in to
prevent it. Since the attack wasn't prevented, they reasoned that it
must not be the Libyans who did it, and the *new communications”
must be bogus.

The French and the Spanish were right. The information was
bogus, and the Mossad didn’t have a clue who planted the bomb that
killed one American serviceman and wounded several others. But the
Mossad was tied in to many of the European terrorist organizations,
and it was convinced that in the volatile atmosphere thar had engulfed
Europe, a bombing with an American victim was just a2 martter of time,

Heads of the Mossad were counting on the American promise 1o
retaliate with vengeance against any country that could be proven to
support terrorism, The Trojan gave the Americans the proof they
needed. The Mossad also plugged into the equation Qadhafi’s lunatic
image and momentous declaratons, which were really only meant for
internal consumption. It must be remembered that Qadhafi had
marked a line in the water ar thar ume, closing off the Gulf of Sidra as
Libyan territorial waters and calling the new maritime border the line
of death (an acvon that didn’t exactly give him a moderate image).
Ulcimately, the Americans fell for the Mossad ploy head over heels,
dragging the British and the Germans somewhat reluctantly in with
them.

Operation Trojan was one of the Mossad's greatest successes, It
brought about the air strike on Libya that President Reagan had
promised—a strike that had three important consequences. First, it
derailed a deal for the release of the American hostages in Lebanon,
thus preserving the Hizballah (Parry of God) as the number one enemy
in the eyes of the West. Second, it sent a message to the entire Arab
world, telling them exactly where the United States stood regarding
the Arab-Isracli conflict. Third, it boosted the Mossad's image of itself,
since it was they who, by ingenious sleight of hand, had prodded the
United States to do what was right.

It was only the French who didn't buy into the Mossad trick and

3. La Belle discotheque: The terrorist artack on this location was said to have
been linked to the Libyans and was the catalyst for the April 14 bombing of
Libya by the Americans.
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were determined not to align themselves with the aggressive American
act. The French refused to allow the American bombers to fly over
their territory on their way to attack Libya,

On April 14, 1986, one hundred and sixty American aircraft
dropped over sixty tons of bombs on Libya, The attackers bombed
Tripoli internauonal airport, Bab al Azizia barracks, Sidi Bila] naval
base, the city of Benghazi, and the Benine airfield outside Benghazi,
The strike force consisted of two main bodies, one originanng in Eng-
land and the other from flattops in the Mediterranean. From England
came twenty-four F-111s from Lakenheath, five EF-111s from Upper
Heyford, and rwenty-eight refueling tankers from Mildenhall and Fair-
ford. In the amack, the air force F-111s and the EF-111s were joined
by eighteen A-6 and A-7 strike and strike support aircraft, six FlA-13
fighters, fourteen EA-6B electronic jammer planes, and other support
platforms. The navy planes were catapulted from the carriers Coral
Sea and America. On the Libyan side, there were approximately forty
civilian casualties, including Qadhati's adopted daughter. On the
American side, a pilot and his weapons officer were killed when their
F-111 exploded.

After the bombing, the Hizballah broke off negotiations regarding
the hostages they held in Beirut and executed three of them, including
one American named Peter Kilburn. As for the French, they were
rewarded for their nonparticipation in the attack by the release at the
end of June of two French journalists held hostage in Beirur. (As it
happened, a stray bomb hit the French embassy in Tripoli during the
raid.)

Ephraim had spelled it all out for me and confirmed some of the
mformation 1'd already known. He then went on. “After the bombing
of Libya, our friend Qadhafi is sure to stay out of the picture for some
time, Iraq and Saddam Hussein are the next target. We're starting now
to build him up as the big villain. It will take some time, but in the
end, there’s no doubt it’ll work.”

“But isn't Saddam regarded as moderate toward us, allied with
Jordan, the big enemy of Iran and Syria?™

“Yes, that's why I'm opposed to this action. Bur thar's the direc-
tive, and | must follow it. Hopefully, you and | will be done with our
little operation before anything big happens. After all, we have alrcady
destroved his nuclear facility, and we are making money by selling him
rechnology and equipment through South Africa.”

“That still doesn't explain why you played hide-and-seek with me.™

“] was incommunicado in Belgium, explaining to an Iragi how to
hit the oil pipeline in Kuwait. As you can imagine, 1 wasn’t alone
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there, and no one was coming or going until the man was on his way.”

“One man?”

*Yes, one. He'll instruct his friends when he gets back there.”

“And you rtrust him to do the job?™ It sounded fishy to me. It was
almost standard procedure in the Mossad that acts of sabotage were
carried out only by our people, and that the locals were set up for the
fall if something went wrong. Sending 2 team to get secondhand train-
ing was suicidal.

“He'll do the job.”

“I'm willing to bet that he either blows himselt up or gets caught.”

“I sure hope you're nght, because that is exactly what I'm banking
on. What I mean is, he’ll probably get caught, and by the time he's fin-
ished spilling the beans, the Kuwaits will be positive that the man is
working for the Iragis, and that he’s there to try and help overthrow
the Kuwairi royal family,”

“And what the hell would be achieved by thar?™

“Agitation, my boy, agitation, what else? Then we'll see where we
can take ir. After all, there's sull 2 war going on between Iran and
Iraq, and the Kuwaits together with the Saudis are paving for most of
it.”

| was grateful to Ephraim tor talking to me in such detail about
things | had no direct connection with. It made me feel I was still part
of it all. Within the Mossad, everybody told everybody else about
everything. Had Ephraim not done thar, we both knew he would have
lost me.

| was now dumping large quantities of marmalade onto the
remaining toasts and washing down the loaded triangles with hot cof-
fee. Coffee, extra bacon, jelly, cigarettes, alcohol—it's funny how,
when the pressure’s on, healthy habits fly out the window.

“So what happened with our little escapade?” asked Ephraim.
“You said the Russians didn't call you back?”

“No. "

“Call them now.™

1 got up and took from my wallet the scrap of paper the Russian
had given me. 1 dialed the number and waited.

“Hello?™ came a heavy Russtan-accented voice.

*1 was waiting for your call.”

“Is this Victor?”

*Yes. Do you have anything for me?”

“I'm sorry, but we will not be talking to vou anymore. I'm sorry.™
And he hung up. He couldn’t know how happy he made me teel.

“Well2" Ephraim was craning his head in my direction as though
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he could catch what I had 1o say faster if he was closer. He also helped
himself to a picce of my toast.

“They don’t want me.”

“Yes!™ He got up, punching a fist at an imaginary opponent. “Yes!
We got the bastard.™

*Who did you get?”

“[ told you it couldn’t be from operations. We got a request from
the prime minister’s office for informarion on several people that were
ler go from the Mossad in the last year. We sent up four files; yours
was one. | had someone from Prudot [technical], using some half-
assed story, set it up so that we could see which of the files were han-
dled and by whom. The result was as I'd expected. Only yours was
opened, [t was ordered by the man in charge of security for the prime
minister's office, a guv by the name of Levinson.”

“1s he from Shaback?”

“No, he's office security, documentation, telephones, that sort of
thing. They couldn’t get someone in a better position if they recruited
the head of the Shaback.”

“What now?"

“It will rake a while, but we will nail him before the end of the
year. | passed a warming to my friend in the Shaback. 1 told him I gort it
from a liaison, but he can't use it formally because that would burn
the source. He knows the situation, but he'll have to catch him on his
own."

“So we did it,” | exclaimed. “We actually did it, didn’t we?™

He nodded. “Yes, it seems we did.”

I was happy. After all, it wasn’t every day that you nailed a Soviet
spy. And it was so easy, thinking back on it now. It was a stroll in the
park.



lit a cigarerte and sat on the end of the bed. There were several minutes of

silence, except for the dripping sound of a bad faucet.

"Okay. Now for your next assignment,” said Ephraim.

“What is it?”
~ "You'll make a short journey across town and offer our British
friends your services.”

“The British? They're allies. What the hell do you need from
them?”

“Nothing in parucular. It's just that we know they're suspicious
that we might have had something to do with the attempt to put a
bomb on an El Al flight.”

“The one that was foiled at Heathrow:”

“Thar's the one.”

“But didn’t El Al security prevent that at the last moment?”

“Exactly. There is a rumor running around that we did it to
embarrass their security and show off our own, and at the same time
to pin the terrorist tail on the Synans,”

“Did we?"

“Quute possibly, | have no idea, but the rumor has to stop.”

*$0 you want me to go in there and tell them we didn't do ir2” [
was smiling; | found the whole thing amusing,

“No. You will tell them more or less what you have told the Sovi-
ets, except you'll tell them vou're no longer working for us here.” He
handed me a manila envelape. “These are some papers you can give
them to prove that you worked for the Mossad.”

“Why don't we let them just ask their man in the Mossad ro check
me our?” [ was now laughing.

“This is a simple job.” He was serious. “I need you to do it as
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spon as you can. 1 will be here while you do 1t and leave after you're
done.”

“You know, rhis job doesn’t quite jibe with what you've been
telling me about the reason we're doing all this.”

*And what's that?”

“I thought we were out to put the Mossad in the shit and force a
change in the command. Suddenly, we’re protecting their reputanon?”

“We're killing two birds with one stone. On the one hand, we're
cleaning up the reputation of Israel when it comes to this sort of unac-

ceprable act, as well as putting the lid on Syrian diplomaric relations in

England. Then, at the same time, we're giving you a good in with the
British. If you don’t come on as just a man on a vendetta now, you'll
have more credibility with them later. We’ll use that credibility to
embarrass the Office and blow the London station out of the water.”

“Will | have to wait long for the next job? I'm losing my parience,
killing so much time here. | wanr to see the end of the tunnel, or at
least a facsimile of it,”

He smiled. | could see it wasn't easy for him—smiling, that is. He
was involved in a world that was changing every moment, and he had
to adapt. It was a lifestyle that took a big chunk out of a man's per-
sonality.

“Your next job is in the works as we speak. After it’s done, you'll
get back together with Bella and the kids.”

“What's it going to be?” | was anxious.

“Not yet, Victor. First we have this British thing to do.”

I wanted to press the point harder and see if | could ger more out
of him, but he leaned back in his seat. His rounded face seemed
slightly amused, as though he were wartching a Roadrunner cartoon
for the tenth time, knowing the fate of the coyote but sull going
through the motions. His stare made me feel like the coyote, making
a futile effort 1o catch the stupid bird and knowing full well I’d soon
be taking the short way 10 the bottom of the canyon. [ decided to let
it go,

It seemed that he felt this was a time for a pep ralk, since he now
said: “You asked me once why don't we just leak things to the media
and bring the Mossad down that way.”

| nodded.

*“We can't tear down the organization from the outside—it has oo
much credibility in Israel. No matter what we say, we can't even
scratch its Teflon surface, It has to be shown for what it is: an incom-
petent, lazy, oversized, greedy monster. And that can only be done one
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step at a ume. What we are starung now is an assault on the Mossad
from its flanks. We will be hitting it from all directions, cutting the
Medusa’s heads off one ar a nme. We are berting our existence agaimnst
the incompetence of the Mossad.”

“How do you mean, ‘betting’?”

“1f the Office is as incompetent as we think it is, they'll never
know what hit them, If they're as good as they want everybody to
think, then"—he smiled—*we are toast,”

“What about the reputation of the state? Not evervbody can dis-
tinguish between Israel and its Mossad.”

“That 1s true, but we will be dealing only with intelligence agen-
cies, and they will know the difference, After all, we don’t want to
destroy the state in the process. We have to be very careful what we
do. It is much like a demolition crew that must bring down a high-rise
in the middle of a city. One way will destroy the city center; the other
way takes a professional. If we're hasty, we could end up causing a
breakdown in relations between Israel and every country in the world
that the Mossad is screwing. And that would be just about every coun-
try in the world that we have a relationship with, plus a few more that
we might have one wirh in the future. Our rarger is the Office and
only the Office as it 15 now.”

I sat and stared at him. 1 felt exhausted. [ had no doubr as ro what
| was facing, but I was glad he had put the effort into explaining the
situation the way he did. | had volunteered for the Mossad for that
eXact reason: to protect my country—not to protect the Mossad or its
bosses. And if the Mossad was a threat 1o my country, then it was the
enemy. I'd volunteered for the pavy after I came back from Canada for
the same reason. | believed that what vou truly love deserves to be
defended.

“There is one more thing.” His voice was back to normal. There
was not 3 trace of the emotion he'd just shown. He spoke like a teller
counting someone else’s money. “There is a Kidon team running
around New York scarching for a man they believe has made conract
with the PLO.”

] could feel the blood turning to ice in my veins, and my knees
were shaking. I raised my hands and shook my head. “Whar did you
says”

“You heard me.” He kept his matter-of-fact composure.

“You're taking this very well, considering it’s not your ass the
Kidon is after.”

“Well, as rhings srand at the moment, they aren’t after vours
either.”

i ——
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“Whose, then?"

“Apparently, the PLO man you spoke to was nort as smart as you
might have thought, or he didn't really give a shir. Anyway, he passed
the information on to Tunis and it was picked up by Unit 8200.1"

“You want to rell me the jerk actually phoned them about me?”

“Yes.”

“Did he idenufy me?”

“Thart’s what I'm trying 1o tell you. No, he only gave a descrip-
tion, and rthat wasn’t too good. I believe the team will try and pick
him up and see if they can get a betrer identification from him.”

“Did he tell them who | said  was?”

"Yes, they know he reported a so-called Israeli intelligence officer,
but they aren’s sure. You know that every litcle fart says he's from the
Mossad. I'll bet you half the Israelis living in New York have told that
to someone at one time or another. It's the Israeli Mayflower; everyone
was on it when it hit Plymouth Rock. And yes, they called for a code
whire.?"

He smiled, bur I suddenly wasn't in the mood to do so. I knew he
was trying to make light of it, but the Kidon ream would not give up
easily. Their reputation was not thar of losers, *Whar abour the
Kahane people, the ones that were warching the PLO office? Has the
Office gotten to them?™

“Nor yet, but you can bet they will. I don't want to scare you, or
on the other hand give you a false sense of security, but I really don't
think you have too much to worry about. The Kidon team will do
their lirtle song and dance and then go home. There are much more
important things for them to do than chase the wind.®

“If they can get 2 good description of me, they will not exactly be
chasing the wind. What if they ask the Kahane man, the one I left 1o
piss in that peepshow?”

Ephraim smiled, “Him you don't have to worry abour. He
wouldn’t say anything.”

“Why not? He got a good look at me, and so did his friend.”

“Well, like I said, 1 don’t think he'll be telling that to anyone, not
the way it happened anyway. You see, when his friend finally came to

1. Unit 8200: A unit in Aman (2 Hebrew abbreviation for military inrelligence)
that is in charge of shooting down communications: telephone, telex, and just
about any other open-alr rransmission.

2. Code white: An Israeli intelligence officer crossing the line; high alerr.
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get him, he said that he was attacked by a whole group of Palestinians,
and he said that you, or the one who entered the PLO office, was a
Palestinian leader or something. It made him a hero in his tiny little
circle of Judeo-Nazis, and he didn’t have 10 admit it was done to him
by one man that he was supposed to be following.”

“How do vou know thar?”

“We have people in there. You don't think we'd let those jerks run
around loose, do you?”

[t was good to hear, but it didn't really calm me down. In fact, | was
starting to get more edgy the more | thought abour it. “It appears that
someone in the Office is taking it seriously, or they wouldn’t have sent
the Kidon team to the U.S. That is sensitive terrain. What do they have?
I mean, if it was me doing the mvestigation, 1 would first try and find
out where the hell I, Victor Ostrovsky, was. I'm the last man our of the
system, and here, before you can say Jack Robinson, someone answer-
ing my description pops up at the offices of the PLO in New York.”

“Well, that’s probably whar they're thinking, but to be able to pin
something on you, they have to find you first.”

*So 1 am a fugitive now?"

“No, bur warch our. Make vour security checks and don't slip into
some euphoria just because you’re on American soil. 1 know that
Mousa from security is trying to get ahold ot you; he had someone call
your wife asking her to pass a message on to you that he wants you to
call him. Bur for some reason or other, [ guess she hasn’t passed it on
to you.”

*No, | didn’t get the message. It's possible she thinks he wants me
back in the system and she prefers | stay out. [ have no idea.”

“Just make sure you dont ask her. They're listening to her line. If
you know something that she didn’t tell you, they will realize you're
still connected, and you'll blow the whole thing.”

“Will you be informed about what the Kidon team are doing, or
will you just find out after the fact?”

“I'm in the loop, if that’s what you mean. I'll have some knowl-
edge beforehand and, yes, | will warn you if things get hot,”

It turned out thar this little game with the British was no less dan-
gerous than the Sovier exercise. In fact, it was considerably more diffs-
cult. We were facing a very sophisticated agency that had good if not
excellent connections with the Mossad. The fact thar there was grow-
ing concern in that agency regarding the Mossad’s dirty tricks was not
something we could latch on ro right away, It would be necessary 1o
dig a little firse.
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I had to have a reason for coming to them, and had to be able to
prove that I was Mossad. Ephraim gave me several documents that |
could use to convince them that T was who T said I was. One was a
photocopy of a Briush passport that I had used in an operation in
Europe almost a year earlier. Ephraim handed it ro me, with a back-
grounder form for the passport.

[ was also to use the contact | had made with the British represen-
tative to the Middle East who was in charge of the British cemeteries
in this particular corner of the now defunct Empire. In the Office, it
was believed that he was working for British intelligence and \-;as
gathering tactical data in the area. Posing as a Canadian filmmaker, |
!md contacted him during an exercise and had tried to milk him f:::-r
information. Ephraim had no doubt that if the gentleman was indeed
working for British intelligence, as we thought, he would have
reported that incident and would be able to identify me.

We decided that I would play the man who has two reasons for
coming to them. One would be money, the other revenge. [ would also
say that I was worried that Mossad activities in the United Kingdom
could bring about a wave of anti-Semitism if things got out of hand
and a British version of a Pollard case exploded, exposing British Jews
i the service of the Mossad.

There was no doubt that such an event would lead to the revival
of the controversy over if not the belief in the Protocols of the Elders
of Zion.* Having the local authorities aware and ready could possibly
prevent a wave of anti-Semitism that would result from a high-profile
exposure of Jewish assistance to Mossad in Britain,

. Ther? was no way thar the British intelligence would use such
information to launch an anti-Jewish campaign. Bur since Aaron Sherf
was the new head of the Tsafririm? department, and he was known in
the system as a militant who believed that using the Jewish Diaspora
was Israel’s God-given right, he would push the activity in that field ro
the l‘m]it and cause something to break somewhere.

~ “Sowhat do I tell them if they want to know more about this sub-
lect? [ mean, there’s no way we’ll hand them sayanint on a platrer.”
.____—-—-———,__

3 : .

ni"PIor&cEIs of the Efderls of Zion: An anti-Seminc publication that originated in

Mincteent ~Cetitury Russia and spoke of a plan created by the secret Jewish
government” (the so-called elders of Zion) to averthrow Christian sociery,

4, Tsafririm: " i
fririm: The word translates as “morning breeze” and is the code name for

the department in charge of actively s i i ivari
ety ¥ supporting, helping, and activaring the Jew-
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“No, but we’ll show them how to {ind them if they look. It's far
better that they warn people than catch them. Suppose they caughr a
Jew working in their military industry and passing on information to
Israel against the best interests of his country, or firm, for that mater.
Such a case, working its way through the court system with the media
coverage it would receive, would put every Jew in the Western world
under suspicion, No doubt, in the trial information would come our
that would prove he wasn’t the only one. Then only God could help
us, and the way we've been behaving the last thirty vears, [ doubr very
much if we could count on Him.”

It was about two in the afternoon when | got our of the cab about
two blocks from the British embassy. The light blue glass building
was set slightly back from the road. | came across a pay phone, found
the number of the embassy in a phone book, and dialed. In less than
two minutes, | managed to get through to the man in charge of secu-
rity.

The chances were negligible that the phone was bugged. *1 have
been fired from the Mossad and | want to talk to someone in British
intelligence. | have some information that [ think mighr interest you.”

The man on the other end didn't hesitate. “Are you in Washing-
ton?”

“Yes, in fact, I'm not thar far from the embassy right now.”

“Would you care to come down here?”

“Sure,”

“How long would it take you 10 get here?™

“About ten minutes.” | wanted to see if there would be any activ-
uy ourside the embassy before I walked in. 1 had checked myself
before, and | knew that I was clean. 5o if there was someone after me
later, I would know where | picked up the surveillance.

1 gave the man a description of whart | was wearing and told him
my first name. He said he would wait for me in the main entrance and
that | should have some 1D handy.

| was there in just over ten minutes, having grabbed a hot dog
from a stand near the phone booth. This sort of activity made me hun-
gry. | would usually lose my appetite once real danger was involved,
but as things were, [ felt fine. | was wearing a pinstripe suit and a pair
of black shoes, a tan raincoat, and a yellow tie with small black sym-
metrical dots on it—the standard yuppic tie of the rime. Paisley would
have been my second choice; it appeared to have been the first choice
of the gentleman who was waiting for me. Other than that, we were
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dressed almost the same. He must have been scratching his head when
I gave him my description on the phone. No doubt he even had a simi-
lar raincoat hanging somewhere in the large building. He smiled as 1
approached, waiting for me mside the reception area while 1 went
through the security section. There he greeted me with an even larger
smile and an outstretched hand, introducing himself as Edward. After
the minial micetics, he led me toward a second set of doors where he
had to bend down to run his tag through a slot. It seemed that the thin
chain that hung around his neck was too short.

We took the elevator to his office, and there was the raincoat, just
as I'd thought. He had a set of planters on the window, just as we used
to have in the Mossad building. There is apparently something abour
the game of espionage that makes you want to grow things.

“I1 haven't had a chance to talk 1o anyone about you, but 1 will
take the initial information from you, and based on that, we will
decide what the next step will be, Does that sound fair>” He was in
his late thirties, a very British-looking chap, his smooth blond hair
combed neatly to one side, where it kepr falling slightly over his fore-
head. Occasionally, he’d push it back into place. His shirt collar was
somewhat larger than his neck, which could have been the result of a
diet he was on thar was working faster than he had expected, or per-
haps someone else was doing his shopping for him. He rurned out to
be very pleasant.

“Would you care for a cup of tea or something?”

“I'd love a coffee,”

Edward popped his head out the door and spoke to someone on
the other side, conveying the request, He then came back and took a
black of paper out of his desk drawer, opened the passport I'd handed
him, and copied my name and all other details onto the top of the
form. 1 was itching to crack a few jokes about writing regulations and
strict code demands that we’d usually say in the Mossad on such oeca-
sions, but T held back. I had no idea who this man was or what he was
like. The fact that he was at the front end of some intelligence agency
suggested that he wasn’t part of the offensive but rather the defensive
team and, in comparison to a Mossad case officer, a second or third
stringer. Such a man could indeed be frustrated and not open to some
types of humor, In fact, he might take it as a personal insult.

The tea and coffee arrived.

“SQ, Mr. Ostrovsky, what is it vou'd like to talk to me abour>™

I'lit a cigarette, tossed the smoldering match into the ashtray,
leaned back, and said, “Like | said on the phone, 1 was a member of
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the Mossad until a few weeks ago, when for various reasons [ was
sacked.”

He was busy wniting on his pad, not looking at me. “Why did you
leave?”

“1 was ler go because of a sertes of fuckups and because of my big
mouth.”

*Meaning?™

“1 voiced my political opinions, which are hardly firting for a
member of an organization with very right-wing leanings.” Ephraim
had made it clear to me, and | already knew it myself, that we were
dealing with a sophisticated intelligence agency. There was going to be
some sort of psychological analysis of the information 1'd be provid-
ing, so all the personal information about me and my opinions would
have to be accurate, My cover story, after all, was my real story, and 1
had to remember thar.

The man did not react ar all, which made the interview very stren-
uous, All he did was write and ask questions. At nmes, he would raise
his hand, asking me to slow down so that he could catch up wirth the
writing. | hated when people did that. In the modern world, with the
advancement of technology and the availability of recording equip-
ment, [ found his way of working archaic and very inefficient, Bur this
was his office, and he represented a group of people I wanted to talk
to, so [ was not abour to complain.

The interview lasted almost three hours. [ presented him with a
single Mossad document, the false passport cover page that Ephraim
had brought me. It was an eight-and-a-half-inch by eleven-inch sheet
of paper with a photocopy of the first page of a British passport, The
onginal passport was false, and the top part of the document gave a
short rundown of who | was under that cover. On the back was a map
identifving my exacr address on a secuon of a London map, Atrached
was a color photo of my house and imaginary family, with a few
words about each of them. The document was whar we would call a
tutorial cover. This would normally come with or before your false
passport to the safe house where you would go over the last details of
the cover story before going out on an operation. This was regarded as
a thin cover, not what you needed if you were going to cross a border
ur be placed under more severe scrutiny. Nevertheless, this document
was extremely professional, and anyone in the business who saw it
would definitely be convinced that the bearer was not an amateur.

“I want to thank vou very much, Mr. Ostrovsky, for what you
have told me up to this point, | will surely pass this informarion on to
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the people that need to know. I'll be back in touch with you once |
know what they want to do.”

I knew this would be the procedure and therefore did not tell him
anything bevond personal and peripheral information thar was meant
to establish who I was, The inquisition would come later.

“What now?”

“Where can | reach you?”

“I'll call you. When would you like me to do thar?*

He thought for a minute. “How about Monday, at about the same
nme?™

[ got up. “*Monday, then.”
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Sunoay, Mav 4, 1986

phraim was not in his room first thing in the morning, but had left

me a message with the front desk saying he’d had to leave very

carly but would be back for a late breakfast. The message was
signed “David,” the code name Ephraim and | had agreed on for a
message that was legitimare. Had he left a message from “Mark,” I'd
know there was trouble.

I decided ro stay in my room and wairt for his call, which came at
about ten-thirty. He was waiting for me in the dining room down-
stairs. It turned out thar he hadn't had a minute’s sleep: a mission in
the Far East had been bungled, and he'd been called 1o take care of it.
Having dealt with the Sri Lankans before, he made contact with their
security service and was trying to recover the body of a Mossad case
officer who'd been in Sri Lanka assisting the local government in
rounding up the leadership of the Tamil Tigers, a resistance group
fighting for a self-governed area in the north of the tear-shaped island.
(At various times, the Mossad supported both sides in this conflict,
providing weapons to each for a handsome profit.) The case officer
had been shot in his hotel room in Colombo ar the same time as a
bomb exploded in a Lanka Air jumbo jet on the runway,

The main problem was not that the man had been killed, but
rather that the Mossad was supposedly there under the auspices of the
CIA statton and the American delegation, yer was carrying out this
activity without rhe knowledge of its American hosts.

By the time we were seated for breakfast, Ephraim had managed
to get things under control. The body (said to be an apparent casualry
of a car accident) was on a chartered plane on its way to Australia,
from where the fiendly local security service would help ship it back
to Israel. He lir a cigarerte and said, “Did you ask them for money?™
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“Ask who?”

“The British,"”

[ stared at him for a long minute. “No, it never came up.”

“Well, next time you mustn't forget ta bring up the money righr at
the beginning,”

“Why? We know that no one actually pays until the information is
evaluated. I'm supposed to be a professional and know these things.™

“Still, you have to bring it up so that they don't think you're some
conscientious volunteer. They need to think they have a hook in you
so they can ask the questions they want to ask, and not just sit there
and listen to you. You see, if they think you're only ideological, how
would they know if you have an agenda or not? You need to make
them think it's the money, so they understand the reason for your
coming to them.”

“1 could probably get much more from the Syrians, Wouldn't that
come up in their minds when they hear 1 only want money?”

*There would be several reasons why you would not go to the
Syrians.”

Qur discussion took us into the afternoon, and I was starting to
get tired. However, the nagging doubts that I'd had before had almost
completely dissipated. Ephraim had armed me with some more docu-
ments for the meeting tomorrow. After dinner, he retired to his room,
which this rime was on the same floor as mine.

Ephraim wanted to be present the next day when | called the
embassy, just in case there was something we'd overlooked.

| made the call and was asked to come to the embassy as soon as |
could; two men had been sent over to talk ro me.

Ephraim was satishied. “We're going 1o kill several birds with one
stone,” he said.

*“What will the birds be:”

“First, we'll ler them know that we did not orchestrate the inci-
dent at rhe airport and that it was really an arempred act of terror
thar we prevented. Then, by causing the London station to screw up,
we get nid of the station head. If we can stifle the London station, then
we might just tarmish rhar clique enongh ro have an outsider sent in to
clean house.”

“* Are you sure about that?”

“We'll be using the same technique the right-wingers used to get
rid of Kimche in "82: tossing garbage into the wind. You're from the
navy; you know what happens when you do that.™ He was grinning,
stuffing his mouth with the end of a Coffee Crisp chocolate bar.

] wanted to sce Bella and the girls; | was starting to grow more
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and more impartient in that regard. The urge would come upon me
suddenly when I least expected it. I had big problems with the TV
commescial for the AT&T phone company. They would show senti-
mental pictures of families together and then apart, reaching out for
one another, under the slogan “Reach our and touch someone.” | felt
so lonely when that ad appeared thar I preferred not to turn the ser on
when [ was alone.

When [ arrived at the British embassy, | was greeted by the same
chap who'd interviewed me before. He was wearing the tie thar I'd
had on the previous day, and I wore the paisley thar he'd worn then.
Other than that, we kept to the “uniform.”

“Nice to see you again,” he said, bending to get the door open.

“Won't they give you a longer chain?" 1 asked.

“No, they like to keep our chains rather short.” He chuckled and
swung the glass door open, allowing me to enter ahead of him. He led
the way to the elevaror, bur roday we went to a different side of the
building. He let me into an office very similar to his own, except that
there were no planters and no papers on the large, somewhat scruffy-
looking desk. The man seated behind the desk got up as we walked in
and stretched our his hand, smiling. “I'm Steve. Nice of you to come
back at such short notice.”

I took his hand. “I'm Dave. Nice to be called back.” I was smiling
100.

“Dave? But | was under the impression that your name was Vic-
tor?” He looked down at the paper on the desk in front of him,

“Just kidding,” 1 said, sitting down. “Dave was my ‘Steve,’ you
“Aha.” His smile broadened. “So it is Vicror?”

“Yes."

“Is there anything we can ger you?" He sat behind his desk.

“I'd love a coffee,” | said, not departing from the script. | took out
my cigarette pack and placed it on the table, only to notce [ was
down to my last cigarette. “Would you happen to have a cigarette
machine somewhere in the building?”

“I will see what I can round up,” said the young man, and left.

“] understood that there would be morc than onc man here
today.”

“Yes. My colleague might come in a little later; he has a certain
thing he wants to show you and ger your opinion on.”

“Will you be handling this case?”

“We'll be doing it together. Why do you ask?*

see.
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“There is the matter of the money. We need to discuss that before
we go any further.”

“1 can assure you that we'll be more than grateful for your help.
The money will depend totally on the value of what you have to say
to us.”

“Could you be more specific?™

“I'm atraid not. You see, we’re not the ones who make thar dec-
sion. After all, we don't normally gather informanon about Israel
since it's an ally,”

I lit the cigarette, speaking to him through a puff of smoke. “Why
don’t we cur the bullshit right off the top,” I said. “We're here for a
reason. You want something that you know very well 1 have. You
want to verify first that I am who [ am. Then you want to know whar
vou can get out of me.”

“I would prefer to think of it as an exchange. .. ."

“Come on, we both know thar if you could get me on a rack and
beat the information out of me, you would. And apart from money,
there is nothing | want from you. If you paid me now, I would leave
and let you keep that neurrality you're talking about. So, where would
you like to start?”

“From the beginning, 1 suppose. What was your rank and position
in the Mossad?’

"My rank was colonel, but that was because | carried my rank
over from the military, where [ was a lieutenant colonel. At the time I
left the Mossad, 1 was working on the Danish desk and occasionally
doing jobs for other desks.”

“Is there a British desk?”

“Is the Pope Catholic?”

"Did you work on that desk?”

“From time to time,”

“Is there a clandestine station in London?"

"Yes, In the embassy.”

“How many officers?”

“Five, as of about two months ago. | can’t be sure at the moment,
but no more than six.”

“Who is the head of the station?”

“I'm really bad with names, you know,” 1 said, smiling.

“Would you be able to recognize him from a photo?™

“Sure, do you have one?”

“We have photos of most of the diplomats. It's fairly standard for
them to give us a photo when they come to get their diplomatic cre-
dennals.”
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“Let’s make life simple. You show me photos, I'll identify the men.
What next?”

“Why are vou coming to us? Why not the Americans or the
French? And if it's money you want, why not some Arab country? |
mean, they'd probably pay you a bundle.”

“] don't like 1o deal with people when I'm on their soil; they have
too much control. Besides, you're an ally, so in effect I'm not really
betraying my country, I'm only selling you information [ think you
deserve to know. Like they say Pollard did.”

The young man came back with coffee and a new pack of
cigarettes. He apologized for not having American cigarettes, but these
were all they had in the canteen.

After he'd left, Steve and 1 established a more relaxed dialog. A
few minutes lazer, Steve’s partner stuck his head around the door, smil-
ing, and entered the room. He was roughly the same height as Steve,
about six feet, well built, and very tanned. It was as if he'd just
returned from a trip to the Caribbean—either thar, | thought, or he
has some odd skin disease. His blond hair had almost completely
turned silver. It was combed the same way as Edward’s hair, only it
seemed 10 be more used to the position, since it hardly moved.

Steve brought him up to speed, and we wenr on with the conversa-
tion. Robert, the newcomer, opened a large folder and pulled out sev-
cral cardboard sheets with passport photos on them. “Would you
mind looking ar these and telling me if you can recognize anyone?”

I glanced ar them and then put them back on the desk. “Yes, |
do.”

“Well, would you be so kind as to point them our 1o us?”

“Why don't you tell me who you think the head of the station is,
and Tl take ir from there.”

“But,” said Steve, obviously taken aback and staring at Robert,
“that would be very unusual.”

“You mean you get Mossad case officers walizing into your
offices every day, and that is why you flew all night from England to
talk to me?”

“Why should we tell you anything?” Robert asked.

“That way we will get over the credibility part. If 1 can prove to
you that | know what I'm ralking abour, we will have a much easier
time,”

“This one.” Robert pointed 1o a phote.

“You can do berter than that,” I said. “I never saw this man in my
life. He must be foreign office or something, you can see that by his
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“His ne? You mean Mossad people have a special rie?" He was
chuckling at the thought.

“No, but back ar headquarters we don't go to work with a2 tie. So
when they take a photo for a passport or something, we wear the ties
in the photo studio, and they have only about three ties there. So once
you know what the ties look like, vou'll have no problem in picking
out the Mossad people.”

The two Brits were smiling as though they had just discovered
America.

“Okay,” Robert mumbled, pointing at another photo. “We believe
it’s him.”

“And you’re right, rhis is Yair.” From my shirt pocket, | pulled out
a photo thar Ephraim had given me just before | left for the embassy. |
laid it next to the photo he was pointing at. “Here, you see?” It was
the same photo, only mine was a slightly bigger print.

Credibility was established right then and there.

“Where did you get this?”

“That’s not the question now, is it>”

“We'd very much like to see more of the same.” His tone was
extremely polite.

“That's not possible at the moment. 1 have no intention of hand-
ing you the starion on a platter.”

“What, then?”

“I'll rell you how you can get the information yourself. Thar way,
when vou do, it will be solid.”

“Okay.” Robert nodded. “Let’s get this on the road properly.
There are several things we'd like to ask you first, and then we'll take
it from there.”

[ nodded and put out my cigarette.

“First.” He opened a second file he’d taken our of the drawer.
“There were rumors in the field that Mossad does not keep third-party
agreements.!”

“Well, what we do is modify the informanon and then sell it. It 15
never passed on as is.”

“I thought you were not working for them anymore.”

“I'm not.”

“Then why do you refer to them as ‘we'?"

1, Third-party agreements; Friendly intelligence agencies subscribe to a gentle-
men's agreement that information given by one friendly agency to another will
not be given to a third.
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“Habit. 1 haven't been out of there very long. It is possible that
even in my own mind [ haven't really accepred it, and rhat is why I'm
playing these games with you.”

“Do you still have friends there?”

“Yes, | think so.”

*Are you in contact with any of them?”

“Not at the moment, but 1 guess 1 could make contact if 1
wanted to.”

“What do you know about the artempr by the Palestinians to
smuggle a bomb aboard an El Al plane in Heathrow?"

*The security caught it, didn’t they?”

“El Al security did, not the airport.™

“Well, what do you expect? El Al security is the best, isn’t it?”

“Is it at all possible that they could bave staged this thing to make
us look bad? | mean, would the Mossad do thar?”

*And bring a real bomb that close to a plane? Never in a thousand
vears. Besides, why would they want to do thar?”

“We have to look ar things from all angles. So you're quite sure
they wouldn’r?™

“I can’t stand them, as you might have noticed, and believe me, I'd
be the first one to tell you if they'd done such a thing. Bur unfortu-
nately, they didn't. The secunty is just good, that’s all there is to it
They don't rely too much on clectronics.”

“But they do have all the most sophisticated devices.”

“I didn’t say they don’t use technology, I said they don’t rely on it.
After the technology does its thing, they go over it again manually.
Looking the passenger in the eye, so to speak.” This was a strange sit-
uation; here | was, supposedly selling out my country’s most precious
secrers and ar the same time taking pride in the achievements of its
security apparatus. The two stared at me with some apprehension.

The quesnioning went on for several hours. We went in derail into
the way the Mossad activates, maintains, and recruits its more than
three thousand Jewish helpers, called sayanon, in Grear Britain, how it
maintains over a hundred safe houses in the Greater London area and
services the recruitment needs of other smaller stations in Europe.

The sate house situarion was one that scemed to bother them,
since it was causing nwoise in their antiterror system, Neither did they
like the fact that such heavy clandestine recruiting activity by the
Mossad was taking place under their noses. | could detecr something
of an injury in their tone, and a determination to do something about
this.

“If we wanted to clean up, where would you say we should starc?”
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“First you have to get your politicians to realize that moving
against the Mossad is not a move against the state of Israel, thar the
Mossad 15 a loose cannon, and that it is extremely damaging to who-
ever comes into contact with it.”

“I believe we have already established thar. Whar we’re asking
about is the operanional information. What is the flaw in the system?
Every system has one, however hard they try to cover it up, Whart's the
flaw in the Mossad that will allow us to sit back and warch what they
are doing—and stop them whenever we want to?”

“What aspect of their work would you want to stop?™

“It’s not acceptable to us that they're using British subjects in their
operations. And targeting an entire minority such as the Jewish com-
munity 1s despicable. Second, we cannot sit idly by as they recruic
diplomats who are under our protection and pur our relationships
with those countries in jeopardy.™

“Well, you need to catch them in the act.”

Robert had a cynical look on his face. *1 should think that was
obvious.™

“What you need to do is watch the safe houses.”

“I would tend 10 agree with you. But how do we find them?"

“You follow the bodel.”

“What's a bodel?”

“The word bodel comes from the word lebavdil, which means ‘to
separate.” The bodel is a separator, your so-called flaw in the system.
He is the one who takes packages and things from the Mossad station
i the embassy to the safe houses and back. He is the secret gofer. Usu-
ally, if not always, fresh out of an elite military unit, he is a young
Israeli who has received special antisurveillance training and is the best
there is in that field. He makes most of the trips to the safe houses
during the day and most of the pickups during the night. He rarely
uses embassy vechicles and does not have any specific pattern of
work.”

“So go and chase the wind, is what you are telling us. And you
call this a flaw?”

“That is what the man is supposed to do; that is not always what
he does. The safe houses are also manned by Israeli students who
make sure the houses are well stocked with food and other essentials,
so that when they are activated, they are ready. They live in some of
the houses and visit the others to collect the mail, turn the lights on
and off, and make phone calls, so the place 15 in use and does nor raise
suspicions when it is used by the case officers. They are usually the
same age as the bodel and will mect with him socially,. What I'm
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telling you is that several places that he will go to in his free ime, and
he will do thar from his home, are in fact safe houses. Place them
under surveillance, and if he comes there during the day, you have
your safe house. There is always the possibiliry of following him with
a very big ream, never letring him see the same person or car twice.
But I don't know if you guys are up to it.”

The room was silent for several seconds while they digested all
this.

“This is a very sensitive area,” Robert was scratching his head. I
was the only one in the room smoking, but the air was heavy with
smoke. It was easy to see that the two of them were very uncomfort-
able.

“What do you mean?" I leaned back in my chair, a thin grin on
my lips. 1 was very satisfied with myself; | knew | had accomplished
what I'd been sent to do, and I'd had a good time doing it. Until now,
that is: It wasn't over yer.

“So, if we follow the man and uncover the safe houses, whar will
we find? I mean, can you imagine the scandal if we uncover several
Pollard-style cases?”

“We will be branded anti-Semitic on the spor,” Steve remarked, a
serious expression on his face.

“That will not happen,” 1 returned.

“Why not?" Steve stared straight at me, clearly in disagreement. “I
mean, when you go fishing, you can’t be sure what it is you'll pull out
of the water.”

“The station will not use the safe houses for their sayanim. They
meet them in their own houses and under regular everyday circum-
stances. Rarely will they meet clandestinely, unless of course the sayan
is in the process of bringing in vital information from his place of
work. The safe houses are used purely for debriefing or field planning
sessions with case officers who do not enter the embassy. On rare
occasions, they’'ll be used to interrogarte an agent, but in that case they
will almost always be discarded right after that. The safe houses, I
mean.”

It was getting dark outside, and we all realized that there was lirtle
more we could say ar that rime. Information had to be analyzed, and
morte questions would come up after thar. It was time to call it a day.

“What now?”

Robert pulled a white envelope from his pocker and pur it on the
table in front of me. “This is a small token of our appreciation for the
time you have given us. We would like to ralk to you again in the near
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turure and ask some more questions, and of course pay for the ones
vou have answered.”

“Could you be more specific when you say ‘again’? When exactly
do you mean?”

“Several days, perhaps.”

“I can't be sure that I'll be here that long. I'll call you before I
leave and give you my forwarding address.”

“What is your address now?™

“I'm here and there. I'll call you tomorrow and give you an
address, how's that?*

“Well, we will not be here tomorrow, but you can give it to our
friend. He'll pass it on to us. In fact, he could be our bodel.” We all
laughed.

1 counted the money in the envelope outside the embassy building
and realized how cheap the British were. Although eight hundred dol-
lars was much more than I had at the moment, [ knew | had handed
them a golden pickax with which to dig the Mossad’s claws out of
their soil. At one point, Robert had said thar they would pay me in the
millions for a list of the sayanim, bur he was laughing, joking that it
was hardly likely that the Mossad would let me back into headquar-
ters 1o pick up such a list.

But it certainly made me appreciate the batch of photographs of
just abour all the Mossad case officers that I had stashed away in my
hotel room. This was something that even Ephraim didn't know. And
he wasn't about to find out.

I knew that I had single-handedly managed to destroy the
Mossad’s capability in England for some time now. They would start
to run into problems in the near future, and if [ read the Brits right,
they would not let the Mossad know where the problems were coming
from. This was fulfilling my duty and tasting the sweet taste of
revenge at the same time. I scared myself realizing how much | hated
them. I hated the people who’d taken me away from the streets of Tel
Aviv and a life | was happy in, with all its small everyday problems. |
hated them for shaking my belief in the Zionist dream that had been
placed in their hands to protect.

Ephraim was half-asleep on the bed, the television was muted, and
the lights were off. He’d probably fallen asleep several hours ago;
there was no smoke in the air.
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He sounded groggy.

“Ordering some coffee. The Brits don’t have a clue how to make it
right.”

“So you trust the Americans with that?™ he said, chuckling.

“Would you like something 1o eat? I'm ordering a hambusger. I'm
starved.”

“Sure, order me one of those club sandwiches. So how did it go?”

I placed the order and told him everything. | was starting to get
impatient with the need to go over things this way. It didn’t seem the
same as it was when | was sull in the Mossad. There it was more orga-
nized; first there was the written report, then you'd go over it, answer-
ing questions. This was more like merely satisfymng the man's curiosity.
My feelings toward him were swinging from respect to dislike and
back ro appreciation.

“What did they say when you handed them the picture?” he asked.

“[ think I did it well. T let them show me his picture first, then |
pulled out the one I had. I think that closed all the gaps, if there were
any left by then.”

“Did they bring up the El Al thing?™

“Just like you said, they believe the Mossad is capable of this kind
of trick.”

“They’re right.”

“You mean we did do it?™ 1 was raken aback.

“1 didn’r say that. 1 said we are capable of it, and we've done simi-
lar things in the past,”

Ephraim was asking me questions, his mouth full of club sand-
wich. Ephraim might have been an educated man, but table manners
he didn’t have. | was taking my time answering since | wanted 1o

Whar arc you doing?" Ephraim asked when [ picked up the receiver.
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enjoy the food. By the nme | finished and he was sarisfied, he knew
abour everything that had raken place at the embassy, the remaining
coffee was cold, and | was out of cigarettes again.

“Go ger some cigarertes, and then we'll talk about the big job |
was telling you about,” said Ephraim.

I walked to the door. He called after me, * You did a great job, Vic.
Even though you enjoyed it, which you shouldn't have, you did a great
job.”

S0 he did notice the fact that [ liked what 1 had done, and [
thought I had him fooled. T gor rwo packs of cigarettes and hurried
back up. This was going to be “it,” the final job, the one that would
end this state of oblivion I was in, as a gofer for the rebels.

I stopped myself before 1 entered rhar cesspoal of doubt again. It
wasn't that | had no doubts anymore, it was just that | really didn't
have too many options at the moment. Should Ephraim want to nail
tne, he could do so now, in spades, after my latest escapades.

When I reentered the room, Ephraim seemed different, worried,
uncertain, It was the first time | had seen him like this.

“What's with you? Losing your cool?™ | was trying to make light
of it. This was no time for him 1o go sour on me.

“I'm just thinking about the next stage. There are so many unan-
swered guestions. I think we might just have to put it off for a while.”

“What are you rtalking about? Whar does that mean to my
timetable?™

“A short delay; a week, mavbe ten davs.™ There was a note of
doubt in his voice. It was very possible the man was testing me to see
what [ would do, hoping that 1 would be so anxious to get this thing
over with that | would take on any danger, no matter what, just to end
it. Later, he would be able to say that he had wanted to postpone it
and that ir was | who'd wanted to go ahead. After all, we had gotten
our wraining in the same school, and even though 1 was a rookie in
comparison to him, we did think alike.

“No."” | was determined. | could play the same game as he did, if
indeed this was a game. “You decide now. We go for it, whatever it is,
or I'm out.”

“Look, Vic." He had a serious expression. “It’s not as simple as
that. Whar we have to do is only part of the bigger picturc. If you go
out and start to solve a problem thar doesn’t exist yer, vou'll be sus-
pected of double dealing when it turns up. And where you're going,
this is not something you want to happen.”

“You'd berter be more specific, Ephraim, or you're going to be
talking to the wall in a very short time.™
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“We have done that for thousands of vears.” He smiled.

“And a lor of good 1t did us,” | said, smirking,

“Let’s go for a walk.”

His offer surprised me. He'd never before wanted to be seen with
me outside—for good reason. But | wasn't about to question him; he
was the senior, and it was dark outside by now.

“Where are we going?”

“Tust for a walk. You go first. I'll catch up to vou.” Several min-
utes later, he was walking beside me. We passed the subway station
and stopped at a small greasy spoon, taking a booth at the end, well-
hidden by an overloaded and smelly coatrack.

“Shabtai and his Metsada team managed to kill the Jordamian
peace imniative and render Peres helpless. The man was made 1o look
like a fool; nobody else will touch this thing for a long time.”

“I could figure as much from listening to the news.”

“Up to that point, you could still call this a fair game. Some peo-
ple believe we should have peace with the Palestinians and some think
we should just kick their butts, but what it comes down to 1s, What
are our right-wingers willing to do to get what they want? As you well
know, the people who do want peace are made to look like traitors,
while the other side is made out to be the parriots.”

"Well, you have enough friends in the media. If you have an image
problem, why don’t you just use them?”

“We do, but it isn't enough, not for what they are planning now.” A
waitress in a stained white apron took our order, chewing on a huge
piece of gum. We waited for her 1o finish pouring the coffee and serve the
large slices of apple pie we'd ordered, She was conversing with someone
in the back as she did so; before leaving, she forced a smile ar us.

[ lit a cigarerte and stared at Ephraim. He was keeping his voice
down, causing me to lean forward slightly.

“They want to force the ‘Jordan is Palestine’ thing.! They have
political support for this and an alhance with some right-wing radicals

1. Many right-wing Isracli politicians realize that the Palestinian problem will
not go away just because they want it to. They also realize thar the Palestinians
are in fact a nation with aspirations for a Jand they can call their own. These
politicians have no problem with those aspirations becoming a reality—in fact,
they believe thar if that were to happen, all the problems of the region would be
solved. But since they don't want to give up land to achieve thar purpose, they
propose another solution: Since Jordan’s population is almast 75 percent Pales-
rinian, Jordan should be, and in fact is, Palestine, Thus, they neatly shove the
problem onto someone else’s back.
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that would guarantee massive support from the Diaspora, especially in
America.”

“But thar idea has been around for some time now. | mean, it was
shouted from the Knesset podium many times. What's the big deal?
Where do we fit into this?”

“As long as it was political, it was fine, but now the Mossad 15
plunging headlong into this shit. They've decided rthar it’s nume to
destabilize Jordan to the point of civil anarchy,”

“Destabilize? How?”

“A high influx of counterfeit currency, causing distrust in the mar-
ket; arming religious fundamentalist elements similar 1o the Hamas
and the Muslim Brotherhood; and assassinating leading figures who
are symbols of stability, causing riots in the universities and forcing
the government to respond with harsh measures and lose popularity.
You know what I'm talking about; everything you learned about and
more. ~

*So what do you want me to do?™

“I want you to tell the Jordanians abour it so that they can stop 1t
before it’s out of control. I know that the Office is planning to do the
same with Egypt to prove thar a peace accord with an Arab country 1s
not really worth the paper it’s written on, but I'm involved in that one,
and we still have time before the plan is implemented,”

“I heard about that. Wasn’t the Mossad running weapons to the
Egvprian fundamentalists through Afghanistan or something?™

“That’s night,”

“So you still didnt explain how the hell I'm going to tell the Jor-
danians this and have them believe me. Why don’t you tell them? You
have channels to the Jordamans.”

“Thar isn’t good enough. This has to be an ongoing thing. Every
time they manage to stop one thing, our people will come up with
another, You will have to ger them to recruit you. This time, it’s not
just a short exercise; this is for real.”

I was speechless. This was far more serious than 1 had imagined: |
was setting myself up for a hanging. No matter what might go wrong
or whoever might catch me, the result would be the same,

“Is this your idez? Did you think this up yourself, or have you dis-
cussed it wirh someone?™

“I have, and we are in a consensus that this is the only way to go.
I haven't told them who I will designate to do this, so as not to com-
promise you.”

“Whart other options do you have?”

“You're not the only one doing what you're doing.”
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That was a revelation to me; until that point, ['d been positive that
| was the only one on this trip.

“How many are we?”

“Enough to get the job done. This time, we have to go all the way,
and time is not on our side. On the one hand, you can’t really do
much until you know specifically what ir is you have to stop, bur at
the same rime, there is only a shore rime for you to get in there and
have a really good chance of not getting detected.”

“What do you want me to do?” | had made up my mind ro stop
piling problems in his way and do what he asked.

What he told me was not music 1o my cars. | was to totally sever
all ties to everything. [ would start a fast descent into the gurter, from
where T would appear to be much more appealing and believable o
my new “masters.”

LEphraim was sending me out on the street withour a cent. “You
make contact when you're hungry, and after vou've gotten the link,
call this number and we’ll meer.™

After making the call, | was to wait one day and then come 1o the
Four Seasons Hotel in downtown Washington, D.C. T had the name of
the guest | was 1o ask for. Ephraim would wait for me there, There
was to be no other contact with him. I was to make a new group of
friends on the street, so in the event of an accident of some sort, there
would be someone who knew me and would call my family. I was still
under my real identity, and | was to keep 2 loose contact with Bella.
Thar was the only point that [ found difficult. I couldn't tell her any-
thing on the phone, because no doubt her phone was being listened to.
She was not to know what was raking place. I couldn'’t even tell her
this was coming closer to an end.

I was going to start this whole charade the next day, so I decided
to have one last mghr our on the rown before I moved to scum alley,

I went down to Rumors, a well-known watering hole in down-
town Washington, D.C., and plunged into a boule of tequila and
some tall glasses of Coke. [ was hurting all over from fear; 1 was
scared of what | was getning into and ar the same time ashamed of
being scared. | wanted out; | wondered what would happen if [ just
walked over to the bus rerminal and got on the first bus our of there,
getting off at the last stop, wherever it was. It would probably be the
best solution for everybody. My family needed me like they needed a
hole in the head; I'd been nothing but trouble for them as far back as
I could remember. 1 could feel self-pity taking over, which made
things even worse.
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Suddenly, through my alcohol-induced haze | nouced a woman.
She asked me if the seat next to me was taken. What happened next is
a blur. All I can remember is getting a positive response. In the cab on
the way to my hotel, some time later, alarm bells were going off in my
mind. This is too casy, it's a setup, [ thought. She is here to kidnap me,
rake me back 1o Israel. There was no way such a beautiful lady would
just fall for a drunk like me, leaving behind the girlfriend she'd ven-
tured out with and going halfway across town to his hotel. Unless
something I'd said that I couldn’t remember had made a big impres-
sion on her. | decided to take the risk. If she was working for the
Mossad, it was only a matter of time before they got me anyway, so |
might as well take the casy route and go with her.

As it turned out, she wasn't working for the Mossad. She was as
hungry for sympathy as | was, and took just as much out of that night
as she put into it. I vaguely remember raking her downstairs and get-
ting her a cab back to the city. By morning, the encounter was molded
mto my dreams; I could hardly rell what had really happened and
what | only dreamed after she'd lefr.

This was going to be my last breakfast before [ hit the street. | was
on my own, pointing at a target that I had no idea how to hit. I'd
packed all my clothes in the suitcases and was wearing my pinstripe
suir, 1 would roll in the gutter with it, and after several days, I'd look
like a man who'd lost it all.

It was then that [ realized I was going abourt this the wrong way.
Ephraim had given me a task and had told me how to carry it out. The
method he'd suggested might work for him but not for me, Had this
been a regular operation in the Mossad, we would have discussed it,
and after several hours of brainstorming, would have come up with
the best method for me to carry out the task. That hadn't happened,
and | was not ready to do things his way, If | was destined 10 be a
street person, it would be out of despair, and that would show. If 1
tried to play the part, it just wouldn't work.

I was going to take the head-on approach that 1 knew 1 could han-
dle. [ put my Israeli passport in my pocket and headed for the subway.
I got off by the shopping center about one block away from the
embassy. | was going to have a cup of coffee and then make my move,
Twenty minutes later, I was getting out of a cab at the gate of the Jor-
danian embassy, less than one hundred yards from the Israeli embassy.
1 was questioned by the guard inside the main entrance as to who |
was and what my business was there. | said I had to talk to the person
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in charge of security. The guard insisted on knowing the purpose of
my Visit,

“I need to talk 1o someone from security,” I repeated, pulling out
my Israeli passport and showing it to the guard.

He reached out to take it, but | put it back in my pocket. “Only to
the man in charge of sccurity.”

He hesitared for a moment, then picked up the phone and spoke in
rapid Arabic for several seconds. Then he turned to me. “Just one
minute, please. The person you wanted is on his way, Would you
please walk through rthe gate?™ He pointed to a metal detector gate,
like those used in airports, situated in the center of the hall, just by the
four stairs leading up 10 a second level. After going through that, | was
checked by a second uniformed guard with a hand-held detector. A
tall, thin man in a dark blue suir stepped into the hall. He stopped sev-
eral feet from me. “What can we do for vou?”

1 took our my Israeli passport again and handed it to him. “It’s
more like what can | do for you.”

He opened the passport and leafed through ir, looking at the
photo and again at me. A smile appeared on his face, hesitant at first
but gradually broadening into a grin. “Would you care to follow me,
please?”

“I'd love t0.”

He walked up the few steps and led me to what seemed 10 be the
quiet office section of the embassy. We entered a small room with a
desk and several chairs around it. The curtains on the large window
were shut, but the room was well lit. On the wall behind the desk was
a large photo portrait of King Hussein in his military uniform, smiling
at the camera.

The place was as foreign to me as a place could get. 1 had fele
more at home in the Soviet embassy. The tall, elegant man sat under
the king’s portrait and pointed to the seat oppasite him. He was far
too elegant for this office. “Would you care for something to drink, or
perhaps a snack?”

I began to wonder if there was some universal law of intecrogation
that stipulated subjects always be offered food and drink firse. “A cof-
fee would be grear,™ [ replied.

He spoke to the guard who'd escorted us 1o the room and sent
him on his way. He then put my passport on the desk in front of me.
“What brings vou to us”—he glanced at the passport again—"Mrt.
Os. . . rovvasky?"”

“Ostrovsky,” | corrected him. “You could say that greed brought
me here, also a good dose of wanting revenge.”

A4
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“Revenge, now there's a nice word. Who do you want to take
your revenge upon?”

“My former employer.”

“And who might that be?”

“The Mossad.”

I could see the color of his face change from a healthy tan to a
dusty gray in a marter of seconds. Had [ chanced upon a mole the
Mossad had in Jordan? Thar was always a possibility, albeit a remote
one. Ephraim hadn’t said there were none; all he had said was thar it
wasn’t high on the priority list. I would not live very long if this man
turned out to be working for the Mossad. He got up from behind the
desk and walked to the door. “I'll be back in a minute,” he said, a
slight tremble in his voice. I'd ¢learly made an impression on the man.
If he was indeed a mole and worried that [ was a Mossad defecror
who could uncover him, he'd be out of the building and on his way to
the Isracli embassy, which was probably visible from the window if 1
moved the curtains,

I got up and stared into the hall; there was no one there. Then the
guard showed up with the coffee, putting it and a large bowl of Oreos
on the table. The Oreos made me smile. They seemed our of place, just
like 1 was.

Almost fifteen minutes later, the man returned. He had his color
back and was smiling again. *How do we know that you are who you
say you are#”

“1 have some documentation that you can see, and I'm willing to
answer any questions that you may have.”

We both lit cigarertes, and the questioning started, | made it clear
right off the bat that I didn't know the names of any Mossad agents in
Jordan, or in any other Arab country, for that matter. Nor was [ about
to give them names or descriptions of Mossad case officers I'd worked
with. He was mostly interested in finding out abour the Mossad’s inter-
vention in the fundamentalist movement in Jordan and what influence
the Mossad had on the political agenda of Israel. He made it very clear
to me that they had no trust in the Israeli politicians who were saying
they wanted peace, because of the leaks, He explained 1o me thar it was
made clear time and time again to all the Israclis they had mer, that
leaking details of the meetings or even the fact that the meetings took
nlace would jeopardize them and render them invalid. And vet there
wasn't a single time thar the details were not leaked. The only conclu-
sion the Jordanians could come to was that the people they were meet-
ing with, at great danger to themselves, were not at all sincere and that
the day was not far when such meetings would be a thing of the past.
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Atrer several hours, the man was satisfied that | was who | said |
was. “Mow I'll call my boss, He might have some questions for you.”

A pleasant gentleman in his late fifties entered the room. His
receding silver hair was neatly combed back, and beneath his shining
forehead he wore gold-rimmed glasses, a small mustache, and a
friendly smile.

The vounger man stood to attention. “Mr. Ostrovsky, Brigadier
General Zuhir.”

The newcomer extended his arm to me, “I'm verv pleased 1o meet
you, Victor. | hope we’ll have a long and fruitful relationship.” The
man was good; right off the bat, he came across as a friend, first
impressions and all. “T hope that my friend here has treated you
well?”

“Yes, indeed.”

“[ understand from him that you're a Mossad officer, or rather an
ex-Mossad officer?”

“That’s correct.”

“Do you know the liaison officer of the Mossad in Washington?”

“1do.”

*I know him too. I met him at a party at the State Department last
Christmas.”

“Well, that wouldn’t be my friend.”

“Why is that?"

“He wasn't here last Christmas. He only came here about three
months ago.”

The man smiled. It was clearly a trick question that very few peo-
ple could have answered correctly. “Now that | know you were a
member, how do [ know you are not one anymore?”

“You have to trust me, 1 guess.”

“What are vou offering us?™

“I could help bring your intelligence agency into the rwentieth cen-
tury, and at the same time prevent some bad things from happening to
your economy and your king.”

The instant | mentioned the word “king,” his face rurned serious.
“What do you mean when you say that about the king? Is there any
danger to the king?"”

“Yes, Nothing imnuncnt or anything that 1 could tell you abour at
the moment. But, yes, there are those who would like to see him
dead.”

The room fell silent. The general was thinking. The younger man
stared at ham, waiting for him to say or do something. The tension
was rising; even the guard standing art the door was serious.
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“Would you be willing to go to Amman and see someone there?”

“Amman?" The quesnon came at me like a locomotive. Amman,
the capital of Jordan, so close to Israel, yer so far away. How the hell
would I ger there, and would I ever come back? Was there a way 10
get out of this? Could | say no and still pull it off? The general could
sce | was hesitant. “Think about it. | will be here all day tomorrow,
and yvou can call and tell me what vou have decided.”

“1f | say yes, when will | be going?”

*I didn’t say you will, I just wanted to know if you would agree. |
have to talk to the right people abour this,”

“Will you be using the phone line to talk about me?”

“No. I will use the embassy's coded sysrem.™

“Don’t—that is, if you don’t want to kill me. Your code was bro-
ken a long time ago, and all your ‘secure’ lines are anything but.”

“So what do you recommend?”

“Use your diplomatic pouch or send a messenger.”

“That will take Jonger.”

I got up. “T'll call you tomorrow with my answer, I don't really see
any problems. I might just need some guarantees.”

“Okay. Unril tomorrow, then.”

“One more thing. Would you see what you can do to take care of
my greed, should things work out?™

“Don’t worry. We will not leave you hanging, if you will pardon
the expression.” He and the others smiled, but I couldn't get myself to
do so. “What will you call yourself when you call?” the general asked.

1 thoughr for a moment. “Isa. I'll say it's Isa.”

“See you soon then, Isa.” The general smiled and walked our of
the room. The younger man escorted me to the front door. “Should 1
call you a cab?”

Getting into a cab ourside the Jordanian embassy, right across
from the Isracli embassy, was definitely not a good idea. “Could you
give me a ride instead?”

We went to his car around the back, and he drove me to the near-
est subway station. I gave him the address of the hotel and my room
number in case they needed to get in touch with me in a hurry. Then |
BOT our of the car as fast as | could and entered the station. The ball
was rolling; I'd hit it halfway across the courr, and now 1 would wait
and see what would become of it.



HAPTER,

phraim was supposed 1o have delivered money to me, but for some

reason, he hadn't done so. Had this been a normal Mossad opera-

tion, he could have gotten as much money as he wanted from a
bank sayan—a Jewish banker who is regarded as trustworthy and will
open the bank for you at any time and provide as much money as
needed. He would be reimbursed the following day, once the station
got the money from headquarters. Bank sayans were used only in
emergency situations. But this was not 2 normal operation, and so I'd
have to wait for Ephraim ro arrange things, or use whatever [ could
get trom the people 1 was supposedly working for.

1 couldn’t help finding the situarion somewhat ludicrous; here |
was, interacting with the top brass of intelligence agencies of several
countries simultancously, and | didn’t have enough money for a proper
meal. Things would have to start to move fast, or I'd end up on the
street before 1 knew it. According to my estimation, 1 could stretch my
stay at the hotel for a few more days and then thar was it.

I forced myself into a joyous mood and called Bella. She wanted to
know what was going on, what [ was doing, and what she was sup-
posed to do for money. Ephraim had promised to arrange a check for
her that would look as if it had been sent from me. I was to tell her
that it was an advance for the security advising job I was doing for
some company. There was no reason for her to suffer a lack of funds.
If I'd been working for the Mossad, she would have been well taken
care of, and if I hadn’t been, [ would get a job and do it myself. But in
this situation of limbo, Ephraim had to do it. As it tumned our,
Ephraim never got around to it, bur at the time, 1 was still under the
impression he would. | was constantly worried about how Bella was
making ends meet. | knew that her father would help her, bue | also
knew that things would have to get pretty bad before she would ask
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him for help, Bur there was very little [ could do abour it except lose
sleep.

At three aM., | decided to find our if the Jordanians had placed
someone to check me out. 1 gor dressed and walked out of the hotel.
The streets were deserted, and no one came after me. If they had put a
tail on me, he was either blind or asleep.

I made a call to the British embassy the next day and asked for an
appointment with the gofer. | wanted to meet him somewhere outside
the embassy and give him some information, He asked me to call back
in an hour or so. When [ did, he told me ke would not be able to come
out and meet me but thar he'd be waiting for me at the embassy when-
ever I'd like to come, | realized that they regarded me as dangerous
and suspected that 1 could in fact be teaming up with someone who
might harm them, I couldn’t risk entering another embassy just then,
so I said | would give him the informanon over the phone,

This was a snipper that Ephraim had left me just before he went
back to [srael. Since terrorism was on the increase in Europe at the time,
there was a great demand for information regarding terrorist activity,
and the Mossad was more creative in that field than most. Since the
Mossad regarded lsraeli targets as sacred, they were willing to deal with
Just about anyone to get advance warning about attacks on such rargets.

It was a standing order for field personnel at the tume to make
contact, under false flag,’ with whatever terrorist organizations they
could. The only restriction was that the meeting be held in a secure
environment, meaning that the casc officer would have to get clear-
ance from the Mossad European center in Brussels as to the danger
level of the said terrorist, and the officer in charge of field security
would have to arrange the security for the meeting. '

Once the contact was established, case officers were authorized to
make any exchange for information that would lead to the prevention
of an arrack on an Israeli targer. Although it was the Mossad’s policy
1o let it be understood that they regarded Jewish targets as having the
same level of urgency as Israeli targets had, that was not the case. In
fact, officers were on numerous occasions made to understand thar it
was not part of the job to protect Jews; that was the job of the locals.
Under no circumstances was anyone allowed to burn a source who
could one day bring in a warning about an Israeli target, in order to
save a Jewish one.

1. False flag: Intelligence jatgon meaning a deliberate misrepresentation of one’s
nationality.
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In some cases, there would be an extra restriction, when it was
believed thar the terrorists might have an alliance with other terrorists
who'd be willing to hit Israeli targets. Thar restriction was that they
were not to be given demolition marerials. In those cases, the only
thing that could be exchanged for the information would have to be in
the logistical sphere, mainly documentation.

None of this was new to me; it was the same as I'd been
instructed, and for which 1 had approved requests many times when
on the desks. As part of that drive, a deal was struck with a French
group called Action Directe for a series of blank, first-grade British
passports, in exchange for information about possible attacks on
Israeli targers. Action Directe was led to believe it was dealing with a
South American group that wanted to exchange the information for
arms from lsrael.

A dead letter box? in a phone booth in West Germany was planned
as the means to ger the passports 1o Action Directe. By using me as an
information conduit, Ephraim was leaving it up to the Brits to get the
Germans to make the arrest when the French terronisis ried to pick
up the passports. The Germans would probably tail the Mossad drop
man, then take the Action Directe men into custody when they arrived
at the pickup pomnt. Ephraim didn't want the Action Directe to think
they’d been tricked by their South American connection, though. If
they did think thar, they might try to kill the messenger, who was in
fact a Mossad officer. Ephraim was therefore going 1o have the Action
Directe people warned, so that they wouldn’t think it was a wap and
then take revenge on the Israelis for serting them up.

Ephraim was hoping (and so was ) that an incident, even if it
didn’t come home to haunt the Mossad, would at least put them in
some very hot warter. We knew, however, that to break the Mossad's
hold on the government would not be a short process. Even the pass-
port drop was planned about a month ahead: it was explained to the
terrorists that it would take time to prepare, and that would give the
terrorists time to get the information that would be regarded as pay-
ment for the papers.

The British gofer was out of breath by the time I was finished.
“Do you want our people to contact you or anything?” he asked.

“I'll call back in a few days. If they have a question, tell them to

1. Dead letter box: A designated place where intelligence information or othet
material can be dropped off 1o be picked up later. The Mossad will only deliver
10 a dead letter box, never pick up from one.
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leave it with you so you can ask me. If | can, I'll tell you ahead of time
when I'm coming, although 1 doubt that very much.”™ There was a
silenice on the line. [ realized he didn’t exactly know what he was sup-
posed to do. | hung up and called the Jordanians. “Can I talk to Zuhir,
please? This is Isa.”

“Just one minute please, Mr. Isa.” I could rell from the woman’s
voice that she knew this was important. Seconds later, a second
woman came on the line. *Mr. Isa? I'm Lorraine. The general will talk
to you in a minute.” Things were going much better than | could have
imagined. 1 knew that if Mousa, my field activity instructor and now
head of secunty in Europe, could sce me, he would be extremely
proud of how | was working. But | prayed that he wouldn't, because if
he did, 1 would be stretched out on a slab in the morgue, with a
rwenty-two-caliber buller planted deep in my skull,

“Hello, ka. How are you today?”

“Very well, and yourself?"

“Fine. I'm getting ready for Ramadan. You know this?”

“Sure. | hope you have an easy fast.”

“Thank you. Whart did you decide?”

“What can | tell you? I was always a sucker for a nice trip.”

“Does that mean yes?”

"“Yes, it does.”

“Great, Now I'll tell my people, and we will get back to you. Will
you be at the same place as before?”

"Yes, only I'm running out of money. If | don't make some very
soon, ['ll have to leave.”

“Where will you go?” That was one question I didn’t want 1o
hear. Whart it meant was that there was a possibility it would rake
longer than a few days. At that moment, 1 was perplexed; I couldn
understand the laxity with which I was being handled. Maybe | was
used to an extremely aggressive agency that would grab ar almost any
opportunity; the man doing the grabbing could probably see an
opportunity for personal advancement in every move. The general
wasn't part of this mechanism. He was a true soldier, doing whar he
thoughr was right, but not making decisions for others who were not
under his command.

I was frustrated and it showed, all the more so since | was not
making any effort to hide it. | realized then whar Ephraim wanted to
achieve by placing me in this situation without any means of support;
h|: wanted me to rely on the success of my mission. | hated him for
that,

“I have no idea at the moment, but 1 will try to solve my financial
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problems as fast as | can.” I could see that he didn't really understand
what | meant, “1 need ro make some money to live on, and I can’t
work in the US,, so I'll have to go to Canada and find something
there.”

“Will you tell me where 1 can find you there, in case the answer
we are waiting for is delayed?”

“If you don't have one before | go, then just forger it.” | could feel
my insides starting to hear up. [ was getung more and more restless,
and I realized that | had to srart watching my back more than ever.

When I'd walked into the embassy, | was so hyped up on what |
had been sent ro do that 1 hadn't given that much thought to the
implications. 1'd expected them to grab me with rwo nands and get me
working right on the spot. It hadn't happened that way, and things
were starung to ger sticky.

The process was now irreversible; the information was on its way
to Amman and the Jordanian intelligence offices there. Since this was
no doubt high-priority mformation, it would be handled by the rop-
ranking officers in that service, and if the Mossad was worth its
weight in salt, it would hear about it, either from an officer who was
recruited or from one of the assistants working for him. Even if nei-
ther ot those conduits 1o the Mossad existed, the opportunity of hav-
ing an Israeli spy working for Jordanian intelligence would most likely
be brought before the king. And among the king's retinue, for sure, the
Mossad would have an ear of some sort. Knowing what [ knew and
could give away, it would become a prime directive to stop me. A team
could be preparing ro grab me or eliminare me as we spoke.

“Call me when you hear something. [ hope I'll still be there.”

“Will you call before you leave?”

“Okay.” I hung up, feeling as though someone had let all the air
out of my balloon.

The call came ar eight-thirty in the mormng. It was Zuhir, “Are
you ready to go?”

“When?”

“How about tomorrow afternoon?”

“That’s fine with me.” | had made it a condition that he would go
with me. I sensed that he was an honorable man, and the promise of
safe passage was something that 1 needed. In the short time I'd known
him, 1 realized that he was someone who would readily die rather than
go back on his word or lose his honor.

“I'll pick you up at your hotel at rwelve,”

“For how long are we going?”
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“A week. Is that okay?”

“Sure, see you tomorrow.” I hung up the phone and sat there for
several minutes, trying to digest what had just happened. I was about
to g0 to a country I'd always regarded as an enemy and be a guest of
the intelligence agency on the other side. | was going to the other side:
That was what 1 was about 1o do. If there had been a way to explain
everything that [ had done up to this point, what I was abour to do
was unexplainable. At the moment, I figured the Mossad didn’t know
about me. On the other hand, if they did know abour me, they
couldn’t say much since it would expose a source., Bur then what I
could give away was much more than any source could provide, so
they couldn't atford to let me go over. They might have tolerated my
activity to this point, but there was no way they would allow me to
land in Amman.

I was now stepping into an abyss from which the climb back
might not be at all possible. I had rwenty-four hours in which to pre-
pare for the trip, and there was really nothing I could do to cover
myself,

I 'took a shower and quickly got dressed. [ had 1o get to a phone
and call Ephraim. It was a Saturday, and 1 hoped he would be there.
The phone rang several times, but there was no answer. | couldn't
make a ¢all from the hotel, nor could I tel] Bella what was going on, |
decided to try again Jater, [ walked back to the horel and waited in the
room. Time stood stll. What if I can’t get him? What if they're wait-
tng for me, and this is all a trap just to get me there so someone can
hand me over? I wasn't thinking straight. I was roo excited and scared.
It was like walking on rhe rim of a volcano with your eves closed. 1
could feel the danger, bur | couldn’t see it.

_Bg.- six in the afternoon, | got Ephraim. | was exhausted from the
tension,

“What's up?” He sounded cheerful; something had apparently
gone right for him.

“I'm on my way tomorrow,”

. He didn't say a word for several seconds, then in a slow and low
voice, “Do you mean what I think you do?”

“You bet. I was called this morning. I'm leaving some time around
noon tomorrow.”

~ “I'll be damned. We don’t know anything about this, not even a
hint. Do you know that, even if you don’t go, it’s already the biggest
farce in this organization’s history?™

I knew exactly what he was talking about—the myth that the
Mossad knows exactly what is going on in Arab countries {in this case
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Jordan) was just thar: a myth. This was supposed to ring every alarm
bell in the bloody Mossad, yer no one had heard of it. | took a deep
breath: 1 couldn't express my relief, “But you do want me 10 go”

“Yes. That is, if you think you're up to it.”

“And you want me to proceed according to plan?”

“Yes, just like we planned it. That is, if they'll let you.”

“So I'll call you when | come out.”

“'ll wait for you. How long?”

“The man said one week.”

“Just remember that there are other people there, and if they put
you in a hotel, stay out of sight. We might not have anyone in their
system, but we sure have people in Palestinian circles, and they're all
over the place. 1 still can’t believe we didn’t hear about this.” He was
laughing. “Whar a bunch of bullshirers. 1 wonder now how many of
the so-called agents we have are bogus.”

I hung up and went back to the hotel.

It was cleven forty-five. 1 was waiting in the hotel lobby. I'd made
arrangements for the hotel 1o hold my room, and they'd prepared 3
bill. At twelve sharp, a limousine pulled up out front, and Zuhir’s
assistant, the rall slim man, walked in and greeted me.

“Are you ready?”

“Yes, but there is the matrer of the hotel.”

“What is it?"”

“] have no money, and | have to hold the room unil 1 return. l
spoke 1o the general abour that.”

He went back to the limo and then returned to me with the gen-
eral’s credit card. *The general said to put it all on his card.”

“They'll want him to sign.”

“I'll sign for him. You go ahead to the car.”

[ did. Zuhir was seated in the far corner. | could barely see into the
car, but his smile was shining through. “Abalan w' sabalan, my
friend,” he said, stretching out his hand to greet me.

“How are you?" | said, smiling. There was just no way of not lik-
g this man.

“We'll be flying to New York first, and from there we're going to
Amman. | have made all the arrangements, We'll be picked up at the
airport. All will be well.”

“Do you know the people who will be picking us up at the air-
port?”

“They are all my friends, people you can trust. And here.” He
handed me a set of tickers: They were in a red folder with the Jorda-
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nian crown printed in gold and the word “Alia” 1 Enghish and Ara-
tie. This was not the sort of thing I wanted to flash around in an air-
port—either at Washington National or Kennedy.

“Would you mind keeping this for me?” | handed him the folder.
slipping the tickets inside my coar pocket. He smiled. *You spies hav;
to think of everything.”

“Well, thar is if we don’t want ro hang.”

"“Don’! you worry, my friend, you are with me, No one will touch
you.

| smiled back. “Would you drop me off at the entrance ro the
Sheraton? The one by the airport2™

“Sure.” There was a ringe of wariness on his round face. He was
puzzled, trying to figure out what [ was up ro.

“1 just want ro take a cab from there to Washington National.
After all, we don't know who we might meet there, and | don’t want
to be seen with the most senior Jordanian military man in the U.S.,
boarding a plane. You'll agree with me that that would not be a good
idea.”

“1 should have thought of it myself, bur of course you're one hun-
dred percent right, What about Kennedy? Whar will we do there?”

“We're traveling first class?” I took our my tickers and looked at
them.

“Yes, of course.” Zuhir smiled.

“So we will mect in the Alia lounge. Where is it?”

“Alia doesn't really have a lounge, but we do use the Air France
one. There 1s no Air France flight, so we'll be there alone—I mean
only people flying to Amman.”

“50 I'll see you there,” | looked out the window. Zuhir instructed
thf: driver to stop first at the Sheraton, His assistant then said some-
thing to Zuhir in Arabic, and Zuhir turned ro me. “Do vou know
where the Air France lounge is?” '

“No, I'm afraid [ don™.”

:Do you know where the El Al counters are"

Yes." There was a shght hesitation in my voice.
~ “Well, the Air France counters are on the one side and the Jounge
is on the other. S0 when we go to the flight, we will pass by the El Al
iuumcrs." He gave his assistant a worned look, then said to me
What do you propose o do?" ’

“Nothing. I'll meet you in the lounge, and when the time comes
we'll go for the flight, What else can we do?™ !

The car came 1o a stop under the large concrete canopy of the
Sheraton, and | got out. The chauffeur took my suitcase out of the
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trunk. Not looking back at the car, | walked into the lobby. 1 waited
there for several minutes, then walked back out again and hailed the
first cab that was waiting at the end of the ramp. There was no chance
that my friends from the Mossad could have arranged for that cab to
be there; there was no rime. If someone was following me, and ar this
point | doubted thar very much, the stop ar the hotel would have con-
fused them completely. It sometimes sounds childish, all these games
of cat-and-mouse, but when it's your life that's ar stake, the games
stop being fun. Every move that you can make to throw off whoever is
after you (if they are there or not) is a blessing and might just buy you
enough time to stay alive. There had been umes when | was with the
Office when | was positive | was clean and went about my business,
still keeping an eve open, only to realize that I'd picked up a tail |
hadn’t identified.

The cab ride ook only five minutes, bur it turned out to be a
smart move. As | handed my ticket and passport to the security man at
the airport, | felt 2 tap on my shoulder. | was sure it was Zuhir or his
assistant wanting 1o tell me something. 1 didn’t wanr 10 wrn and see
them, as this would have worked against all the evasive moves we'd
taken.

“Vic.” A voice now accompanied the rapping. | knew the voice; it
was someone from another world, another life. | rurned my head,
putting a broad grin on my face. Was this coincidence or something
else? “Rolly! How are you?” 1 put my suitcase on the ground and took
his outstrerched hand. He shook my hand vigorously. He had once
been a good friend; we'd spent much time together talking abour
things at the top of the world. I never worked with Rolly; he was liai-
son and | was a case officer. But we'd run into each other quite often
when we worked at headquarters. He was doing haison with the Scan-
dinavians when | was working the Danish desk.

“I heard about your bad luck. I'm sorrv.™ He was genuinely con-
cerned.

“Thar's life. How are things with you?” He was the Mossad hai-
son to the CIA, and I knew he wasn’t about to spill his guts to me, but
1 asked anyway. Whar else could | say? Here I was, on my way to Jor-
dan with a Royal Jordanian Airline ricket in my pocket, and whom do
| meet?

“Nothing new, just the usual.”

I thought back to the brigadier general who'd been selling arms
to the franans. 1 did feel somewhar guilty about him, since it was |
who had made the call for Ephraim to the FBIL. “*What is going on
with Bar-Am?"
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“Who?™ Rolly, a six-foot-one stringbean, leaned forward as if he
wanted to hear berter. His voice got low as though he wanted mine to
do the same.

“Avraham Bar-Am, the general, the one who was arrested for
arms dealing with Iran or something.”

“What about him?”
~ "Aren’t you guys going to help him out? After all, he did work
for us.”

"I thought you were out of this game?” He smiled, squinting his
eyes as if thinking that maybe all was not as he'd heard it

“I am out, but that doesn't mean thac 1 can forget it all overnight,
you know. I did a lot of work for him in headquarters, way back
when. 1 thought that if you put someone in shir, it would be half-
decent to be there to get him out.”

"As of when does the game work that way? I never saw Bar-Am
being forced into this thing with a gun to his head. He went in to
make a profit and cash in on his connections. Tt didn't work out the
way he wanted to, that’s his rough luck.”

“"How did they get him?"

_ “I have no idea. One day, they were doing great; the next day, our
of the blue, came the FBI, and it was all over. | have a hunch it was
someone from the inside who wanted the deal off. It was getting in the
way of Blue Pipeline, "

“That would be stupid. It would surely make the Americans think
that one hand doesn’t know what the other is doing.™ I was hoping he
would confirm this. Afrer all, that had been the main reason behind
our little exercise.

“You ber that is what they think.” 1 could see by his face that he
realized he'd talked too much already, and to an ex who might not be.

1 “Hey, Rolly, it's me, Victor! What are you worried about? You
think T will take what you just told me and fly with it to Amman or
something?” '

We both started to laugh,

Thenl-r.- was more to Blue Pipeline than just sending ammunition 1o
the Iranians: At that point, the Mossad was training Iranian pilots in
Germany. The contact was made by the German BND, their secret ser-
vice. It was not made through the upper echelons bu through the

ﬁ. Blue Pipelinc: The mickname given 1o the Isracli arms sales 10 the Iranians that
ad once been Imss[akcni}' delivered in a lighr blue Zim (Isracli shipping line
Container. Danish ships were used in the shipping of the producrs,
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working level of department heads. That was the way the Mossad
liked to work; it would give the intermediates the ability to bring in
good information and help their careers, and keep the top brass out,
their so-called politcal conscience clean.

The Iranian air force consisted mainly of American-made fighter
jets such as the Phantom, which untl some vears earlier had been the
leading fighter in the Israeli arsenal 1oo. It was imperartive for the Ira-
nians 1o be able to rrain their pilots in 3 safe environment and also
receive parts for their crumbling air force. Israel was happy 1o oblige,
using the Germans as intermediaries so that the Iranians would not
have to admit to themselves that they were getting help from the Zioa-
ist devil himself. In the scenic state of Schieswig Holstein, Israeli pilots
were training lranian pilots in several locations, At two airfields, they
were getting flight training in specially modified Cessnas, and at the
third they were training in five simulators brought specially from
[srael.

At the same time, parts for the decimated Iranian planes were
making their way overland from ports m Iraly, all the way across Ger-
many and into Denmark, where they were [oaded on Danish ships.
Other parts and weaponry were transferred directly from Israeli-leased
ships to Danish ones in the Danish port.

The local police authorities in the northern German stare were
well aware of the activity but had no qualms about it, as long as there
were no terrorist activities in the area and the operation was pumping
money into their personal pockets,

Rolly nodded his head. “Look over there.”

“Where?™ 1 asked, turning my head slowly so as not 1o attract
attention. Rolly was never good at field activity. He didn’t really need
to be: He was liaison.

“Over there in the corner, standing with that rall man.”

“Yes?™

*That 1s Zuhir, the Jordanian military attaché, 1 wonder where
he’s off 10?™

“You want me to make contact and find out for you?”

“You would, wouldn't you? You are one crazy son of a bitch.” He
grinned. “Stay away from him. We don't need some internarional inci-
dent, about which | will have to write endless reports.”

1 knew he would have to write a report abour meeting me, where
he thought | was going, and, almost to the word, what we’d said. The
fact that he’d recognized Zuhir and would ry and find out where he
was heading was not very promising for me. [ was going to make light
of it. “Give my regards to Mousa.”
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“l don't work with Mousa,”

“He's head of security in Europe now, and yow’ll mention me in
your report, so send him my regards. Trust me, he'll get it. By the way,
are you coming or going?”

“Neither. I'm here to pick up my wife. She’s coming back from a
trip to Israel.”

It was my turn ar the ticket counter, [ was glad to hear him say,
“There she is. I'll be seeing you.”

1 shook his hand and gave my ticker to the artendant behind rhe
counter. After getting my boarding pass and walking through security,
1 stood ar the gate waiting to board. Zuhir didn't acknowledge me,
just as we'd decided, but | could see by his face that he was more than
curious about whom I'd met,

It was dark by the time I walked across the long hall in Kennedy
Airport atfter the short flight from Washington Narional and entered
the Air France lounge on the second floor. The El Al waiting area was
full, and | was praying thar no one in the large crowd would know
me. All I could hope for was that the El Al flight would leave before
the Alia one, so that | would not have to walk along the aisle with all
the people gomng to Jordan, in front of some three hundred lsraelis,
one of whom was bound to recognize me.

Zuhir was anxious to hear abour my encounter back at Washing-
ton National and found what I had told him very amusing. “Of all the
places and all the times to meet a friend.” He started to laugh. “Fate,
that’s whar it is. And there is nothing we can do about it. We are in
the hands of Allah, to do with as He wishes.”

“I sure hope He is in a good mood today; I'm still not out of the
woods, as they say.”

“They don’t say that where I come from.” He laughed again,
clearly in a happy frame of mind. He was after all going home with a
trophy, an Isracli secrer service agent. | could imagine what it was like
by thinking the other way, as if I were bringing him. I'd probably be
walking on the clouds. .

We stayed in the lounge for more than an hour. At last, it was rime
to board the plane.

“Do you know?™ | turned to him, speaking in a low voice. “Did
the Fl Al flight leave already?”

“No. They'll leave almost an hour after we do.” He knew whar [
was thinking. “Would you like to put on some special clothing or
something?"

“Do you have a spare kafia?”
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He opened his attaché case and took out the red and white head-
gear. He handed it ro me. “Will this do2"

| wrapped it over my head, making it hard 1o see my face from the
side. It made me feel much berter. “Thanks, it will indeed.”

When we walked past the Israeli airline waiting area, almost all
the passengers for the Fl Al flight were staring. It wasn't every day
they got to see the enemy this close. | recognized a friend from Holon
in the crowd, and [ was sure he recognized me. But it didn’t marter: As
long as he wasn't working for Mossad or Shaback, he would not have
anyone to tell it to. Besides, he knew 1 worked in some secret place,
and he would think this was part of my job. I knew rhar he'd wait for
the day when he'd meet me on the street in Holon and tell me how he
saw me boarding a flight to Jordan and how smart he was for not
making a move that would probably have blown my cover.

We were finally ushered into what was in fact an Alitalia airplane
chartered by Alia with a Jordanian crew. When the plane acrually rook
off and was in the air, | realized that there was really no way back.
Next stop, Amman.

[‘,lmwmrlﬂ

Tuesony. Mav 20, 1986

t was getting dark ar the end of a long flight. | could see land as the

plane banked slightly to the right. We were now heading east. [ felt a

twitch in my stomach when the plane crossed the shoreline. The pilot
made an announcement telling us where we were at that point. |
already knew exactly where we were: Thar gray land below, dotted
with the sun’s last ravs, was Syria.

The concept was hard for me 1o comprehend; here [ was, an
Isracli, seated in the first-class cabin of the Roval Jordanian Airline.
over Syria, accompanied by the Jordanian military attaché to the
United States. At that point in time, there were many who would have
haggled over who would hang me if they found out what I was really
up to.

Several minutes later, the wide-bodied plane made a second rurn
and was now heading south, beginning the descent into Amman, Jor-
dan. We had in cffect flown around Israel. From my window, [ could
see Israel passing by as the sun set on the other side of the Moab
mountains, | was so close to Bella, | could almost touch her, yet [ was
further from her and my children than [ had ever been. It was then
that the proverbial mountains of darkness took on a whole new mean-
ing.

By the time the plane had touched down in Queen Alia Interna-
tional Airport south of Amman, it was dark. Once the plane came 1o a
complete stop, the stewardess who had served us diligently all the way
from Kennedy Airport in New York stood behind us blocking one
aisle while the purser blocked the other, curtaining off the rest of the
passengers from us.

“They will make sure that no one gets off the plane before we
clear the terminal,” Zuhir said to me, pointing in the direction of the
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open door. We headed out of the plane alope. Zuhir shook the hand of
the pilotr, who by then was standing at the door smiling as though he
were about to meer the king himself. At the other end of the gangway,
we were met by several officers in full parade uniform who stiffened
like a steel spring and saluted as soon as they caught sight of my
escort. He gestured back and was quick to shake their hands. It was
clear that the officers were responding to more than just the man’s
rank: There was admiration present. We were ushered swiftly through
the small terminal, My passport was in Zuhir’s hands and was not
stamped—quire a standard procedure in this business.

At thar point, we were shown into a large VIP room where we
were greeted—or, rather, Zuhir was greeted—by a group of uniformed
officers; several of them were generals, and most of the others were
colonels, While Zuhir was mingling among his peers, | stayed some-
what in the background. A tall, slim, dark-haired gentleman with a
neat black mustache and a large smile walked up 1o me. “It is an
honor 10 meet you, Isa. You must call me Albert.”

I smiled back ar the man and shook his outstretched hand, nod-
ding to him, “Pleased to meet you, Albert.”

“Do you speak Arabic at all, my friend?”

“I'm afraid [ don't.”

“In that case, | hope you will forgive my English and allow me to
ask the meaning of words [ don't understand.”

“No problem,” ] said. “From what | can hear, your English is
nothing you need apologize for.”

“You are too kind." He smiled.

I was not about to start the game of names with this man in this
strange place, not unil [ got to know some of the ground rules a lirdle
better. A smile could be deceiving, hiding something very cymical
behind it. | was keeping one eye on Zuhir. It was his personal guaran-
tee for my safety and the trust | had in him as a man of honor that had
convinced me to make the trip. | didn't want to lose sight of my secu-
rity blanker. I trusted Zuhir mainly because he was a military man and
not part of the intelligence apparatus. | had no doubrt thar, if he lost
sight of me, things might happen that would be beyond his ability to
change, and then the system would provide him with a story to calm
his conscience. [ was not going ro ler that happen.

Once | caught Zuhir’s eye, I gestured to Albert as if to ask Zuhir if
he thought 1 could trust the man. Zuhir nodded to me, smiling, then
he left the group of officers and walked over to me. “This man will
take you to the hotel and will rake care of you, T know him and hold
him personally responsible for your well-being.” He put an arm
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around my shoulder. “Welcome to Jordan.” He then turned and
walked back to his comrades.

Albert led me our of the terminal into a warm night. There were
several parked cars and about ten men in civilian clothes standing by
the cars, waiting. When we came closer, they noticed us, and one man
opened the door of the second car in the row for us. Then his compan-
ions all got into the other cars. The small convoy made its way for
almost twenty munutes on what reminded me of the roads in the
Negev desert. The cars stopped in front of the Regency Palace Hotel in
Amman. I didn’t get to see much of the city as we drove in, bur as far
as | could rell, there wasn’t much to see. It wasn't a city in the Ameri-
can sense of the word, with high-rise buildings and neon lights, but
rather what looked ro me ar first glance like a very big village. Albert
explained that, since it was Ramadan, there was very little activity ar
all—not that it was a hopping place at any other particular time,

Much ro my surprise and somewhat to my dismay, 1 was registered
under my real name, even though I'd been “lsa™ all along. | was
handed a key ro a room on the eighth floor. Albert walked me to the
elevator and said he’d be back in abour an hour with some people
who'd like to talk to me. He suggested that | ger some rest; if |
wanted, | could order food from room service, *l think you should
stay i your room until we get everything sorted out.”

“How come I'm under my real name?”

“I don't know, I didn’t make the arrangements. The man who did
will be coming with me later. You can ask him.” The fact that they
might have just made a blunder thar would cost me my life didn't seem
to bather Albert much. “What is your rank?” | threw at him just as he
was about to leave.

He turned ro me, puzzled. “Why do you want 10 know?™

“Since we both carry a rank, it would be nice to know where one
stands.” Tt was utter bullshit, but for people in military organizations,
things like that marter. [ was shooting in the dark.

“I'm a caprain. What are, or should | say were, vou?” There was a
faint irony in his tone.

“Colonel.” His eyes opened slightly. I knew it had worked; a small
hierarchy was established. “One more thing.”

“Yes?”

*“I need a phone number or something in case of an emergency.”

“Sorry. But of course.” He took out a small pad and a pen and
scribbled something on it. “Here, this is the number of the security
police headguarters, | should be there in about ten minutes. You can
ask for Albert. But, as I said, I'll be back in an hour.”
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The room was almost identical to the one 1'd left behind in Wash-
ington except for the selection on the television. | was hoping to get
Israeli television, but it wasn't available. On the radio, however, |
could hear the Voice of Israel and almost all the other stations, includ-
ing Aibi Natan’s Voice of Peace.! There was a basket of fruit in the
room and the windows offered a beautiful view of the desert night.
The air was warm and had a sweet taste to it. [ took a shower and
ordered a dinner that consisted of humus and kufta, which [ knew bet-
ter as kabob. I was seated at the small table the waiter had rolled in
when there was a knock on the door.

It was slightly more than one hour from the time Albert had left
me at the elevator. | got up and walked 1o the door. Through the peep-
hole, 1 could see Albert and anorher man. | unlocked the door and
stepped back into the room. Alberr and three other men walked in;
apparently, two had been standing to one side, our of sight of the
peephole, They shook my hand, nodding and smiling, then walked in
and sat around a small coffee table by the French window. After the
introductions, they all nsisted I finish my dinner. [ offered to order
some food for them. They said they would eat after their friend Fadllal
had joined us.

They asked if they could smoke, and within minutes the room was
filled with the familiar cigarerte smoke. It appeared they were all smok-
ing Marlboros, 1 stuck to my Camels. One of the newcomers was a
voung chap of about twenty-five; he was apparently the assistant of a
heavyser man in a black suit whose smile seemed to have been rattooed
onto his face. The third looked like Albert’s older brother, with silver
hair and gold-rimmed glasses. By observing their posture and manners, [
could easily see that they were officers. I politely pushed away what was
left of my food, explaining thar I'd in fact eaten on the plane and wasn't
that hungry. The truth was that 1 was very hungry, but I'd decided to get
this thing off on a good footing and eat later, when they did.

“So, Isa.” The heavyset man turned to me, patting his mustache
with one hand. At this point, | realized that we all had mustaches, all
of which were very much alike except for the one belonging ro the
man who looked like Albert, which was a longer, British-style mus-
tache with what seemed to be waxed sharp ends pointing up.

“] read the report Zuhir sent in,” continued the man, “and I find
rhat we have so much to ralk about, | just don’t know where to begin.
What would you recommend we do first?”

1. Voice of Peace: Pirate radio station anchored outside Israeli territorial waters,
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“Well.” 1 took a cigarette out of my pack and tapped it on the
table. “What I would recommend is to see what it is I can’t do for
vou, 50 that you don’t have expectations that [ can’t meer.”

“Sounds logical,” the one with the sharp mustache said, looking at
the older man. “What, for example, do you think that we would like
to know and you cannot help us with?”

[ could see where this was going. It was a very good technique.
One of the biggest dangers in questioning is letting the person being
questioned in on what you do and don't know. They handled this
rechnique well, not revealing anything about themselves.

*First, [ assume you would like to know if the Mossad has agenrs
1 vour midst and who they are."”

“That would be a fair assumption,” the youngest one said.

“Well, I can tell you that according to the reports, there are many
agents in your system, mainly in the field command. Because of the
way the Mossad is constructed, I couldn’t know who they are unless I
worked directly with them, in other words, unless they were my
agents. L can tell you I was never in that position, so I can't help you
there. I can, however, put your mind at ease in one regard, and that is
that intelligence officers are not good targets and are rarely sought by
the Mossad.”

“And why is that?" the heavyset man murtered.

“Well, they are usually suspicious and on the lookout, they are
well aware of the rechniques used, and once they have been recruited,
they don’t have that much information that is vital to the big picture.
They usually know more abour you than about their own country, So,
in other words, the results are not worth the hassle.”

There was a knock at the door. All eyes rurned to it, and | wanted
to get up and open it, but Albert stood up instead. “I'll ger it, It's
probably Fadllal.”

“So0, you were saying,” the young man said, as though he wanted
to keep the conversation going. I turned to face him. “What I said was
that | can’r really help you much in the way of names.”

I could hear the door open and a short conversation at the door in
what sounded 1o me like an angry voice that Alberr was trying to calm
down. 1 saw astonishment in the faces of the people facing me. Before
I could turn my head around to see whar was going on, | felt some-
thing hard press against my head, almosr ar the top. A strong hand
grabbed the back of my collar. The man said something in Arabic that
sounded like an order of some kind. The voice was harsh. I could feel
all the blood rush out of the top half of my body and the cold sweat
everywhere.
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*Whar the fuck is going on?” 1 called our, making sure not to
move my hands. It seemed 1o me thar the gun was ot small caliber, but
even a twenty-twao at this range was more than enough to scramble my
brains. | had no idea whart was going on, and [ forced myself not to try
to figure it out. [ had no doubt that I would be told in a very short
time, or I would be shot, in which case it really didnt mater much.

Albert translated, wrving in vain to imitate the harshness of the
man’s voice. "He says you are 3 Mossad agent and that you are here
to trick us,”

*It’s not a secret that | come from Mossad.” | was trying 1o keep a
tremble out of my voice; | could feel my bottom lip getting stff with
fear. “I mean, if I wasn't, would we all be here?”

“He says you are here 1o trick us; he says he has it from a good
source.”

This was it, as tar as I was concerned. Either the man was bluffing
or else he had something. If he did, there was nothing I could do. It
wasn’t as though | was on a legitimate job for the Mossad, in which
case some political safety net could he thrown in to save me. If the
Mossad gor their hands on me, they would probably do the same
thing to me that the Jordanians would, and no one would say a word.
1 put the cigarerte I'd just taken from the pack into my mouth; [ hadn’t
vet had a chance to light it. Moving only my eyes, | looked at Albery,
and with the best smile | could musrer, I said, “Tell your man to shoot
me or light my cigarette, whichever, bur please do it fast. I need a
smoke.”

Everybody in the room began to laugh, the gorilla with the gun
too. He put the gun back in his belt and moved 1o stand in front of
me. His hand was outstretched, and he was grinning. “It is my job to
ry and carch you, see?™ he said in English. “No hard feelings, 1
hope?™

I took his hand and shook it hard. “*None ar all. You do your job,
and I'll do mme.” He took a lighter out of his pocket and lit my
cigarette,

“Can we get something to ear around here?” Fadllal said in a loud
voice. “Why don't vou just order a table.” he said to Albert. “We are
going to be here for some time.”

When Albert went to the phone 1o make the order, Fadllal turned
back 1o me. “Tomorrow we will see if we can really trust you. The
two of us will go on a day trip, and then we will know for sure.”

“Where are we going?”

“That you will see tomorrow. Now we will eat, and"—he opened
the small bar in the room—*"have a drink. Whar will you have?”
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“I'll have a tequila, if there is one.”

There was more than one, and we all had a drink except the
heavyset man and his assistant, who declined on religious grounds,

“50, Isa, whart can we do about the Mossad agents that we have in
our mudst?”

“You can find them.” Ephraim had gone over this with me several
times; we were not giving them anything that they couldn’t arrive at
on their own. It was standard procedure, and there was no way
around ir. But coming from me, it was like hearing it from the burning
bush. If they did follow the procedure 1 was recommending, agents
would be falling out of the few trees they had in this piece of desert,
something that would more than likely force a reevaluarion of the
Mossad leadership.

“Well,” asked Albert, sipping his brandy, “how do you propose
we do tha?™

“First you have to identify the group they belong to. What | mean
is, there are several types of agent. One is the basic type, working in 2
menial job at a hospital or a fire department. He could pass on what is
called ractical information. For example, if a hospital gets ready to
take in casualties by expanding the number of beds it has, or the fire
department calls in the reserves, we can see the first stages of a coun-
try going on a war alert. To find these people, you'd have to spend the
next five years interviewing and pounding the sidewalks. The resuirs
will be negligible, especially since most of them don’t realize what it is
they're doing.”

They were looking at me and nodding; up to this point, | wasn't
teaching them anything new. “Then there is the second level of
recruits. They're from the civil service, the foreign office, thar is—
diplomats, ctc. Agaim, they'd be difficult 1o detect. At the top of the
hierarchy, we find the military officers who've been recruited and are
working at the moment. They're the most important group and the
most vulnerable to detection.”

“So how is that done?” the heavy man asked, leaning forward, his
face taking on a pinkish color. The man was hooked, I could feel it. |
was about to rell him exactly how it could be done, but then I remem-
bered what Ephraim had repeated again and again: You are there to
make money, don't lose sight of that. “Well, I would really like to
oblige you, but I scem to have a slight problem.”

“What is that?” Albert quickly asked, seemingly ready to tackle
whatever it was.

“What will I get out of this? I came here in good faith, and 1 want
to know what it is you are willing to pay me.”
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Fadlla] was smiling. He put his hand back on his gun. “The first
thing you already got was your life, my friend.”

“That is a lot of bull, and vou know it. ] came here under the
protection of Zuhir's honor, and unless you can prove that | am not
what I say | am, it's as if this conversation is taking place in Washing-
ton. You don't have the advantage here, my friend. So back to my
question.” | paused and looked around the room. “What will you
pay me?"

“What do vou want?” It was the man who looked like Albert’s
brother.

“l want a lump sum and then a salary for one year, after which we
will renegotiate,”

“Whart is the lump sum?" the young man asked.

“Twenty thousand U.S. Sort of pocket money.” 1 knew 1 could ask
for ten times that much, but | wanted to make things easy on them.
“Then five thousand a month.”

“Will you stay here in Jordan?”

“No, I'll go back in abour a week, like we agreed before | came
here, and | will do wharever we decide should be done,”

“If we agree, what will you do in rerurn for all that money?”
Albert wanted me to get it; I could see it in his eyes. He was going to
be my case officer, and this assignment was going to propel him to the
top of his organization, He wanted me and was going to make surc he
gor me.

“Thar will depend on what you want. | can help you install a sys-
tem that will prevent anyone from recruiting your people and help you
catch those who have been recruited already, almost guaranteeing that
any you don't catch will quit on their own. That will be stage one.”

“Sq there’s more>” It was Fadllal, wiping some humus,* looking
at me with his small black eyes as if he wanted 1o see right through
me. The man didn't trust me and wanted above all to be the one 1o
nail me. From the way he was staring ar me, | was almost certain he
had a way to do that. Maybe he was going to the following day.

“Yes, there’ll be more. Once you've secured your rear, you have to
go on the offensive; what I mean is, actively recruit Israeis. First vou'll
need a good basic level of military expertise, and then from there the
sky is the limir.”

2, Wiping humus: A rerm used in the Middle East for eating the humus dip. You
scoop the humus off your plare with a piece of pita bread and bring it 10 your
mouth,
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“What about recruiting Palestinians?™ It was the voung man
ﬂgﬂlﬂ.

*“Whart about ir?”

*What if we want to recruit Palestinians? Could you help us
there?”

All eves were on the young man. He instantly realized he’d made a
mistake. | felt sarry for the guy; he'd revealed to me a problem they
had, which was more than they'd wanted to do. [ wanred ro get him
out of it and calm the atmosphere. “Very funny. What is this, a trick
question? Me recruit Palestinians, like you need my help? What do
vou take me for?”

The young man could feel the soft landing, He smiled. *You can
never be too careful, now can you?”

1 changed the subject. “Okay, what do you say? Do we have a
deal, or do you people have to go and talk it over with your bosses?” 1
could see | hit a raw nerve there with the heavy man, who was proba-
bly a top-ranking officer, if not the top man in the Jordaman service.
Even though I'd worked on the Jordanian desk for a short while dur-
ing my time in research, I didn't know much, if anything at all, about
the Jordaman service, | was sorry about that now.

“Twelve and a half thousand walking money,” the heavy man
said, his face frozen in a blank expression. The tattooed smile was
gone, “Three thousand five hundred a month for six months, then we
renegotiate. Take 1t or leave it. We will talk again tomorrow night if
you are still here.” He got up, signaling to his assistant. “Meanume,
my friend Isa, enjoy your stav in Jordan, and if you decide not ro take
the deal, have a nice trip home.”

I shook his hand, and he headed for the door. The young man
made a mock salute as he trailed him. The one who looked like Albert
left almost immediately after them, and Fadilal stood up, smiling. “1
will pick you up tomorrow at six-thirty in the morning. Dress casu-
ally.” He lit a cigarette and dropped the almost full pack on the table.
“I see you're almost out of cigarettes. Allow me to offer you mine,”

“Thanks. I can use them.” He walked straight for the door, where
he stopped. “Don’t go out of the hotel on your own, and lock the
door.™

“SWill do,™ | said, but he didn't stck around te listen. What was
the SOB preparing for me for tomorrow? Albert was now seated on
the larger chair where the heavy man had sat before. “We need 1o
talk,” he said, sounding worried.

I sank into a chair opposite him and opened another of the small
tequila bottles from the mini-bar. “What's on your mind?” In fact, I
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was quite satisfied with myself ar the moment, thinking that under the
circumstances 1'd handled things prerty well

“I*ve been assigned to vou. What | mean is that from here on 1 will
be your . ..” He hesitated, searching for the right word.

“Case officer, handler, operator?”

“Yes, exactly.” He scemed relieved that 1 knew what it was all
abour, “I know you come from an agency that is very sophisticated,
but now vou are working with me. We'll be doing things my way and
at my pace. We're working together, not against each other. So work
with me, okay?"

“Look, Albert, | like you, and it's true that | come from a more
sophisticated agency, but you're not my boss, and | won't do things
your way. I didn’t leave the Mossad to be bgssed around. There are
things that 1 can do for you, and others thar | will not. If you wanr
something, all you have to do is ask.” | raised my glass. “Here’s 1o the
king.”

“That"—his face was grim—"is not a joke here.”

“I didn't mean it as one. So, Albert, what is it that worries vou so
much?”

“I'm worried abourt Fadllal. He doesn't trust you, and | don't want
him to harm you. The man is a little crazy; he sees a spy under every
bed,"”

“So what do you suggest | do?”

“Just be careful, that's all. | don't want something to happen to
vou and then have Zuhir after me.” The psychological game they were
playmg was not bad-—a little crude, but not bad at all. Albert was the
good cop, and Fadllal was the bad cop. In telling me to be careful,
Albert was making the bad cop even worse. Then, to make things
worse still, and knowing that 1 got my self-confidence from having
come there under the auspices of Zuhir, he showed me that despite
that, something could happen, I knew it was a game, yet it really was
effective, especially on top of several tequilas and a very urgent need
for sleep.

“I'll be careful. | mean, I do have a vested interest.”

“I'll be in the next room if you need anything.” Albert got up.
“Do you want me to help you get the things out of the room?™ He
pointed to the rolling table loaded with leftovers.

“Forget it. I'll handle it in the moming. Can vou arrange for a
wake-up call for me, say at five-thirty?”

“Sure,” He headed for the door.

“Where do you think we'll be going so early?”

“I haven't a clue, but wherever it is, you watch out for him. He is
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full of surprises. I know the man, and he'd be happy to trip vou up
even if he knows you're okay.”

“So what are you telling me?"

“Just be careful.”

“Do you rthink Zuhir knows what we're going to do tomorrow?”

“I don't think so. Fadllal doesn't answer to anyone but head of
security. All I'm saying is, be careful.” On that ominous note, he left
the room. | was so tired, my eyelids hurt, but still I couldn’t fall asleep.
I was so close to Bella, | could almost smell her, ver there was no way
for me to tell her where | was. What if something went wrong tomor-
row and | wound up a John Doe on a slab in the Amman city morgue
or whatever it was they had here? As far as she was concerned, |
would have run out on her and the kids.

1 was starting to go out of my mind with worry and grief. Here |
was already moaning and feeling sorry for myself, and I hadn't even
begun to do what I had come there to do. I knew that if I didn't do
something now to alleviate the stress, | wouldn't be able to function
by morning. | grabbed the phone. The hotel operator was on the line
almost instantly. “Can [ help you?” she said after saying something |
didn’t understand in Arabic.

“I want to make a call 1o the United States.”

I gave her the number of the Holiday Inn in Silver Spring, where |
still had a room. | was surprised how fast they connected me.

“Holiday Inn, Silver Spring.”

“This 1s Victor Ostrovsky from room 805."

“Yes sir. What can I do for vou?”

“I'm expecting a call from my wife sometime today. Will you
please give her a message for me?”

“Sure, Mr. Ostrovsky,”

“Will you tell her that I'm in a place where I can't call her from,
and that I will call her the moment [ get back, which will be in about a
week."”

“And what is her name?”

“Bella.”

“Okay, Mr. Ostrovsky, will do.™

I hung up and dropped on the bed. By the time my head hit the
pillow, 1 was asleep, but almost as fast, it seemed, | heard the phone
ring. They won't let me sleep here, [ thought. It was my wake-up call.
At first, | almost lay back to grab just a few more minures of sleep.
But I knew that the moment [ did, 1 would be unable to get up until
much later. [ didn't want to keep Fadllal wairting. | dragged myself
sluggishly to the shower and was dressed and ready to go with time to
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spare. | ordered coffee and toast from room service and was finished
when I heard a knock on the door. | looked through the peephole and
saw the person | expected. Fadllal was especially cheerful this morning
and was happy to sce 1 was all ready to go. | offered him coffee, but he
turned me down, saying we had no time and that we would have cof-
fee on the way, or in Jericho.

I wasn't sure I'd heard him right, and even if 1 had, | assumed he
was talking abour some coffee place in Amman named after the king’s
favorite winter house in Jericho.

“Here." He handed me a passport, a British passport.

“What is that for?™

“For you. You can't use your Canadian one—it was issued in
Israel.”

“Where are we going that I need a passport?™

“I told you. We're going for a coffee in Jericho.”

My blood was turning o ice. If this man meant what he said, then
we were abourt 1o go 1o the West Bank. There couldn’t be a more dan-
gerous place for me on earth. 1 was going to have to enter and exit
Isracl with a false British passport, escorted by a Jordanian intelligence
officer. This was just too much. “No way, my friend, will you ger me
to go to the West Bank. I'm a dead man there. I told you the Mossad
wanted me to go to the south of Lebanon so that they could eliminate
me. Now you want me to cross and reenter Israel so that you can play
some little game? You're crazy.”

I don't believe a word you're saying. | think that you were sent
by the Mossad to mislead us and that you'll cause havoc in our midst,
sending us on a wild goose chase after trairors we don't have. If you're
who you say you are, then you have nothing to fear; the passport is
good, and you'll have no problem ¢rossing. I'm the one who should be
afraid; if you're working for the Mossad, it's me who may not be com-
ing back,”

“What if you're a traitor yourself and you arc taking me and
escaping back 1o Israel?™

He said something in Arabic, and rwo armed soldiers entered the
room. “We are going. [f, on the other hand, you don't want to, I will
tell them to shoot you, and we’ll say it was an accident of some sort.
You have a choice: Come with me on a trip or die,”

“I'm coming, but it still doesn’t make any sense. What the hell do
you think you'll be gaining? I mean, if I am working for the Mossad,
all I have to do is go with you on the trip and then when we come
back I'll have a clean bill of health.”

He didn't say a word but walked out of the room. The soldiers
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waited for me 1o follow and then closed the door behind me. We got
into a cab outside the hotel and were driven to a bus station in the
downtown area. The city was stll very much asleep, and excepr for
vegetable merchants preparing their colorful displays, hardly anybody
was around. From the smell in the air, it was clear that the bakeries
were already working at full steam, making some of the most phenom-
enal pita bread to be found anywhere.

The bus was almost full, and | seemed to be the only foreigner on
it. | sull couldn’t believe what was happening: This was my worst
nightmare. | was hoping that I would wake up in the hotel in Amman,
or better yet in Washington. 1 would then call Ephraim and tell him to
shove it. | didn't want to spend the rest of my life in some rat-infested
jail cell somewhere in the Negev, kepr secretly alive like some zombie.
| knew that was the fate awaiting me if things didn™t go right,

1 tried to remember my name, the one on the passport I'd stuck in
my shirt pocket. | couldn’t. | had to take 1t out and look at it again.
Steven Emmens. How the hell was [ going to remember that name? 1
tried repeating it to myself over and over. [ would use an address that |
remembered from another cover | had once had. All this was relevant
if he wasn’t setting me up. It was very possible that all he wanted was
to get me across the border before [ showed them how to clean house
because he was really an agent for the Mossad. Things were not look-
ing good.

King Hussein Bridge, the driver announced, and the bus came to a
stop. | knew it as the Allenby Bridge; 1'd served some time ago on the
other side when I was an officer in the military police. The thought
caused me to break out in a cold sweat again. Whar if one of the
reserve military policemen on the bridge recognizes me? Whar if the
man from the Shaback station on the bridge recognizes me? Whart if
one of the Mossad people here 1o meer an agent sees me?

Calm down, | said to myself. Go over your cover story before it’s
too late. The one thing you don’t want to do in front of a border
policerman or a soldier who’s checking your papers is stutter. The story
that had been given to me went like this: | was on a day trip and was
meeting some merchant whose card | had in my pocket. He had reli-
gious artifacts for sale, and I was in that line of business. I'd been
referred to him by his brother in Amman.

I wasn't the only one on the bus who was uneasy. For the first
time, I looked at the people around me, who'd been rtalking quite
cheerfully until a few minutes ago. | hadn't paid much artention to
them until this point, absorbed as | was in my own problems. The
silence that overcame all the chatter was suddenly very tense. [ could
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almost feel the heartbeat of the passengers. We were approaching a
place rthat somehow seemed dark, frightening. Up to this moment,
entering Israel had always been something that I associated with secu-
rity and strength, never with fear. Yet now I was surrounded by that
exact feeling. You could see it in every pair of staring eyes. I'd always
thought that the stare was hate, because I never thought that there was
a reason to fear me. When 1 was a soldier, I didn’t want to harm any-
one; all | wanted was to do my job. Only if someone had ill intentions
did he have reason to fear me.

A Jordanian policeman boarded the bus and made a short inspec-
rion. Then he dirccted the bus to the narrow forty-meter-long bridge.
We made our way slowly, under the warchful eye of the Israeli military
policeman on the other side. | could hear the orders shouted out in
Hebrew, “Meshulam, you check the bus. We strip this one.”

What | heard was not good news for me. The bus stopped, and all
were ordered otf. The military policeman was a reserve soldier, there
to do his thirty or sixty days. He wasn’t locking to earn any medals.
He just wanted to get the day over with so that he would be one day
closer to going home. | knew the feeling: I'd been there too. He was
polite and courteous to me and to the other passengers. A young regu-
lar soldier was teasing him. “Why don’t you carry their suitcases while
vou're at 112"

“Why don't you shut up,” the older soldier answered. “There is
no reason to treat people like your mother treats you.”

“Don’t talk like thar about my mother, you son of a whore.”

A sergeant walked over and shouted at them. *Shut up, you two,
and get to work. The day has just started, and already you two are
ati.”

When | showed my passport, the sergeant pointed ro a small shack
at the end of the long canopy that provided shade for the customs
tables. “Over there, please.”

| knew he was sending me to the foreign tourists’ shack. As |
started to walk, he called me. “You Englishman?”

“What is 1t?” [ rurned to him, smiling at the term he used.

“You no have luggage?”

*No, I'm only going to Jericho for a few hours.”

“What if bridge close before you come back?”

“Then | will have a problem, won’t I. Why? Is the bridge going to
close today?”

“You never know.”

| turned and walked over to the hut. Fadllal was being body
searched, as | could see when I entered the small building. The young

-
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soldier inside asked me a few questions, for which | was well pre-
pared. [ was grateful that he kept using my name all the time; it helped
me remember it. [ asked him not to stamp the Israeli seal on my pass-
port, so he put the seal on a separate piece of paper that he then
slipped into the passport. It was a given that people coming across the
bridges who wanted to go back the same way wouldn’t want the
Israeli seal on their passport. That could be a problem later. Had 1 not
asked for that, it would have seemed very strange. “Have a nice visit
to Israel,” the soldier said.

“l didn't know the West Bank was considered Israel,” 1 heard
myself say.

“I'm an Israeli soldier; you're crossing the border I protect. Where
the hell do you think you are?™ He laughed scornfully.

“When we were here this wasn't regarded as England.”

“You see?” He smiled at me with what looked like pity. “If it was
regarded that way, you might still be here, righe?”

I walked out the other side and to the waiting taxis. The taxi filled
up, and then we were on our way to Jericho. Fadllal was the last pas-
senger to enter. From the time we'd boarded the bus, almost three
hours earlier, we'd not exchanged a word. It was about nine-thirty
now, and we were at the entrance to Jericho. The cab was hot, and the
traffic was slow. We were driving behind a long military convoy laden
with tanks and half-trucks on trailer trucks. They were covered, but it
was hard ro mistake a Merkava tank for anything else. They were
probably returning from an exercise up north.

Fadllal started a casual conversation with me. One thing led to
another; we arranged to have lunch in a restaurant he recommended.
Then he said he'd take me to the srore | wanted. The conversation was
to benefit anyone in the cab who might be an informant or just a curi-
ous person with some connection to the authorities, who—I found it
hard to comprehend—were hostile to me. [ had a constant pain in my
stomach; I knew it was fear. Fadllal led me to a restaurant filled with
Istaeli soldiers. The convoy had stopped for a break, and most of the
soldiers were seated around the large open marble balcony, shaded
only by a vine weaving its way through a wire pergola.

“What will you have?” Fadllal asked as the waiter approached us.

“Whatever you have, [ will try.” Fadllal didn’t argue and ordered
i Arabic.

“So what now, my friend?” [ asked, feeling it was time to run
some sweat down his forehead. There was no way that this man was a
Mossad agent or he would have handed me over already. He was as
calm as if he were still in downtown Amman and not in the Qccupied
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Ternirories surrounded by well-armed enemy soldiers and seated across
from a man he didn’t trust.

“We eat. Then | take you to the store you are to see, then we go
for a walk in Jerusalem, and then back home."”

“And what did you achieve by that#"

“A good meal, a nice trip, and a new friend."”

“What makes you so sure now that | am whar | say | am? That is,
if we get back.”

“l am head of a department in the Jordanian secret service. I'm
too big a fish 1o pass up.”™ He was nor even keeping his voice down, |
was genting worried one of the soldiers might overhear us. The food,

when it came, smelled grear, bar | could barely ear. All 1 could think of

was thar small cell I'd scen on several vecasions. The overpowering
smell of disinfectant and urine etched an everlasting impression on my
mind, always recurning when [ felt in some danger of losing my free-
dom—something rhar was happening very frequently lately. There was
a phane on the counter at the restaurant, [ fele like using it 1o call
home; the urge was almost uncontrollable, Then [ thought | could call
Ephraim; whar if Fadllal was right abour being a prize worth having? |
tossed that thought out of my mind; the Mossad as it was today was
tar more dangerous to the state of Israel than the Jordanians could
ever be.

We walked over 1o the jewelry store | was supposed to visit 1o
reipforce my cover. | was starting 10 relax; there was no reason at the
moment 10 feel any apprehension, That would come later, when we
would have 1o go back and over the bridge again. [ couldn’t help
thinking of what would happen if we were fingered. I had a plan all
ser up in my mind: | would have ro make it to rhe southern city of Elar
and from there cross to the Jordanian side. That was the only way 1o
get out if something went wrong.

We talked ro. the merchant, who believed | was who 1 said | was,
especially since I'd been senr to him by his brother. He showed me sev-
eral items he thought would interest me and then gave me some pheo-
tos of the items 1'd showed interest in, as well as a small gold brooch
as a gift in the hope of good deals to come, He wouldn'r ler us go
withour first drinking hor sweet tea and eating homemade sweers.
When we left the store, Fadllal led me o a smnll garage not far down
the road. Everything in Jericho is not far down the road. A young man
was waiting for us, nexr to a white Peugeor 404 with Ramallah license
plates. “My friend here will give us = ride.”

Within a tew minures, we were out of Jericho on the road leading
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northwest to Ramallah; F'd taken it countless eimes when I'd served m
the Jordan Beka'a, many years ago. The road was now in much better
condition, bur the view was the same,

We drove for about rwenty minutes, during which time Fadllal
explained to me that this for him was still Jordan, and he didn’t really
feel he was in 2 foreign land. “We have many friends here who are as
loyal to the king today as they were before '67," he said. “Actually,
they are probably more so today; since they had 1o pur their lives on
the line for His Majesty and did so, and are still doing so.” Fadllal
tapped the driver on the shoulder and pointed to a fork in the road,
then said something to the man in Arabic. He tumed o me. “We'll
stop there for a coffee and then head back. I've seen enoughi vou
could have sold me out ten omes, and you didn'. I trust you. | need ro
see one of my people here and give him some money. I make this trip
almost once a month, you know." The man was clearly proud of his
ability and courage, entering enemy territory in such a nonchalant
manner. [ felt a sense of relief; | only had to get back to Amman in one
piece, and my mission was almost guaranteed success. In a short time,
| had reached a higher stratum in the Jordanian intelligence rthan had
any other Israeli up to that point.

The car came 1o a stop 1n front of a two-story building in the vil-
lage of Dir Jarir. Children were playing soccer in the dusty field ar the
end of a short row of houses, right next to what looked like an aban-
doned mosque. Several old men were seated across the “street™ in the
shade of a green pergola ar the enrrance of whar was probably the
local grocery. They were unimpressed with the visitors and kepr on
sipping at their nny cups of coffee.

It seemed as if 1 was walking through a dream. There was some-
thing surrealistic abour ir all. Fadllal knocked on the metal door and
was almost instantly greeted by our host, who wore a long white gal-
abia and a smile from ear to ear. After an extended series of greetings,
we were ushered into a large living room. The furnishings were
extremely loud and ormate. It could have been a showroom for Iralian
velver furniture. Within minutes, coffee and sweets were brought into
the room by the host’s wife, who set the treats on the dark wooden
coffee table. Smuling ar us, she backed out of the room.

Fadllal was nort one 1o waste time. The moment the woman was
out of sight, he wok a large bundle of American dollars from his

‘packet and handed it to the host. He then said something to the man

in Arabic and signaled me to drink, saying, “We will be leaving in a
minute, so drink your coffee and have a sweet. We will go back to

|
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Jeriche and spend the rest of the day there and go back to Amman in
the evening, after the shift change of the guards ar the bridge."

1 nodded and sipped the hot coffee. Suddenly, a loud crashing
sound came from the front door. Fadllal's eyes opened wide. The
host's face was horrified. Something was wrong. Within seconds, there
were several Israeli soldiers in the room, pomting their weapons at us
and shouting in Hebrew to others outside. “We got them,” the officer
shouted, “Search the rest of the house, go, go, go.” Soldiers were all
over the place. We could hear the women's cries and the sounds of
breaking dishes.

One of the soldiers was quickly tying our hands behind our backs
with plastic disposable handcuffs. “What the hell is going on?” |
shouted in English. “I protest. 'm a British citizen, and | demand to
know what 1s going on.”

“You will be quer,™ said the officer, pointing his automatic
weapon at me. “Bring him in,™ he said 1o someone behind him in the
hall. One of the old men I'd seen sitting on the other side of the street
was brought in. He stood there for a second, hesitant. The officer
shouted at him in Arabic. The old man pointed to Fadllal and said
something,.

What | had dreaded had happened; nothing could be worse than
what was taking place. There was no way out of this. My only hope
was to stick to my story and bluff it out as a British subject, The sol-
diers were speaking Hebrew between them. “He's a Jordanian officer,”
they said. “The others are probably his men. We'll get more out of
them in Ramallah.” | knew that 1 had to do something, | considered
jumping out the window and risking being shot, which would be bet-
ter than what awaired me in the interrogation rooms of the Shaback in
Ramallah.

“Take lim downstairs,” said the officer, pointing ar Fadllal. “And
him.” He pointed at the host. They left the driver and me on the floor,
guarded by two soldiers. Once the others were out of sight, the driver
started crying 1o the soldiers, 1alking in Arabic. One said to the other
in Hebrew, “He says he’s a stinker.” He wants us ro call the boss.” The
soldier who spoke Arabic walked over to the driver and picked him up
by the collar, placing the rifle ar the back of his head and pushing him
toward the door. Suddenly he slipped, and at the same instant his
weapon discharged. The sound was deafening, and the wall around
the door was at once covered with blood. The driver's head was half-

3. Sunker: Slang for informer.
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missing. The soldier let go of the man, who slumped to the floor like a
sack of potatoes. The soldier started shouung at his friend, “You're
crazy! Look whar you did! You're crazy!”

*It was an accident,” the soldier shouted back. “A fucking acci-
dent.” He ran to me, grabbed me by the collar, and shouted at me in
Hebrew, *Accident, right? Accident!™ I couldn’t say a word, only nod-
ded. The orher soldier shouted in Hebrew, “Shoot him, you have to
shoot him. He’s a witness, and he'll tell. Shoor him, vou idior. or |
will.” He lowered his gun and came at me. | could hear the sound of
running up the stairs. The officer was at the door, but he just stopped
and stood there. | could see the soldier’s finger tightening on the trig-
ger. | hoped it would be over fast. 1 felt calm; there was nothing |
could do. 1 said to myself, Bella, I love you, I'm sorry for everything.
The soldier pulled the trigger. I heard the knock of the hammer on the
empty chamber,

There was a moment of silence. I had my eyes shur tighr, expecting
the final blow. Then I heard the loud laughter ot Fadllal. In a single
instant, it became clear to me that this was all a test. Bur how the hell
did he get the soldiers to play along?

Fadllal walked over to me and helped me up. He then gemtly
removed the cuffs from my hands and ushered me ourt of the place and
into the car. There was a new driver behind the wheel, and we drove
off. Fadllal explained it all on the way. The soldiers were Palestinians
from a special unit of the Jordaman intelligence; they'd been working
in the West Bank almost from 1968. They had several storage loca-
tions with [sraeli uniforms and arms and would assist in all kinds of
reconnaissance jobs. They worked all over the country, and all of them
spoke excellent Hebrew. At first, they were to be an asset in case of
war, like the Germans had behind American lines in World War 11, bur
when the Jordanians started 1o work in the Territories, it was decided
to use them all the time. They monitored exercises and brought
ample tactical information regarding the front line.

The driver was a real trattor and had been under suspicion for
some time now. Fadllal had decided to use the elimination of the
traitor to test me. He had no doubt now that 1 was not working for
the Mossad.

Crossing back into Jordan was as much of a strain on me as was
the crossing into the West Bank. The guards were different, but they
were just as thorough, and the clearance seemed to take forever. Once
on the other side, we took a taxi to a place called Tel Nimrim, where a
hight blue air-conditioned limo was waiting for us at the side of the
road. | slept the rest of the way to Amman. Fadllal woke me up when
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we got there and said that we would all have dinner in the main dining
room in about an hour, so [ should change and come down then.

They were all there: Zuhir, Albert, Fadllal, and the heavyset man
and his voung assistant. My head was sull aching, and the sound of
the shot in the house in the West Bank that had literally wiped the
expression off the driver’s face was still fresh in my mind. 1 wasn't in
shock; endless rraining in the Mossad had taken care of that, but it
was still something I couldn’t just shrug off. Not to mention the Jorda-
nian unit thar I'd seen, like Israeli soldiers in every way. | suddenly had
a new respect for the people seated around the rable. Gone was that
sense of arrogance that had been part of my whole attitude unnil early
that morning, [ was seared with a very capable, and very dangerous,
group of people.

Northing was said abourt my little mp that day, unless it was hinted
at from tume to rime in a smile or a wink. Afeer dinnes, everybody left
except Albert, who walked with me to the bar on the main floor of the
hotel. We sart in large wicker chairs by copper tray tables. | ordered a
beer and Albert had anather coffee: no drinking in public for him.

[ heard about your day,” he said finally, after the coffee and beer
were served.

“Not a trip I'd like to repear,” I said, lighting a cigarette.

He then leaned forward and nodded his head toward the other side
of the bar. Several people were seated around a small table, seemingly
in deep conversation. *Do you know who that man over there is?”

“1 can’t say | do, although the big one with the big mustache
scems familiar. Who is he?™

“Habash, George Habash.* Would you like me to introduce you?”

My first reaction was to jump at the opportunity, then almost
against my own instinet, [ said, *No thanks, I'd prefer if we gor out of
here now.”

“Why?"

“It he’s here, there is a good chance someone from the Mossad
may be watching. I have seen endless photos of PLO and other Pales-
tinian leaders in just abour every location. I don’t want someone to
identify me in such a photo taken in Amman.”™ Without waiting for his
reaction, | got up and walked our of the bar. He caught up with me at
the elevators. and we agreed to meer again the following moming. “I'll
come for you at, say, eight?”

4. George Habash: Leader of the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine,
known as the PFLP.
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“No, I'll cail you. | find it hard to fall asleep here, and | need 1o
rest. I'll eall vou when | wake up.”

He nodded and walked back to the bar. 1 went to my room and
called the hotel in Washington. They'd given the message to Bella
when she called—ar least, thar’s whar they said. | undressed and
walked into the shower. 1 stood under the hot running water for the
longest time, | was tired and couldn't get the sight of the soldier shoot-
ing the man in the back of the head out of my mind. 1 wanted to cry,
but | couldn't. I just stood there thinking of everything and nothing.
All 1 wanted was for this whole thing to be over and a memory, noth-
g more than a memory,

Over the next two days, we put together a securiry mechanism
similar to the one used in the Mossad to prevent moles. The Jordani-
ans were going to start running lie detector tests on a regular basis,
and also doing sporadic checks in the military units, mainly in the
lower command echelons. Then they were going to start a systematic
check of all personnel who had served in Jordanian embassies around
the world, especially Europe, since just about all the agents recruited
by the Mossad are people serving in embassies and students studying
abroad, mainly military people. Since the Mossad has no time 10
develop talent in the hope that people will get into a position where
thev can provide information, but rather want people already in that
siruation, the targets are fairly easy to identify.

[ had no doubt thar once they implemented the system, they would
almost instantly identify all agents working for the Mossad. However,
implementation of such a system would rake some months and could
not be kept secret during that time, giving the Mossad ample opportu-
nity to pull its agents out to safery. The Jordanians would not make
public the fact that they had identified such agents for some tume;
meanwhile, they wounld try to turn as many of the agents as possible,
and through them feed the Mossad false information. Those who were
neither saved by the Mossad nor turned by the Jordanians would end
up wearing the hangman’s noose.

Though none of my countrymen was likely to be included in that
latter group, the thought did cause me considerable discomfort. It
could not be denied that a real consequence of attempting to bring
down the corrupt Mossad leadership was thar decent people would
suffer. | could only hope that many more would be helped by what |
was doing.

I was quite sure, as was Ephraim, that the Jordanians would share
most of the newfound information with their Syrian and Iraqi counter-
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parts, who would then start their own housecleaning. The Syrians had
a lot of work in front of them, bur the Iragis would be chasing the
wind, because Mossad had hardly any agents there. Since Iraq was
considered a hard intelligence rtarger, it was ar the bottom of the
Mossad’s priority list.

My last two days in Amman were spent putting forward a plan to
recruit Israelis who would supply the Jordanians with as much ractical
and technological information as possible. They wanted to have all the
military base locations and 1o know what was done in each. They also
wanted to find out all they could about the stages of the reserve calls
in case of an emergency and the deployment of special forces in recon-
naissance activities as they crossed their borders, especially regarding
the placement of TRS%.’

Ir was decided that I would return to the United States and then
settle in Canada, as had been my original plan. Albert would run his
part of the operation in Mexico, and we would use several of Fadllal’s
special soldiers in the operation. I named it Operartion Joshua, because
we were sending spies to tour the land from the same Jocation and
direction Joshua did, and [ had no doubt that the result would be the
same. The spies would return to tell of 2 land that eats its own inhabi-
tants; it seems that nothing changes.

On my last night there, | heard on Israeli radio that British prime
minister Margaret Thatcher was visiting Israel and thar Ronald Rea-
gan had veroed Congress's block on arm sales to Saudi Arabia, mainly
the sale of fighter jets.

By now, I knew that what Ephraim was after was working: We
were inoculating Jordan from the dangers of the Mossad. Even if we
were not able n the long run to make changes in the Mossad itself,
we'd raken a large step forward in removing its fangs.

5. TRS: Temporary relay station, Special relay units that are planred or thrown
from airplanes, They act as relay stations for special listerang devices that have a
shorter range than is requiced to be received in the deciphering unit in Israel.
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in New York's Kennedy Airport some time after seven in the

evening. The first thing I did was call Bella from the courtesy phone
in the VIP room at the terminal, where I was waiting with Zuhir for
our flighr back to Washington.

The conversation was brief. She told me that she was coming out
to the States the next day and that nothing in the world could stop her.
The girls, Sharon and Leeorah, were sixteen and twelve and could
manage with no problem, especially since Bella's father was close by. 1
for one was not even going to try. The mere thought of seeing her
again was more than | had hoped for. 1 didn’t wanrt to get too emo-
tional on the phone, especially not in front of Zuhir, who was watch-
ing me. | had ro make the call short. All 1 could sav to her was that |
was in New York, that I was on my way to Washington, and that ['d
call her once I got back to the hotel. Afrer | hung up, I could feel a
surge of joy run through my whole body. | could have jumped up and
kissed everyone present in the room, including Zuhir.

By the time we reached Washington, it was after ten and 1 was
famished. Zuhir had arranged to meet me the following day to bring
me the money we'd agreed on, bur ir turned out I'd have to wait one
more day, since it was Memorial Day and all the banks were closed. It
didn’t matter to me that much; | had some money left from what
Ephraim had finally sent me. Even so, I made an issue out of it to
Zuhir, so that he wouldn't think that suddenly 1 had money when
before I'd put on a show of being someone who didn’t. I told Zuhir
that I'd be changing hotels the next morning, and that Pd call him the
day after to tell him where I was so that he could have the money sent
to me. We said goodbye on the plane, not wanting to walk out of the
terminal together.

'|'he flight back to the United States went withour a hitch. We arrived
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I reached the hotel just before eleven and managed to buy a
McDLT and a shake to go. | was so hungry I could have eaten the
burger in the wrapping. After eating and taking a shower, I called
Bella again. She told me that she was arriving in Washington the day
after tomorrow.

1 told her that | was going to change hotels and that T would pick
her up from the airport. She was going to call me the next day
before leaving for the airport, and I agreed not to leave this hotel
until she did. 1 started ro counr the minutes. After I'd hung up, |
tried sleeping, only to realize that 1 was 100 tired even to do that.
When Bella called again at four .M., T was still watching relevision.
She was leaving for the airport, and Arik was going to take her
there. That was a surprise to me, since contacr between ex-Mossad
members and active workers was prohibited. You weren't expected
to ignore the person if you met him on the street, bur neither were
you to create a contact, not with the person or with members of his
immediate family. There had to be something to the fact that Arik
was driving Bella to the airport. The phone, however, was not the
proper tool on which to do the asking,

I had a bad feeling that someone might be trying to play a dirty
trick. There was only one man to whom [ could turn to see if things
were as they appeared to be: Uri, my friend from Al If there was any
operation planned for the United States, at any time, he'd be the one
to know about it, and | was sure that [ could get him to give me a
warning. He was a man who'd seen it all. The only problem was mak-
ing contact with him. It wasn't as if he had a number I could call or an
address he could be reached at. The man was a katsa at work. All |
knew was that he was in the United Stares. There was one other thing
I knew about him, rthough: He had a lady friend in Chevy Chase,
Maryland, which wasn't that far from my hotel. Reaching him
through her had a double significance: First, she was working in a sen-
sitive position in the Pentagon and was Jewish, which made his per-
sonal relationship with her something of a no-no; second, her husband
was prominent in Washington circles. Even so, [ found the address in
the phone book and headed out to the house. There was no point in
trying to do it over the phone; 1 knew I'd get nowhere because the
wornan would have been told in her training not to respond to anyone
on the phone except Uri. I had the cab wait abour a block away; I
walked up to the large, red-brick, mansionlike residence,

The quiet neighborhood was clearly home to the more affluenr
members of society. | rang the bell and waited in the cathedral-like
entranceway. The heavy wooden door opened; a glass door still sepa-
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rated me from the very elegant blond woman who was now staring ar
me with a faint smile, “Yes?"

She was about five foot five and small-figured. Her brown eyes
were large and shiny, and she appeared to be very cheerful.

“l would like to ask you to please give a message ro Uri, if you
could.”

Her smile faded instantly. She wanted to know who I was and
what my connection was to Uri. A tall, slim man came to the door
as we spoke; it was her husband. She told him that [ was a friend of
Uri's. He seemed to know who that was and asked if I'd like to
come 1.

I had gained his instant respect just for being Uri’s friend. | agreed
to come in, saying that it would have to be only for a moment since 1
had to be on my way. The woman was clearly uncomfortable, not sure
whether [ knew she was having a fling with Uri. The husband was
obviously not in tune with what was going on, and from the way he
spoke, it sounded as if he wouldn’t notice if he was present when it
did. He lefr us in the round vestibule to answer the phone. 1 could see
part of a tastefully decorated living room through a large arched door-
way. On a small rable by the wall, beneath a large gilded mirror, was a
photograph of the couple standing on either side of President Ronald
Reagan, in what seemed to be a black-tie stare function.

I declined a drink and a coel invitation to dinner from the woman.
My declining seemed to make her very happy. I jotted my phone num-
ber on a piece of paper and handed it to her. *1 would very much
appreciate it if vou could pass that on to Uri.”

The husband was not in the room when she said that she had no
idea when she would see him.

“Use the emergency phone,” | said and headed back to the door |
was relieved to be out of there; the awkwardness of the situarion did
not at all amuse me. I could understand what Uri saw in her, and after
meeting her husband, 1 realized how easy it must have been for Uri to
win her over,

[ knew she could get hold of him since she had to have an emer-
Bency call setup; after all, she was a sayan. I'd never intended to use
this contact, but | was worried thar the office was up to something
aud that Bella and the girls might get caughr in the middle. 1 had to
make a move.

The first nme I'd mer Uri was when T was still in the military
police, in 1968—69. I was serving in the Jordan Valley in a base called
Gaftlick, later renamed Arik after Colonel Arik Regev, who was killed
by a Palestinian guerrilla in a chase. The colonel was killed with
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another officer, with whom I'd had a run-in on my first day in the val-
ley, by the name of Gady Manella. Gady was very much what is called
today a hordogger, doing things by the seat of his pants, the ultimate
Israeli warrior. During that time, Un was the intelligence officer for
the paratrooper battalion stationed in the Giftlick, and I was the com-
mander of the military police post on the base.

At the time, chasing Palestinians who infiltrated the border 1o
carry out acts of saborage was almost a daily occurrence. Most of the
time, the infiltrators would be killed during the chase or in short skir-
mishes in the parched desert. There were cases, however, in which the
terrorists would be captured alive; nevertheless, most of the time, even
if they were taken alive, they'd be announced as dead over the radio so
no one would await their return.

Thatr was where | would come in as a military police officer; my
job was to take the prisoners to a holding facility in Nes Ziyyona, a
small town south of Tel Aviv. I'd always assumed thart it was an inter-
rogation facility for the Shaback. We all knew thar a prisoner brought
there would probably never get our alive, but the brainwashing we'd
gone through in our shorr lifetimes had convinced us it was them or
us; there was no gray area.

It was Uri who enlightened me regarding the Nes Ziyyona facility.
It was, he said, an ABC warfare laboratory—ABC standing for
atomic, bacteriological, and chemical. It was where our top epidemio-
logical scientists were developing various doomsday machines.
Because we were so vulnerable and would nor have a second chance
should there be an all-out war in which this type of weapon would be
needed, there was no room for error. The Palestinian infiltrators came
in handy in this regard. As human guinea pigs, they could make sure
the weapons the scientists were developing worked properly and could
verify how fast they worked and make them even more efficient. What
scares me today, looking back at that revelation, is not the fact that it
was taking place but rather the calmness and understanding with
which 1 accepted it.

Years later, | met Uri again. This time he was in the Mossad, a ver-
eran katsa in the Al department, and 1 was a rookie. He had come
back from an assignment in South Africa. | was then a temporary desk
man in the Dardasim department in liaison, helping him prepare for a
large shipment of medication to South Africa to accompany several
Israeli doctors who were headed for some humanirarian work in
Soweto, a black rownship outside Johannesburg. The doctors were to
assist in treating patients at an outpatient clinic for the Baragwanath
hospital in Soweto, a few blocks away from the houses of Winnie
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Mandela and Bishop Desmond Tutu. The hospital and the clinic were
supported by a hospital in Baltimore, which served as 2 cur-out! for
the Mossad. Uri was on a cooling-off period from the United Srares.

“What is the Mossad doing giving humanitarian assistance to
blacks in Soweto?” I remember asking him. There was no logic 1o it
no short-term political gain (which was the way the Mossad operated)
or any visible monetary advantage.

*Do you remember Nes Ziyyona?” His question sent shivers up
my spine. [ nodded.

“This is very much the same. We're testing both new infectious
diseases and new medication that can’t be tested on humans in Israel,
tor several of the [sraeli medicine manufacturers. This will tell them
whether they’re on the right track, saving them millions in research.”

“What do you think about all this?” 1 had to ask.

“It’s not my job to think about it.”

Even though he didn't say ir, I knew his heart was not in it—at
least I hoped not. The facr that he was barred from the States by the
Mossad for this cooling-off period after the Pollard affair was not
doing his career much good. He was the one who'd broughr Pollard
into the fold in 1982.

When they first met, Jonathan Pollard was an American Jew who
believed wholeheartedly that there was a hely alliance berween the
United Stares of America and the state of Israel. He did not see a con-
flict between total loyalty to the United States and total loyalty to the
state of Israel; to him it was one and the same. This idcolé}g}' did not
spring out of itself; it was a result of a long process of indoctrination
many Jewish youths are put through with the generous help of the
state of Israel in the form of shlichim, or, as they are known, messen-
gers of Alia. These are people who work within the Jewish community
to instll a love of Israel in the hearts of the Jewish youth. In Jonathan
Pollard’s case, they were extremely successful,

The young man had volunteered in 1982 to the American Israel
Public Affairs Committee, a pro-Israeli lobby group, another link in
_thc chain of organizations manacling the Jewish community to Israel
in general and to the Israeli right wing in particular. Pollard, already a
member of the American intelligence community, had volunteered his
services for the benefit of the state of Israel. As js the procedure, his
name was passed to the security section in the Isracli embassy in

I:.. ;'E'ut-nut: A person or group used to conceal contact, creating an information
uffer.
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Washington and from there on to the Mossad as a potennal sayan.
After thorough checking, including using the Mossad’s connection in
the Anti-Defamanion League, the Mossad decided that he was a good
candidare and would fit in well, since he was both a Zionist zealor and
well placed in the American intelligence research commumity, with
ample access o vital information about the Middle East and Afnica.
And since he was Jewish, there was no thought of making him a paid
spy. In fact, he was perfect for Operation Reindeer, which was meant
to reestablish the ties between the American intelligence establishment
and that of South Africa. Not that the two didn't have a link of their
own, but this one would be monitored by the Mossad and would be
much more secure and lucrarive.

There was no hesitation on Pollard’s part once Un made contact
with him, bringing in a reference from a friend Pollard had in lsracl.
The AIPAC was notified thar the Mossad was not interested in Pol-
lard, and Pollard was instructed not to contact the Jewish organiza-
tions again. He was now a sayan for the Mossad or, as he was told,
for the security organizanon of Israel.

At the nme, Pollard was nort getting any money for the work he
was doing, since it is a clear Mossad policy not to pay Jewish helpers.
That way it could never be said that what they're doing js tor any rea-
son other than love and concern for Israel.

Urt had supplied the South Africans with photos (which the
Mossad had received from the Danish intelligence) of the 55C-3 Soviet
weapons system that the Americans were eager to get at the nme. This
was all part of Operation Reindeer, in which the South African intelli-
gence was endeared to the Americans using Pollard’s school conracts.
(Apparently, someone with whom Pollard had gone o school and
remained friends with afterward had subsequently become a senior
South African intelligence officer.)

For some time. Uri went on using Pollard for obraining various
pieces of information, never overstraining the relatonship 1o the poinr
where the man might be placed under suspicion. In his reports, Uri
constantly warned—just for the record—that he was not sure if Pol-
lard was telling him all of the wruth all of the ime. Uri thoughr that
Pollard might be getting himself into trouble, trying to get information
he wasn't asked ro get. If he was, Uri couldn’t help ham, because Un
wouldn't be aware of the danger.

Sometime in 1984, Uri had decided with the agreement of his
bosses that Pollard was too volatile to handle, since he was always try-
ing to do more than he was asked. raking unnecessary nisks, and gen-
erally becoming more of a liability than an asset. Therefore, he was

-
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put on the dormant list as a sleeper. Pollard was informed that he'd
been of grear help ro Israel and rhat for his own safery, the Isracli
intelligence had decided he needed a cooling-off period. Should they
decide at a later date that ir was again safe for him to work, they’d
contact him and revive the activiry.

Pollard was not thrilled at the prospect, but according to Uri, he
didn’t make a fuss. It must be remembered that up to that point, he
hadn't been paid one red cent and was doing ir all because of sheer
ideology.

Not long after the file was rendered dormant, Rafi Eitan gor his
hands on ir. Even though he was no longer a Mossad officer at the
time, as the saying goes, once a Mossad always a Mossad, He had
access to Mossad files, both because of his past in the Mossad and
because he was the adviser on terrorism to the prime minister and also
the head of the LAKAM.

For him, finding the dormant Pollard file was like striking gold.
Not bound by Mossad rules of conduct regarding Jewish helpers, he
activated Pollard through his reviving code word and arranged to cre-
ate a so-called natural setting for him to meet his new operator, Avian
Sellah. Sellah, a decorated Israeli pilotr who'd taken part in the bomb-
ing of the fraqi nuclear plant in Osirak, was a narural for the job, He
wanted to study in the United States and would be working for the
LAKAM at the same time. He didn’t have to recruit Pollard, only acti-
vate him, and the meeting berween the two was set up by Eitan to
look like a coincidence brought about by a third party, a relative of
Pollard’s who had arended a speech by Sellah, Sellah was chosen to be
the operator because he was an expert in targeting and could ralk shop
with Pollard, who was an intelligence analysis expert. The fact thar
Sellah was not a trained intelligence man also contributed to the fall of
Pollard, who, in this new phase, was now getting paid and was in fact
almost running himself.

The Mossad had heard from sources in the CIA that they were
closing in on Pollard, but the Mossad preferred 1o stay out of the pic-
ture, hoping the affair would be sertled quietly, behind closed doors,
putting the LAKAM out of the game. To buy time once things started
to go haywire, the Israeli ambassador to the United States was sent on
a lecture tour to France, and the running of the embassy was left in the
hands of a lower-ranking diplomar, Eliyakim Rubinstein, who
couldnt make a policy decision on his own. Once all the LAKAM
people had fled the United States, Pollard was left behind to fend for
himself. He fled to the Isracli embassy in Washington. Once he was
inside, the security people turned for instructions to Rubinstein, who
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then turned to the Shaback representative to see whar he had ro sav.
That man turned to the Mossad representative, who, without checking
back with headquarters and assuming things hadn’t changed, told the
Shaback man that Pollard was not Mossad and therefore was none of
his business. The Shaback man then said thar his people had no claim
over Pollard, and since all the LAKAM people had left the country
and were not to be found, it was up ro Rubinstein. He also mentioned
the fact that the embassy was surrounded by the FBIL

Rubinstein was not able 1o contact Israel on the secure channels
that were controlled by the Mossad liaison, who said they were down.
So Rubinstein decided to take the inmnative. He had Pollard and his
wife sent our of the embassy into the hands of the stunned FBI. Much
later, | learned from FBI people involved in the Pollard investigation
and capture that they were almost as surprised as he was that he was
sent out; at that point, they’d been ready to negotiate some sort of
compromise with [srael. It was also learned later thar a large portion
of the intormation that Pollard had handed over to Israel made its way
to the Eastern Bloc in exchange for the release of Jews from those
countries, That knowledge, and the fact that admitting it would verify
the information that was now in the hands of the Soviets, was the rea-
son Caspar Weinberger, the American secretary of defense, asked for
the maximum sentence for Pollard and was not able 1o explain why
publicly.

Ur was forced to leave the Unired States then, since the Mossad
was worried that Pollard, to ger a shorter sentence, would expose the
Mossad connection, Burt Pollard, because he knew that doing so would
open up a whole new can of worms that would make his situation
worse, kept quiet abour it. This was why the Justice Department did
not feel obligated ro fulfill its side of the plea bargain with Pollard, in
which he was promised a reduced sentence and no jail time for his
wite, who was sentenced as his accomplice, in exchange for a full dis-
ciosure of all the relevant facts.

Now the affair had quieted down, and Uri was back in the Stares,
actively running large numbers of more reliable and more discreet
sayanim,

Azt ten A.M., | was packed and ready to go when the phone rang. It
was Uri, and he was furious, How dare [ call his operative? He said I'd
scared the shit out of her and that she was thinking about quitting. |
tried to calm him down for a while. Then, as if someone had waved a
magic wand, he changed his tone. It was as though the man had shot
out all his anger and then was overcome by serenity.

“So, Victor, what’s new?”
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“Apart from being our of the Office and on my own, searching for
the meaning of life, not much.”

“So what brings you here?”

“The never-ending search.” [ was joking, and he knew it.

“What can [ do for you? And what’s the damage in it?”

“No damage, really. | need to know if there is something planned
for Washington in the next twenty-four hours.”

“In what way?”

“You know what | mean. Anything out of the usual, something
they'd warn you to stay away from.”

There was a shorr silence on the line. “Whart are you up to, man?™

“You didn’t answer my question!”

“Nothing that I know of.” His speech was slow, as if he was
thinking. “Where are you now?”

“In my hotel. You just called me, remember?”

“I called, but I don't know where this Holiday Inn is. Can we meet
somewhere?”

“How about the lobby of the Four Seasons downtown?”

“That’s fine with me. When?*

“How about two this afternoon?”

“See you there.” He hung up.

1 sertled the bill and lefr the hotel. [ took a cab to the Sheraton
overlooking the airport, got a room there, and headed back down-
town, At two, | entered the Four Seasons. Uri was waiting for me and
led me into the dining room ar the far end. Uri was in his late forties,
tive foot nine, and stocky. He had shining silver hair and a high fore-
head; in his gray suit and his horn-rimmed glasses, he was very distin-
guished-looking. We were led to a table, but Uri had a preference for a
corner one, Once we were alone, he got to it: “What can you tell me
about Ephraim?”

I stared at him for a moment. “What can you tell me?”

“If I tell you that I'm in his group, will that mean anything to
vouz”

“Are you?"

“Yes, Are you the loose property he's ralking about?”

“I could be, but then I believe I wouldn't be the only one.,” I
leaned forward. “What can you tell me about Kuri?® [ asked, referring
1o the general who had been killed before taking over leadership of the
Mossad.

“You are the property,” he said, smiling. “l would never have
guessed. Yes, [ believe the man was murdered by our people.”

“Let’s not tell Ephraim about this conversation,” 1 said. “] would
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prefer to have someone in the group that he doesn’t know 1 know.”

“I don’t have a problem with that. Den't you rrust him?”

*1 do today. Bur, as you well know, things change.”

Very little else was said on the subject after that. We decided rhat
the woman would be our contact point and that he would tell her this
was just a way to make sure she was safe. He would call to see if | had
lefr messages for him, and 1 could do the same. At last | had a second
lifeline, someone | could trust and who would eventually keep me
alive.

(22

Tuesony, May 27. 1986, Wasumerox NaionaL, Riepost

s | was waiting for Bella 1o arrive, a man stood next to me in the
Htrzrminal leafing through a book. Iv was the latest novel by John le

Carré. | found the ritle somewhat ironic, given my situation: A Per-
fect Spy. 1 remembered how much I used to enjoy that kind of book,
before | joined the Mossad and learned how different the real world of
espionage was from the fantasy ot the so-called spy novel. Reality was
far more dangerous and unpredictable than any fiction could be. I
remember thinking how it would be almost impossible to describe the
complexity of the tangled web of intelligence.

A crowd of passengers who had arrived on a flight from New
York emerged, and a few minutes later Bella appeared. She was
breathtaking. Her smile was the light I'd been seeking at the end of the
tunnel. | was happier than I could remember ever being before. At
some point in this bizarre journey, I'd lost hope of seeing her again,
and here she was. | held on to her and was going to keep holding her
that way for as long as I could.

We both knew that we'd made a leap across a vast abyss 1o be
with each other. She didnt know the depth of the chasm that had sep-
arated us, bur she could sense its vastness. We hardly said a thing until
we reached the hotel, and there we sat facing each other. She wanted
to know where I'd been and whar was going on. 1 couldn't tell her. |
had to keep her out of it, and so I told her that I'd visited Zaire and
'was a secunty adviser to somc people from there. | told her | was
going to get some money the following day, and then we'd leave for
Canada.

The next morning, I went downstairs 1o meet with Zuhir and get
the money from him. I then went up the block and bought a car, pay-
ing cash. It was a 1985 Pontiac 6000, metallic gray. After arranging
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for insurance and temporary plates, | returned 1o the hotel. The fol-
lowing day, we headed up to Canada. I was extremely anxious to
leave Washington, D.C. The memories | had of the place were not
altogether pleasant.

It was like a second honeymoon, although we'd never really had a
first one. We couldn't seem to ger enough of each other. After a three-
day dnive, we arrived in Ottawa, the beaunful capiral of Canada. It
was a city that Bella had once seen in a television program and had
always wanted to live in. Since it didn't matter what exact location we
chose, Orrawa it was,

We spent the first few days in the downtown Holiday Inn on
Queen Street. Then we found a three-bedroom apariment, also in the
downtown area, in a modern apartment building called Kent Towers,

As far as Bella was concerned, I would have to travel from time to
time in my advisory capacity, but otherwise would be able to devote
my free time to what I'd always wanted to do on a full-time basis, and
that was sketch and paint, Eventually, afrer Leeorah came over and
Bella went back to Israel 1o pack everything, coming back with
Sharon, we were all living in the apartment on Kent Street. The girls
were not very enthusiastic about the change, bur such was life, and
they accepred it.

From time to time, I'd call Ephraim from the pay phone across the
street to see if all was going well and to receive instructions about my
next step. Ar the time, not much was happening, He wanted me to
make contact with the Egyptians, but | kept putting rhar off. 1 wasn’t
comfortable about working with two Arab countries ar the same time.
We had no 1dea what the relationship was between them; as far as we
knew, they were in full cooperation. From the little we saw of any Jor-
danian activity, we realized how little we knew,

Bur since we werc not yet ready to set up the Israch spy ring for
the Jordanians as I'd promised, | couldnt put Ephraim off much
longer. He felt that there was a need to inoculate Egyptian intelligence
against the Mossad. That had w be done before some incident
occurred that would expose the Mossad’s assistance (manly logistical)
to the Muslim fundamentalists through contacts in Afghanistan.

The peace with Egypt was pressing hard on the Israeli right wing.
In uself, the peace, so vigilantly kepr by the Egyptiuns, was living
proof that the Arabs are a people with whom peace is possible, and
that they're not at all what the Mossad and other elements of the righe
have portrayed them to be. Egypt has kept irs peace with Israel, even
though Israel became the aggressor in Lebanon in 1982 and despite
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the Mossad’s warnings that the Egypnans were in fact in the middle of
a ten-year military buildup thar would bring abour a war with Israel in
1986-87 (a war that never materialized),

The Mossad realized thar it had ro come up with a new threat 1o
the region, a threat of such magnitude thar it would justify whatever
acrion the Mossad mighr see fit to take.

The right-wing ¢lements in the Mossad (and in the whole country,
for that matter) had what they regarded as a sound philosophy: They
believed (correctly, as it happened) that Israel was the strongest mili-
rary presence in the Middle East. In fact, they believed that the mili-
rary might of what had become known as “fortress Israel” was greater
than that of all of the Arab armies combined, and was responsible for
whatever security Israel possessed, The right wing believed then—and
they still believe—that this strength arises from the need to answer the
constant threat of war.

The corollary belief was that peace overtures would inevitably
start a process of corrosion that would weaken the military and even-
tually bring abourt the demise of the state of Israel, since, the philoso-
phy goes, its Arab neighbors are untrustworthy, and no treaty signed
by them 1s worth the paper it's written on.

Supporting the radical elements of Muslim fundamentalism sar
well with the Mossad's general plan for the region. An Arab world run
by fundamentalists would not be a party to any negotiations with the
West, thus leaving Israel again as the only democratic, rational coun-
try in the region. And if the Mossad could arrange for the Hamas
(Palestinian fundamentalists) 1o take over the Palestinian streets from
the PLO, then the picture would be complete,

Mossad acrivity in Egypt was extensive. Now that there was an
Israeli embassy in Cairo, the walk-in traffic was heavy. Egypr was
being used borh as a source of information and as a jumiping-off point
to the rest of the Arab world. It would be much easier and much less
suspicious to have an Egyptian who was recruited under a false flag in
Cairo and had never set foot outside the Middle East carry out intelli-
gence gathering in other Arab countries than Arabs who had been to
Europe and therefore might be suspected.

That in itself was a “legiimate” part of the game, bur once the
Mossad began trying to undermine the fiber of Egyprian society by
supporting the fundamenralists, also under false flags, it was some-
thing completely different. It was more like cutting off the branch on
which you're sitting,
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Sungas, Juwe 29

Bella had gone to Israel for a week to ger the rest of our things
together and bring them back to Canada, When she'd left Israel, it had
been in haste, and all she had wanted to do was find me, having been
almost totally cut off from me when [ was in Jordan. She was due
back in Canada the following week. At about noon, I received a tele-
phone call at my house.

“Vic?™ 1 recognized the voice instantly. Bur | was surprised that
Ephraim was calling me at home.

“What?”

“How about we have lunch?”

“Where are you?” 1 could feel my body turn on to an alerrt srate.

“I think that if you look out your window, you will see me. I'm in
a phone booth across from a store called Canadian Tire.”

[ looked down at the street, and there he was, in a light blue pin-
stripe suit.

“Where did you find the suit?" | asked, chuckling.

“Are you coming down, or should | come up there and drag you
down?”

“Do you realize how close we are ro the Israeli embassy?™ 1 asked.

“Sure, it's abour a block down the street. Bur the man in charge of
security is now on a shooting range in New York state with most of
his men, and our liaison is 1n Washington. The coast is clear. We can
cat anywhere you want to,”

| was down in a few minutes. It was a beaunful dav, We ended up
on the mezzanine level at the Westin Hotel, where we had a light
lunch. After giving me the Office gossip, Ephraim came to the point,
namely the reason for his visit. “You have to make the move 1o Egypt
now. We can't wair any longer.”

I had in fact already made contacts in the Egypnian embassy in
Washington and had been there twice. But ar the ime, on Ephraim’s
advice, I'd declined the invirarion te go to Cairo. We were involved in
more important things just then, such as the Jordanian setup and the
meetings with the Briush, and as Ephraim put ir, the time was not
right. | had a standing invitation from rhe then military attaché to
come for a visir.

According to Ephraim, the man who'd made thar invitation was
abour to be replaced, and since we didn't know who his replacement
would be, bur already knew for a fact that the acting attaché was not
working for the Mossad, the window of opportunity for a safe entry
into Egypt was fast closing.
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“You have to get in there and point out the connection with the
fundamentalists, I'm getting some bits of information from time to
time, and | need a way to let them have that information from a
source they will truse.”

“Are you going to plant information to make a point?” [ had to
knows: if he was planning to use me as a tool for spreading disinforma-
tion, he could count me out. | had no special feelings for the Egyp-
nans; it was just that I didn't believe in the Mossad’s way of doing
things. | didn'’t think that what was bad for the goose was okay for the
gander.

He assured me that this was not the case; the information that he
had would lead to the arrest of several fundamentalists and the expo-
sure of the armaments supply line from the Mujahideen in Afghanistan
o the Muslim Brotherhood in Egypt.

“That is a long way to carry arms,” [ noted.

As it turned our, it was a complex pipeline, since a large portion of
the Mujahideen's weapons were American-made and were supplied to
the Muslim Brotherhood directly from Israel, using as carriers the
Bedouin nomads who roamed the demilitarized zones in the Sinai.

The Mossad could of course also supply Soviet-made equipment
from the spoils of the PLO stores seized in the 1982 war on the PLO
in Lebanon. Once it was on Egyptian territory, the matériel was
passed to an intermediary who would make the final delivery. As pay-
ment for the armaments, the Mossad would contract targets to be hit
inside Egypt.

“Destabilize, destabilize, destabilize,” Ephraim said, “That 1s all
they’re doing, all the time. No matter what anyone says, all they can
think about is creating a shambles. They don’t understand that this
jungle they're creaning will one day swallow them roo.”

“Bella is due back on the first, I'll take her and the kids on a small
trip to Washington and pick up my visa there. That is, if my contact is
still working.”

“Don’t delay, I hear you've been talking to Uri.”

His statement caught me totally by surprise. I wasn't quite sure
what to say, if anything. “Do you have a slow ignition or something?
That was a long time ago.”

“Not that long. Have you been in comact with him since3®

“Ask him,”

He didn’t say another word about it. At the end of the day, he had
me drive him to the airport, and off he went, He was going to give me
some information about the armaments transfer after | got back from
Washington and had a firm date to travel.
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We took our little trip to Washington on Friday, July 4, entering
the United States on a very festive occasion. [ planned to drive down
on the weekend, making it to the Egyptian embassy first thing Mon-
day morning. The drive went withour a hitch. I'd told Bella that I was
to meer some diplomats from Zaire and arrange for my trip there. At
the embassy, things went smoothly. After I handed my passport to the
security man at the door, my contact escorted me into a large room
fancily decorated in light blue. T was asked to wait under a gold-
framed portraic of the smiling President Hosni Mubarak. Several min-
utes later, the attaché came in and greeted me warmly, He was curi-
ous as 1o whether 1 was superstitious ar all, 1 assured him | was not.
He said that my flighr to Cairo was scheduled for July 13, which was
but one week away. I felt a slight weakness in my knees, but | wasn’t
going to let on that | had any problem with that.

My tickets would be waiting for me at the Aer Lingus counter in
Kennedy Airport, but | would have to pay for them; they were going
to make the reservation only, He handed me an envelope with rwo
thousand dollars in it. | was to come back on July 20, according to
him, and would be picked up at the airport and taken to a safe place.
He promised me that | had nothing to worry about and that the mat-
ter of payment for my services would be discussed by the authorities
when | got there. He made it very clear thar, because of his diplo-
matic status and the respect he had for the United States as its guest,
he was not able to get involved in this martter beyond the liaison
srage.

“As long as your heart is pure when you deal with us,”™ the man
said with a smile, “you have absolutely nothing to worry about.”

That statement scared me more than any threat I'd ever received.
It was a veiled threar if ever 1 heard one—or was 1t because 1 was the
thief with his hat on fire that 1 took it that way?

| was very preoccupied on my way back to Ottawa. [ was fecling a
strange sense of imminent doom. At last. I'd settled in a place where |
felt comfortable and started a new life, and here | was leaving it all
behind and embarking on a journey back into the hell I'd so recently
lefr. Bur 1 knew that this new life was only make-believe and that |
was still a soldier on the most remote outpost of his country’s border,
a border so distant and murky that it was not clear which side of ir
vou were on. It was the kind of border you needed philosophy 1o
define, and 1 didn't like it at all.

A
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Larrived in New York in the afternoon and picked up my ticker at
the counter, just as planned. 1 was 10 go aboard Egypt Air Flight 986,
departure time 22:00, so | had some time to kill.

I felt very uncomfortable abour what I was going to do. Leaving
the safety of the United States was something my whole body rebelled
against, I'd been exposed to far too many intelligence agencies in the
past few months to feel safe on such a trip. It seemed almost impossi-
ble that the Egyptians, who had a very efficient although somewhar
cbscure intelligence agency, had not heard about at least one of my
escapades.,

The flight took off on nme, and 1 was rapped in it, heading
nevitably for whatever awaited me. 1 couldn’t sleep all the way, feel-
ing guilty about not telling Bella where | was going. Bur it was more a
selfish thought than one of concern: If I'd told Bella at least someone
besides Ephraim would know where I was,

We flew into daylight above the sparkling blue Mediterranean.
The pilot announced the beginning of our descent into Cairo Interna-
tional, and the stunning yellow landscape of Egypt took over from the
cool blue sea. The closer we got, the more hazy the scenery became.
By the time we landed, you didn't have 1o be outside ta know how hot
it was,

Frinay, Juy 18

The naked lightbulb dangling from the moldy ceiling flickered
momentarily, ending my recollection of the past six months. 1 heard a
faint scream somewhere in the bowels of what [ had thought to be an
empty building. The barely audible shrieks instantly drenched me in
cold sweat. | lay on my back, my eyes following a large brown cock-
roach making its way across the ceiling of my cell.

Then the old man was back with a fresh pitcher of lemonade and
a food tray, Lying there, driven to exasperation by the metronomic
quality of my existence, fearing thar the old man would appear like
this at the appointed time for the next thousand days, | realized I had
to do something to get someone’s attention. When the codger was
attending to the shower, I tossed the loaded food tray out the door,
barely missing the guard. For an instant, I was sure he was going to
use his weapon and cut me down where | stood. Instead, he looked
surprised and shouted something to the old man, who hurried out of
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the cell. I lay back on the bed. The fan abruptly stopped working, and
it was too hot to do anything abourt it. The cockroach on the ceiling
was gone.

I thoughr about my predicament. It was already four days since I'd
been thrown into this cell. The possibility that this might be “home”
for the rest of my life was ternfying. To escape the horror of such a
prospect, | began a fantasy of how things were working out and how |
would soon be our of there.

| think it was some nme in the early afternoon when the door
opened and a large man in a light gray short-sleeve suit entered the
room. I'd just stepped out of the shower and was still halt-dressed. I
was taking a shower every few hours, and | only dressed sufficiently to
be decent, in case | had a visitor.

“Mr. Ostrovsky?” the large man said with a friendly smile. His
shining bald head was well tanned and so was his face. | could tell
from his 1an line that he normally wore a T-shirt and not the V collar
that he wore now.

1 turned my head as if looking for someone behind me. “I guess
you must be looking for me?”

His smile broadened. *1 must apologize for the delay in coming ro
greet you.”

| stared at the man withour a word, still in the dormant mode I'd
adopted. This man could depart at any minute and not come back,
leaving me o my torment all over again. | decided that | would do
anything to get out of thar horrible place.

“If you would ger dressed, I'll escort you to meet some people
who're expecring you.”

1 nodded and within minutes was following him down the hall
into a large conference room. At the end of the long table was a pile of
Bamahaneh' magazines. The room appeared to have been plucked out
of a modern office building; it was fresh and clean and seemed quite
out of place in this dilapidated old structure. There was a coffeemaker
in the corner, and the aroma of Amencan-style brewed coffec hung in
the air. The big man offered me a cup and then pointed to the rray
with milk and sugar. To the right was a large wall mirror. Someone
opened a door behind the mirror, cavsing the mirror to be transparent
for a split second. 1 saw several people sitting behind it and a camera
on a tripod set up in the corner.

1. Bamahaneh: The word means “in the camp™ and refers 1o the weekly maga-
zine of the Iscaeli military.
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“What are the magazines for?™ [ asked. The man told me that they
were for me, and that I could rake them to my room after we were fin-
ished today. What he said had an ominous ring 1o it. | didn't wanr 1o
go back 1o my “room™; | wanted our of the whole rotten place, but |
had to keep my cool.

Things began to move very fast, The Egyptians handed me a pile
of photographs and asked me ro identify people from the Mossad.
They were not playing games as most of the other agencies had. Fach
phoro had a name under it in both English and Arabic. There were
fewer than five photos that 1 couldn’t identify. And 1 was told that
they were serving in Europe, so it was quite likely that | didn't know
them, They also had a chart of the Mossad departments and the floor
plan of the building on King Saul Boulevard. They wanted me to show
them where I used to sit when I worked on the Danish desk.

Ar that point, it was clear that they'd already spoken to someone
who'd worked in the building and were quite up 1o date on the organi-
zation, My host became much more relaxed once he leamned that |
could not name any Egyptians working for the Mossad. And he was
more than happy to get the information abour the weapons infiltration
for the Muslim Brotherhood.

He then wanted to hear as much as | could tell him about Robert
Maxwell, the British newspaper magnate. His reason was that they
were aware of the constant Mossad interest in purchasmg media so
that it could both influence public opinion and use journalism as a
cover for Inserting agents into countries,

It seemed my host was as eager to show me how much he knew as
he was to hear about things he didn’t know—not a good trait for an
intelligence officer. He identified Maxwell as a Mossad agent and also
reminded me of other occasions on which the Mossad had been
behind the purchase of newspapers i England. As an example, he
gave the Eastern African, which was bought with Mossad money by
an Israeli businessman, The purchase was made, he said, to assist the
South African propaganda machine in making apartheid more palat-
able in the West.

Suddenly, the sinister narure of what was being done with
Maxwell became clear 1o me. In his zeal to cooperate with Israel, and
even though he was not an agent himself (as the British had made
clear when 1 had spoken to them in Washington), Maxwell was a
sayan on the grand scale. The Mossad was financing many of its oper-
ations in Europe from moneys stolen from the man’s newspaper pen-
sion fund. They got their hands on the pension funds almost as soon
as he'd made his purchases (initially with money lent 1o him by the
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Mossad and on expert advice he reccived from Mossad analvses).
What was simister about i1, aside from the theft, was that anyone n his
news arganization, anywhere in the Middle East, was auromatically
suspected of working for Israel and was only one rumor away from
the hangman’s noose.

I explained to my host, as | had to the British, that in the begin-
ning the Mossad would help Maxwell purchase the newspapers by
lending him money and causing labor disputes and other problems,
making the target purchases more vulnerable, Larer, the tactics
changed; they would target in advance a paper that he was to pur-
chase and srart it on a collision course with bankruptey using all avail-
able strategies, starting with workforce agitation and ending with pull-
back of funds from the paper through bankers and advertisers sympa-
thetic to the Mossad. Then, once the rarget was softened, they'd send
Maxwell in for the kill.

Thar might, my host took me on a dnive into the ciry of Cairo, |
knew the man felt safe with me when he took me in his car, just the
two of us, out in the big city. For the first few minutes, he had me
blindfolded, and | was blindfolded again on the way back. The city
didn’t really impress me, nor did the pyramids. | was far too frustrated
and tense to rake in much of it, But I enjoyed the open spaces and the
semifree feeling | had. By midnight, | was back in my cell, with my
host’s guarantee that he would be back in the morning and that [
would in fact be on board Egypt Air Flight 983 1o New York on Sun-
day.

I lay on my back in the cell, staring ar the ceiling, wearing only my
underwear. | had a feeling that the man had not lied to me and thar 1
would indeed be on thar flight, but since things so far had not gone
the way 1'd anticipated, there was no guarantee that they'd start now.

I made a pledge to myself that if | got our of this place, | would
not leave Canada again as long as I lived. I'd been a normal human
being when I had entered the Mossad, mavbe a bit on the naive side,
placing my trust in just abour anyone. The Mossad had changed me; it
had programmed me for survival. which meant I could no longer trust
anyone for anything. It had made me callous, and it had also made me
tenacious. Once 1 had a goal, nothing bur death could stop me from
teaching it. It had tried w brainwash me into agreeing with its twisted
political agenda. As a result of its failure, it had created what it would
later call its worst nightmare: a man with the perseverance of a
Mossad officer who is devored to the destruction of the Mossad.

I knew there and then, in that small cell, that the only way to kill
the Mossad would be to expose it. By now | knew that it was not the
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organizanion it wanted everyone to think it was. Yes, it was danger-
ous. Yes, it was vicious, bur it was nor efficient. Nor was it what it
pretended 1o be: an incelligence agency dedicated to warning the state
of potennal danger.

| was put on the flight to New York as promised. 1 was given ten
thousand dollars for my help. 1 had ro sign a form saying that [ had
come to Egypt of my own tree will, had been well treated, and had
received the sum of ten thousand dollars as a gift.

When the plane touched down in New York, | wanted to kiss the
ground. I'd promised the Egyptians that | would come back if they
wanted me to, and go over some things with them if they felt the need.
But I knew when | said it that if | could help it, my foot would not
touch Egyptian soil again.

It was some time later thar [ learned the reason for the treatment 1
had received in Cairo. The Egypnans never gave me any explanation,
except to say it was a misundersranding.

What really happened was that someone had tipped them off that
| was a Mossad operacive still working for the Mossad. I was to disin-
form them and cause havoc inside their organization by pointing the
finger at someone who | would say was a mole working for the
Mossad.

They decided to hold me in isolation and see whar they could
extract from the Mossad by devious means. They informed the
embassy that they had found the body of a man answering my descrip-
tion who'd come to Egypt on the same flight as I had and who was a
residenr of Canada. They also said that they believed he might be an
Israeli. The message made its way to the Mossad, and because the
Maossad had no one in the area answering the description, it didn't
respond. After four days, the Egyprians were convinced that I was not
with the Mossad, becanse they believed the Mossad would, by that
time, have ar least asked to see the body, All that came back from the
[sraeli embassy was that no Israeli answering that description was
mussing and that the Canadian authorities would be a much better bet.
Mcanwhile, back in headquarters, Ephraim was climbing the walls,
thinking I'd somehow slipped, revealing my true identity, and was not
coming out or, much worse, that—as he later put it—I had sold him
out.



t took me several days to get used to being a free man again. 1 was

never again going to be a puppet on a string, for anyone. | was going

to participate only in things that I knew would hurt the Mossad, 1
knew now thar the Mossad was a deadly machine without a purpose,
and if Ephraim was not going to work with me the way | wanted, he
could go to hell and T would do it on my own. | made it clear that |
would not cooperate in any more activities tinless they were directly
detrimental to the success of the Mossad.

He wanted to know whether I would continue to work with the
Egvptians, and T told him I would nor unless it was to pass on infor-
mation to them rhat could hurt the Mossad. | would, however, con-
tinue my activities with the Jordanians, since I thought thar it could
help bring about a peaceful solution to the conflict berween Israel and
Jordan. If the Mossad succeeded in bringing down King Hussein, there
would never, ever be peace in the region. The fundamentalists would
prevail, and thar would be the end of that.

1 also said that 1 would be happy to provide information to the
British and to make contact with the French. As it turned out, thar did
not happen tor some time.

1 contacted the Jordanians and arranged a meeting with Alberr in
QOttawa, Ar first, he was reluctant to come, fearing a trap, but he even-
tually agreed and was supposed to arrive in Ottawa in mid-September.
| contacred a local gallery owner, a Mr. Koyman, who had several gal-
Jeries in Ottawa, Toronto, and Montreal. | brought him some samples
of my work. He had them framed and began to sell them through his
main gallery in Ottawa, at the Rideau Center, At the same time, |
wrote in any official documents that I was a security adviser to foreign
countries. That was the truth; I'd started work on an analysis paper of
the political situation in the Middle East and the significance of the
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various political activities in the area, mainly analyzing what was
behind the statements of Israeh poliicians. This paper would allow
the Jordanians thereafter to plot their decision making on a realistic
picture of the political arena, and not on what some farfetched, over-
paid, and one-sided American media analysts said. If vou turned on
your Teievision set ar any given time, you'd hear them babble on and
on about how they saw the picrure, while it was clear ro anyone with
a brain thar they were feeding on one another,

Albert came to Ortawa, and I gave him a two-week crash course
in how to analyze the analysts. In many Arab capitals, the leaders
were delivering a lot of rheroric for internal consumption but at the
same ume earing up what the so-called experts were saying abourt
what other Arab Jeaders were saying. For some reason, they'd stopped
relying on their own common sense.

Albert was starting to press me for the Israeli spy ring thar I'd
promised him, and he also had a request. His people were extremely
anxious because of the forthcoming change in government in Israel.
Since the Israeli election about two years previously had been com-
pletely indecisive, the two major parties (left-leaning Labor and right-
leaning Likud) had agreed to a unity government in which their lead-
ers would share power in rotation.

It was decided that Shimon Peres, then leader of the Labor Party,
would be the prime minister for the first two-year term, and that
Yitzhak Shamir, leader of the right-wing Likud Party, would be the
foreign minister. Then after two years, Shamir would become prime
minister, and Peres would be foreign minister. Yitzhak Rabin, the
number two of the Labor Party at the time, was to be minister of
defense for the full term. The time was approaching when Shamir
would become prime minister. They wanted me to come to Amman
and analyze what that would mean to them. They were happy with
my written analysis, but for this occasion, they wanted me there.

As far as they were concerned, there was no reason for me not to
want to come. They'd treated me well when 1 was there, and they'd
upheld their end of the bargain in every way, I agreed but said that I
would need a few days to set the date. After all, whar was the point in
coming if 1 didn't have all the information needed for the analysis? |
zlso wanted to get Ephraim to help me set up that spy ring we had
talked about, or ar least ger a list of people and give the Jordanians
several operational options.

After Albert left on Seprember 30, Ephraim arrived, We had sev-
eral meetings in his hotel room at the Holiday Inn, He said that things
were gerting a little rurbulent back home and that he would have to
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stay there for some time now, so Eli was going to be my contact man.
He'd be arriving in town on Friday, October 3. I knew Eli from the
academy; he was an instructor there during my first course, and we'd
had a good relanenship. | had had no 1dea that he was part of this,
and if I'd had to guess, I'd never have picked him. I'd always regarded
him as a hard-line right-winger.

Eli was very happy to be in Canada; he was there as a tourist and
was staving in the Holiday Inn on Queen Street (later to become the
Radisson Hotel). As far as Bella was concerned, | was meeting with
some people on business.

We placed ads in several Jewish papers and one in the Hebrew-
language papers in the United States and Canada. We were calling for
[sraelis with a mulitary combar background to work for a security
company named International Combar Services (ICS). We gave a post
office box in Ottawa as an address and within days were inundated
with letters from Israelis across the continent and from Isrzel, giving
their resumes in Hebrew to a strange company they didn’t know. They
gave us their names, addresses, and military rank, and many were not
shy abour purting in their exact military background, names and loca-
tions of their military units, and their special training. That in uself
was a fountain of knowledge that would normally take a well-trained
and well-oiled intelligence apparatus to collect, There was no doubt
that some of the information was bogus and some of the writers were
boasting connections or experience they didn't have, bur from what |
knew of the naval command and other units in the military, | could
tell thar the majority of it was right on the nose.

Eli ook most of the letters with him and had them faxed to
Ephraim, who was to prepare a list thar 1 could rake with me to
Amman, It would consist of seven names that 1 could use. And if this
thing actually materialized, and we recruited them, then the Jordani-
ans would have good information, but not information that would
endanger the state of Israel,

I was getting ready for the trip. Ephraim had insisted that | leave
on October 20. He said that two of the three Kidon teams were on ice
afrer the Vanunu case and the third was on standby. Also, because that
was the day Shamir and Peres were to exchange jobs, it would take at
least forty-eight hours to get approval for any Kidon activity should
something go wrong with me. At the time, he wouldn’t expand on the
Vanunu case. Only months later, after the Vanunu affair was a marter
of public record, did 1 hear more abour 1t from Uri.

As it trned out, there was quite a rift on the matter berween
Shamir (then still foreign minister) and Peres (then prime minister).

R
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Mordechar Vanunu was a technician in the Israeli secret nuclear facil-
ity in Dimona. He knew Israel was developing nuclear weapons and
realized that, cven though Israel appeared to be a sane democracy, it
would not take much for some extremist leader to lose his cool and
plunge the Middle East and the world inte nuclear war. Moreover, the
game of hide-and-seek that Isracl was playing bothered him. As long
as the West took Israel’s denials ar face value and pretended it had no
proof thar Israel had nuclear weapons, the West would not have 1o
rake steps to stop the proliferation.

Vanunu decided to expose the facts and force the world to
acknowledge it and therefore act on it. He took some fifty pho-
rographs inside the secrer facility and, after leaving the country for
Australia, contacted the London Sunday Times. The paper brought
him to London, planning, first, to publish the revelations and, second,
to put Vanunu in front of the media ro answer questions that would
reinforce his credibility. Prime Minister Peres, who'd learned of the
affair and realized that there was no way to put the genie back in the
bottle, wanted ro take advantage of the situation, He would verify to
the world, and especially the Arab world, where several countries were
busy developing other weapons of mass destruction such as poison gas
and bacterial weapons, that Israel did indeed have the capability to
annihilate them. He wanted to let the story run but also to get Vanunu
back ro Israel before he could answer further questions so that there’d
still be doubt about the story’s credibility. Thar way, he figured he'd
kill two birds with one stone: The world would have good reason to
fear Israel, and ar the same time, Israel could keep denying it possessed
nuclear capability because the man behind the story would not be
around to verify it. Shamir advpcated a different plan; he wanted
Vanunu and his story killed.

Peres realized that there was a hesitation on the part of the news-
papers to run the story, mamnly because they feared being duped. To
help ensure that the story would run, Peres called the editors of the
[sraeli papers and asked them to keep the story in low profile, hoping
that word of his request would reach the British publisher and prove
to him that it was a serious story, After all, no less than the prime min-
ister of Israel wanted it kept quiet! At the same time, Shamir contacted
his friend Robert Maxwell, the British media tycoon, and had him run
4 story in his paper that would tamish Vanunu's credibility and expose
him as a charlatan. He also wanted the man’s photo in the paper, so
that Vanunu, who was not a professional in the spook business, would
panic,

The Sunday Times ended up publishing the story on October §, a
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week after Maxwell’s Daily Mirror did. The Mossad, whe'd sent a
Kidon team to London on September 20, lured Vanunu to ltaly using
a woman named Cindy. From there, they kidnapped him and rook
him to Isracl. Mordechai Vanunu was tried and sentenced to eighteen
years in prison, a term he is serving in solitary confinement.

My visit 1o Jordan this time felt somewhat casual. I flew to New
York and then via Alia, the Jordanian airline, to Amman aboard Flight
264 leaving New York at ten-forty p.M, The only problem | had wath
this trip was that the ticket, which was sent to me from the Jordanian
embassy in Washington and purchased from a Golden Eagle travel
agent in Washington, did not have a date of return. It was left open,
something that after my latest experience in Egypt made me somewhat
uneasy, especially in view of the fact that | knew Egypt and Jordan
had cooperated on many marters in the past.

The flight was as pleasant as a flight can be. 1 sat across from an
Air Canada captain who was going down to Jordan to arrange an air
delivery of a herd of Canadian cows as part of a Canadian agricultural
assistance program.

Albert was supposcd to meet me at the airport. But he was late,
which caused me to feel extremely anxious, mainly because I was trav-
eling on my Canadian passport, which was issued to me in Tel Aviv, as
was clearly stated on the first page. If | had to go through the passport
check, things would start 10 get messy. The Amman airport is not a
very busy place, and after a few moments of waiting, I was alone in
the arrivals section. The terminal police were starting to stare at me in
a strange way. In the nick of time, just as one of them was abour 10
come over and start questioning me, Albert showed up. He was pale
and extremely apologetic about miscalculating the time of my arrival.

He ran me through passports and customs, waving his 1D card.
Minutes later, we were on our way to the city and the Regency Palace
Hotel. The hotel was full this time around, and it seemed that most of
the guests were from Saudi Arabia, in their white tunics with thin gold
trim.

The first day was spent in niceties and meeting people I'd met on
my previous visit—except thar this time we were like old acquain-
tances. The feeling of anxious anticipation dissipated hefore rhe day
was over, The next morning, | was taken on a trip to Petra, which is
an ancient city carved out of the red mountains. Its colossal palaces
and giant columns are all of a piece with the mountain. It is a breath-
taking sight and a reminder of how short our visit on this planet is.
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For the builders of this wonder in the desert are no more, as if they'd
just drifted away into oblivion one day, leaving all this behind.

We ended up in the city of Al-Agaba, across the Gulf of Aqaba
from the Israeli city of Elat, where I'd spent two years of my vouth.
The two cities are very close to each other. When | lived there, |
remember being on the beach one night (the yourh of Elat spend most
of their time on the beach) during a power failure in Elar. Tourists
pointed out Al-Agaba, only a few kilometers away, and asked why
there was light in that neighborhood.

It was again an eerie feeling to sit on the porch of a beauriful
white villa on the beach of Al-Agaba, a cold lemonade in my hand,
with friends from the Jordaman intelligence, and o0 look across the
bay at Elar and the navy parrol boats leaving the military pornon of
the harbor. I could even see the bow of a Saar-class missile boat on the
giant dry dock.

In those very comfortable surroundings, we discussed the reper-
cussions that could be expected due to the change in government the
day before, What had them worried was that Sharon would be push-
ing the concept of Jordan as Palestine. He'd been promoting a line of
reasoning thar said that because some 70 percent of the Jordanian
population is of Palestinian descenr, Palestinians should overthrow the
king, create their own state there, and forger about the West Bank,

| expressed the opinion that Shamir too thought that the Palesnini-
ans should forget about the West Bank, but that he didn’t really care if
Jordan became Palesune or not. If he cared either way, then [ sup-
posed he’d prefer things as they were.

We spent two days in Al-Aqgaba, and then it was back to Amman.
My old friend Fadllal was waiting for me ar the hotel. He came
straight ro the point.

“What about the spy nng you promised us?™ His face was smiling,
but his eyes were not. 1 took a sheet of paper our of my attaché case
and handed it 1o him. “This is a list that | have compiled of Israeli
officers who are presently in Europe and the United States and who
are willing o work in the security field for whoever will pay them the
most. What you need to do is get some of your men who can speak
Hebrew, preferably with an American accent. You will send them to
Mexico, and trom there you will contact the men on this list. You will
‘bring the Isracli officers to Mexico, on your account of course, and
interrogate them one on one as if it were a job application., Have them
s1ay in a nice hotel and give them some spending money.”

“What makes you think they'll talk?”
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“If vou have them convinced that they're in the presence of
Israchis, and from what 1 have seen you can do that, they’ll not stop
talking. You must remember, however, not to overdo it. If any of them
want to leave at any time, you mustn't stop them. And, most impor-
tant, you must not let them meet each other, Arrange it so that the
interviews are on individual basis.™

Fadllal nodded his head. | went on to describe how they would
weed our the applicants who could give them more than just knowl-
edge, that is, those having tactical military techniques to pass on.
These applicants would then be recruired, meaning they would be sent
to-a camp in Mexico where they would train “soldiers™ in rechniques
that would be of great interest to the Jordanian intelligence.

We spent the final days in Amman going over this plan. Some time
later, Albert, who saw several of the videotapes made during the inter-
rogations in the hotel in Acapulco, told me that his people had said
that at last they were starting to understand what lsraclis were all
about. Ar first analysis, they appeared to be overgrown children with a
lot of self-confidence and hostility, but stll very friendly. They also
realized that Israelis were extremely prejudiced against everybody who
wasn't Israeli, and even then there were internal prejudices.

My somewhat uneventful visit was just about over when I got the
scare of my life. On the day before | was to leave, 1 walked our of my
hotel room and encountered a mard emerging from the adjoining
room, heading back to her loaded service cart. Out of habit and with-
out reahzing, 1 greeted her in Hebrew, saving boket tove, which means
“good morning.” She hardly paid any artention, but two hotel guests
standing by the elevator turned their heads. | walked back into my
room so that 1 would not have o take the elevator with them, but
since | was a guest of the local intelligence, | was not too worried. |
went down to join Albert ar the breakfast rable in the wood-paneled
dining room on the second floor. The tables were round and were
meant to scat eight, but we were just the two of us; Fadllal mighr join
us later.

I made a trip to the circular buffet in the middle of the room and
returned with my breakfast. Seconds after sitting down, [ froze. 1
could hear two men seared behind me at the other table whispering to
each other in Hebrew. My first instinct was to turn around and see
who they were. ] stopped myself in the nick of time. | had no intention
of telling Albert about it; I was not about to hand over Israelis who
were there, for whatever reason. One thing | had no doubt abour; they
were not there for me. If they had been, they wouldn’t have sat behind
me and surely wouldn’t have spoken in Hebrew. I assumed they were
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there on official business and that it was not with the Jordanian intelli-
gence. Tt had to be with the foreign office. On my next trip to the buf-
fet, | glanced in their direcuon and got my second shock, This one
almost caused me 10 lose my balance: | was looking dicectly into the
face of a man | knew from the Mossad. [ had no doubt that he was in
the Mossad; | was sure | used ro see him regularly. I thought that he
was a4 much berter actor than | could ever be; he didn’t even move a
muscle. He turned back to the men he was seated with, the same ones
who'd whispered in Hebrew, and went on talking o them in English.

“Did vou see a ghost?™ Albert asked once | got back to the table.

“No, [ just think I had too much to drink last nighe, and ic’s com-
ing back to haunt me. [ think I'll excuse myself, if you don’t mind, and
wait for you in the room.”

“Sure, I'll be there in a while,” he said with his usual politeness.

[ lay on the bed, trying to figure out what 1 was seeing. It finally
hir me. [ knew the man, but he didn’t know me. It was Amnon P, or,
as [ knew him by his code name, Hombre, He was the liaison officer
in Denmark and Scandinavia, and | had stared at his photograph every
day of the week while working on the Danish desk. Ir was a method of
work in the Mossad that photographs of officers in the overseas sta-
tions were plastered on the wall over the desks that serviced them, to
give the desk officers a face 1o relate to while they were dealing with
the men in the field. 1 knew his face, but he didn't know mine. I could
not figure out what he was doing in Amman, nor could | imagine why
the other two Israclis were there, There was no way | could ask with-
out running the risk of burning them; they could be in Jordan under
cover.

I stayed in the room as much as possible unnl [ left the following

day.
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took a flight back to the United States. 1'd received ten thousand dol-
Ilars as a bonus from the Jordanians, given to me in cash in Canadian

currency. | declared it when ! entered the United States and even
filled out a special form, since 1 mrended to stay i New York
overnight. But after calling Bella on the phone, 1 decided not to stay in
New York but to fly straight to Canada thar day. | didn't declare thar |
was taking the money with me out of the country. I did, however, pre-
sent it upon arrival in Canada.

Several days later, and much to my dismay, there was a knock on
my door at my apartment in Ottawa. A man from the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police escorted a U.S. customs officer from the American
embassy who wanted to ask me a few gquestions. The RCMP man made
it clear to me thar [ didn’t have ro cooperate with the American, but if |
wanted ro, this would be appreciated. | could see my cover blowing
right in front of my eyes. If this American wrote some report that
ended up in the hands of the Mossad just because he needed some veri-
fication, and they realized thar I'd been to Jordan, my life expectancy
would shrivel right there 1o a martter of weeks. On the other hand, 1
decided I had no choice but 10 cooperate and hope that it wouldn't get
back to the Office. In fact, | made a point of explaining 1o the officials
that it was imperative they didn’t pass this information on. I told them
I was a security adviser, that I'd just come back from helping the Jorda-
nians improve their security (which was true), and also that I'd trained
them in the latest techniques in VIP protection (which was also true).

The two seemed to accept my story and they explained that,
because of my short stay in the States and the fairly large sum of
money I'd brought in but apparently, on paper, had not taken out,
they were mainly worried that [ was involved in drug dealing or some-
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thing of that nature, I know today they believed me because [ never
saw or heard from them again.

Ephraim was very disturbed when he heard about this incident
and wanted me to cool it for a while. We had a regular contact with
the Jordanians, and there was no need to overstress the situation. Gen-
erally, he thought it was a good nme 1o lay low. As he put it {and even
though I couldn't see his face over the phone, I could imagine his
angry expression), “Shamur has just instructed the Liaison department
to start a relationship with the KGB. The man actually wants to coop-
erate with them. He says it will help bring out the Soviet Jews since
the contacts with the Romanians are proving fruitless. Bur we all
know this is something he's wanred to do for a long nme.”

“He doesn't have to look far,” I said. “He had a KGB man in his
office. All he has to do is have a ralk with Levinson. Or was this
Levinson's idea to start with2™

But Ephraim didn't appreciate my lirtle joke. “You stay our of
things,” he said. “It is getting much too hot here, and 1 can't have
things happeming all over the place at the same tme. I'll need vou to
reestablish contact with the British and bring them up to date about
an operanon thar’s taking place in London. But [ still don’t have all
the information, and I don't want to get one of our people killed.”

*Who is running it?” | asked.

“Barda.” he said flatly, as if to say thar in itself would cause the
operation to crumble. The ex—taxi driver turned spy was a flamboy-
ant, self-serving opportunist. He'd been caught several times with his
hand in the proverbial cookie jar. but because of his connections, he
always got off with a light reprimand.

“Burt there’s not much the Mossad can do at the moment without
gerting nailed,” 1 said, referring ro the fact thar after our meeting in
Washington, the Brtish most likely had all the Mossad’s active safe
houses under surveillance,

“They realized that their safe houses were under surveillance. So
they've cooled things down, and now Barda will run this operation
using two other attack case officers! from Brussels.”

1. Arrack case officer: A case officer who has the ability to make fast contact

. with a target and proceed quickly with recruiting him to work as an agent for

the Mossad, Once the person has been recruited, the attack case officer will
transfer the everyday running of the agent to a regular case officer and start a
new recruiling operation elsewhere, Attack case officers within the Mossad
number about five men at most, and are usually stationed in Mossad European
headquarters in Brussels.
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“So what do want me to do?”

“Like I said, once ] have more information, you'll call your
English friends and pass the information on to them. For the time
being, just do whatever it is you're doing now. Service the Jordanians
on a regular basis and wair.”

I waited for the nexr several months and enjoyed life. I started a
small T-shirt business, designing and printing shirts for businesses and
for the Ottawa tourist trade, | named it after a combination of the
names of my two daughters, Sharon and Leeorah. It was named
Sharlee Crearions and 1t was doing quite well. It wasn’t turning a big
profit, but it gave me something to do that | liked, we were living well
from the money coming in from the Jordanians, and all my expenses
were covered by Ephraim. All this money was entered into my com-
pany account; as far as Bella was concerned, it was money [ received
for shirt designs or for being a security adviser to Zaire and Sri Lanka.

But it wasnt as long as | had hoped it would be before Ephraim
was back, and we were on our way to put another dent in the
Mossad’s Teflon armor.

Monoay, Janvary 5, 1387

I had made a call several days before to the British embassy in
Washington and told them there was some new information they
needed to know.

Ephraim had provided me with a file on Operaton Domino,
which was supposed to play itself out over a period of a vear in Eng-
land. The plan was for a Mossad team to carry out the assassination
of a Palestinian cartoonist who worked for a Kuwain newspaper and
then lay the blame on the PLO, or, as the buzzword went, “Force 17,7
This operation was to be a long and elaborate one, involving several
elements of the Mossad.

As Ephraim and | were going over this operation plan, we had no
doubt that if the Briuish managed to catch the Mossad in the act, ir
would damage Anglo-Israeli relations for some tme. What made the
exposure worth it was thar there was no way the Mossad leadership
would be able to survive such a scandal. This would be rthe proverbial
straw that would break the camel’s back.

Ephraim got a room at the Westin Hotel in Ortawa and made me
promise that [ would come to see him the moment my meeting with
the British was over.

At about noon, the Brit arrived at my apartment building, 1
buzzed him in and went downstairs to meet him. We sat in an area on
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the mezzanine floor outside the pool. 1 wanted our first talk to be in a
place that | knew and was comfortable in. Later on, we'd move to my
apartment or to a hotel room, also at the Westin, that Ephraim had
already raken under my name.

I didn't know the man. He introduced himself and said that his
people were very thankful for the information that had brought about
the passport carch in West Germany. 1 asked him if they'd done any-
thing with the information I'd given them regarding Maxwell and the
large sums of money he was transferring to the Mossad station in Lon-
don,

The man assured me that although he was not privy to thar infor-
mation, he had no doubt that it was taken care of. He was extremely
anxious to hear what I had to say, or, as he put i, the cause for my
alarm, This was slightly too hot a subject 1o handle in our present
location, so [ suggested that | drive the two of us to a horel room [ had
secured for us. I was very surprised at the speed with which he agreed
to go with me to the hotel, without taking any precautionary steps.

[ drove us over in my car, parked in the underground lor, and went
to the front desk 1o get my key. We got a corner suite, and once we
were there we wasted no ume. We ordered coffee and sandwiches, and
after they arrived we got down to business, I handed him the file that
Ephraim had brought me. It derailed several aspects of the operation
that was alrcady under way in England.

Most of the players were already in place, Probably as a result of
the information 1'd given the British in Washingron, they'd managed
to follow the bodlim leaving the Israeli embassy and uncover several
safe houses that they were now keeping under close surveillance. That
meant they were aware of most of the station’s routine activity, How-
ever, several weeks earlier, a bodel had realized that he was being fol-
lowed and reported the incident to his station chief. who had a Yarid
team? come in from Isracl and check the security of operations.
Mousa, head of European operations, arrived from Brussels to handle
the job. The Israelis realized that several safe houses were under
surveillance and dropped them. They theorized thar one of the case
ofhicers must have been neglectful during his routine testing to verify if
he was clean and had picked up a rail, Now thar the territory was
cleaned, they were confident that they could carry on, but to be safe
they’d brought in three artack case officers from the Brussels head-
quarters who'd be working outside the embassy, meaning thar they

2. Yarid team: A team used to check security procedures and Mossad operavions
security.
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wouldn't be part of the embassy staff as were the case officers ar the
London station. Several days after the Yarid sweep, the British were
back on their trail because they knew who the bodlirm were, and as
long as the station followed security procedures, they were going to be
discovered by the British.

Mousa, knowing that the British were warching, had decided to
offer the operation to the Mossad heads as a double blind operation,?
hence the name Domino. No doubt the official operational name was
some computer-generated word that would appear on all official docu-
mentation, but it was nicknamed Doemino.

A new face came on the scene, a PLO officer with very few
options who'd been recruited by the Mossad during the war in 1982.
The man had been a second lieutenant in the late sevenries, had been a
member of the Al-Sa’iga,* then graduated from the Farah military
academy and served in the Palestinian armor unit in the Syrian army.
In 1978, he was moved, sull with his military unit, to Lebanon, where
he was recruited by the Mossad. It had him ask for a transfer to Force
17, which he obtained. The man’s name was Muhammad Mustafa
Abd-al-Rahaman, serial number 13952,

The man'’s only contact in Britain was a Palestinian named Sawan,
who had already been working for the Mossad for some time, Mousa
assumed (and was probably right) that Sawan was under some sort of
observation because he was in contact with Barda, his case officer,
who in turn had used the safe house thar was under surveillance. From
this point on, Abd-al-Rahaman was going to be portrayed as the vil-
lain and the one with the direct tie to the PLO and Force 17.

He was going to bring weapons into England and have Sawan
keep them for him in his apartment. This would give the British a false
sense of security: They wouldn't acr as long as they thought they knew
what was going on and might reel in some bigger fish. Morcover, they
were confident that they were doing it all without the knowledge of
the Mossad. At the right time, both Sawan and Abd-al-Rahaman
would leave the counrry, and a Mossad Kidon team would come in
and carry out the assassination of the Palestinian cartoonist, leaving it

3. Double blind operanion: An operation carried our for a parricular purpose,
vet, because the opposition is watching, manipulated to give the impression it
has some other purpose.

4. Al-Sa’iqa: Pioneers of the Popular War of Liberartion, a Palestinian group
established by the Syrian Ba'ath party as part of the PLO in 1968. Tt broke off
from the PLO in 1983 and has some 1,200 members.
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to be blamed on Abd-al-Rahaman, who would be the stooge. But by
then, he’d be resting in a comfortable, unmarked grave in the Gaza
Strp.

As good friends should, the Mossad would then provide the
British with all the information they needed for the investigation and
would deliver the weapons stash into their hands, throwing in Sawan
as an agenr gone bad, who was meant to bring in the information but
didn't,

The Brit was taking all this down, as well as having the rape
recorder running all the time. He hurled an endless barrage of ques-
tons at me, wanting above all to know where this information came
from. As best [ could, | answered his technical questions, but when it
came to the sources, [ had to make it clear to him thar it was none of
his business.

Instead, I told him I had a new tie pattern for him. [ handed him a
passport photo with the face cur out.

“What is that for?” he asked, staring ar it.

“Give this ro the people [ met in Washington. Tell them this is a
new pattern. They’ll know what I'm talking abour.™

I'd shown the Brits in our meeting in Washington that all the
Mossad people whose photos they had were wearing one of three tie
patterns. The photo lab where everyone had his photo raken offered
generic ties and jackets to throw on, since it’s very rare in Israel to
come to work with a te. A new diplomat working in the embassy has
to look dignified in a photo handed in to foreign authorities, so he has
no choice but 10 wear one of the ties. That's why the Mossad people
can be easily identified by their ties. | knew that this had helped the
British identify the new bodlim, and now Ephraim had brought me a
new photo of himself, wearing a new tie someone had donated to the
photo lab.

“How about coming to London for a few days?” the man asked,
smiling as if he were awarding me a prize of some sort. “All expenses
paid, of course.”

"Why? So that I could end up like Vanunu3"

“What are you talking abour? We had nothing to do with that.”
He sounded almost insulred.

“Don’t give me that crap, You had the London station under
observation at the time, and you watched several of the safe houses.
There is no way in the world that you didn't know that the girl he was
meeting, Cindy what’s-her-name, was not who she claimed 1o be. You
had o know; 1 gave you people enough information for you to realize
that she was going in to meet people from the London station after she
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had meetings with Vanunu. She was being briefed and debriefed in a
safe house, and you had to have hmm, at least, under surveillance, so
please don’t give me this crap about *We had nothing to do with
that.™”

The man kept a straight face, but it was clear from his posture
that he was very uncomfortable, He handed me an envelope. “Our
friends wanted you to have this, 1 know it’s nor much, but we just
want to say thanks.” The envelope conrained eight hundred American
dollars. We left the room rogether, and he said he could find his way
from there. [ knew he was going to hurry to the Brinsh High Commis-
ston and send his report as fast as he could get it written. Before we
said goodbye, I gave him the name of Operation Domino’s target so
that they could protect him in case all else failed.

| walked over to the Byward Market in Owawa, a small but
delighcful place where I did a quick exercise to see if | was being fol-
lowed. | was clean, and | headed back to the hotel and Ephraim’s
room. | gave him a thorough rundown and rold him that I hoped
they'd manage to stop Operation Domino. 1 asked if he didn’t think
that we should call Scotland Yard and inform them that such an oper-
ation was taking place.

“That, my boy, will defeat our purpose, They'll stop the operation
before it even starts, and then the Mossad will come out of it smelling
like a rose agam. You mustn't worry; they will handle it right. You
gave them more than they need for that. I'm not happy, however, with
vou blowing your rop about Vanunu.”

Ephraim left the next day. 1 wouldn’t hear about whar happened
next until later. It was July 22 that Ali Al Ahmed, a cartoonist for a
Kuwaiti newspaper critical of the PLO leadership, was killed, suppos-
edly by Abd-al-Rahaman and a large ream of Palestinian assassins.
There was uproar in the Palestinian community. The Brirish woke up
from their long sleep and kicked the entire Mossad starton our of Lon-
don. | always wondered after that if they would have made such a big
show of anger if the fact that Sawan was a Mossad agent hadn’t made
its way to the press as a result of his open trial in June 1988. One
thing is sure, British intelligence is just as responsible as the Mossad is
for the death of thar cartoonist, because they cowld have prevented it.
It reaffirmed what 1 already knew, that any organization thar came
into conract with the Mossad was affecred in a way thar was not to
the benefit of the country it served.

Afrer I met the British, I had a strong gut feeling that they were
not going to be the source of anybody’s deliverance out of the dark-
ness of the Mossad's shadow. The task would eventually fall to those
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who really cared, individuals who would have to take a stand as good
men should and expose the monster for what it was—expose it not to
the Mossad’s rotating bed parters, but to the public. T had decided,
conceited as it may sound, that | would go 1o the people.

At first, 1 assumed that the fastest way to do this was to make a
movie. Let the public know the truth abour the Mossad, and what bet-
ter way to reach as many people as possible than through a movie?

1 did a bit of research, not informing, Ephraim of my plans, and
eventually I had a meeting with a gentleman in Montreal called Robin
Spry, who has a small motion picture company named Telecine, After
checking his background, I thought that he was sufficiently far
removed from the Jewish community that he could be regarded as rel-
atively safe.

We met in his office in a renovated old building in Montreal. He
was very courteous and extremely enthusiastic, but he made it clear
trom the start thar he'd prefer to handle the story as fiction, because
he wouldn’t be able to take the kind of heat this project might gener-
ate. [ asked him to make me an offer and a proposal, and decided that
if all else failed, I’d take this route.

My next stop was a publisher in Toronto, T arranged a meeting
with two representatives of the publishing house in the Prince Horel.

Having a temporary case of cold feet, I decided at the last minute
to present the idea as fiction based on a teal story. It was a bad idea,
and the publisher turned me down. “Since you have not wrirten any-
thing before, we'd need to see a full manuscript,” they said, and they
were quite right. | abandoned the effort for the time being and decided
that I might just as well bring Ephraim in on my idea and take advan-
tage of his vast wealth of knowledge and his well-placed connections.

- Ephraim was nor enthusiastic about my book idea and art first
tried in every way he could to dissuade me. He told me that the
Mossad was not going to take such an act lying down. Never before
had anyone struck a blow of such proportions against them and suc-
ceeded. We had a long history to draw on, and it was full of examples
of men who'd tried to go against the grain. Most of them are well
planted six feet under, and others are in lictle bits littering some god-
forsaken picce of desert. The only person ever to have written a book
on the Mossad and to have lived to tell about it was the ex-head of the
Mossad, Isar Harel, who was universally regarded as senile. And the
only reason he could tell his story was that he'd sterilized it until it
became no more than a song of praise for the Mossad, What I was
intending to do was completely unheard of.

“They’ll call you a traitor,” Ephraim said. “The name Ostrovsky
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will be synonymous with the name Benedict Arnold in the United
States.”

“And what if they find out what I've been doing for the last rwo
years, because of some screwup by you or one of the others? Whar do
you think they'll call me then2”

“But that won't happen. You're not at all at risk. Things are going
just great at the moment.”

| looked atr him, and I knew he could sec the anger in my face.
“Are they really so great? We spent over two years playing games your
way, and we've achieved nothing. | think it's time to get the real show
on the road, Whatever you decide 1s okay with me. | just want you to
know that no matter whart you say, I'm going to attempt to do this. If
you stick around, I'll consult you as to what will go into the book and
what will be left out, because we have, in the end, the same agenda.”

He sat silently for a moment, his cigarette slowly burning in the
ashtray. Then he looked ar me and smiled. *What the hell, let's kick
some butt.”

I had not felr that good for a long time. | knew [ was back on the
high road. Now things were going to come out into the open. The
only problems that were still unsolved were small ones.

Or so we thoughr ar first. Bur the more we considered the task
thar lay ahead, the larger it seemed. Who would actually do the writ-
ing? | was not in a position to do it myself, | wasn’t confident enough
in my abilities, and | wanted a new man who would be able to tell the
story in the simplest way and give it the maximum impact. He
couldn't be Jewish, for security reasons, and he'd have ro have balls.
Then there was the need to find a publisher who'd be willing 1o take
on the Mossad, to keep all of this under wraps while 1t was being han-
dled, and to refrain from speaking abour what we were going to put in
the book. There was also the question of how we were going to get
people to believe us. At that point, we had no doubt that the Mossad’s
official reaction would be “Victor Ostrovsky? We've never heard of
him, but you might check with the mental health departmenrt in the
Ministry of Health.”

Little did we know whar was in store for us.

(APTER)

Suxoay, Aear, 3, 1980

phraim insisted that the book [ was about 10 write be handled by as
Emnny of the clique as possible. He also laid down the rule rhar,

since it was going to be my ass in the sling, 1 had a veto on what
was going to go into the book and the last word on how it was going
to be handled.

We were sitting in a room at the Four Seasons Hotel, Present were
Ephraim; Uri, who made it clear that he couldn’r stay more than a few
hours so we'd have to listen to him first; Eli, who still thoughr this was
a crazy idea and wanted to be on record as being vehemently against it
{so T guess this paragraph would make him exeremely happy); and me,

[ was somewhat preoccupied. I'd told Bella that I was intending to
write a book about the Mossad. I'd assured her that it was going to be
fiction, bur told her that stll it should be kept a secrer. When | said
that, she stared at me as if | were a man in a straitjacket making a
comment about fashion. T knew she didn't believe for one minute that
I'd actually be able to get a book published. Now T was going to write
one that was not fiction, and I wasn't sure exactly how I was going to
tell her and when. I was also worried that once | started to work with
someone, it would be harder to keep it from her. And since she was
very much in love with the state of Isracl, | didn't know how she
would rake it.

“So what are we going to do here roday?" Uri asked.

“I need an outling,” I said. “Some sort of rough sketch of what the

.book is going to be about, in headline form. I'll need more headlines

than I'll actually use so that the person [ work with can have a say and
influence the outcorne.™

Eli wanted to know the purpose of the book, and Ephraim agreed
that that was one of the first things we should be talking about. Then
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we could find the right stories to achieve that goal. “There are a mil-
lion stories our there,” he said. “But most of them would put anyone
to sleep, and many orhers are repentive—sort of the same lady in a
different coar.”

“1 want to show what the Mossad 15, 1 said, “Give people who
nave no idea what an intelligence agency really does a taste of whar is
going on. | have no doubr that many will find it fascinaning and repug-
nant at the same time. Also, 1 want to give all the people we haven't
been able to reach, in all the intelligence agencies that are working with
the Office, a reason to reexamine the relationship they're in. I don't
believe the Danes or the Germans would be very proud to know how
they are being used. And even if the people of Isracl think of me as a
traitor, at least they’ll have to examine the facts in the book, and that
will do the job. I mean, after this kind of exposé, there'll be no way in
the world that someone will not go in and clean up the Mossad."”

“I have to agree with you,” Ephraim said. “] recommend that in
the beginning you give some of your own background, and then go
into operations. You have to pick the ones that people have heard
something about or at least know the end result of, like the Iragi
nuclear reacror.™

“I agree,” I said, and wrote down “Operation Sphinx” on my yel-
low pad.

Uri lir a cigarette. “We should have one story from each depart-
ment so that we ger full coverage. Why don’t you list the departments,
and we'll find one that will be fitting from cach?”

Ephraim turned 1o Un. “Will you be able to cut short your turn in
the States and come back to Tel Aviv:™

“I'm due back in a month, anyway. Why?"

“We'll need a good warning system while he’s writing this thing
because he's going 10 involve outsiders. We must be prepared to let
him know the moment this becomes known ar the Office.”

*1 thoughrt that you might have thar under ¢control?”

“1 do, bur 1 don't have a handle on your friend Aaron Sherf from
Tsafririm.”

“How does he ne in?"

“The information might come back to us from one of the Jewish
organizations we're tied in to, like B'nai Brith or the UJA. And then
there are all the others that are handled by the schlichim [messengers).
I mean, the moment a member of the Jewish community anywhere in
North America gets a whiff of this, they will run to their organization
and tell them abour it. They'll be sure they are doing their Zionist
dury. And Sherf is the one telling them what to do.”
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“I see. That won't be a problem. I'll be there anyway.”

After that was put to rest, we made a small chart of the Mossad
on a piece of hotel letterhead and taped it to the television screen. We
then began to chart the stories that would be told, patterning the
structure on the makeup of departmenrs. We also decided that the
operations picked should have a large scope and thar the description
should cover as much of the clandestine component as possible,
including the planning and decision-making part, so that the potential
reader would understand the degree of corruption thar has taken over
the Mossad.

“I think,” said Ephraim, “thar Operation Hannibal and its abrupt
closure would do for a nice chapter.” He turned to Uri. “The way Ran
H. nailed that German politician would make a great story.”

| have alluded 1o some of the aspects of Operation Hannibal ear-
lier. | knew about 1t from my days on the Danish desk. Ir was a com-
bined operation that included haison and clandestine field activity on
behalt of Melucha. It involved the cooperation of three countries and
their respective intelligence agencies. To be more accurate, it was the
intelligence agencies thar were cooperating and not their countries.

Operation Hannibal was in itself an arms deal between Israel and
Iran, using the German intelligence agency as a cut-out for the opera-
tion. Since Jran was in need of parts for their dilapidated air force and
since Istael had the spare parts, mainly for the F-4 Phantom, a sale
was a natural occurrence. It was natural too that the Mossad would
have as a clear goal prolonging the Iran-lraq war, since there was
money to be made. Because Iran and its Ayatollah Khomeini were not
especially enthusiastic about dealing directly with Israel, which they
vowed morning and night to destroy, the Germans were a natural go-
between. The BND, which 1s the German federal mtelligence agency,
was the entity the Massad chose for the job, even though the Mossad
was keeping the Jocal police intelligence n both Hamburg and Kjel
fully in the picture. The reason for plugging in the locals was thar this
sort of relationship between the Mossad and the BND was a fairly
new thing. The BND was usually kept in the dark regarding Mossad
operations in Germany,

Among Mossad personnel, the BND was regarded as untrustwor-
thy for two reasons. First, there was a strong suspicion that the agency
had been deeply infiltrated by the Stasi,! and second, it enjoyed a close
relationship with Helmur Kohl, who was not a big fan of the Mossad.

1. Stasi; East German State Security Police.
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For this operation, however, the Office recruited a BND haison—one
who also happened to be working on the side running some shady
deals through ex-Mossad officer Mike Haran.

In this operation, the jet parts (ranging from elecrronic elements
for on-board radar all the way up to full-sized jet engines and wing
assemblies) were shipped overland to ¢nsure delivery and to hide the
source of the shipment should it be caught before it reached its desti-
nation.

The shipments, which were prepackaged in special containers,
were originally loaded on Israeli ships ar the Ashdod harbor. The con-
tainers were of the kind that could be taken off the ships directly ro
waiting trucks and become a part of the truck. The ships would arrive
at various ftalian ports where the Iralian secret service (SISMI) would
handle the necessary document approval, verifying that the containers
were in fact loaded with Italian agnicultural products headed for Ger-
many. Signs depicting ltalian produce were acrually affixed ro the
trucks. The manpower for the operation and the drivers were supplied
by a Mossad Italian ally, the right-wing tollowers of a man named
Licio Gelli and a group, by then ourlawed, called Propaganda Duo,
and a second group (a NATO offspring like the one in Belgium)
named Gladio.

The drivers were to deliver the rrucks ro a warchouse area in
Hamburg where they'd be turned over to a new set of drivers, Israelis
this time, The Mossad called these drivers OMI, which is an abbrevia-
tion for oved mekomy, meaning “local worker.” To be a local worker,
you must be an actual student who has come on his own 1o the coun-
try in question. A student may apply to the Isracli embassy for work,
and if the Mossad needs help, it will have the Shaback run a security
check on the applicant. If all is well, the student can be employed 10
do low-echelon jobs such as driving rrucks or inhabinng safe houses.

From Hamburg, the trucks would head for an abandoned airficld
some twenty minutes outside of Kiel, where an Iranian who'd studied
in the United States and received a degree in aeronautical engineening
would come from Kiel and inspecr the shipment.

Once the shipment was approved for delivery, half the money for
the parts would be paid in cash at the tield. The second payment
would be made once the shipment had arrived in Iran. The entire
operation was carried out with the joint cooperation of mid-level field
operatives of the BND and the Mossad liaison in Bonn. Historically, it
must be mentioned that Helmut Kohl approved cooperation with the
Mossad in combaring terrorism, and therefore the top brass of the
BND agreed to allow the Mossad to assist their field stanions and
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regarded Mossad's seminars on terrorism (given to the BND people
withour any charge, as guests of the Israeli intelligence community in
Israell as a great gesture of friendship. What the BND brass didn't
know was that these seminars that the Mossad was holding in the
friendly environment of the country club were in fact well-oiled
recruiting operations that had brought inta the Mossads bank of
manpower hundreds if not thousands of law enforcement personrel
from the United States, where they were recruited by the B'nai Brith,
and from the intelligence agencies of Denmark, Sweden, and many
other countries.

In the intelligence field, whar really counts for a possible promo-
tion is the ability ro prove thar you've managed to thwart a terrorist
attack. And so with that promise in hand, the Mossad went ahead and
manipulated the mid-level of the BND into cooperating, letting them
understand that the top brass wanted this to take place but could not
sanction the operation officially. Also, the fact thar the Mossad had
the total cooperation of the local intelligence agencies (each state in
West Germany has its own intelligence service usually artached ro the
state police and is torally separate from its federal counterpart) helped
convince the BND mid-level personal that whar the Mossad said was
true.

The shipments were occurring as scheduled, and there were no
problems with them for a long time, From Germany, the trucks would
make their way to Denmark, where they'd be loaded onto Danish
ships under the watchful eye of the Danish intelligence and their liai-
son to the Mossad, Paul Hensen Mozeh. From there, they'd be deliv-
ered to Iran. Emboldened by the success of these equipment transfers,
the Iranians asked their BND connection to see what could be done
with regard to training Iranian pilots, preferably outside the war zone,
The BND contact then turned to the Mossad contact and asked the
same question, At first, there was a proposal in Mossad rto carry out
the training in South America, in either Chile or Colombia, where the
Mossad could obtain both the necessary airficlds and the local
approval for such an operation. But the proximity 1o American activ-
ity in that hemisphere caused the Mossad to have a change of heart.

After the Mossad and the STT conferred with experts from the
[sraeli air force and obtained more informartion from STT about the

skill level of STT pilots, they decided that most of the training could

be carried out in simulators and therefore could be done in Germany.
The same abandoned airfield with the large empty hangars used for
checking parts on their way from Israel to Iran could be used to house
the five simulators and all the related equipment needed, The Iranians
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were to purchase the simulators outright and pay for all the installa-
non and other expenses, including the traming itself.

A team of at least twenty [sraelis would have ro be on hand 1o
tram the [ranian pilots, and they would live independently in both Kiel
and Hamburg while the Iranian pilots {whom the Germans were
afraid would draw artention) would stay ar the airfield for the dura-
tion of the training.

The BND conract man worked directly with the Mossad liaison in
Bonn, who in turn passed the information o the Mossad clandestine
station, also located in the Bonn embassy. At one point, the Germans
suggested that, for security and the smooth running of the operation,
the prime minister of Schleswig Holstein be brought in on the secrer.
This man’s name was Uwe Barschel, and he happened to be a close
friend of Helmur Kobl's. To guarantee his cooperation, the BND
would use its influence to secure a commitment of federal moneys ro
save a faltering shipping company, which would be a feather in
Barschel's cap. Then there was the marter of a large new internanional
airport in the area, which he was promised would be helped, The Ger-
mans also made several other promises that were not of any interest 1o
the Mossad or to Ran H., who was now running the operation.

When | left the Mossad, the training of the pilors was in full
swing. [n addition to the simulators, several specially modified Cessna
planes were being used to train the Iranian pilots ar a second airfield
some forry-five minutes from Kiel. I remember very well thar as | was
on my way out of the Mossad, Ran was becoming a star. Fluent in
German, he’d been in charge of El Al security in Germany and Austria
before joining the Office,

At the Four Seasons suite, Ephraim filled me in on what had hap-
pened since. According to him (Un added several details while Eli
voiced his dissatisfaction), Ran had realized ar some point in mid-
1987 that trouble was on the horizon. There was growing dissatisfac-
tion in the Mossad and in the right-wing elements of the Israch gov-
ernment regarding the behavior of Chancellor Helmur Kohi, who was
defying direct Israeli warnings regarding his relationship with the Auvs-
trian leader Kurt Waldheim, whao'd been branded a Nazi. (The brand-
ing was done by a field unit of Al that entered a UN building on Park
Avenue South in New York and placed several incriminating docu-
ments thar had been removed from other files into Waldheim’s file—
and the files of a few other individuals—for future use. The falsified
documents were then “discovered™ by Israel’s ambassador to the UN,
Benjamin Nezanyhu, as part of 2 smear campaign against Waldheim,
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who was critical of Israeli activities in soutbern Lebanon.) Kohl had
brushed off these Israeli threats as nonsense, causing fury in Israeli
intelligence circles, where he was described as a stupid klutz.

Causing the Mossad leadership additional worry was the sudden
political crisis in Denmark that had caused the local intelligence to get
cold feet and ask that the arms shipments through that country be
temporanly halted until they knew whart the new political atmosphere
would be like.

To keep the arms flowing, the BND asked Uwe Barschel to allow
the use of the shipping facilities in his state for the transfer of arms to
Iran, something he was opposed to. The Mossad didn’t think there
was any need to consult Barschel about this, bur the BND didn’t know
that the Mossad had already secured the cooperation of the local intel-
ligence. So they asked Barschel anyway, also telling him more about
the shipment than they were supposed to. The BND had miscalculated
Barschel’s resolve. When he refused, everyone began to panic, realizing
that he might be a threat if he should find it necessary to imform Hel-
mut Kohl about what he knew,

[t soon became clear that the Mossad needed a new independent
political link that could replace the deteriorating hold the BND had on
Barschel.

So many birds could be captured in this bush that it was extremely
tempting. The Mossad could take the lead in controlling the politician
and bring in the BND as a partmer, leaving no doubt about who was
calling the shots. They would eliminate from the scene a troublemaker,
namely Barschel, who was partly cooperating, but not for the right
reasons, He wasn't really “bought,” as they liked their politicians to
be. Instead, he was extracting from the situation whar he thoughr
would be the best for his constituents, and at the same time shoring up
his political support.

The last, but certainly not least, dividend to be gained from
removing Barschel was thar it would be a biow to Helmut Kohl.

Ran at that point made conract with the opposition party, getting
into a close relationship with one of the leaders of the opposition and
feeling him out to sec if, in the event he was elected, he'd be willing to
cooperate with those who'd helped put him in power and repay them
for the favor It was made clear to the appasition palitician that the
BND was behind the people who were making the approach and that
it was all done in the best interests of Germany. The response Ran
received was more than he had expected: The opposition politician,
thinking there was no real chance of his party winning the election
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anyway, was willing to promise anything. With that polincian securely
in Ran’s packer, at a cost of a new pipe and some fresh tobacco, it was
time to get Barschel out of the political arena.

Yoel, a case officer from the Bonn station, was called in for this
operation and given the rask of passing himself off as a Canadian with
a German background who was very wealthy and was about to immi-
grate back 10 Germany. Before making the big move, this Canadian
wanted to start a new business in Germany and wanted to become
acquainted with the political establishment so thar he could maneuver
his business in the proper manner and take as much advantage of his
move as possible. A polincal appararchik in Barschel’s party. whom
Yoel and Ran nicknamed “the Whistler,” was their rarget. Ran sup-
plied Mossad liaison with a list of all the people working around
Barschel who had direct contact with him and asked them 1o run the
names through the Hamburg and Kiel police files 1o see if something
damaging could be found on any of the names. The Whistler’s name
came back with a blotch on ir. As it turned out, the man had been
accused of assaulting a prostitute in Hamburg, bur since someone had
managed to pay off the hooker, the file was closed without any formal
charges being brought.

Yoel was introduced to the Whistler through a sayan who, accord-
ing to a Mossad file, was acquainted with the Whistler. After a short
period of buttering, Yoel rold the Whistler that he had ro return w
Canada and introduced the Whistler to Ran, who was posing as Yoel's
business adviser in Germany. If the Whistler needed anything ar all, he
could turn to Ran in Yoel's absence, and Ran was authorized to help
him.

Several days after Yoel supposedly left the country, Ran called the
Whistler and arranged to meet him. In the meeting, Ran made it clear
that he was not in favor of the Whistler’s political affiliation, and in
fact he was a supporter of the opposition. Ran then explained that he
was obligared ro take care of Yoel's best interests, and so he'd carried
out a small investigation of his own, He'd found our about the inci-
dent between the Whistler and the prostitute, and he knew that should
such information get our, his political career was over, and whatever
Yoel would have invested would also be lost. He then proposed that
the Whistler help get Barschel ousted. Ran was surprised at the enthu-
siasm with which the Whistler greeted the proposal. The Whistler
made it very clear that he was not a fan of Barschel’s and would do
whatever he could ro nail him.

Ran, who already had a plan in place 10 remove Barschel, went
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through the motions with the man he'd just recruited ro make him feel
as though he were part of the planning process, thus giving him a feel-
ing of self-importance and also setting him up to shoulder the blame if
things didn't go right. Ran told him rhat because this process mighe
affect the Whistler’s own polincal future, he would be handsomely
raken care of financially. Ran let the Whistler understand that he was
part of some Mafia-type organization, and that there was no way he
could change his mind or undo what had taken place. Nor would he
be able to talk about Ran art all.

All this time, the Mossad was feeding the local intelligence services
false mtormation regarding Barschel’s supposed secret dealings with
arms and other illegal transactions, implicating Barschel's brother in
the activities in a way thar suggested he was a gofer for Barschel.

The plan was approved by Mousa, who was in charge of opera-
rions security in Europe and at that nme acting head of the European
command.

At this stage, the BND was kept our of the picrure. Ran had the
Whstler start to leak false bur damaging information regarding the
opposition leaders in general and the top leader in particular to the local
media without revealing the source of the rumors or even letting it be
known who the leaker was. As the election drew near, a Mossad team
was brought in from Belgium to play private detectives in the employ of
the Whistler, They acted flamboyantly, dnving expensive flashy cars
while on surveillance and garhering information about the opposition
leader in an amareurish way that attracted artention to themselves.

[t was done in such a manner that only a reporter for the Braille
Times would not be able to see it for what it was: a smear campaign.
At the last minute, when denials by Barschel would be too late to
make a difference at the ballot box, the Whistler admitred that he was
behind the dirty tricks and that he’d acted on Barschel’s orders, thus
bringing to an end the career of a politician who wouldn’t deal, and
putting into office one who would—and getting an opportunity to
embarrass Kohl in the process. All Barschel's protests that he was an
innocent man were ignored and brushed off as political rhetoric.

“I think this would make a great chapter,” | said. “This has all the
dirty clements thar are so typical of Mossad activity in a friendly coun-
try.”

“That won’t be possible,” said Eli. “Ran is still in the field. Includ-
ing the story in the book would expose him and also Yoel,”

“We could alter it a little to make the point, but hide the locartion
and the exact information,” Uri suggested.



232 / VILTOR OSTROVAKY

“Then forget it,” 1 said. “If we can't tell the full story, then we
won't tell it at all. We could, however, separate the two parts and tell
about the training of the Jranian pilots in Germany.”

Ephraim did acknowledge thar there was more to the story. He
explained that, after Barschel’s defeat in the election (a direct result of
the campaign that Ran had organized), he contacted his BND connec-
tion and threatened to expose all their wrongdoing if they didn't take
acuion to clear his name. The BND upper hierarchy, which was getting
information from the local intelligence—the same informarion that
was fed to the locals by the Mossad—thought that Barschel was dirry
and called on the Mossad for help.

The BND had 1o use the Mossad to handle this situation because
Barschel’s threat against the BND would have affecied the mid-level
that was keeping in contact with the Mossad aganst the direct orders
of their superiors, so they couldn’t go for help to their own people.

The BND contact told the Mossad liaison that some hearings were
going to take place in several days, and if Barschel was not sansfied
before the hearings, he'd use them to spill the beans. The timetable
was too short for the Mossad to wind down the operation in the two
airfields and ger all the Israeli crews and equipment out of there n
time. Barschel had ro be stopped before he could testify.

The BND gave the Mossad liaison Barschel's location (he was on
vacation in the Canary Islands) and the phone number at which he
could be reached. He was staying in a house loaned 1o him by a friend.

Ran called Barschel on the sland. The first call went unanswered,
and Ran assumed thar Barschel must be out, He called back one hour
later and was told that Barschel was not available at the moment. On
his third try, Ran made contact with Barschel and told the man that he
had informanon that could help clear his name, and he introduced
himself as Robert Oletf.

He insisted that Barschel come to Geneva. He, Oleff, would have
him picked up at the airport. Barschel wanied more information
before he would commit himself, and so Ran said that some interested
[ranians might be involved in the deal. This led Barschel to realize the
martter was serious and that the man he was talking to was well
informed. He agreed, and the details of the trip were discussed.

The Kidon ream was already waiming in Geneva, dispatched
directly from Brussels. After examining the field files regarding
Geneva, they'd decided that the Hotel Beau-Rivage would be their best
bet for the activity they had in mind. Two couples took rooms at the
hotel, one on the fourth floor close to an exit to the roof. The second
couple came in the same day Barschel did and took a room on the
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third floor, adjacent to the room Ran had reserved for Barschel.

The rest of the team scouted the area and located themselves in the
vicinity, ready to play out their separate roles as they were called
ppon. Ran met Barschel in his room on the afternoon of October 10.
After ordering a borttle of wine to go with the cheese he'd brought
with him, he made a gentle pitch to Barschel in which he tried to con-
vince him to take the fall. Ran would guarantee him a very lucrative
return for that, Ran tried to rell Barschel that, after all, what he was
alleged to have done was not such a big deal ourtside the realm of poli-
tics, and 5o he'd be far better off letting it go and taking the money.
Ran surely used the regular phrase the Mossad so likes to use, thar
money was no object.

Barschel was agitated. He insisted that Ran present him with the
evidence that would clear his name or ger lost. He wasn't interested in
profiting from this affair, but he definitely was going to get even with
whoever had framed him.

At that point, Ran realized that there was no way to sway the
man. The operation had to move into the next phase, which was rter-
mination with extreme prejudice. Barschel was a threar to the safety of
the Mossad personnel in the field, Thus, there was no need for
approval from outside the Mossad for the elimination, as is the case
with a political assassination, for which the prime minister must give
written approval. Ran, however, wanted ro get clearance from the
head of the Mossad, who was kept closely informed and had come to
Geneva that same morming. He was staying at the Des Bergues Hotel,
just down the road from where Barschel was being handled. He was
registered under the name of P. Marshon.

By the ume the winc arrived in Barschel's room, it had already
been spiked by a Kidon member, Some of the other team members
were bringing bags of ice to their rooms in preparation for the final
act. Ran told Barschel that he was only testing his resolve and that he
realized he was dealing with an honest man, and therefore he would
nelp him. Barschel was still aggravated and refused to deal with Ran
unless he presented, right then and there, some proof that he in fact
had a way to clear his name.

Ran made a call to the Mossad liaison, who was waiting in a safe
house. He asked the hiaison to conract his man in the BND and have
him call Barschel in his room and tell him that things were going to
work out just fine. The Laison, who was expecting this call and had
previously talked with Ran regarding this option, had already called
the BND man in advance and had him on standby, having told him
that something important was going to take place.
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Several minutes after Ran called the liaison, the BND man called
Barschel’s room and rold him that things were going to be straightened
out. Barschel, who thought he was gerting a new lease on life, had a
drink of the wine. Ran dechined 10 do so, excusing himself with a story
of a problematic stomach, but he did take some of the cheese he'd
brought.

Ran knew that Barschel would be our cold in about an hour, and
be wanted to get direct approval from the head of the Mossad to fin-
ish the job. He rold Barschel that he was going ro ger some of the
papers that would clear him and would be back in an hour.

Ran contacted the head of the Mossad and met him in his hotel
room, He gave the chief the rundown on what had happened and said
that in a few days, Barschel was 1o go before a committee formed to
investigate the allegations of electoral misconduct. There was no way
to stop Barschel from ralking about what he knew in front of the com-
mittee, Ran could not guarantee that all the evidence pointing to Israel
could be climinated from the airfields in the short time that was left.
The risk of exposure in such a case was far too great for the Mossad,
and so the head of the Mossad agreed that the man had to be elimi-
nared.

Ran called the couple on the fourth floor ar Barschel’s hotel and
informed them that the operation was a go. They waited until suffi-
cient time had passed for Barschel to be asleep from the sedative in the
wine. After phoning ta verify that he was not awake, they entered the
room.

Barschel was on the floor, on the right-hand side of the bed. He'd
apparently passed our and had fallen off the bed. The ream pur a plas-
tic sheer on the bed and placed the unconscious man on 1op of it, legs
facing the headboard 10 make the next steps easier. They place a rolled
towel under his neck, positioning him as if he were about to get
mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. At that point, five members of the team
were 1 the room. Four were attending to the rarget, and one was fill-
ing the bath with cold water and ice, the nowse of which was drowning
out any noise the others might make. One man slowly pushed a long,
well-oiled rubber tube down the sleeping man's throat, carefully so as
not to choke him. While he did that, the others were holding the man
down in case of a sudden convulsion. They had ull done this before.

Once the pipe had reached the man’s stomach, they arached a
small funnel 1o the rop of the pipe and started to drop a variety of pills
into the tube, adding water from time to time to ensure that the pills
reached his stomach.

After this stage was complete, they pulled down the man’s pants
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and underwear. Two members of the ream held up his legs as a third
inserted a suppository of concenrrated sedative and a fever-causing
agent into the mans rectum. They pulled up his pants again and
waited for the medicanon to work, putting a thermometer band on his
forehead to observe his temperarure.

Within an hour, he’d developed a high fever. They then placed him
into the ice bath. The shock caused his body to jolt. The sudden
change in temperature, together with the influence of the medication,
brought about whar looked like a heart arrack. After a few minutes of
observation, the team derermined thar he was, in fact, dead, and began
to clean up the room behind them, leaving no evidence of whar had
taken place. They realized they’d made a mistake in not raking off
Barschel's clothing before placing him in the bath, but it was too late
to change that now. They also realized that the replacement wine bot-
tle they'd brought with them was a Beaujolais, but not the correct
brand, so they did not have a bottle 1o leaye behind.

Things were gerung rense. They'd spent several hours in the room,
and some of them had left and returned several times.

Atter leaving the room and closing the door behind them, display-
ing the Do Nor Disturb sign on the knob, they all went their separate
ways, one couple checking out thar mght and the other doing so first
thing the next morning. The other members of the team who weren't
staying at the hotel left the city by car thar same night, heading back
to Belgium and the satety of the Mossad European headquarters. Ran
was informed that the mission was completed, as was the head of the
Mossad, to whom one of the team members delivered a Polaroid
photo of the dead targer.

*“1 still think this will make a great chapter for the book,” | said.

“We'll see. For the ume being, leave it our,” said Ephraim, “You
can use the story about the navy base in Sudan that was used to get
the Echiopian Jews out, in Operation Moses,” | realized thar there was
no point in arguing, especially with Eli present.

We went on to prepare a list, and by the end of the day, it was
done. There wasn’t much I needed to write down at the time, because |
knew most of the information myself. If there was any need later on
for more information, Ephraim would supply it to me. He also insisted
that he go over every page of the manuscript before 1 handed it in.

I brought up my greatest worry, that the Mossad would nor
respond at all to the book, leaving me hanging out to dry. Ephraim
suggested that [ include in the book some documents, such as the Dan-
ish intelligence report and a questionnaire that was prepared for a top
Syrian agent regarding the Syrian military.
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“There is no expert in this world,” Ephraim said (and Un nodded
as he spoke), “who will doubt you once they see the questionnaire.
You'd have to be from the Mossad to be able to know so many things
to ask about.”

| had to agree. We hashed over more subjects. It was important
that we nor include things in the book that might nurture anti-
Semitism—at least, thar was the way we saw it. We all agreed, for
example, that the subject of testing medications on blacks in South
Africa was 100 much and would strike too hard a blow against Israel,
since the medical personnel who'd been sent to Africa would be asso-
ciated wirh the state and not understood as being rotally controlled by
the Mossad, The same treatment was given to the direct links the
Mossad had with the Kahane people, the Anti-Defamation League of
the B'nai Brith, the AIPAC, and the UJA. The only subject that we
decided needed airing was the Frames? and the youth camps called
Hets va-keshet (meaning “bow and arrow™) thar the Mossad orga-
nizes to bring young Jewish kids to Israel for the summer. Afrer filling
the kids with a large dose of militant Zionism, the Mossad sends them
back as the spies of the future,

They all agreed that [ should include 1n the book all the names of
case officers that | knew were burned. That meant people whose pho-
tos | saw in Egypr, in Jordan, and in the British embassy. Ephraim
would make sure they weren't in the field when the book came out.
Having their full names in the book would prevent them from work-
ing outside the country again, which was good for their own protec-
tion.

“So what do you think will be the book’s biggest point?" asked
Eli.

*If 1 had to choose one thing people will focus on, I'd say jt will be
the cooperation the Mossad gets all over the world from the Jewish
community and the way it takes advantage of that trust.” They all
agreed with me. And we were all wrong,

| headed back home from the meeting and hid the list that I'd pre-
pared at the meeting in a safe place where Bella wouldn't find i She
was still at the T-shirt store we’d opened on Bank Street in downtown
Ortawa.

The following day, 1 scouted the bookstores and the library for
names of local authors, searching for a man with the writing ability
and the courage to join me in this effort to right wrongs. | knew find-

2, Frames: Jewish self-protection units set up by the Mossad all over the world.
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ing him was not going to be an easy task. It had to be a man with a
good reputation who had a nose for politcs but who was not such an
expert on the world of intelligence that he would try to make the book
fit his idea of espionage. He had to live in the area, not be Jewish, and
have the time and the interest 10 do ir

At a store several blocks from our place on Bank, | saw a2 book
called Friends in High Places about the Canadian prime mimister. The
author, Claire Hoy, was a local reporter working in the parhamentary
press gallery. | decaided to call him and see what happened. He
respended well, and we had a meenng at a small coffee shop on Bank
Street. After I'd explained to him whart | was proposing, he was all for
it. T had a partner, and I was on my way to putting a real dent m the
Mossad’s armor. We were going to attack, from the outside, and put
the Mossad in the only place in which it’s vulnerable: in the spotlight.

Claire and T spent almost a month preparing the first chapter of
the book and tightening the outline. Then we made our first approach
to a publisher.,

We had a meeting at the Toronto offices of the company that had
published Friends in High Places. The publisher we spoke to turned us
down. At the time, 1 was very nervous, since [ realized the secret was
starting to get out. There was no guarantee that the publisher who'd
rurned us down would not talk abour whar we'd told her in the meet-
ing. All I know today is that if she did talk, then someone was asleep
at Mossad headquarters, because they did nothing,

Claire continued with the writing while he tried to set us up with a
new publisher. His work was cur out for him because he couldn't tell
the publisher much, and he had to find one who would be willing to
work in secrer. The fact that we'd come out of the meeting with his
first publisher in one piece was more a matter of luck than anything,
as was the fact that | couldn’t detect the Mossad anywhere in the
vicinity. Nor did news of our unsuccessful meeting reach the ears of
Ephraim or Un, who by then were back in Mossad headquarters.

“We have a meeting with a man by the name of Nelson Doucet,”
Hoy said to me one day. “He's from a publishing house in Toronto
called Stoddarr, and he’s a good man.” By then, I'd come to know
Claire and | trusted him, something I've never regretred. We met with
Nelson at a resraurant in Ortawa called Hy's, and over a grear sweak

+ {which 1 hardly got to ear because 1 was doing all the talking) and a

borttle of good French wine, we closed a deal. Claire and [ were going
10 be fifty-fifty parmers as far as the authorship was concerned, and
Stoddarr was going to give us an cighty-thousand-dollar advance. Nel-
son believed the book would cause quite a stir. Stoddart had had expe-
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rience with another spy book, called Spycatcher, which they had kept
secret up to publication date, and then it was banned by the Briush,
He was sure they’d be able to handle this one much the same way,
“You don't suppose you'll be able to ger the Israelis to ban your book,
do you?" he asked as we were about to leave. | laughed. “I don’t think
so,” 1 said. “After all, they have the British experience to learn from;
the ban made the book a best-seller,”

“1 suppose you're right,” Nelson said.

Once in the car, [ wanted to jump up and down and shout for joy.
Things were going great, and I was determined to move forward fast. |
made a collect call from a pay phone to Ephraim, giving him the
whole story. I was in the booth for almost an hour, leaving someone
with a big phone bill.

Ephraim agreed with my assessment that the Mossad wouldn' try
to stop the book, but he promised that he'd think of a way to at least
make a loud bang, drawing attention to ir. If this thing worked, we'd
all achieve what we wanted.

(PTEnd

Saruacay, Juy ¢, 1368

ome time in the afternoon, the phone rang; Eli was on the line. He
Ewas calling from New York and wanted me to call him back in an

hour. That was a prearranged message, and 1 knew that [ should go
to a clean phone and call him. | had the number, and he would accept
the charges.

He was as unpleasant as usual, and [ couldn't help imagining his
square face with its thin crow's-feer wrinkles and steady squint, as
though he were in the glaring sun even when he was seated in a semi-
darkened movie theater. Before all this had happened, | knew him to
be a pleasant man and quite a joker, but this whole anti-Mossad activ-
ity was troubling him. Even though he thought it was right, he would
have preferred, as would probably every one of us, to be lefr alone and
not know anvthing abour it

“Did vou hear what happened in London?” he asked. He was
referring to the Brits' having expelled just about all of the Mossad
London station and their pointing to two of the three case officers
loaned from the European headquarters in Brussels, The Briosh had
posted, in a very obtrusive fashion, police officers outside seven of the
safe houses the Mossad was holding in London ar the nime. Even
though they were unofficially pointing to only seven out of several
hundred, the message was clear enough.

There was no way for the Mossad 1o know from that point on
how many of its assets were compromised or whether any further

-meetings with sayasim would endanger them,

“Yes, 1 heard.” 1 said. “How long before they have a new station
in place?”

“Thar’s none of your business,” Eli replied.

“I don’t like your artirude,” I said. *It’s only a maner of luck that
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'm here and you're there. It wouldn'r take much ro have our roles
reversed, you know.”

There was a short silence on the line. “I'm sorry if | sound like
that. [ts just thar—"

" Just say vour piece, and let’s ger this conversation over with.”

He said that now that the London station was cleaned up, it was
time, according to Ephraim, to hir the Paris station. He also said that
the London station would have 10 work for the next few months from
a new safe house and not from the embassy because they couldn’t just
send in a new batch of case officers all ar once; they'd have to do it
gradually. They believed they'd have the station back in operarion by
January 1989,

We talked over what was to be said to the French and how the
contact should be made.

“I think that you should do this one,” I said 1o Eli.

“What are you talking about?”

“You speak French, don't you?”

“Yes.”

“I don't. I'll call Ephraim later and tell him what I think. [ mean,
what difference will it make? You talk ro them.”

“You're crazy,” he said, but I could detect a tone of anxiery in his
voice,

Later that day, 1 talked to Ephraim, who explained that if Eli was
caught, it would mean an execution because he was in active service. It
would be a much worse scenario than if I was caught. After all, [ was
already ourside the organization. His explanation didn't hold water,
bur since I'd raised the martter only to irritate Eli, I let it drop, 1 did
ask, though, not to have to talk to Eli again.

On Wednesday. July 6, I called the French embassy in Washington
and managed to talk 1o the person in charge of security. Having done
this several times before, [ was becoming trained in the matter, and by
the end of the week, I had a visitor from Washington. After several
hours of conversation, he said he'd get back to me bur wanted to
know if I was willing to take a short trip to France.

1 arrived in Paris on July 28 and was met at the airport by a very
friendly Frenchman who reminded me of the French comedian
Bourvil. After finding my luggage, the man had my passport stamped
in a small office away from the crowd. Then he took me in his small
Renaule to Paris.

I lodged in a hotel by the name of Jardin de Eiffel, next to a local
police station. The small but charming hotel was within walking dis-
tance of the Eiffel Tower.
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For the next week, | was driven each morning from the hotel to
what looked like an abandoned two-story office building outside the
citv, thirty minutes away. The building was attached to a small listen-
:,,.,é base somewhere north of Sarcelles—not far, | understood, from
where Madame Pompidou has her country estate, The drive there was
like a rde on a roller coaster. | grew up in Israel, where driving is a
martial art, but this was crazy.

At the “farmhouse,™ | spent the day with the Bourvil look-alike
and three other people. 1 knew they were from the French secret ser-
vice, nicknamed “Le Pisson.” They were extremely courteous and had
apparently prepared a long hst of questions in anticipation of my
arrival. We'd break for lunch every day art the same time, walk over to
the listening base, and have a grear meal served to us in a small but
elegant dining room. The commander of the base almost always joined
us for lunch, and the opening of the wine bottles that someone differ-
ent brought every day was a ceremony. Over the week, | developed a
good relationship with one of the hosts in particular; he'd be my con-
ract after 1 left. Since we both smoked more than the others, he earned
the code name Cendricer.

First, we mapped out the departmental chart of the Mossad. There
were many sections that they knew about and others they were curi-
ous ahout. They were mainly interested in the Komemiute! and
Tsafririm departments,

Before long, they were versed in the structural tree of the organiza-
tion and they could see the logic of the flowcharts, which must be very
similar from one orgamization to another. They found it extremely
hard to believe the lack of compartmenralization in the Mossad. But
after a while, they realized that the quantity and the quality of the
information | was giving them was indicative of a lack of compart-
mentalization, since | knew so much,

The second day was almost entirely spent viewing photographs of
Mossad people. It was there that [ learned that Mousa was stationed
in Brussels. There were so many Mossad officers in their books that 1
felt naked. There was a photo of Qren Riff walking down a street in
Paris with two other Mossad members. The three were totally
unaware of the fact that they were under surveillance. | wondered who
they were going to meet and how many agents and Jewish helpers they
burned in that one visit to Paris, Then there were piles of photos taken

L. Komemiute: New code name for Mersada {department for clandestine opera-
tions),
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from outside the Mossad building 1n Tel Aviv. There were sets of pho-
tos: One would show a man entering the Mossad headquarters on
King Saul Boulevard in Tel Aviv, then there was a blow-up photo of
his face, and next to it a passport photo of the man and his diplomanc
papers.

They knew more Mossad people than 1 did. | remember when
Cendrer said to me jokingly, “Look at all this." He was pointing at
the list of diplomars from the Israeli embassy and comparing them
with the photos and rthe personal documents. “Israel is one of the few
countries where you find such a large number of older junior attachés.
How stupid do they think we are? What do they think, that we're not
watching?™

“They don’t really care,” | said, and thar was a fact. They didn’t.
Sometimes it seemed as though the Mossad derived amusemenr from
the surveillance thar took place. | couldn’t help asking, “If you know
so much about them, how come you haven't done anything?”

“Because, as far as we know, the ones we know about don't do
very much, Vidal, the head of the Mossad station, is hardly ever in the
country, and the new man, Aaron B., enly deals with the Jewish com-
munity. And we don’t really wane to stir things up with them.”

All in all, they had over fifty of the Mossad field personnel pegged
and located. They had them in other embassies as well, all across
Europe. It was the cooperation between the Mossad and the Action
Directe and berween the Mossad and the fascist elements in France
that they didn't know about. That, they found disturbing.

By the end of the week, 1 was ready to go, and it appeared they'd
gotten from me all they were going to. | realized thar I'd given them
much less than I'd given the British, simply because, even before my
arrival, the French had been more suspicious in dealing with the
Mossad. | knew they weren't going to have a big showdown with the
Mossad the way the British had, but that they'd clip the Mossad’s
wings in a much more subtle way.

On my last day there, | remembered | had to 1alk abour the money
they were to pay me for my help. They promised to do something
about it, and the following day, at the airport, they gave me an enve-
lope with three thousand American dollars. They also said that some-
one would be contacting me in a short while to see if | could do some
odd jobs for them, and that he'd bring me the rest of what they felt
they owed me. As Ephraim had instructed, after they'd given me the
money, | immediately told them about the Mossad's involvement in
the killing of a leader in the Pacitic island of Vanuatu because of the
Office’s suspicion that he was trying to make contact with Qadhafi.

S
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That was the official reason for their involvement; the real reason for
the assassination was that particular leader’s resistance to an Israeli
arms dealer who wanted 1o use the island as a storage base for his
arms sales to the region. The dealer was an ex-Mossad officer, and he
had the contacts inside the organization to pull it off.

Back in Canada, | was visited several weeks later by a French con-
ract man who invited me for a meeting in Montreal. First he handed
me an envelope with seven thousand dollars, telling me they’d decided
to pay me ten thousand for my little rrip. If that wasn't enough, |
could send a message with him back to Paris or call my friend Cen-
drier at the number they'd given me.

“No need for that,” | said. “This will be enough for now. What is
it you want me to do for you?" I knew the man hadn’t come all this
way just to deliver a package. He pulled our a sheet of paper and
asked if I could act as a private investigator. After all, | had gorten
what could be regarded as the best training in the world in gathering
information.

“That depends on whar it is you want me to investigate. If you
want me to gather information that is available without breaking the
law, I'll be more than happy to liberate you from as much money as |
can, However, if vou're ralking about gathering political or mulitary
mtelligence in North America, then forget it.”

He said thar he didn't know bur would get back to me in a few
days. And he did. This time, we met in Ottawa. He brought with him
some photographs and a small file. First, he wanted me to see if |
knew the man in the photographs. | recognized the man and said thar
we'd already identified him in Paris as Ran S., whom | knew the Jor-
danians and the Egyptians also had a photo of.

Ran had been seen meeting with a prominent leader in the Jewish
community 1n Paris. Before approaching the man and telling him that
they knew whom he was meeting with and thar he should stop this
activity, the French wanted to be sure that they had the right man and
not just a lookalike. They were now making such approaches to many
of the Jewish leaders whom rthe Mossad officers I'd identified were
meeting with. They were also “turning™ Arab and Palestinian agents
whom they'd seen meeting with Mossad officers. I realized the French
;*erc going about it in a big way, and | knew I'd hit 2 home run in

aris,

In the file that the Frenchman had brought with him was what he
called my next assignment. The French wanted me o see what infor-
mation | could gather on some people who, they were worried, were
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out to destabilize their South Pacific colonies. The plan of these sup-
posed “destabilizers™ was to privatize a small country as a model for
the world (in other words, create a small political system in which
there is no government ownership and see if that model can be extrap-
olated to a wider serting), A subsidiary goal was to make money in
various ways, The French were very sensitive about this and preferred
that someone not explicitly connecred with French intelligence try to
find out more.

The first name on the list | was handed was Robert Pool, Jr. A
prominent American, Pool was the leading advocate of privatization in
the Unired States and was behind the privatzation of the American
aviation industry. He was the president of the Reason Foundation,
located in Santa Monica, California.

The second name was that of Alfred Lercher, the president of
Lercher Mint, a company originally located in Alaska bur later situ-
ated in Lancaster, California.

Then there was a man called Harry Donald Schultz, He was living
i the United States and, from time to time, in Monaco. Schultz’s part-
ner was named Riner Dienbarts. The Frenchman said that all these
names tied in somehow with a Canadian foundation in Vancouver,
Brinsh Columbia, called the Phoenix Foundation,

He wouldn’t expand on what they were looking for or what they
suspected, but wanted to see what | could find out on my own. He
said that if he told me what they knew (or, rather, thought they knew},
then [ might just follow in their footsteps and try to find the things [
thought they wanted found. It was in the nature of the intelligence
game, he said, for the information collector to try to please the cus-
tomer.

I knew he was right, and yet, it made no difference to me whether
he was or wasn’t. All T wanted was to keep the link with the French
open so that, if Ephraim or [ needed it to nail the Mossad, it would be
there.

Ephraim told me to do what the man wanted and see what [ could
collect for him. I decided t0 take a shorr trip to the States and check
public databases to see what this was all abour,

From reading press reports, [ soon realized that this was a far
more complex business than [ cared to be a part of. Pool was a mem-
ber, if not a leader, of the Libertarian party, which in itself was reason
enough for me nor to want to work on the case. From what [ learned,
I could hardly believe that there was no intelligence involvement
already.

According to biographical informanon on Pool, he'd graduared

o
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from MIT in 1967, after which he'd worked at Sikorsky. In 1970, he
moved to the General Research Corporarion in Santa Barbara, and
during his tenure there became head of the Reason Foundation, a pri-
vatization think tank.

[ discovered that the foundation had supported a leader in the
New Hebrides against a Communist ver popular leader named Father
Walter Lenny. The Reason Foundation wanted rto start a Libertarian
party on the island. When that effort failed, they attempted to create a
small country of their own on the Minerva reef, eight hundred miles
from Fiji, naming it the Republic of Minerva. According to the records
1 found, the Letcher Mint from Lancaster, California, which also
owned a copper mine in the Hebrides, had been selected to print the
republic’s coins, After the new citizens of Minerva were kicked off the
reef by a patrol boat from Togo, the coins became what is known in
the numismatic world as fantasy coins.

Afrer this episode, Poal became an adviser to President Reagan on
privatization, | also learned that the owner of the Letcher Mint, Alfred
Letcher, had served with the U.S. Navy in the South Pacific in 1944,
That was as far as [ was willing to go. I returned to Canada and gave
the French everything I'd managed to dig up. At a meeting in Ortawa,
I told the man that I wouldn't be able to do any more for him in this
matter. 1 was willing to help in any way possible to bring an end to
Mossad activity in France, bur | wouldn't work for them as a soldier
of fortune on unrelated matters.

I notified Ephraim of what I'd told the Frenchman. [ also asked
him to try to get me some of the schedules I'd followed during my
training at the academy, so that I could use them as notes for the
book. He complied, and I went back to work on the book with Claire.
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laire and ] had gotten ourselves into something of a routine. After

we established the correct chronology of the book, we met several

times a week in my rented house in Nepean, a small city outside
Orttawa, I'd tell Claire the derails of the events that we'd designated
for a particular chapter, and then, over numerous cups of coffee, he'd
ask me an endless stream of questions. Several days later, he'd return
with a typed chapter for me to go over, and at the same time, we’d
talk abour a new one. Then on the next visit, I'd show him the typed
chapter with my remarks and corrections, and we'd discuss them.
Ephraim would pass me his comments on the chaprer and I'd either
accept or reject them, depending on their validity. My main concern
was that everything we were committing to paper be the wruth and
nothing but the rruth.

Ir was a ditficulr task to tell the story of the Mossad as it really
was, to show how flawed it was and how endangered anyone was
who came into contact with it, Even in Claire’s eyes, I could see the
fascination the Mossad commanded. | knew I was in an uphill strug-
gle, but at the same time, | knew the battle had to be fought.

Uri visited me several umes and informed me that as far as the
Mossad was concerned, | was occupied making T-shires in Canada and
that was all. They were extremely busy at the time preparing for what
they called Operation Brush-Fire. This was an all-out LAP (Israeli psy-
chological warfare) attack aimed ar getting the United States involved
militarily in the Middle East in general and the Gulf area in particulac

The Iran-Iraq war was over. It seemed that the Iranians had had
enough and were happy to agree to end the war as the Iragis wanted.
The Mossad, for their part, pretended to the Americans that they
wanted to topple Saddam Hussein, while at the same time passing on
information to his Muchabarat from the Israeli embassy in Washing-
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ton, warning him abour various attempts on his life and on his regime.
The Mossad regarded Saddam Hussemn as their biggest asset in the
area, since he was totally irrational as far as international politics was
concerned, and was therefore all the more likely 10 make a stupid
move that the Mossad could take advantage of.

What the Mossad really feared was that Irag’s gigantc army,
which had survived the Iran-lraq war and was being supplied by the
West and financed by Saudi Arabia, would fall into the hands of a
leader who might be more palarable ro the West and sall be a threat to
lsrael.

The first step was taken in November 1988, when the Mossad
told the Israeli foreign office 1o stop all talks with the Iragis regarding
a peace fronr. At that nme, secret negotiations were taking place
berween Israelis. Jordamans, and Iraqis under the auspices of the
Egvprians and with the blessings of the French and the Americans. The
Mossad manipulated it so that Iraq looked as if it were the only coun-
try unwilling to talk, thereby convincing the Americans that Iraq had a
different agenda.

By January 1989, the Mossad LAP machine was busy portraying
Saddam as a tyrant and a danger to the world. The Mossad activated
every asset it had, in every place possible, from volunteer agents in
Amnesty International to fullv bought members of the U.S. Congress.
Saddam had been killing his own people, the cry went; what could his
enemies expect? The gruesome photos of dead Kurdish mothers
clutching their dead babies after a gas attack by Saddam’s army were
real, and the acts were horrendous. Bur the Kurds were entangled in
an all-our guerrilla war with the regime in Baghdad and had been sup-
ported for years by the Mossad, who sent arms and advisers to the
mountain camps of the Barazany family; this attack by the Iraqis
could hardly be called an attack on their own people. Bur, as Uri said
to me, once the orchestra starts to play. all you can do is hum along.

The media was supplied with inside information and tips from
reliable sources on how the crazed leader of Iraq killed people with his
bare hands and used missiles 10 attack Iranian cities. Whart they
neglecred to tell the media was thar most of the targeting for the mis-
siles was done by the Mossad with the help of American satellites. The
Mossad was grooming Saddam for a fall, but not his own. They

* wanted the Americans to do the work of destroying that giganric army

in the Iraqi desert so that Israel would not have to face it one day on
1ts own border. That in itself was a noble cause for an Israeli, but o
endanger the world with the possibility of global war and the deaths
of thousands of Americans was sheer madness.
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Toward the end of January, the British called and wanted 1o talk
to me. They saxd 1t was urgent and asked if they could come the fol-
lowing day. | agreed. | decided that I'd take advantage of the meeting
to convey the information about Saddam I'd gorten from Uri, and
request that they pass it on to the Americans.

We met in the dining room of the Chateau Laurier Hotel in down-
town Ouawa, “What can [ do for you?” | asked the man, whom I'd
met once before.

“1 have only one question for you, and even though you might
think it’s off the wall, | was told to ask you.”

*Go ahead.”

“Do vou believe or think or know if the Mossad may have had
any involvement in what happened to Flight 103 over Lockerbie?™

1 was dumbfounded. It took me several seconds to realize what the
man had asked me. | responded almost automatically. “No way.”

“Why?"

“No reason. Just no way, that's all. Up to this point, every time
Israel or the Mossad has been responsible for the downing of a plane,
it's been an accident, and related directly to the so-called security of
the state, like the shooring down of the Libyan plane over the Sinai
and the Iralian plane (thought 1o carry uranium) m 1980, killing
cighty-one people. There is no way that they'd do this.”

*Are you speaking out of knowledge or are you guessing?”

“Wait right here.” 1 said, leaving the table. “I'll make a phone call,
and we'll talk after that.”

| made a collect call from the lobby of the hotel, and after a few
minutes got Ephraim on the line. *Did we have anything to do with
Pan Am 1032"

“Why are you asking?”

“Just tell me. 1 have to know, because if we did, this will be the
end of the Mossad.”

“No,” he answered without hesitating, 1 knew he was relling me
the truth, He wouldn’t pass up such an opportnity to taint the
Mossad leadership.

“Thanks. I'll call you later.”

I got back to the table and told the man what Ephraim had told me.

“So you're still connected?™ the Brit said, smiling.

“Which is probably why I'm sull alive,” | said, smiling back.
“Since we're here, there's something I think you should know abour.
It's called Operation Brush-Fire.” [ spent the next half-hour giving the
man the rundown on what I knew, asking him to pass the informauon

THE OTHER S1DE OF DECEPTION / 249

on 10 the Americans too. He made no promises but said that he would
do his best. That was enough for me.

For several months after that, 1 was busy with the book: we were
getting closer and closer to the end. 1 was gerting more tense since |
knew that the day was fast coming when I'd be hit by the spotlight
and God knows whar else.

Guxoay, Aeat. 1, 1990

I met with Un in downtown Ottawa, We sat in my ¢ar in front of
the Ortawa library for several hours. He had a new story for the book,
and he wanted me to have all the informarion.

Uri is an extremely calm man, and he had never shown a sign of
fear for as long as [ could remember him. From the stories | heard
about his military career, he was not one to whine. But now, sitting in
my car, he was extremely nervous, staring back and forth all the time
like an amateur cadet. He was reading from notes and then tearing
them into small bits and thrusting them into his artaché case. | soon
realized why he was so nervous. This was explosive material.

The previous August (1989) a contingent of the Matkal plus sev-
eral naval commandos had headed up the Euphrates in a small boat
purchased by a Mossad combatant from a local merchant. Their targer
was an explosives factory located in the city of Al-Iskandariah. The
factory was one of five sites the Mossad had fingered as a possible
chemical or nuclear facility, The others were farther north and harder
to access, in Salman Pack Fallujah and Samarra. Jumbo! information
the Mossad had received from American intelligence revealed that
every Thursday, a small convoy of trucks came to the complex ro be
loaded with explosives that were then transferred to Karbala for the
purpose of manufacturing cannon shells.

The objective was to take position near the base on Wednesday,
August 23, and wait until the next day when the trucks would be
loaded. At that point, several sharpshooters with special silenced rifles
would fire one round each of an explosive bullet at a designated truck,
causing it to explode. The plan was to fire ar the rrucks while they
were in the process of loading so that there would be a carry-on explo-

sion into the storage facility, The loading doors into the facility would

—_——

L. Jumbo: Personal information beyond official intelligence gathered by Mossad
liaison officers from foreign intelligence officers using friendship as a vehicle.
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be open at that point, and there would be several tiers of high explo-
sives inside the bunker leading to the main storage area.

This operation was as close to a suicide mission as the Israeli mili-
tary would ever come. The main escape route, which was back down-
river, was secure as long as the Iraqi security apparatus believed thar
the explosion was an accident. Later. they might realize it was not, but
by then the unit would be 1n the clear. The Israeli soldiers, who were
all volunteers, were advised that there was no backup and, effectively,
no possibility of rescue should they be caughe.

The operation was quite successful, and the explosion generated
the sort of publicity the Mossad was hoping for in anracting attention
to Saddam’s constant efforts at building a gigantic and powerful mili-
tary arsenal, The Mossad shared its “findings”™ with the Western intel-
ligence agencies and leaked the story of the explosion 1o the press,
putting the number of casualties resulting from it in the hundreds.

Since this was a guarded facility, Western reporters had minimal
access to it. However, at the beginning of September, the Iragis were
inviting Western media people to visit Irag and see the rebuilding that
had taken place afrer the war, and the Mossad saw an opportunity 1o
conduct a damage assessment. A man calling himself Michel Rubiyer,
saying he was working for the French newspaper Le Figaro,
approached Farzad Bazoft, a thirty-one-year-old reporter freelancing
tor the British newspaper the Observer. Rubiyer was, in fact, Michel
M., an Israeli with whom I'd trained. Michel, who'd once lived in
France, had moved to Israel and joined the IDF, 1o be posted in SIG-
INT? Unit 8200. Using his connections in the intelligence community,
he was recruited to the Mossad and finally landed a job in the Paris
station.

Michel rold Farzad Bazoft that he would pay him handsemely and
print his story if he'd join a group of journalists heading for Baghdad.
The reason he gave for not going himself was that he'd been black-
listed in Irag. He stressed that he was after a story that would be very
big. He pointed out thar Bazoft could use the money and the break,
especially with his criminal background. Michel told the stunned
reporter that he knew of his arrest in 1981 for armed robbery in
Northampron, England. Along with this implied threar, he promised
Bazoft that he'd be able to publish the story in the Observer as well,

Michel wanted Bazoft to collect informarion regarding the explo-
sion in Al-lskandariah, ask questions abour ir, get sketches of the area,

2. SIGINT: Signal Intclligence.
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and collect earth samples. He rold the worried reporter that Saddam
would not dare harm a reporter even if he was unhappy with him, The
worst that Saddam would do was kick him ourt of the country, which
would in itself make him famous.

“Why this particular reporter?™ | asked.

"He was of Traman background, which would make punishing
him much easier for the Iraqis, and he wasn't a European whom
they'd probably only hold and then kick out.” In fact, Bazoft had been
wdennfied in a Mossad search that was triggered by his prying into
another Mossad case in search of a story. Bazoft had artempted to
garher information on an ex-Mossad asset by the name of Dr. Cyrus
Hashemi, who was eliminated by Mossad in July 1986, Since Bazoft
had already stumbled on to0 much information for his own good—or
the Mossad’s, for that mawer—he was the perfect candidate for this
job of snooping in forbidden areas.

Uri went on to tell of how Bazoft made his way to the location as
he was asked, and, as might be expected, was arrested. Tragically, his
Briush girlfriend, a nurse working in a Baghdad hospital, was arrested
as well,

Within a few days of the arrest. a Mossad liaison in the United
States called rhe Iraq: representative in Holland and said that
Jerusalem was willing ro make a deal for the release of their man
who'd been captured, The liaison also said that the deal was only for
the man, since Israel had nothing to do with the nurse. The lraqi rep-
resentative asked for ume to contact Baghdad, and the liaison called
again the following day, at which point he told the Iragi representative
it was all a big mistake and severed contact. Now the Iraqis had no
doubt that they had a real spy on their hands, and they were going to
see him hang. All the Mossad had to do was sit back and watch as
Saddam proved to the world what a monster he really was.

On March 15, 1990, Farzad Bazoft, who'd been held in the Abu
Ghraib prison some twenty kilometers west of Baghdad, met briefly
with the British ambassador to Jraq. A few minutes after the meeting,
he. was hanged. His British girlfriend was sentenced to fiftecn vears in
prison. His body was delivered ro the British embassy in Baghdad, and
the official spokesman noted that Prime Mimster Margarer Thatcher
“wanted him alive and we have just delivered his dead body to her.”

The world was shocked, but the Mossad was not done yet. To fan
the flames generated by this brutal hanging, a Mossad sayan in New
York delivered a set of documents to ABC television with a story from
a reliable Middle Eastern source telling of a plant Saddam had for the
manufacturing of uranum. The information was convincing, and the
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phatos and sketches were even more so. It was time to draw attention
to Saddam’s weapons of mass destrucrion,

Only three months before, on December 3, 1989, the Iraqis had
launched the Al-Abid, a three-srage ballistic missile. The Iraqis claimed
it was a satellite launcher that Gerald Bull, a Canadian scientist, was
helping them develop, Israeli intelligence knew thar the launch,
although trumpeted as a great success, was in fact a roral failure, and
that the program would never reach its goals. Bur that secret was not
shared with the media. On the contrary, the missile launch was exag-
gerated and blown out of proportion.

The message thar Israeli intelligence sent out was this: Now all the
pieces of the puzzle are firting rogether. This maniac is developing a
nuclear capability (remember the Israeli attack on the Iragi reactor in
1981} and pursuing chemical warfare (as seen in his attacks on his
own people, the Kurds), What's more, he despises the Western media,
regarding them as Isracli spies. Quite soon, he's going to have the abil-
ity to launch a missile from anywhere in Iraq 1o anywhere he wants in
the Middle East and beyond.

After the arrest of Bazoft, Gerald Bull, who was also working on
the Iraqi big gun project called Babylon, was visited by Israeli friends
from his past (the same ones who'd put him in contact with the South
Afnicans regarding a murual mobile long-range gun called the G-5
155mm, and the self-propelled G-6 155mm—both of which were orig-
inally built in Israel by Sultam?). The visitors, one of whom was David
Biran, then Mossad's head of lisison, and the other, Ron Vintrobe,
head of the Iraqi desk in Mossad headquarrers, had come to deliver a
warning.

They were both known to Bull as members of the Israeli intelli-
gence community. Bur they were not from the field, so while their
waming was very real, they themselves would not be in danger of
exposure, since they were not operators engaging the encmy directly.

The Mossad psychological department had studied the position
Bull was in and analyzed what was known about his character. It
arrived at the conclusion that, even if threatened, he wouldn't pull out
of the program, but instead would carry on his work with very lirtle
regard for his personal safety,. Which is not to say the man would’t
worry. On the contrary, the department expected him to be terrified by
the threats and feel high levels of stress.

Ultimately, Bull's continuing with his program would play right

3. Sultam: An lsraell weapons manufacturer,

THE OTHER SIDE OF DECEPTION /f 253

into the Mossad’s hands. Through the bullet-riddled body of Gerald
Bull, the eyes of the world would be made to focus on his work: the
Iragi giant gun project called Babvlon. The nming had to be right,
though; Bull’s well-publicized demise had to come right after an act of
terror by the regime in Baghdad, an act that could not be mistaken for
an accident or a provocation. The hanging of the Observer reporter on
March 15 was such an act.

After the reporter’s execution in Baghdad, a Kidon team arrived in
Brussels and cased the apartment building where Bull lived. It was
imperative that the job be done in a place where jt would not be mis-
taken for a robbery or an accident. At the same time, an escape route
was prepared for the team, and some old contacts with the right-wing
element in the Belgian police were revived ta make sure they were on
duty ar the time of Bull’s elimination so that, if there was a need to call
in a friendly police force, they'd be on call. They weren't told the rea-
son for the so-called alerte but would learn later and keep silent,

Some members of the Kidon team had rented a vacant apartment
next door 1o Bull’s Jodgings. The couple who'd rented it never acrually
moved in, but they did receive the keys to the main entrance to the
complex. Eight days after the hanging of the reporter in Baghdad
(while Britsh intelligence was close to closing a sting operation in
which the Iraqis would be caught artempting to smuggle some nuclear
switches from the States, very similar to the switches [sracl was caught
smuggling only seven years earlier), a Mossad hit man was in the
vacant apartment next to Gerald Bull's, waiting for a2 message from
another member of the team who was outside watching the entrance.
A third man was securing the staircase while two more were seated in
two getaway cars waiting down the road.

When Bull reached the building at eight-thirty pM., the man
watching the entrance signaled the man in the empty apartment on the
sixth floor to get ready: The targer had entered the building. The
Shomer then lefr the apartment, leaving behind only an empty pack of
cigarettes and a matchbox from a horel in Brussels. He then hid in an
alcove.

Almost immediately after the elevator door closed behind Bull, the
shooter fired pont blank at the man's back and head. The shooter
then walked over 1 Bull, whu'd dropped ro the floor, and pulled out
of his tore bag a handful of documents and other papers, which he
Placed in a paper shopping bag he had with him. He also collected all
the casings from the floor and dropped the gun into the shopping bag.

Then he headed for the staircase, where his partner was walting,
and they left the building. As soon as he saw the two men come out,
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the warcher walked away and headed tor one of the two cars. The rwo
men entered the second car, and both cars drove away from the scene.
They left the cars in an underground parking lot to be picked up the
next day by a car sayan who'd rented the cars to them without regis-
tering the rental. They then drove to Amsterdam, where they boarded
an El Al cargo plane back to Israel as part of its crew, leaving Europe
the same way they’d come in.

In the following weeks, more and more discoveries were made
regarding the big gun and other ¢lements of the Saddam war machine.
The Mossad had all but sarurated the intelligence field with informa-
tion regarding the evil intentions of Saddam the Terrible, banking on
the fact that before long, he’d have enough rope to hang himself.

It was very clear what the Mossad's overall goal was. It wanted
the West to do its bidding, just as the Americans had in Libya with the
bombing of Qadhafi. Atter all, Israel didn't possess carricrs and ample
air power, and although it was capable of bombing a refugee camp in
Tunis, that was not the same. The Mossad leaders knew that if they
could make Saddam appear bad enough and a threat to the Gulf oil
supply, of which he'd been the protector up to that point, then the
United States and its allies would not let him ger away with anything,
but would taks measures that would all but eliminate his army and his
weapons potential, especially if they were led to believe thar this might
just be their last chance before he wenr nuclear.

| had all of it on paper and decided ro call the Belgian police the
following day and tell them all [ knew. It was, after all, going 10
appear in my book in the near future, Uri was never as happy to leave
a place as he was to leave Ottawa that day, and | was extremely anx-
ious 1o work this chapter into the book with Claire.

By the next morning, I'd already called the Belgian police in Brus-
sels and spent almost an hour on the phone repeating my story over
and over again. | wouldn’t give them my name or the source of my
information, but | held back nothing else. | had no doubr as [ hung up
that they'd be able to substantiate my story and point the finger in the
right direction,

The next day, Claire was to come and work with me on the new
chapter. Bur | got a call from Ephraim: Kill the story Uri told you. |
protested, bur he wouldn't budge. He told me thar | had 1o trust him
on this one and that he'd explain it ro me some other nme. | didn't use
it, and he never did explain it ro me. Nor did the Belgian police ever
solve the murder. However, what I found more disturbing than any-
thing else was the lack of interest the Canadian government and press
displayed in the murder of a fellow Canadian,

MPTENZS

Ephraim had approved most of the things in it and had grudgingly
accepted the rest,

Nelson Doucet, our sponsor at Stoddart Publishing, told us thar
he'd secured the services of an editor who was from outside the com-
pany bur still sufficiently tied in to be reliable and discreet. Her name
was Frances Hanna, and she was the wife of Bill Hanna, Stoddart’s
vice president for foreign rights.

She told us that she’d worked as an editor on another book that
had dealt with the same subject matter called Vengeance, and was
interested 1o know my opinion of it

| replied that I'd read only the beginning of that book and found it
so off the mark that I put it down. She seemed peeved at first, but as
time passed and she got to know more about whart really happens in
the world of intelligence, | think she saw my point,

Once the editing of the book was complete, Bill Hanna made a trip
10 New York with the galley proofs in hand ro give to Tom McCormick,
president of St. Martin’s Press. Tom was going 10 read the book
overnight, and then | was to come to his office for a short meeting, after
which he’d make up his mind whether to join in on this venture.

Bella and 1 drove to New York. By then, | was already very
uncomfortable abour security, There were so many people involved in
the book by this time, and it was very possible that word had leaked
back to the Mossad without the knowledge of Ephraim and the clique.
Information could be kept within another clique just as secretively as
we'd kept it within ours.

Bella and | registered at the Ritz. First thing in the morning, 1 left
for my meeting with Bill, who was going to take me to meet Tom.
Bella, meanwhile, had decided to go window-shopping.

Hy mid-March, Claire and | had just about finished the book.
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| was extremely tense and found it very difficult to concentrarte. |
had a sense that [ was being followed, yer I couldn't quite pin it down.
| told myself it would make little difference if | was, since the fact thar
s0 many people were involved by now should function as a kind of
shicld.

The meeting with Tom was very pleasant. He asked some rough
questions, bur since there was really nothing to hide, they were fairly
easy to deal with, Tom was very relaxed and created a good feeling
with his biting sense of humor and his very low and deep voice. Bill
had broughr him the galleys wrapped in a cover sheet from another
book, one by Pierre Elliott Trudeaun—a precaution Bill thought neces-
sary. | found the choice of camouflage rather amusing,

Almost two hours later, [ left the meeting. Bill stayed behind to
talk business. Although I had no definite answer, I had a good feeling
as | headed back to the hotel.

We checked out and left town. | called Bill from a roadside restau-
rant, and he gave me the good news: St. Martin’s was in. [ informed
Ephraim of the news once I got back to Otrawa, and he was ecstarnic.
“This will do it! 1 have no doubr thar this will bring them down,” he
said.

I was not so sure. “They can say they don’t know me. They can
say it’s all lies, as they have in the past.”

“Not if | can help it, they wonr. You’re not Vanunu, and they
know it. We'll just have to play it one day at a fime.”

“Da you know if any word has already reached them?”

“As far as | can tell, it hasn't. Bur you must be very careful and
watch your back until the book comes out and you're shielded by the
media.”

“Whart you're telling me s that you have no idea if they know or
not.”

“That's about the size of it,” he said, “but don’t worry. If they
were going to do something drastic, I'd hear about it for sure.”

I had known very well what | was getting into the moment I'd
decided to write the book. But his last statement did give me some
peace of mind.

Suntsy, Serremeen 2, 1990

“It’s out of the bag,” Ephraim said over the phone. “They have a
disk of the book and are now printing a copy of it. From whar | hear,
things are not looking too good. It's now in the hands of the prime
minister.”

THE OTHER SIDE OF DECEPTION / 257

“The little bastard will tell them to have me killed,” | said, and 1
wasn't laughing.

“] had someone give him a better idea, and | think he has taken
the bait.”

“Can vou be more specific?™

“I would prefer not to, ar the moment. But | want you to know
that you'll have a visitor n the nexr few days.”

“Anyone 1 know?”

“I'm not sure, but I think that it will be.™

Nothing more was said. Claire and | made one more trip to
Toronto. We had a2 meeting with representatives of St. Mactin's Press,
and we decided to postpone the publicanion of the book for a month,
as they said they needed the time ro come out wich the book. At the
same time, Stoddart’s copies were coming off the press fast, They were
stored in an empty warehouse adjacent to the publisher’s building, and
a special guard was placed on them. The tension was mounting; we
were ready to go. [ felt like someone abour 1o jump from a very high
clitf, and 1 sure hoped that there was a parachute in whatever | had
strapped on my back.

Before we left Stoddart’s, Jack Stoddart, owner and president of
Stoddart Publishing, came to tell us that something very strange had
happened. He'd just received an anonymous call from someone who
said that Israel had hired the law firm of Goodman and Carr in
Toronto to stop the publication of our book.

Jack was not sure whether this was for real or whether someone in
the publishing house was pulling a prank, [ had no doubr it was not a
loke, but with nothing to go on besides this call, T could do very little.

We drove back to Ottawa. | knew we were not being followed.

At that point, Bella was aware of what was in the book although
she hadn’t read it. Some days earlier, we’d taken the girls to an lralian
restanrant in Ortawa, and 1'd given them a condensed explanation of
what was going on. | explained to them why I was taking this step and
braced them for the fury that might be ahead.

The evening following my return from Toronto, Bella and T went
aver to the Bayshore shopping mall. I needed a breather, and knowing
the genie thar was abour 1o be let our of the bottle, 1 wanted to take
advantage of the last few hours of anonymiry | still had.

| sported them when I made a call from the pay phone at the mall:
a team of ar least five people, following us ar all imes. [ knew that this
was it, and tonight was going to be the njght. We left the mall and
headed home. Several days previously, I'd stopped ar the Nepean
police station with a book jacket. I'd had a talk with the top cop ac the
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station. | explained to him that I'd written a book abour the lIsrael;
secret service, the Mossad, and that the Mossad was going to be very
unhappy about 1. He promised 1o be wigilant; the police would
respond to my call as fast as they could should there be a problem.

I didn't expect them to stand up to the Mossad, bur still, their
knowing who [ was and thar there mighr be a problem made me feel
better. 1'd also stopped at RCMP headquarters at 400 Cooper Street in
Ottawa and spoken to a constable there. He told me that this sort of
thing fell under rhe jurisdiction of CSIS, the Canadian secret service.
They were located in the same building, so I went over to their offices
and informed them as well.

At nine PMm., there was a knock on the door. | was standing in the
small kitchen, getting ready to make a cup of coftec. Bella answered
the door. Oren Riff and Aaron Sherf were standing there. (Oren was
the personal assistant to the head of Mossad and my former cadet
course commander. Aaron Sherf was head of the Tsafririm department
in charge of monitoring and activating the world Jewish Diaspora, and
my former academy commander.) Oren carried a shoulder bag, and
Aaron was trying his best to put on a smile.

“We wanr ro ralk o you,” Aaron said.

I picked up the phone and dialed 911, but before they could
answer, | hung up. Something was preventung me from making such a
drastic move vet.

Oren leaned his head slightly to one side and said, “We came to
ralk.”

The phone rang; it was the police calling back 1o see what was
going on. | told them everything was okay; if there was any prob-
lem, I'd call back. They accepted that. | walked over to the door. |
could see that Bella was turning whate; 1 thought she mighr fainr at
any moment. By the time | got to the door, she not only hadn’t
fainted but was giving our visitors a piece of her mind, No doubt
the hysteria caused by their sudden appearance brought on this dis-
play of anger. She knew very well who they were, and their appear-
ance on our doorstep made all her fears about the book become a
reality.

“Can we come m?" Oren asked.

“No. 1 have nothing to ralk to vou abanr,™ [ said.

“Please, let’s be civilized,™ he said.

I couldn’t help laughing ar that. Bur then | considered my real situ-
ation, and 1t frightened me, Why hadn'’t 1 told the police there was a
problem? | feared thar while these two were at my door, the team that
was planning to grab me and take me back 10 a sunking little hole in

THE OTHER SIDE OF DECEPTION [ 259

Israel was taking position outside i the shadows. It was hard to
believe that all they wanted was to talk,

“If you have anything to say to me, you do it here and now,” |
said. “You're not coming in. And I'd suggest for your own good that
you be brief and then get the hell out of this area.™
" “We are at war,” Aaron said, referring 1o the situation in the Gulf,
Coming from one who was part of the mechanism that had brought
that situation about, this was almost like someone who has killed his
parents asking for mercy because he's an orphan.

“What is it that you want?” [ was going to play along until | saw
a window of opportunity. | wanted to move the problem as far as 1
could from my family. When she’d heard Hebrew being spoken, my
daughter Lecorah had come down the stairs, thinking we had guests
from Israel. But she ran back up as soon as she heard my angry tone.

“We want you to stop the book,” Aaron said.

“] can't believe this from youw,”™ Oren said, putring in his two cents’
worth. Aaron looked at him scornfully, as if to say, Don't anger the
prey.

“It's not only my decision to make," | said, trying to act reason-
able. “Besides, they've already printed the book and are ready to ship
it.”

“How many copies could there be for Canada?™ Aaron said. “You
have to stop this book.”

“It's not that simple.” 1 was stalling for time.

“You know money is no object,” Oren said. “We'll cover all the
expenses plus any projected profits—you know that.”

“I have 10 talk to some people. I need nme.”

They glanced a1 each other, “Call me at the consulate in Toronto,”
Oren said. “I'll wait for your call there until tomorrow noon.”

“Okay.” 1 started to close the door. They rurned and headed back
to their red Chevroler Cavalier. It had a Quebec license plate. They sat
in the car for a few moments, and then they took off. | knew | didn't
have much time 1o make my move. [ was expecting the team to come
through the door at any minute.

1 could see fear in Bella’s eyes. 1 knew she wasn't afraid for herself
but for her dumb husband, who once again had gotten himself up the
proverbial creek without a paddle. T put as much stuff as [ might need
nto my artaché case and sat for a while, thinking about my next move.

After a few minutes of analysis, | came to the conclusion that they

wouldn't break in just yet. They'd wait and see if | had any protection
that would spring into action after the bold visit I'd just received, in
which case they wouldn't wanr 1o get caught in the middle.
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| decided 1o leave on the stroke of midnight. I needed to go to a
place where they had police around the clock, bur a police station was
not where | wanted to be. | had to get 10 the airport. It was open
twenty-four hours a day, and police were on durty ar all times. 1 could
also make calls from there and try to get out of the city as fast as pos-
sible. | figured I'd be safer with my publisher. After all, he was my
partner in all of this.

At rwelve, [ pulled out of my driveway and was immediately fol-
lowed by a small gray car and a large gray windowless van. | made
several evasive maneuvers and, having the advantage of knowing the
area better than any newcomer, got away. | headed straight for the air-
port and the RCMP starion there.

1 spoke briefly with the constable at the airport, informing him
that Mossad people had been on my tail in the city. He promised to
inform the airport police to check on me every so often. There were no
flights until the next morning, so it appeared | was going to spend the
night at the airport.

I called Bella to tell her everything was okay, and then 1 called
Claire Hoy o bring him into the loop. Nelson Doucer wasn't home, so
I called Jack Stoddart. 1 expected him to take some action and maybe
show some concern, but he didn't seem to realize the gravity of the sit-
uation. He merely said that he hoped all would be well and that he
looked forward to seeing me the next morning in the office,

The flight took off at seven A.M. There were some problems land-
ing in Toronto Island because of the fog. Bur we got there eventually,
and after a wild cab ride, | arnived at Stoddart’s offices.

There 1 had to wait for a while. Evenrually, someone came 1o see
me, and | explained whar was happening. The Mossad was on our
trail and was geming into position 1o take steps to stop us. | felt an
obligarion to Stoddart o give them a way out of this situation, and in
a onc-on-one ralk with Jack Steddary, | rold him that if he wished 10
withdraw from this venture, he'd be handsomely reimbursed by the
Mossad, whose representarive Oren Riff was still waiting for my call
at the consulate in Toronto.

Jack replied rthar publishing was not only a maner of money but
also, tor him, a marrer of principle. He had no intention of backing
down; the book was coming out, no matter what,

Angel Guerra, Stoddart’s chief of publicity, had already convened
a small group of reporters from the major papers and television sta-
tions. They'd been given a short summary of the book and were wait-
ing for me in a conference room. Meanwhile, St. Marrtin’s Press had
been notified of the new developments and rold to move forward as
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fast as they could. They had seventeen thousand copies of the book in
their warchouse and decided to ship them out right then and there.
The shipping was done via a system called blind shipping, in which a
publisher ships books 1o the stores in the absence of specific orders,
The stores are not obligated 1o rake the books, but most do, and a
widespread distribution is virtually guaranteed.

Bill Hanna, the rights VP, had also licensed the Brirish rights o
Bloomsbury, bur St. Martin’s, who would eventually supply them with
books, had no extras ro send them, having taken a wair-and-see am-
tude regarding sales volume.

1 called Bella, who told me that Rina, one of her best friends, had
called from Israel. Rina had told Bella that she, her husband Hezy, and
several other friends of ours were going to be brought to Ottawa the
following day to try to ger me 1o stop the publication of the book.
Bella told me that she rried to explain to Rina that such an effort
would be futile and that it would be very unlikely that Rina would
succeed where Bella herself had failed. Later, when Oren called look-
ing for me, Bella rold him o tell the people in Israel not to send all our
friends on this stupid trip. Oren played dumb and said he had no idea
what she was talking about. Bur she persisted, and he finally put an
end to the matter.

Meanwhile, [ was sitting at Stoddart Publishing, feeling extremely
helpless. 1 could almost feel the presence of the Mossad team but
could not communicate with Ephraim or any ot the others. There were
too many ears and ¢yes around.

Just before 1 headed for the news conference, a fax arrived from
the offices of Goodman and Carr Barristers and Solicitors, sent by Joel
Goldenberg on behalf of the state of Israel, telling Stoddart that they
had obtained an order from a judge barring the distribution of the
book and ordering me not to discuss the informanon in the book unril
things were clarified in court. [ was muzzled, and for the first time in
Canadian history, a foreign country had blocked publication of a
book—all this before a single book had left the Canadian warehouse
and before the lawyers and judge involved had even had a chance to
see a copy, unless it was a stolen one. That my name was on the cover,
and that it was a nonfiction book about the Mossad, was apparently
enough 1o make it a danger to the state of Israel.

Before any legal steps could be taken in rhe States, St. Martin’s
Press had already shipped over twelve thousand copies to the stores in
the LS. Still, it wasn’t long before Israel moved to try to block the
book in the United Stares just as it had done in Canada.

Right from the outset, it was clear to the government of Israel that
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keeping the book permanently off the bookshelves in Canada and the
United States was a funle act and thar ir couldn’t possibly win. But
they had other plans, ones thar didn't involve the courts. It came oue
later in the Israeli press that the head of the Mossad had requested
that some action be raken to give him addinional time to stop me. He
admutted to a special committee of the lsraeli parhament, the Knesser,
formed to investigate my case that he'd sent people to Canada 1o 1ry
to persuade me not to publish and thar money was also offered, but
thar I'd refused. He then decided ro rake other acrion.

Later, after everything had calmed down, Ephraim told me what
the chief’s plans were. He wanted the legal process to prevent me from
speaking and answering relevant questions for the first few days,
which would give them time to grab me and rake me back to Israel,
The Mossad assumed that whatever public relations damage my kid-
napping might cause would be negligible in comparison to the damage
I'd cause if [ were allowed o answer questions in the media. The pos-
sibility that the Mossad’s personal conduct would be revealed both-
ered the Mossad chief more than the revelation of so-called srate
secrets in my book,

Ignoring me altogether was not an option as far as the head of the
Mossad was concerned, This was in part due ro Ephraim’s saving in a
Rashy! meeting that since I'd incorporated several documents in my
book. its charges couldn't just be ignored, and that picking me up and
bringing me back to Israel shouldn’t be an impossible task. To bolster
his argument that my claims would be taken seriously {even if the
Mossad chose not to comment), Ephraim pomted out the question-
naire | had translated from Hebrew thar showed a knowledge of the
Syrian military that could not be obtained outside the Syrian army or
the Mossad.

After those of vs in Stoddart’s offices had reviewed Goodman and
Carr’s fax, Sally Tindel, Angel's secretary, was sent hack to the waiting
reporters to request that they return the marterial they’d been given,
including the book’s summary, because it had just been learned that
Israel had raken legal steps to block the book’s publication.

To my surpnse, the reporters returned the papers without a mur-
mur. We held a short news conference in which | could not say much
except that this was a book that [ believed had 1o be published.

The Mossad made its move in the United States and managed to
temporarily block further distribution of the book there. This was an

1. Rashy: Rashy Yehidot; a meeting of department heads
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anprecedented move, and the reaction in the States was much more
vocal and furious than the Canadian reaction. It’'s clear that Americans
act much more aggressively when they sense that their freedom of
speech 1s being restricred.

Within twenty-four hours, the ban was lifted in the States. By
then, just abour all of the seventeen thousand books that had been dis-
rributed there were sold our, and the stores were clamoring for more.
Sales were breaking all records, bur at the same time 1 was nor allowed
to speak about what was i the book. | was moving from one location
to another in Toronto, planning my next move, forced to hold my
cards very close to my chest. On the first day, the RCMP took me
under their wing. They approached the job of protecting me with the
vigor of people who mean business, and by day’s end, they'd decided
to take me back to Omawa, where it would be much easier to protect
my family and me, as they said, “in one package.”

We drove back to Ottawa and stopped at the Nepean palice sta-
tion, where the two somewhat embarrassed RCMP constables told the
duty officer that the RCMP brass had decided thar it was the Nepean
police’s job to protect me and that they were leaving me in their
hands.

| was told that the decision had been made during the night as we
were driving to Ottawa. They didn’t feel that the Mossad would dare
take action in Canada, and therefore their continued presence was not
needed,

There was really nothing | could do. The constable gave me his
business card and told me that if [ had any problem at all, I should feel
free to call him at any time. That left my family and me, essentially, in
the hands of the Nepean police force, which regards a string of
shoplifting cases as a major crime wave. It was small comfort.

Bella was shocked to see me back, knowing full well what the
score was and knowing that 1 was far more vulnerable in this serting.
The next morning, we took evasive action. I got to the train station as
the train was about to pull our, and was back in Toronto by that after-
noon. Once there, | went straighr o the Stoddart offices.

By then, the media blitz was at full intensity: 1 was either doing
television interviews or giving over-the-phone radio interviews to
places as far as Sydnev, Australia, or as near as the Toronto Jewish
press. However, | still couldn’t talk about what was in the book, or
about my personal experiences in the Mossad,

Then several Israeli newspeople showed up, acting both as
reporters for their own papers and as commentators for the other
media. One by the name of Ran Dagony, reporring for a daily newspa-
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per in Israel called Maariv, published an extremely devastating inter-
view with me that he claimed 10 have conducted in Toronto. The inter-
view covered almost two full newspaper pages. The man only
neglected to mention thar we'd never met and thar I'd never spoken to
him.

The Canadian judge had barred all discussion of the book for a
period of ten days. | knew that this was the interval of time that the
Mossad had 1o try to stop me. From time 1o ume, | caught them fol-
lowing me, and 1 would take steps to get away. Whenever 1 did, 1
thanked Mousa and Dov for the great training they'd given me.

Betore the ten days were up, | realized it was time to get out of
Toronto and go back home. | was running out of ways to leave the
Stoddart offices without developing a pauern. | was also extremely
frustrated. By then, I'd been on the ABC evening news with Peter Jen-
nings, on NBC with Tom Brokaw, and on just about every major net-
work, bur because of the gag order, | could say almost nothing. There
I was, like a2 dummy, in front of the whole world.

When | got back to Qurawa, [ was met by a second wave of media
that was with me from the moment the plane landed.

There were Israeli reporters and crews from the local media. What
I found stranger than anything else was the fact that [ was barred from
talking abour the contents of my book or even handling a copy, while
Oded Ben-Ami, the representative of Israeli radio, was reading sec-
tions of it over the phone to his audience in Israel.

When | finally got 10 the house, I was surprised to receive a short
message from my father, who'd heard about the book for the first time
through the media. “Call me,” the message said. “Whatever happens,
I'm always vour dad.” I really needed that. We'd already established a
relationship since I'd come to live in Canada. But this was something
that I'd really hoped for. When I needed him most, he was there. |
called him, and we took it from there, as if nothing had happened. [
suppose I shouldnt have been surprised. After all, it was he who'd
always maintained, even after the grear frenzy of wriumph that had
swept the Jewish world after the Israeli victory in the Six-Day War in
1967, that Arabs should be treated with dignity and respect, thar not
ail Arabs are bad and not every Israeli is automatically an angel. From
that telephone call on, we were the best of friends.

Several days later, | managed to make contact with Ephraim. 1
learned that the Mossad was going to ler me be for now. If any steps
were to be taken against me, they would be in the disinformation
department and not against my person. | still knew thar this was a
very unstable guarantee and that if I should leave Canada and venrture
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even as far as the United Stares, things could change rather fast,

Accordingly, [ decided to publicize By Way of Deception by doing
radio shows across the United States and Canada via phone. | man-
aged over two hundred shows in less than three months, and [ also did
a long string of television shows by satellite.

From Toronto, I appeared on Good Morning America with Charles
Gibson, and found him to be as charming an interviewer as he was a
host. It was quite a treat for me, since I'd watched him every morning
from the day he'd debuted on the show.

Then there was the Larry King Show, by which time the gag order
was lifted, where I received somewhat rougher treatment. To build
some contentousness into the hour, the show's producers had invited
Amos Perelmuter, a professor from the American University in Wash-
ingron, D.C., 10 join King and me. From the start, it was clear that
Perelmuter was an enthusiastic supporter of the state of Israel, and
that whar he'd heard about my book—he admitted he hadn't read jt—
he didn't like.

There was never enough nme on such shows to put Perelmuter
and other “designated champions of Israel” on the spot. How did they
know that everything I was saying was lies? ] was the one who'd
served in the Mossad, not they. Why was it thart these loyal Americans
were willing to accept any mud thrown at the CIA without even giving
it a second thought, but insisted on defending to the hilt an intelli-
gence agency of a foreign country that had been known to spy on the
United Stares {as in the Pollard case) and hadn’t refrained from artack-
ing American interests (as in the case of the Lavon? affair in Egypt,
among others)?

The first wave of fury the book caused was due to its revelanon
that the Mossad had advance knowledge of the notorious suicide
bombing in Beirut (including the make and color of the car) but didn't
pass on that information to American intelligence. In October 1983,
twe hundred and forty-one U.S. marines were killed when the cag
rigged with explosives, rammed their barracks in Beirut. In many
instances, this story from the book was taken out of context and told

2. Lavon affair: This affair took place in the 1950s and concerned Pinhas Lavon,
then the Israeli minister of defense. Several Egyptian Jews were organized into a
terrorist cell and sent to sabotage American targets in Egypt, the point being to
try to sour the relationship berween Israel and America. The plan failed, and the
men were arrested. A lengthy and politically painful ordeal followed in lsrael; it
never became clear who gave the order for this disgraceful operation, bur as min-
ister of defense, Lavon was made ultimarely responsible.
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as if I’d said that the Mossad knew Americans were the rarget, which
was not the casc.

This and numerous other headline-making revelations helped pro-
pel the book to the number one spot on the New York Times best-
seller list, where it stayed for mine weeks. By Way of Deception made
the best-seller list in almost every one of the rwenty-odd countries
where it was published. It was published in some fifteen different lan-
guages (although it's still not available in Hebrew), and by the year's
end had sold well over a million copies worldwide.

Had it not been for Bella’s last-minute intervention, the names of
all the field personnel would have been in the book. 1 had no problem
with using the names, nor did Ephraim. We both knew thar they were
already burned, and by putting their names in, we might be saving
them. But | was equally happy not to put them in,

Not thar it saved me from being portrayed in the Israeli press as
the devil incarnate. One Israeli reporter said in an editorial that some-
one should put a bullet in my head. Yet another said that | should be
tied to a pole and all the people of Israel should come and spit on me.
Few, if any, Israelis seemed to stop and say, “Maybe what he says has
a grain of rruth in it.”

Because the book had been rranslated into so many languages, 1'd
mert and answered questions from people around the world. Gratify-
ingly, at least as far as my credibility was concerned, as time passed,
more and more things that were said in the book were proved to be
true.

I'd moved 1o a bigger house and had started a new career, | was
going to write a novel. 1 knew thar writing fiction presented a whole
new set of challenges, but | felt that my expericnces provided great
raw marerial from which a compelling story could be woven. Stoddart
had decided to take a chance on me, and | was grateful.

Ephraim and I still spoke fairly frequently. He told me that the
Isracli parliamentary commission investigating the “Ostrovsky affair”
had come back with the conclusion thar the only problem was that I'd
been recruited in the first place. As for how things had changed inside
the Mossad, there was barely any change at all. The one minor ripple
my book caused was that several of the so-called moderates were
Mamed {or recruiting me and kicked out.

Also, the fear that an oversight committee might be established
caused various preventive measures to be taken. Ties were being
strengthened with the settler movement in the Territories, and “spies”™
were being recruited in the Ministry of Defense and the military.
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“I guess you still have a job to do,” said Ephraim. “There are
some clements around the new boss today who are far more danger-
ous than anyone you ever knew in your time.”

*[ can't do much now, with the kind of exposure | have.”

“We'll see abourt that, For the time being, go with the flow. Just
make sure you don't go under.”

1 took his warning seriously, knowing where it came from.
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he year 1991 did not turn out to be a good year for the Mossad,

although at first it looked as though it would. There was a new boss

on the throne, and to the joy of most of the OPPOITUNISEs, It wWas an
msider. The Office had successfully managed to prevent the govern-
ment from bringing in a general from the outside. And what’s more,
the Mossad had their man, Yitzhak Shamir, in the seat of power as
prime minister. Israel's prime minister was a man who liked to be
reminded of his Mossad past (even if within the Mossad it was never
regarded as more than mediocre, with no lasting achievements).

This nime, the insider had taken the top position in the Mossad in
a natural succession, making it clear 1o all that from that day forth
there was to be no more parachuting in of an outsider boss. A new
laver of Teflon had just been added to the organization, which was
always in the dirt but could nor get dirty.

The new chief took office and made no changes in the organiza-
tion, to the appreciation of his comrades-in-arms. What was happen-
ing, though, was an erosion of the link that had been maintained
between the Mossad and the military by having a former general head
up the intelligence agency. Once again, a leader was at the helm of the
Mossad who didn’t know the military or hold much respect for it. The
new head regarded the military establishment as prima donna balleri-
nas, in constant need of nursing and incapable of making tough deci-
sions without wearing iron underwear (as he used to put it while still
head of operations during my term in the Mossad).

“The only way we could do something of any significance now,”
Ephraim said, “would be to target the Mossad one country ar a time
and try to make a difference that way,”

“We've done thart already. And what happened?”

“Look, I know of some activity taking place now in Norway, Why
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don’t we use that country as a rarget and see whar happens? Whar do
we have 1o lose?”

“Did you ever consider taking over from the mside, now that all
areempts to hit it from the outside have failed?”

| always consider that. If there was a chance of my raking the
scepter. trust me, | would. But they have secured it for God knows
how long. As long as Shamir is in office, we don’ have a chance to do
anything, He hates the whole world, and what better way to get his
revenge than to use the Mossad? He hates Bush for humiliating him in
Washington and holding him by the short hairs regarding the loan
guarantees. He hates the British.” He paused. “Well, he always hated
the British. He doesn't trust the French, and we know whart he thinks
of the Arabs and everybody else.”

“So what now?”

“I have a friend in Norway who knows a reporter for a newspaper
called the Oftenposten. | can have my friend suggest that the reporter
call you and see if there might be a story there for him regarding the
Mossad.”

“Is there a story there?”

“Sure there 1s.”

We pored over the details of this story and found several refer-
ences to it in the Danish documents thar 1 had. All | had 1o do now
was wait for a call and rake it from there. We'd placed lintle hope in
this escapade, but it was better than doing nothing. And even though I
was in the middle of writing my novel, | knew there were more impor-
tant things to be done.

I felr that if there was a change in government in Israel, there'd be
a chance for some peace negotiations. So I had in some ways changed
my goals, From that point on, it wasn’t just the Mossad 1 was after. ]
was also looking for ways to embarrass the government. For me, 1991
was going 1o be a very good year.

Within a few days, | received a call from a reporter in Norway
calling himself Mr. Stangheler. He said he was working for a Norwe-
gian paper, the Oftenposten, and wanted ro ask me a few questions.
Then followed the usual niceties; he buttered me up to assure my
cooperation, relling me that he enjoyed my book and that he was hop-
ing | would write another, etc., erc. He eventually got to the point. He

-wanted o know if [ knew of any Mossad acrivities in Norway.

[ explained to him that I had no dealings with the Norwegian desk
but that I could offer him a kind of projection from the activities of
the Mossad in Denmark, which T had detailed quite extensively in the
book. 1 also said thar there was no doubt in my mind thar the Mossad
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was in fact as acrive in Norway as it was in Demmark, and that if he
wanted to put the ume in and investgate, I'd be more than happy to
assist by directing him and helping him assess whatever information
he might find. | also offered to sketch for him what | believed was
going on in Norway. All he’d have to do was color in the outlines with
facts derived from investigation,

The man was extremely pleased, and | knew 1 was about to hand
the Mossad another painful punch on the nose—rthat is, if 1t didn't get
smart on me and pull our of wharever it was doing in Norway at the
time. But as usual, the Mossad just wenr on doing whart it did best,
which was to abuse the friendship of a good ally and, when the time
came, leave it holding the proverbial baby:

I told my new friend that the Mossad could be expected to have a
close relationship with the local intelligence. mainly dealing at the
intermediate level. He could find the links by obraining the names of
people from the police and intelligence communities who'd gone on
various seminars to Israel, The second avenue | suggested was raking a
closer look ar Palestinian refugees who were seeking asylum in Nor-
way. Just as in Denmark, and as I'd described in my book, the Mossad
would offer the local intelligence agency a service that, in its words,
would guarantee sccurity and rthe weeding out of potential rerrorists
trom the waves of incoming refugees.

The Mossad would offer to send experts to Norway, who, upon
arrival, would receive Norwegian identity cards from the Norwegian
secret service. These experts would interrogate the asylum seekers in a
language they understood (meaning both Arabic and brute force). The
Israelis would then translate the conversations and hand the Palestini-
ans over to the Norwegians. This process would prevent the country
from being infiltrated by troublemakers, and in a more general way,
keep Norway out of the bloody Middle Fast game.

['also rold him that there was no doubr in my mind that the police
and intelligence service were sure they were doing the right thing. For
the sake of protecting the safety of their Mossad friends, they'd have
to keep it all secret from the politicians, who weren’t to be trusted in
matters of security.

Stangheler was on his way to cracking the biggest intelligence
scandal in Norwegian history, and he knew it. The communicartion
berween us was sporadic, and he would call me at strange hours, seek-
ing advice. We started to work together on the story in January 1991;
he was ready ro publish in August and went to press at the beginning
of September. The expected fury of the Norwegian population was
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there, as were the lame explanations by the Secret Service. I was cor-
rect on just abour all counts, and even though | received little credit
for what had raken place, | knew there was egg on the Mossad face,
and that was a real treat for me,

The story had exposed what could only be described as the
Messad’s inumate relations with the Norweglan secret service and
police. The Norwegian secret service had provided Mossad personnel
with Norwegian papers and broughr them into the interrogation room
o interrogate Palestinians who were seeking asylum in Norway.

The Mossad officers interrogated the Palestimans in Arabic,
although most of the Palestinians were fluent in English, as were the
Norweglan police. However, none of the Norwegian police spoke Ara-
bie, and therefore they had no idea what was being said. The Mossad
officers threatened the Palesumans with deportatnion if they wouldn™t
cooperate with Israel—all this in the presence of Norwegian police, or
in some cases without thar presence, in which cases the interrogations
took on a much more violent aspect,

As a result of the story. the Norwegian minister of justice, Kar
Gjesteby, called for a full investigation of the marter. This was of
course to appease the citizenry—some of whom saw the whole affair
as Israel's second violation of the sanctity of Norway (the first “viola-
tion” occurred in Lillehammer in 1974 and involved the Mossad’s
killing of 2 Moroccan waiter whom they'd mistaken for Ali Hassan
Salameh!),

The evening before the article’s publication 1n Oftenposten,
Stangheler had phoned me ar a late hour from Norway. He sounded
very suange. He was laughing and crying alternately and was asking
me to forgive him and to realize he didn't really mean it. Then he hung
up, and | grew very worried. I thought thar perhaps someone had gor-
ten 1o him just before publication and that he was in danger. Since |
didn’t know anybody in Qslo and could not reach Ephraim to see
what could be done, 1 called Frank Esman, a reporter from the Damsh
broadeasting corporation who was posted in New York. T summarized
the situation, and he in turn called some people he knew in Norway,
who then called me back and also contacted the police in the vicinity
of Stangheler’s residence. Several nerve-racking hours later, I learned
that the police had visired Stangheler’s house and found him drunk our

—— -
1. Ali Hassan Salameh: Also known as the Red Prince, said to be the planner of

the Munich Olympics massacre. He was later assassinated by the Mossad in
Beiru,
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of his wits. As it turned out, he'd called me in the midst of a post.
investigation blowout celebration, and I'd simply musinterpreted his
exuberance.

As it was, Stangheler had a right to feel pleased. The council for
Norwegian organizations for asylum seekers, known as NOAS, filed a
lawsuit against the secret service for willfully violaring the Norwegian
penal code sections 325 and 121. Within days of the exposé, the chief
of the secret service {Overvaakintjeneste), Svein Urdel, handed in his
resignaton.

Although the Norwegian political establishment attempred to por-
tray the whole affair as a simple misunderstanding, Ephraim told me
that, in fact, the Norwegians made it very clear through hidden chan-
nels that they wouldn't tolerate any Mossad activity in Norway. To
prove it, they pulled back their liaison man from Tel Aviv and
requested thar Mossad liaison not visit Oslo until further notice. This
was a hard blow 1o the Mossad.

What happened in Norway came on the heels of several other
slaps in the face that I'm proud to have participated in. What my book
couldn’t do (convince lsraelis of the Mossad’s fallibility), has, in fact,
been accomplished by the fallout from these accumulated bunglings.
Although the Mossad is still regarded as a god, it’s a lesser god than
betore.

While Stangheler was doing his investgation, Eli, with whom I
wanted 1o have nothing more to do, came to visit me in Canada and
told me that he was planning to leave the Mossad, since the task of
blending in with the rest of the organization was becoming unbear-
able, More than half the new recruits, he said, were from the Mes-
sianic religious sect. If T thought that the prevailing attitude in the
Mossad had been bad when I was there, 1 couldn imagine whar it
was like now, Eli said. Half the Mossad members were now living in
settlements in the occupied West Bank. That in irself was enough for
me to realize how far right-wing the organization had become. He
wanted to know if | had a channel of communication 1o the American
SECUrity services,

| had none, except for the accasional phone call that Ephraim had
me make to pass on some information. As things were now, I thought
it would be too late, since anyone I might contact now would surely
think I was looking for material for a new book. Besides, no intelli-

gence agency has any real sympathy for a whistle blower, since one
never knows whom he’ll blow the whistle on next.

1 did, however, have a circle of friends I'd managed to create who
were involved on a volunteer basis in trying to help the plight of the
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Palestinian people. Some of them might have connections, But I'd have
to have a very good reason to pull such strings, and the people
iqvolved would have to know exactly what it was all aboun.

Eli said he'd pass that information to Ephraim, who’d sent him on
this trip so that he could take advantage of the free rra:\rei to set up
something for himself in the United States. He had family there and
could get a green card with no problem. _

»] guess the last one will have to turn the lights out in the Ben-
Gurion atrport,” [ said, bringing up an old joke thar used to be told in
Jsrael during the depression prior to the Six-Day War, which had of
course changed everything around. We both laughed for a long time,
letting off steam for not being able to make a difference.

It was then, in talking to Eli, that | realized I'd gone much farther
down the road than he had. Eli, and Uri oo, for that matter, still
believed in the Zionist dream. They were more like the people I knew
in Israel, my old friends and family, Even though they participated in
what would be regarded by most Israelis as extremism, they were
doing it out of the belicf they had in an idea, the Zionist idea.

[ had alteady realized for some time that [ no longer shared that
ideology, that for me the state of Israel was no longer the fulfillment of
an ancient dream. For me, it was more a nightmare of prejudice, wal-
lowing in racism and waving the white and blue flag as a banner of
oppression. | wanted no part of it. What 1 was doing now was show-
ing the carriers of the banner their valnerability, so that they w-:?u!d
stop and reappraise their own purpose. Maybe then they could join
the family of nations on an equal footing. _

“They are planning something in Cyprus,” Eli said, and handed
me a small piece of paper. It looked like a page torn out of a small
notebook.

“What is this?” '

“That’s a phone number in Cyprus; it's the police. You are to
make 2 call to them and tell them that someone is breaking into this
office building.”

“What is 1t?” _

“I have no idea, and 1 really don’t care. Ephraim said that you
should make the call the day after tomorrow. Make sure you do it at
five-thirty Cyprus time.”

*Is that all you know?” _

“ know that a Yarid team will be there and that they will be
doing something they shouldn’t be doing.”

“That’s good enough for me,” | said.

Eli didn’t stay long. He was somewhat ashamed that he was leay-



274 [ VICTOR OSTROVIKY

ing the Mossad and the country, and | sensed the discomfort he fele
around me. [ couldn’t explain it, but I could feel it too, so I made no
artempt to have him stick around, although there were a million ques-
tons | would have loved to ask him.

Tuesoav, Rean. 23, 1991

] made the call at the appointed hour and, after spending almost
rwenty minutes on the phone, succeeded in making it clear to the offi-
cer in charge of the police station that | thought an entry into the
office building had been made by some people who shouldn’t be there.

The man was not especially impressed, but after checking ro sce
what was at that address and realizing thar the Iranian embassy occu-
pied the top three floors of the building, he decided he’d better send
someone to check things our. As it turned out, the Yand team, which
consisted of six members, four men and two women, was not expect-
ing any trouble. They had registered in two different hotels on the
island to aveid drawing attention to themselves, a couple in each of
the hotels, pretending to be tourists, Two of the men had raken posses-
sion of an apartment in a building adjacent to where a listening station
was 1o be set up. They had already set up all the equipment, ready w
receive the incoming information from the bugs the installers were
supposed 1o position.

One of the couples was ta enter the building and put the bugs on
the telephone lines, while the other couple was supposed to stay out-
side and warch, so that if there was a problem, they could warn the
installers, However, they were extremely lax. After all, they were
members of the great Mossad. Whar could go wrong?

Everything could.

The couple outside was not comfortable on the street with no
place to melt away into, so they decided to enter the building and give
their friends inside a helping hand. This way they could finish the job
faster and get on with the fun part of the operation—having a good
ume and charging it to the Mossad.

In fact, there was not much they could do, since only one of the
installers was a so-called expert; only he could do the actual work.
Everybody else just stood around making him nervous.

He was in the process of separating the wires according to a
blueprint they'd brought with them and trying to identify the Iranian
embassy’s lines when the policeman walked in, The four were huddled
around the open telephone wire box with the rapping devices in their
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hands, handing them to the expert as he found the proper wires.

The policeman was as surprised at what he'd encountered as the
ream was. “What are you doing here?” he asked, first in Greek and
then, when no answer was torthcoming, in English.

The four dropped what they were holding in their hands and
turned to face the cop. They exchanged glances, not knowing quite
what to do.

Ran Sofe,® the commander of the team, was the first to speak. A
thirty-three-year-old veteran of Yarid, be was supposed to have stayed
outside with Amit Litvin, who was dressed in a provocative way to
draw attention to herself in case there was a need to detain someone (a
trick that might have worked had they done their job right), while
David Dabi and Anna Dolgin were inside installing the bugs. “We're
looking for a washroom,” said Ran. “You know, a toilet. The girls just
can't hold it, you know.”

The others nodded their heads, like a group of children caught
with their hands in the cookie jar, trying to sell a lame story even they
didn't believe.

The policeman wasn’t buying. He hauled them all into the police
station in downtown Nicosia.

WeoNesony, et 24

The four were brought in front of a judge, who remanded them in
custody for eight days on suspicion of wirctapping.

It wasn't long before the scandal hit the news wires and all hell
broke loose. The Mossad pulled every string they had on the small
island 1o close the story, and fast.

Thunsony, Mav 9

There followed several days of intense bargaining and fending off
curious reporters. Eventually, the Cypriot authorities released the four,
after they'd entered a guilty plea for unlawfully entering private prop-
erty to commit a felony. They were fined the equivalent of abour eight
hundred U.S. dollars and were released into the hands of the Isracli
representative.

2. Ran Sofe, David Dabi, Anna Dolgin, and Amit Litvin were the names rhey
gave to the police, and under those names they were indicted, fined, and
released.
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By the end of the day, the four were back in Israel, still liding their
faces and refusing to talk 1o reporters.

Almost a weck after the event, | was contacted by a reporter from
the Israeli newspaper Yediot Abaronot, who asked me if I could elabo-
rate on what had happened in Cyprus. He called me because [ was the
only known Mossad ex-member who was willing to talk to the media.
And there was no doubs that | was in fact an ex-Mossad officer, unlike
many who'd come forth in the past, claiming to be from the Mossad
to get attention but having no idea what the Mossad was all abour.

[ gave the reporter the story he wanted. | told him what had taken
place, one step at a time. | made it clear to him that this was only an
educated guess by me. He went on to write an eight-hundred-word
article that was stopped by the military censor. The newspaper wanted
to take the case 1o court but was advised not to by friends in the secu-
rity apparatus. The paper complied, not wanting to risk losing its
share of “inside information,” which maintains its ahility to “inform”
its readers.

It seemed thar, in this somewhat insignificant intervention, we'd
managed to puncture the Mossad armor, causing a small stream of
criticism of the organization on the operational level 1o start dampen-
ing the sotl around 1t. It was still far from being the torrent that would
be necessary to sweep the Mossad off its feer, bur every little bit
helped.

(30

Weonesoay, Ocroaea 30, 1991, Maoio

ir Force One was about to touch down, followed by the second
Htwin Air Force One. The two jumbo jets (which are identical in all

but the call numbers inscribed on their fuselages; one carries the
president and the second brings along the rest of the entourage and is
used as a backup in case of emergency) were en route to deliver the
president of the United States and a large media contingent to the
Madrid peace talks that were about to start berween Israel and all its
Arab neighbors, including Syria and the Palestinians, who were part of
the Jordanian delegation.

In the months leading up to this theatrical occasion, the American
president had truly believed he'd be able to bring abour a change in
the hardheaded attitudes that had prevailed in the region for decades.
In an effort to bring the right-wing government of Yitzhak Shamir to
the negotiating table in what was to be an international peace confer-
ence, the president had applied the kind of pressure that an American
president rarely has been brave enough to apply. Against the wishes of
an angry Jewish community, George Herbert Bush had put a freeze on
all loan guarantees to Israel, which were to come to a rotal of ten bil-
lion dollars over the next five years. This freeze was not intended to
punish Israel for the construction of settlements in the occupied West
Bank and the Gaza Strip (regarded by the United States as illegal,) but
to force the cash-strapped Likud government to the negotiating table.

Upon making thar decision, the president was instantly placed on
the blacklist of every Jewish organization in the United States, and
regarded as the greatest enemy of the state of Israel. In Israel, posters
depicting the president with a pharaoh’s headgear and the inscription
“We have overcome the pharaohs, we will overcome Bush” were
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pasted across the counrry. Shamir called the president’s action “Am-
Bush.”

Isracli messengers in all the commumities across the United States
immediately went into high gear, launching autacks against the presi-
dent. They fted the media an endless stream of cniticism, while trying at
the same time to make it clear to Vice President Dan Quayle that he
was still their sweetheart and that whar the president was doing in no
way affected their opimion of him.

This love affair with a vice president was not a new thing; it had
been almost standard procedure ever since the creation of the state of
Israel. Any rime a president was not on the best of terms with Israel,
the Jewish organizations were instructed to cozy up 1o the vice presi-
dent. That was the case with Dwight Eisenhower, whom Israel
regarded as the worst president in history (although, ironically, the
vice president they regarded as a friend, namely Richard Nixon, him-
self became an enemy once he was president). It was whar lay behind
the strong support lsrael and the Jewish community gave to Lyndon
Johnson, who almost doubled aid to lIsrael in his first year as presi-
dent, after John Kennedy had come down hard on the Israeli nuclear
program, believing it was a first and dangerous step in the prolifera-
tion of nuclear weapons in the region.

That strategy was behind their hatred for Nixon and their admira-
tion for Gerald Ford. And then there was Jimmy Carter, whose whole
administration was regarded as a big mistake as far as Israel was con-
cerned, a mistake that had cost Israel the whole of the Sinai in return
for a lukewarm peace with Egypr.

And now there was this peace process, put forth by the country
club idior. The right-wingers' silent cry was to somehow stop the pro-
cess, which they believed would lead to a compromise that would
force Israel to return more land. Refusing to believe that such a com-
promise would ever be made, settlers in the QOccupicd Territories had
launched a new wave of construction, with the unrelenting help of
Ariel Sharon, the minister of housing.

A certain night-wing clique in the Mossad regarded the situation as
a life-or-death crisis and decided to take matters into their own hands,
to solve the problem once and for all. They believed that Shamir
would have ordered what they were about to do if he hadn’t been
gagged by politics, Like many others before them, in countless coun-
tries and administrations, they were going to do what the leadership
really wanted but couldn’t ask for, while at the same time leaving the
leadership out of the loop—they were going to become Israeli versions

of Colonel Oliver North, only on a much more lethal level.
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To this clique, it was clear what they must do. There was no doubt
that Bush would be out of his element on October 30 when he arrived
\n Madrid to open the peace talks. This was going to be the most pro-
ected event of the vear, with so many potential enemies meeting in
one place. On top of that, there were all those who were against the
walks: the Palestinian extremists and the Iranians and the Libyans, not
1o mention the decimared Iragis with their endless calls for revenge for
the Gult War.

The Spamsh government had mobilized more than ten thousand
police and civil guards. In addition, the American Secrer Service, the
Sovier KGB, and all the security services of all the countries involved
would be on hand.

The Madrid Roval Palace would be the safest place on the planet
at the time, unless vou had the security plans and could find a flaw in
them. That was exactly what the Mossad planned to do. It was clear
from the start that the assassination would be blamed on the Palestini-
ans—perhaps ending once and for all their irritating resistance and
making them the people most hated by all Americans.

Three Palestinian extremists were taken by a Kidon unit from their
hiding place in Beirut and relocated incommunicado in a special deten-
vion location in the Negev desert. The three were Beijdun Salameh,
Mohammed Hussein, and Hussein Shahin,

At the same time, various threats, some real and somc nor, were
made against the president. The Mossad clique added its share, in
order to more precisely define the threat as if it were coming from a
group affiliated with none other than Abu Nidal. They knew that
name carried with it a certain guarantee of getting attention and‘kcep-
ing it. So if something were to happen, the media would be quick to
react and say, “We knew about it, and don't forget where you saw it
firsy,” _

Several days before the event, it was leaked to the Spanish police
that the three terrorists were on their way to Madrid and that they
were probably planning some extravagant action. Since the Mossad
had all the security arrangements in hand, it would not be 2 problem
for this particular clique to bring the “killers™ as close as they might
want 1o the president and then stage a killing. In the ensumglwnfu-
sion, the Mossad people would kill the “perpetrators,” scoring yet
another victory for the Mossad. They'd be very sorry that thcjf l?adn't

been able 1o save the president, but protecting him was not their ;ob‘to
begin with. With all the security forces involved and the assassins
dead, it would be very difficult 1o discover where the security breach
had been, except that several of the countries involved in the confer-
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ence, such as Syria, were regarded as countries thar assisted terrorists.
With that in mind, it would be a foregone conclusion where the
breach was.

As far as this Mossad clique was concerned, it was a win-win situ-
ation,

Ephraim called me on Tuesday, October 1. | could sense from the
tone of his voice that he was extremely stressed. “They're out to kill
Bush,” he said. At first, 1 didn't understand what he was rtalking
abour, I thought he meant that they were going to ruin the president.
I'd already heard of several books that were in the making on the
man, and there was a smear campaign regarding his alleged involve-
ment in the Iran-Contra affair (which I knew personally to be fake).

“What’s new abourt that? They've been out 1o get him for a long
time.”

“T mean really kill, as in assassinate.”

“What are you ralking about? You cant be serious. They would
never dare do something like that.”

“Don't go naive on me now,” he said. “They're going to do it dur-
ing the Madnd peace ralks.”

“Why don't you call the CIA and tell them? [ mean, this isn't just
some little operation you don’t want to be involved in.”

“I'll call whoever | have in the European intelligence services. |
don’t have friends in the American, not people 1 can trust, anyway.”

“So what do you want me to do?”

“We are going to do what we can at our end. But nothing we will
do will become public. | want you to make this thing public. If they
know that the Amcricans know about it, there is a good chance they
will not go ahead.”

I knew that what he said was correct. If | could draw attention to
it and make it public, that would do more to stop them than all the
intelligence agencies put together. The trick would be to make it public
without coming on like some lunatic with yet another conspiracy the-
ory. | would have to say something in a relatively small forum and
hope it would get out. If that didn't work, I'd contact some reporters |
knew and give them the lowdown.

As it happened, 1 was invited to be a speaker at a luncheon held at
the Parliament buildings in Ortawa for a group called the Middle East
Discussion Group. It's a loosely formed think tank suppotted by the
Nauonal Council on Canadian-Arab Relations, headed by a former
Liberal MP named lan Watson, The aim of this group is to inform
members of Parbament and the diplomatic community on issues that
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might not be freely accessed by the media and to promote dialog on
the Middle East.

The luncheon was attended by some rwenry members of the think
tank and a few MPs. 1 made a short presentartion in which 1 explained
the goals of the Mossad and the danger it presented to any peace ini-
tiative in the region. [ also said that in my opinion, as things stood, the
only chance the Middle East had for peace would be the curting off of
financal aid 1o Israel by the United States. [ emphasized that a large
chunk of this aid finds its way to the West Bank and the settlements,
which were probably the biggest stumbling block to the peace initia-
tive. Then 1 opencd the floor to questions.

I was asked whar the Mossad would do 1o stop the process that
was now taking place. | said that from sources | had, and based on my
knowledge of the Mossad, 1 would nor be ar all surprised if there was
a plot right at this moment to kill the president of the United States
and to throw the blame on some extreme Palestinian group.

Larter, | learned that one of the people at the luncheon had called
an ex-congressman from California, Pete McCloskey. The substance of
what I'd said was conveyed to him, and since McCloskey was an old
and close friend of the president’s, the caller felt that he might want to
take some action,

On October 15, McCloskey called me and introduced himself. He
said that he'd heard from a friend what I'd said about the president
and wanted to know if in my opinion there was a real threat, or was
this only a metaphor of some kind, to make a point? 1 made it clear to
him that there was no metaphor involved and that | was dead serious
regarding the threat to the president. T also said that 1 believed that
exposing this threat might be enough to eliminate it, since to carry it
out would then become too risky.

He said he could come to Ottawa within a few days and asked me
if I'd be willing 10 meet with him. | saw no reason why not, and we
made an appointment for October 19, which was a weekend,

1 met Pete at the Westin Hotel, and we walked over to a small cof-
fee shop where we sat for several hours, He asked me questions from
every possible angle, trying to understand what 1 was talking abour. |
could see that he was looking for information he could present that
would make the threat realistic. There was no way I could tell him
that I'd gotten the information straight from the horse’s mouth, but I
had to let him know thar I was not completely disconnected from the
Mossad. That in itself was a risk; it was the first time I'd allowed this
1o come out, [ felt compelled, however, by the stakes involved.



282 /J VICTONW OSTROVSKY

The next day, Sunday, October 20, McCloskey was in Washington
to participate in the meetings of the Commission on Nanonal and
Community Services. He stayed at the Hotel Phoemix Park, from
which he called the Secret Service at the White House, He was referred
to Special Agent Allan Dillon at the Secret Service offices, 1050 Con-
necticut Avenue, N.W.,, Washington, D.C.

Pete faxed Dillon a copy of the memo he'd written after our meet-
ing in Ortawa. The same day, he met with a former White House aide
from the Ford era, named Don Penny, who gave him the spin on me. |
was not at all surprised when McCloskey told me later what Penny
had told him: that he’d heard abour me from Senaror Sam Nunn and
other sources in the ClA who said thar | was a traitor to Israel and
totally unreliable, And rhat if McCloskey associated with me, he’d be
putting a target on his own back. As it turned out, Pete later spoke to
Nunn, but the senator could not recall ralking about me. Meanwhile,
a well-known Washington columnist, Rowland Evans, told Pete that
he’d asked his sources in the CIA about me several months earlier, and
they'd told him thar | was “for real.”

McCloskey had an interview on October 22 with agent Terry Gal-
lagher from the State Department Diplomatic Protection and then, the
same day, a meeting with Dillon from the Secret Service. On October
24, the Secret Service asked to speak 1o me. They placed a formal
request via the American embassy in Ouawa through CSIS (the Cana-
dian security service), and I met with a member of the Secrer Service in
the presence of a member of CSIS.

1 told the man what 1 thought was going to take place, only omit-
ting that ['d obtained the information from an active member of the
Mossad. | did make it clear to him that | had a connection, which I
mainly used 1o learn about impending personal danger.

The information leaked ro the media, and in a syndicated colummn,
Jack Anderson presented the whole story, So did Jane Hunter in her
newsletter, which is a must for any Washingtonian specializing in the
Middle East.

I was confident that by now the president was no longer in immi-
nent danger, although the less ime he spent in Madrid, the better. But
the decision 1o eliminate him would not be withdrawn; it would only
be postponed. 1 had pointed out to the Secrer Service agent that the
president was extremely vulnerable aboard Air Force One, both to
artack by a surface-to-air mussile and to a piece of explosive luggage
that could be carried aboard by an unsuspecting reporter who didn't
realize that a segment of his recording or photographic equipment had
been switched for a deadly device.

- Lam
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From Ephraim, | heard later that after the president had landed in
vfadnd. the American embassy there received a bomb threar on the
phone. and that a section of the embassy was evacuated while the
president was in the building. But the rest of the plan was called off,
and even though the Spanish police received the names and descrip-
nions of the three supposed assassins, they were never let out of the
holding facility in the Negev. Later, they were transferred to the Nes
Zivvona research facility, where they were terminated.

On October 31, the president was back in Washington and was
about to visit his house in Kennebunkport, Maine, which had been
damaged in a storm that had devastated the entire coast. The Secret
Service put out a memo on November 1 that was distributed 1o Air
Force One passengers. It said, “There is a very capable system in place
to beat terrorism from sabotaging the jet. However, if there is a weak
spot, it would be with the personal belongings broughr aboard the air-
¢ratt from the motorcade just before departure. . . .”
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Weowesoay, Octoaen 30, 1991

obert Maxwell's contact was not in the best of moods when he

received a call on a special secure line at the lsraeli embassy in

Madrid. Maxwell was phoning from London, saying it was impera-
tive that a meenng be ser up. He was willing to come to Madnd.

The ties berween Maxwell and the Mossad went back a long way.
Elements within the Mossad had offered to finance Maxwell’s first big
business venrures, and in |ater vears Maxwell received inside informa-
tion on global matters from the Office. Maxwell was originally code-
named “the Lirtle Czech,” and the sobriquet stuck. Only a handful of
people in the Israeli intelligence community knew who the Little Czech
was, vet he provided an unending supply of slush money for the orga-
nization whenever it ran low.

For vears, Maxwell would hit financial lows whenever the Mossad
was in the midst of expensive operarions that could not be funded
legitimately and when other less legitimate sources were unavailable,
as was the case after the American invasion of Panama in 1990, which
dried up the Mossad’s income from drug trafficking and forced
Maxwell to dig deep into his corporate pockets.

But the Mossad had used its ace in the hole one nme roo many.
Asking Maxwell to get involved in a matter of secondary importance
(namely. the Vanunu affair) had been a big mistake, for which the
media mogul would be made to pay the price.

That involvement caused suspicion in the British Parliament that
there was no smoke without fire, particularly after the publication of
book by an American reporter claiming Maxwell was a Mossad agent-
Maxwell retaliated in a lawsuit, but the ground was starting to bum
under his feer. The Mossad was late in giving him back his money, and
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the usual last-minute rescue of his financial empire was looking less
and less feasible.

For Maxwell, what was already bad was abour to get worse. His
call couldn't have been more poorly timed. Israel was participating in
a peace negotiation process that the Mossad top clique believed would
be detrimental to the country’s security. At the same time, news was
reaching the Office of a growing scandal caused by Mossad involve-
ment in Germany. This scandal was a result of Uri’s having made a call
to the Hamburg River Police informing them thar a shipment of arms
was about to be loaded onto an Israeli ship.

The arms consisted of Soviet tanks and antizircraft equipment,
concealed in large crates marked agricultural equipment. The ship-
ment had been arranged with the help of the BND, without the knowl-
edge of the German government or the Ministry of Defense. It was
exactly the same equipment thar the Ministry of Defense had refused
to send to Israel in March ot the same year, because they believed the
shipment would defy the German law forbidding the shipment of war
matériel to a conflict zone,

The Mossad’s right-wing clement wasn't sure to what extent this
scandal would grow. They remembered very well the scandal that had
occurred in 1978 when the German police had allowed Mossad offi-
cers posing as German intelligence officers to interrogate Palestinians
in German prisons, If the German government could contain the situa-
tion, things would be fine. But once the story was in the hands of the
media, there was no telling where it would go.

And then came this call from Maxwell, insisting he must meer his
contact on a matter of great urgency. The mogul was rebuffed at first,
but then he issued a veiled threat: Now that he was being investigated
by Parliament and the British media, if he wasn't able 1o straighten out
his financial affairs, he wasn't sure he could keep the Kryuchkov meet-
ing a secret.

Whar he was referring to (and in doing so, he scaled his fate) was
a meeting that he’d helped arrange between the Mossad liaison and
Fhe former head of the KGB, Vladimir Kryuchkov, who was now
jailed in Number Four Remand Center in Moscow for his role in the
Soviet Union’s August coup to oust Mikhail Gorbachey.
~ Ac that meeting, which rook place on Maxwell’s yacht at anchor
M Yugoslav waters, Mossad support for the plot to oust Gorbachev
was discussed. The Mossad promised to bring about, through its polit-
ical connections, an early recognition of the new regime, as well as
other logistical assistance for the coup. In exchange, it requested that
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all Soviet Jews be released, or rather expelled, which would create a
massive exodus of people that would be too large to be absorbed by
other countries and would therefore go to Israel.

Certain right-wingers within the government had believed this
meeting with the coup plotters was a necessity, They knew that if the
Soviet Union were 1o stop being the enemy, there'd no longer be a
threat from the East, and the strategic value of Israel to its greatest
ally, the United States, would diminish. Alliances between the United
Stares and the Arab nations in the region would then be a realistic
prospect.

[r was Maxwell who'd helped create the nes with the now-defunct
KGB. The right-wingers realized it would be a devastating blow to
Israel’s standing in the West if the world were to learn that the Mossad
had parucipated in any way, as minute as that parncipation might be,
in the attempted coup to stop the democratization ot the Soviet Union.
It would be perceived as treason against the West. Maxwell was now
using the Mossad’s participation as a threat, however veiled, to force
an immediate burst of aid to his ailing empire. His conract asked him
to call back in a few hours.

A small meeting of nghr-wingers at Mossad headquarters resulted
in a consensus to terminate Maxwell. At first, the participants thought
it would 1ake several weeks 1o pur rogerher a plan, bur then someone
pointed our that the process could be accelerared if the Little Czech
could be made 1o travel 10 a rendezvous where the Mossad would be
waiting 1o strike.

Maxwell was asked 1o come to Spain rhe tollowing day. His con-
tact promised thar things would be worked our and thar rthere was no
need to panic. The mogul was asked to sail on his yacht to Madeira
and wait there for a message.

Maxwell arrived in Gibraltar on October 31, 1991, boarded his
yacht, the Lady Gluslaine, and set sail for Madeira, as instructed.
There he waited for directions. Meanwhile, the Mossad was getting
read to strike. On Friday, November 1, a special Mossad trou-
bleshooting team thar was in Spain to cover the peace talks was dis-
patched. The team flew to Morocco, where they were met by a con-
federate who'd already raken care of all the necessary equipment and
other arrangements.

At first, Maxwell was told that the meeting would take place in
Madeira and that he'd receive as much money as he needed to calm
the situarion. Additional moneys would be advanced to him later. All
this was to be kept completely quiet, since there was no point in pro-
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viding more fodder for his enemies, who would have liked nothing
berter than to show his direct connection ro the Mossad.

On November 2, the Mossad learned that Maxwell had called his
son in England and scheduled a meeting with him on the island.
Maxwell was told ro cancel the meeting. He was also told that the
meeting with the money people would now take place on the island of
Tenerife.

When he reached Santa Cruz on the island of Tenerife, he headed
for & meeting in the Hotel Mency. As he dined alone in the hotel
restaurant, someone walked over to him and gave him a message indi-
cating that he should be in Los Cristos on the other side of the island
the next morning. He was to make his way there in his yacht, sailing
around rhe island of Grand Canary.

I learned all this in a phone conversation with Ephraim. He had
no idea how the Kidon team had managed ro get to Maxwell at sea
while the yacht was cruising at fifteen knots, but making it look
impossible was part of the Kidon magic. Some time during the night of
November 4-3, the Mossad's problem was laid to rest in the salty
waters of the Atlantic. '

After an auropsy that raised more questions than it answered, a
second autopsy was held in Israel under the warchful eye of the secu-
rity appararus. Whatever was not detected then was buried forever on
Mount of Olives in Jerusalem, the resting place for the nation’s most
revered heroes.

"He had done more for Israel than can today be said,” Prime Min-
ister Shamir eulogized at Maxwell’s burial.



APTER

ri came to visit me a short while after I'd finished my first novel,

Lion of Judah. It had been some time since we last met, and I'd had

hardly any contact with the clique since 1991. The book was
already on the market in the United States, Germany, and Canada,
and was ready to hit the market in Holland and Belgium. | was at the
time about to finish a second novel and was asked to go on tour to
promote Lion of Judah in Holland. I had not crossed the Atlantic
since By Way of Deception had been published in 1990, and | was
reluctant to do so now. Things were going grear on this hemisphere,
and I didn't wanr to risk ending up in a prison cell in Israel. I'd con-
tacted Fphraim ro ask for his advice, and he’d sent Uri to talk it over
with me.

“You are in no danger,” Uri said flatly. “The Labor government is
not the right-wing Likud; things have changed since then. You have
nothing to worry about, In fact, we recommend you go, to prove the
point.”

I was very hesitant, bur the chance to travel and at the same time
to get the adrenaline rush going was extremely tempting. 1 put
together a small security team that consisted of three university stu-
dents from Otrawa whom 1 taught to play the role of security people.
They were there more for show than anything else. T knew that 1
couldn't rely on any professional security companics because of the
high numbers of Israelis they employ and the fact thar many of them
report regularly to the Isracli authorities.

1 also knew that if it appearced | had a good security setup, various
fringe elements would refrain from trying anything. At the same time,
if the Mossad wanted to do anything, they would, even if | was sur-
rounded at all rimes by true professionals.

Everything went well in Holland, and then we went to Beigium for
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the two final days of the rour. Knowing the history of the Mossad in
Belgium and the corruption of the Belgian police force, I knew | was
walking into a snake pit. But Ephraim’s promise was all the shield |
needed. On the last day in Belgium, 1 was scheduled to appear as a
guest on a television show in Brussels. All was fine until the show was
over and my security team and I headed for the car thar was supposed
to be waiting o take us back to the hotel in Antwerp. The car wasn’t
there, and neither was the driver. There seemed to be some confusion
regarding what had happened 1o him. Then an alternative car was sug-
gested by someone from the station. This didn't smell right to me or
my team, and since the television station wasn't far from the Brussels
international airport, we decided to move fast. We ordered taxis and
split into groups. Our Belgian publisher drove one of the team and me
to the hotel, and the others took two cabs. We left the place in three
different directions and even sent an empty cab off somewhere ¢lse.

All I wanted to do was get out of that city and get Ephraim on the
line. If something was going on, | was sure he'd know about it and
instruct me on what to do. It was after midnight when I made the call.

“Hello.” I heard Ephraim’s sleepy voice.

“Ephraim?”

“Yes, who 1s thar?”

“It’s me." | said, somewhat relieved that he wasn’t alarmed.

“Me who?”

*Victor. Wake up, man.”

“I'm awake.”™ I could hear a sudden tension in his voice, *Victor
who?"

“What is this? I'm not in the mood for games, Ephraim.”

“Is this Victor Ostrovsky?" He sounded genuinely surprised.

“What are you playing at?”

“How are you? Where are you:™

“You know where [ am.”

“What are you ralking abour?™

“Ephraim, I'm warning you. Don't play games with me, I'm not in
the mood.”

“Don’t you ever threaten me." I could clearly hear the menace in
his voice, “Dont make the same mistake Spiro did. Am | making
myself clear, my boy?™

“You son of a bitch.” I said and hung up. 1 was deeper in it than [

“€ared to think. lan Spiro was a sayan who'd worked with the Mossad

for many years. He was a very helpful contact 1o have, since he dealr
On numerous occasions with various Lebanese factions, He was a
British citizen living in the United States. His contact with the Iranians
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and the Shi‘ites in Lebanon made him a lot of money over the years,
Burt he'd taken one cut too many.

The Mossad had given him several million dollars 1o pay off some
Lebanese family who could in trn bring abour the release of caprured
Isracli airman, Ron Arad. As a result of Spiro’s involvement with the
Iran-Conitra affair, the Lebanese were not willing 1o deal with him
anymore. But he held on ro the money. When the Kidon team came to
his house November 7, 1992, to get the money back, something went
wrong, and his wife and three children were killed. He was taken to
the desert, where the team forced him to reveal where he'd stashed the
money, after he first tried to claim he'd given it to the Lebanese. He
was then fed some poison that he happened to have with him, The
poison was a substance used to check the purity of gold he’d been
interested in mining.

At thar point, [ had no doubr thar my time was starting to run our.
Early in the morning, we all got into a cab and headed back to Hol-
land. Crossing the Dutch border was a great relief, but I knew I wasn't
out of the woods until 1 was back on Canadian soil. 1 made one last
call from the hotel to Ui, but for some reason, [ was cut off.

During the flighr, 1 finally realized whar had happened. 1 was
going to take some steps to verify it, but 1 was pretty sure | knew.
There had been a power struggle in the Mossad for the top job. By
now, it was safe ro say that Ephraim and his clique were probably the
only ranking officers in the Mossad not to have screwed up, That
being the case, Ephraim was more than likely the man ro be tapped to
run things, unless a new man was brought in from the outside. And, in
all likelihood, it would only be a martter of time before he and the
clique came gunning for me.

[ was the weak link and the most vulnerable one. So it seemed that
what | had to do was clear. | had to put everything else aside and write
this story for everyone to see.

Now it's done, and it's out of my hands. You be the judge.
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On infiltrating Jordanian intelligence . . .

sylv cantroller made it tlear. Elements in the Mossad had decided that it was time
to destabilize Jordan to the pomt of civil anarchy. . . . | The right-wingers would do
it through| 2 high influx of counterfeit CRITency armting religious fundamental-
ists and assassinating leading figures who were symbuols of stability. My mission

was [ warn the Jurdgnians. As anex Mossad man, | feared | was setting myself up

for a hanging [even so, 1 touk the nest step|.”

On illegal hunan experimentation . . .
“Druring that time prisoners were taken (o a holding fecility in N
It was an ABC (atomic,

P8 SIVWOIia. -

(Later. | was told what really went on at the facility.] . -
hacterological, chemical) warfare laboratory. IL was where gur top epidemiolog-
cal seientists were developing varnous doomsday machines. . . . [The Palestinians

were Lised as) guinea pigs. . . . The scientists conild make sure the weapons they

were developing worked . . . and make them more efficient.”

On the planned assassination of George Bush.. ...

“[n an effort to bring the right-wing government of Terael to the negotiating table,
Rush had put a freeze on all loan guaraniees. .. . Upon making hal decision, he
was yegarided as vhe greatest enemy of the state of lsrael. . . . 7 A cortain right-wing
clique In the Mossad picked the Madrid peace talks #s its staging ground. . ..
Three Palestinian estremists were Laken by a Kidost nnit from their hiding place in

Beirut, - .. [My controller] called me on Tuesday, October 1. “They're out to kill

Bush," he said
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